
 

 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 
CITY COUNCIL 

  JUNE 22, 2023 

 

 

  

 Council Meeting Room Regular Meeting 7:00 PM 

7224 GA HIGHWAY 21 
PORT WENTWORTH, GA  31407 

City of Port Wentworth Generated: 6/21/2023 10:12 AM Page 1   

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

2. PRAYER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. ROLL CALL - CLERK OF COUNCIL 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. RECOGNITION OF SPECIAL GUESTS 

6. PUBLIC COMMENTS - REGISTERED SPEAKERS 

7. ELECTIONS & APPOINTMENTS 

8. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

A. Regular Council Meeting - May 25, 2023 

9. COMMUNICATIONS & PETITIONS 

10. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

11. CONSENT AGENDA 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

13. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Coastal Empire Habitat for Humanity  Partnership and Real Estate Sale 

B. Port Wentworth Development Authority 

C. Site Plan Review Application submitted by Patrick Warner, Coleman Company Inc., on 

behalf of Inter Metro Properties GA, LLC, for PIN #’s 70003 01001, 70003 01002, 70003 
01011, 70003 01010, 700003 01009, 70003 01012, 70003 01013, 70003 01005, 70003 
01014, 70002 01003, 70002 01002, 70002 01002A, 70002 01001, 70002 01001A, 70001 
04008, 70001 04009 & 70001 04010 (230 Flonell Avenue) for a General Development 
Site Plan to allow for the expansion of an existing trailer yard, a new warehouse & 
associated infrastructure in a P-I-2 (Planned Industrial) Zoning District 

 

➢Public Hearing 
➢Action 



Agenda City Council June 22, 2023 

City of Port Wentworth Generated: 6/21/2023 10:12 AM Page 2   

D. Site Plan Review Application has been submitted by Patrick Warner, Coleman Company 

Ins., on behalf of Inter Metro Properties GA, LLC PIN #’s 70003 01001, 70003 01002, 
70003 01005, 70003 01009, 70003 01010, 70003 01011, 70003 01012, 70003 01013, & 
70003 01014 (230 Flonell Avenue) for a Specific Development Site Plan to allow the 

expansion of an existing trailer yard & associated infrastructure in a P-I-2 (Planned 
Industrial) Zoning District 

 

➢Public Hearing 
➢Action 

14. RESOLUTIONS/ORDINANCES/PROCLAMATIONS 

A. Zoning Ordinance- 2nd Reading 

15. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

16. ADJOURNMENT 



 City Council Meeting: 06/22/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Agreement 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2845) DOC ID: 2845  

Updated: 6/20/2023 2:18 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Coastal Empire Habitat for Humanity  Partnership and Real 
Estate Sale 

Issue/Item:  Parcel ID# 70014 06001 - 18.846 acres     
 

Background:  The city owns 20.846 acres downtown behind the Police station and Fire Station 

#1.  The city needs to retain 2.0 acres of this parcel that is occupied by a commercial building 

and equipment for the Police and Fire department. The sale price of the land is $30k per acre for 

a total to the city of $565,380.00. 
 

Facts and Findings:  The Habitat for Humanity is a nonprofit organization seeking to provide 
quality housing options for Chatham County and Port Wentworth residents.   
Habitat for Humanity Fact Sheet: 

• Vision: We subscribe to a vision of a world where everyone has a decent place to live  

• Mission: Seeking to put God’s love into action, we bring people together to build homes, 
communities, and hope 

• We construct homes, educates future homeowners, and help community members 
utilize their time and talents to give back in a meaningful and impactful way.  

• 26% of Chatham County residents live below the poverty line.  

• Research shows that Chatham County lacks 15,000 affordable housing units.  

• Chatham County’s homeownership rate is 56% versus the Georgia state average of 67% 

• Since inception in 1983, Habitat Savannah has built 159 family homes that are safe, 
affordable, and energy efficient.  

• Over 48 Habitat Savannah Homeowners have already paid off their mortgages.  

• We provide a sense of pride in homeownership and community cohesion.  
 

Funding:  N/A 

 

Recommendation: Approve 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• LOI Port Wentworth 70014 06001[2305843009235210409] (PDF) 

13.A

Packet Pg. 3



COMMERCIAL LETTER OF INTENT 
(FOR PURCHASE OF PROPERTY) 

Date: April 28
2 

2023 

To: City of Port Wentworth 

Re: East tract N01th of Coleraine Drive Port Wentworth 18.846 ac 

This Letter of Jntcnt sets fmth the basic terms on which Coastal Empire Habitat for Humanitv, 
Savannah, GA("Buyer") would consider purchasing the above 

This Letter of lnten� even if signed by Seller and Buyer, is not intended as and shall under no 
circumstances constitute an offer to purchase real property by either Buyer or Seller or a 
Purchase and Sales Agreement between Buyer and Seller. Instead, it is merely an expression of 
interest by the undersigned of the tenns and conditions under which Buyer and Seller might enter 
into a Purchase and Sale Agreement for the Property. Upon this Letter oflntent being signed by 
the undersigned, the Buyer and Seller agree to work together in good faith to attempt to negotiate 
and enter into a mutually acceptable Purchase and Sale Agreement for the Property with the 
terms and conditions set fo1th herein being the basis for such negotiations. 

Buyer proposes tl1c following principal tenns with respect to the Purchase of Property: 

l. SELLER: City of Port Wentworth

.

2. BUYER: Coastal Empire Habitat for Humanity

3. PROPERTY: East tract No11h of Coleraine Drive P011 Wentworth 18.846 ac

4. PURCHASE PRICE: �$565,380.00-------------

5. CLOSING DATE: ______________ _

6. COUNTER.PARTS: This Letter oflntent may be executed in one or more counterparts. each 

of which will be deemed an original copy of this Letter oflntent.

13.A.a

Packet Pg. 4

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

O
I P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 7
00

14
 0

60
01

[2
30

58
43

00
92

35
21

04
09

] 
 (

28
45

 :
 C

o
as

ta
l E

m
p

ir
e 

H
ab

it
at

 f
o

r 
H

u
m

an
it

y 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

n
d

 R
ea

l E
st

at
e



13.A.a

Packet Pg. 5

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

O
I P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

 7
00

14
 0

60
01

[2
30

58
43

00
92

35
21

04
09

] 
 (

28
45

 :
 C

o
as

ta
l E

m
p

ir
e 

H
ab

it
at

 f
o

r 
H

u
m

an
it

y 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

n
d

 R
ea

l E
st

at
e



 City Council Meeting: 06/22/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Resolution 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Steve Davis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2843) DOC ID: 2843  

Updated: 6/20/2023 4:19 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Port Wentworth Development Authority 

Issue/Item:   Resolution to Authorize the Port Wentworth Development Authority  
 

Background, Facts, and Findings: Development Authorities in the State of Georgia are 

governed by State law. There are multiple different types and kinds of Development Authorities, 

each with its own purview and powers.  
 

The City of Port Wentworth seeks to authorize and constitute the Port Wentworth Development 

Authority. This is separate and distinct from the Port Wentworth Downtown Development 

Authority.  
 

The Port Wentworth Development Authority will have all of the powers afforded by State law, 

and will be the conduit through which the City continues to work with the Ghost Pirates on their 

facility in the new City Park.  
 

This is the first step in constituting the Port Wentworth Development Authority. The City 

Council will need to appoint its Board members, as well as get the Authority up and running.  
 

Funding:  N/A 

 

Recommendation: Approve the Resolution to Authorize and Create the Port Wentworth 

Development Authority.  

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• 23.06.22 - DA Activating Resolution - Port Wentworth[12] (DOCX) 

13.B

Packet Pg. 6



A RESOLUTION TO DECLARE THE NEED FOR A DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITY TO FUNCTION IN THE CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH, 

GEORGIA, PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITIES LAW; TO PROVIDE FOR THE NUMBER OF MEMBERS OF 

THE INITIAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SAID DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITY; TO AUTHORIZE SAID DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY TO 

EXERCISE THE POWERS CONTAINED IN THE DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITIES LAW; TO REPEAL CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS; TO 

PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article IX, Section VI, Paragraph III of the Constitution of the 

State of Georgia, the General Assembly of Georgia enacted Chapter 62 of Title 36  of the 

Official Code of Georgia Annotated (the “Development Authorities Law”), which authorizes 

each county and each municipal corporation in the State of Georgia to activate a development 

authority within each such county and municipal corporation, said development authorities 

having been created upon the adoption and approval of the Development Authorities Law; and 

WHEREAS, the governing body of the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia (the “City”), has 

determined that there is a need for the development authority so created to function in the City, 

and that it is desirable and necessary that said development authority be activated immediately in 

order to fulfill the present needs expressed herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the governing body of the City, and it is 

hereby resolved by the authority of the same, that there is and there is hereby determined and 

declared to be a pressing, existing and future need for a development authority to function in the 

City under the Development Authorities Law; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the aforesaid authority, that there be and there is 

hereby activated in the City of Port Wentworth, said development authority and that the same 

shall be named the “Port Wentworth Development Authority”; and 

13.B.a

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
06

.2
2 

- 
D

A
 A

ct
iv

at
in

g
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

[1
2]

  (
28

43
 :

 P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
)



2 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the aforesaid authority, that the initial board of the 

Port Wentworth Development Authority shall consist of  seven directors  to be appointed 

hereafter by resolution of the governing  body of the City of Port Wentworth; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the aforesaid authority, that any and all resolutions in 

conflict with this resolution be and the same are hereby repealed; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the aforesaid authority, that this resolution shall be 

effective immediately upon its adoption by the governing body of the City of Port Wentworth, 

Georgia and from and after such adoption and approval the Port Wentworth Development 

Authority shall be deemed to be fully created and activated. 

Adopted and approved this 22nd day of June, 2023. 

 

  

Mayor 

 

Attest: 

  

Clerk 

 

(S E A L) 

  

13.B.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
06

.2
2 

- 
D

A
 A

ct
iv

at
in

g
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

[1
2]

  (
28

43
 :

 P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
)



3 

CLERK CERTIFICATE: 

 

I,      , Clerk of the City of  Port Wentworth, Georgia, do 

hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of a resolution pertaining to 

the activation of the Port Wentworth Development Authority which  was unanimously adopted 

by the Mayor and Council of the City of Port Wentworth in a meeting duly called and assembled 

on the 22nd of June, 2023; that the original of said resolution appears of record in the Minute 

Book of the Mayor and Council of the City of Port Wentworth which is in my custody and 

control; and, that the same has not been amended or repealed. 

Given under my hand and the seal of the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia, this 

  day of June, 2023. 

  

Clerk, City of Port Wentworth, Georgia 

(S E A L) 

13.B.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
06

.2
2 

- 
D

A
 A

ct
iv

at
in

g
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 -
 P

o
rt

 W
en

tw
o

rt
h

[1
2]

  (
28

43
 :

 P
o

rt
 W

en
tw

o
rt

h
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
)



 City Council Meeting: 06/22/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: Development Services 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Planning/Zoning Item 
  Prepared By: Melanie Ellis 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Melanie Ellis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2834) DOC ID: 2834  

Updated: 6/13/2023 11:16 AM by Melanie Ellis  Page 1 

Site Plan Review Application submitted by Patrick Warner, 
Coleman Company Inc., on behalf of Inter Metro Properties 

GA, LLC, for PIN #’s 70003 01001, 70003 01002, 70003 01011, 
70003 01010, 700003 01009, 70003 01012, 70003 01013, 70003 

01005, 70003 01014, 70002 01003, 70002 01002, 70002 
01002A, 70002 01001, 70002 01001A, 70001 04008, 70001 
04009 & 70001 04010 (230 Flonell Avenue) for a General 
Development Site Plan to allow for the expansion of an 

existing trailer yard, a new warehouse & associated 
infrastructure in a P-I-2 (Planned Industrial) Zoning District 

Issue/Item: Site Plan Review Application has been submitted by Patrick Warner, Coleman 

Company Inc., on behalf of Inter Metro Properties GA, LLC, for PIN #’s 70003 01001, 70003 

01002, 70003 01011, 70003 01010, 700003 01009, 70003 01012, 70003 01013, 70003 

01005, 70003 01014, 70002 01003, 70002 01002, 70002 01002A, 70002 01001, 70002 

01001A, 70001 04008, 70001 04009 & 70001 04010 (230 Flonnel Avenue) for a General 

Development Site Plan to allow for the expansion of an existing trailer yard, a new 

warehouse & associated infrastructure in a P-I-2 (Planned Industrial) Zoning District 

 

Background: The subject property is located off 230 Flonnel Avenue in Port Wentworth, 

GA. The existing site is currently a trailer storage yard developed P-I-2 zoned property on a 

70-acre parcel.  

 

Facts and Findings: The general development plan for this property is for an expansion to 

the existing trailer storage yard area, a new warehouse & associated infrastructure. The 

plan is to alter & expand the existing trailer storage yard area & add additional trailer 

storage to the site along with the building of a warehouse and additional personnel parking. 

The property is located majority in Flood Zone AE 100 & partially in Zone X. There are 

known Corps of Engineers determined wetlands located within 200 ft of the property. A DRI 

was reviewed for this project by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs. This project 

is located in Council District 2. The parcel is located in the Industrial Park character area as 

defined in the 2021-2041 City of Port Wentworth Comprehensive Plan.  

 

Funding: N/A 

 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission will hear this application on Monday, June 

12, 2023 at 7:00 PM.  / UPDATE: THE PLANNING COMMISSION VOTED 

UNANIMOUSLY TO APPROVE THIS APPLICATION.  
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-App (PDF) 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Adj Prop (PDF) 

13.C

Packet Pg. 10



Agenda Item (ID # 2834)  Meeting of June 22, 2023 

Updated: 6/13/2023 11:16 AM by Melanie Ellis  Page 2 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Timeline (DOCX) 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Overview (PDF) 

13.C

Packet Pg. 11



13.C.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 G
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

A
p

p
  (

28
34

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
G

en
er

al
) 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve



13.C.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 G
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

A
p

p
  (

28
34

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
G

en
er

al
) 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve



Names, mailing addresses & PIN number of all property owners within 250 feet of all property lines: 

Robert & Sybil Cannon 
324 Flonnel Ave 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407 
70003 01006 
 
Brown Louise Eason 
6598 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407 
70001 04002 
 
Bell William R Ind & Trustee 
6620 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407 
70001 04006 
 
Royal Rachel S & Ronald Anthony 
6500 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407-8550 
70002 01004 
 
Royal Rachel S 
6500 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407-8550 
70002 01004B 
 
Chatham County 
124 Bull St Room 240 
Savannah GA 31401-3230 
70003 01008 
 
Georgia Ports Authority 
PO Box 2406 
Savannah GA 31402-2406 
70003 01007 
 
Atlanta Gas Light Co 
241 Ralph McGill Blvd NE Bin #10081 
Atlanta GA 30308 
70002 02003 

13.C.b

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 G
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

A
d

j P
ro

p
  (

28
34

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
G

en
er

al
) 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve



5281 

1 
 6/20/2023 2:24 PM 

Project Timeline 

Project Number: 230048 

Project Name: Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023 

Applicant / Engineer: Coleman Co., Inc – Patrick Warner 

Owner: Inter Metro Properties GA, LLC. 

City Review Engineer: N/A 

 

• 01/11/2023 – Application received; Missing project overview and DRI initial form.  

• 01/18/2023 – sent email to Patrick Warner that we needed a project overview. [M.E] 

• 01/19/2023 – sent email to Patrick Warner that we needed the DRI initial form filled out. [M.E] 

• 01/20/2023 – received project overview. [M.E] 

• 01/30/2023 – received DRI initial form. [M.E] 

• 01/30/2023 – entered information for the initial DRI form to the GA DCA website. DRI #3911 

[M.E] 

• 01/31/2023 – sent DRI additional Form blank to Patrick (Coleman) to complete. [M.E.] 

• 2/14/2023 – entered DRI additional form to DCA website. [M.E] 

• 2/15/2023 -sent email to Patrick for additional information required by DCA for the DRI review. 

[M.E.] 

• 3/3/2023 – received additional information for DRI review from Patrick. Sent to DCA. [M.E.] 

• 3/20/23 – the full DRI report was received from the Georgia Department of Community Affairs.  

• 5/9/23 – email received from Phillip McCorkle asking that the general site plan and specific site 

plan application be heard at the same meeting.  

• 5/15/23 – public hearing notice letters mailed.  

• 5/19/23 – public hearing notice published in the Savannah Morning News.  

• 6/12/23 – The Planning Commission voted unanimously to approve the application.  

 

13.C.c

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 G
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

T
im

el
in

e 
[R

ev
is

io
n

 1
] 

 (
28

34
 :

 S
it

e 
P

la
n

 R
ev

ie
w

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 (

G
en

er
al

)



 

January 20, 2023 

 

Ms. Melanie Ellis, CPT 

City of Port Wentworth Development Services 

7224 GA-21 

Port Wentworth, Georgia, 31407 

 
RE: Flonnel Avenue 

CCI Project #: 22-730.000 

 
Dear Ms. Ellis: 

 
Please find attached the submittal package for Flonnel Avenue Logistics Yard GDP. The subject 

property is located off 230 Flonnel Avenue in Port Wentworth, Georgia. This submittal consists of the 

general development plans for expansion to the existing trailer storage yard area. 

 
The existing site is currently a developed P-I-2 zoned property on a 70-acre parcel. The plan is to alter 

and expand the existing trailer storage yard area and add additional trailer storage to the site. The 

subject property is located a majority in flood zone AE 100 and partially in zone X and therefore is 

located in a special flood hazard area. There are known corps of engineers determined wetlands located 

within 200ft of this property. Storm water management will consist of routing the water from the site 

through several best management practices in our opinion before discharging into tidal waters located 

north of the site. Sedimentation and erosion control measures will consist of silt fencing, construction 

exit and both temporary and permanent stabilization. The receiving-waters for this project is the existing 

marsh which flows into the St. Augustine Creek which ultimately drains to the Savannah.  

 

Changes to the previously approved GDP (dated May 9, 2019) are as follows: The warehouse 

location has been slightly adjusted and has increased from 627,000 SF to 638,400 SF. More 

personnel parking has been provided at the proposed warehouse. There are also changes to the 

trailer storage yard, including a new trailer storage yard area, that was not part of the original 

submittal. This submittal also includes new ponds in the trailer storage yard area and the warehouse 

area for floodplain mitigation and water quality. 

 

 

 

 

13.C.d

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 G
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  (

28
34

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
G

en
er

al
) 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve



 

 

 Should you have any questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 
Thank You, 

 
Coleman Company, Inc. 

Patrick Warner, PE 

pwarner@cci-sav.com 

13.C.d

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 G
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

O
ve

rv
ie

w
  (

28
34

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
G

en
er

al
) 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve

mailto:pwarner@cci-sav.com


 City Council Meeting: 06/22/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: Development Services 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Planning/Zoning Item 
  Prepared By: Melanie Ellis 

 SCHEDULED Department Head: Melanie Ellis 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2835) DOC ID: 2835  

Updated: 6/13/2023 11:29 AM by Melanie Ellis  Page 1 

Site Plan Review Application has been submitted by Patrick 
Warner, Coleman Company Ins., on behalf of Inter Metro 

Properties GA, LLC PIN #’s 70003 01001, 70003 01002, 70003 
01005, 70003 01009, 70003 01010, 70003 01011, 70003 01012, 

70003 01013, & 70003 01014 (230 Flonell Avenue) for a 
Specific Development Site Plan to allow the expansion of an 

existing trailer yard & associated infrastructure in a P-I-2 
(Planned Industrial) Zoning District 

Issue/Item: Site Plan Review Application has been submitted by Patrick Warner, Coleman 

Company Ins., on behalf of Inter Metro Properties GA, LLC PIN #’s 70003 01001, 70003 

01002, 70003 01005, 70003 01009, 70003 01010, 70003 01011, 70003 01012, 70003 

01013, & 70003 01014 (230 Flonnel Avenue) for a Specific Development Site Plan to allow 

the expansion of an existing trailer yard & associated infrastructure in a P-I-2 (Planned 

Industrial) Zoning District 

 

Background: The subject property is located off 230 Flonnel Avenue in Port Wentworth, 

GA.  The existing site is currently a trailer storage yard developed P-I-2 zoned property on a 

70-acre parcel.  

 

Facts and Findings: The specific development plan for this site is to allow for the 

expansion of an existing trailer yard & associated infrastructure in a P-I-2 (Planned 

Industrial) Zoning District. The plan is to alter & expand the existing trailer storage yard 

area & add additional trailer storage to the site. The property is located majority in Flood 

Zone AE 100 & partially in Zone X. There are known Corps of Engineers determined 

wetlands located within 200 ft of the property. This application received Engineer 

Concurrence by the City Engineer's May 9, 2023. This project is located in Council District 2. 

The parcel is located in the Industrial Park character area as defined in the 2021-2041 City 

of Port Wentworth Comprehensive Plan.  

 

Funding: N/A 

 

Recommendation: The Planning Commission will hear this application on Monday, June 

12, 2023 at 7:00 PM. / UPDATE: THE PLANNING COMMISSION VOTED 

UNANIMOUSLY TO APPROVE THIS APPLICATION. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Application (PDF) 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-PIN Email. (PDF) 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Adj Prop Owners (PDF) 

• Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Timeline (DOCX) 

• 25412.0036 - Flonnel Ave Logistics - 5th Review by T&H (FINAL) 05.09.23 (PDF) 

13.D

Packet Pg. 18



13.D.a

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 S
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
  (

28
35

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
S

p
ec

if
ic

) 
F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve



13.D.a

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 S
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
  (

28
35

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
S

p
ec

if
ic

) 
F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve



From: Patrick Warner
To: Stephanie Cook
Cc: Melanie Ellis
Subject: RE: CoPW Contact for Flonnel Ave.
Date: Wednesday, January 4, 2023 4:57:50 PM
Attachments: image002.png

Updated GDP.pdf

70003 01001, 70003 01002, 70003 01011, 70003 01010, 70003 01009, 70003 01012, 70003 01013,
70003 01005, 70003 01014
 
Above are the pins.  Some of them are out of order, but they’re all there.
 
Also, I’m including an update of the site GDP that I believe was turned in back in October that
reflects the current construction plans for phase 1 of this project (Phase 2 still remains the same as
it’s a future phase tbd).
 
Let me know if you need anything else.

Patrick
 
Patrick J. Warner, P.e.
o 912-200-3041  c  330-606-3793
PWarner@cci-sav.com
Please send ALL invoices to AP@CCI-SAV.com
 

From: Stephanie Cook <scook@cityofportwentworth.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, January 4, 2023 4:06 PM
To: Patrick Warner <pwarner@cci-sav.com>
Cc: Melanie Ellis <mellis@cityofportwentworth.com>
Subject: Re: CoPW Contact for Flonnel Ave.
 
No problem. Thanks for the response.
 
Get Outlook for iOS

From: Patrick Warner <pwarner@cci-sav.com>
Sent: Wednesday, January 4, 2023 4:04:13 PM
To: Stephanie Cook <scook@cityofportwentworth.com>
Cc: Melanie Ellis <mellis@cityofportwentworth.com>
Subject: RE: CoPW Contact for Flonnel Ave.
 
Stephanie, sorry about that.  I just looked at the application and noticed I put the Address down
twice instead of the pins.  I’m compiling the pins now.
 
Patrick
 
Patrick J. Warner, P.e.

13.D.b

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 S
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

P
IN

 E
m

ai
l. 

 (
28

35
 :

 S
it

e 
P

la
n

 R
ev

ie
w

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 (

S
p

ec
if

ic
) 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve

mailto:pwarner@cci-sav.com
mailto:scook@cityofportwentworth.com
mailto:mellis@cityofportwentworth.com
mailto:PWarner@cci-sav.com
mailto:AP@CCI-SAV.com
https://aka.ms/o0ukef
mailto:pwarner@cci-sav.com
mailto:scook@cityofportwentworth.com
mailto:mellis@cityofportwentworth.com




CANNON


GRAVEL    DRIVE


G
A


 H
IG


H
W


A
Y


 21


ROYAL
P-I-2


ROYAL
P-C-2


D
E


T
E


N
T


IO
N


 P
O


N
D


D
E


T
E


N
T


IO
N


 P
O


N
D


FUTURE


DEVELOPMENT


E
X


IS
T


IN
G


 O
F
F
IC


E


72 TRUCK STORAGE


80 TRUCK STORAGE


116 EM
PLO


YEE PA
RKIN


G


98 EM
PLO


YEE PA
RKIN


G


FLONNEL AVENUE LOGISTICS WAREHOUSE
(PHASE 2)


638,400 SF
PARKING PROVIDED:


214 SPACES
TRUCK STORAGE: 152 1100'


570'


30' BUFFER


30' BUFFER


30' BUFFER


FLONNEL AVENUE TRAILER YARD
(PHASE 1)


40' CONTAINER SPACES: 564
53' CONTAINER SPACES: 24


TEMPARARY TRUCK PARKING: 10


S
a
v
a
n
n
a
h
, 
G


e
o
rg


ia
 |
 (


9
1


2
) 


2
0
0


-3
0
4


1
 |
 C


C
I-


S
A


V
.C


O
M


SHEET:


SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:


AS NOTED
GJC
JWR


01/04/23
22-730.000


REVISIONS:


©
 2


01
8 


CO
LE


M
AN


 C
O


M
PA


N
Y,


 IN
C.


   
   


   
 D


AT
E 


PL
O


TT
ED


: 1
/4


/2
02


3 
4:


53
 P


M
   


BY
: P


at
ric


k 
W


ar
ne


r  
  D


RA
W


IN
G 


PA
TH


: Q
:\


20
22


\2
2-


73
0.


00
0\


DW
G\


Pl
an


ni
ng


\2
2-


73
0 


CO
N


CE
PT


 P
LA


N
 9


.2
1.


22
 r 


- U
pd


at
ed


 G
DP


.d
w


g


FL
O


NN
EL


 A
VE


NU
E L


O
G


IST
IC


S
FA


C
ILIT


Y C
O


NT
AI


NE
R Y


AR
D


CONCEPTUAL
PLAN


SI
TE


 P
LA


N
 IS


 C
O


N
C


EP
TU


A
L 


IN
N


A
TU


RE
 A


N
D


 S
UB


JE
C


T 
TO


C
HA


N
G


E 
UP


O
N


 F
IN


A
L 


SU
RV


EY
A


N
D


 J
UR


IS
D


IC
TIO


N
A


L
IN


V
ES


TIG
A


TIO
N


LO
C


A
TE


D
 IN


 P
T.


 W
EN


TW
O


RT
H,


 G
EO


RG
IA


C
O


N
C


EP
TU


A
L 


PL
A


N


CP1.0


NOT TO SCALE
VICINITY MAP


NOTES:
1. THIS PROPERTY IS LOCATED IN ZONE AE, WITH A BASE FLOOD ELEVATION


OF 10.8, AS DETERMINED BY FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(FEMA), FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP NUMBER 13051C0045G, EFFECTIVE
DATE: AUGUST 16, 2018.


2. THE HORIZONTAL DATUM OF THIS SURVEY IS BASED ON GRID NORTH,
GEORGIA STATE PLANE, EAST ZONE, NAD 83.


3. TOPOGRAPHIC AND SURVEY PREPARED BY COLEMAN COMPANY, INC ON
AUGUST 30, 2022.


4. WATER AND SEWER WILL BE PROVIDED BY CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH.
5. THERE ARE APPARENT WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES WITHIN 200 FEET OF


THE PROJECT AREA.
6. THERE ARE APPARENT WETLAND AREAS FOUND IN AND/OR WITHIN 200 FEET


OF THE PROJECT AREA.
7. ALL BUILDING SETBACKS ARE TO CONFORM TO LOCAL ZONING


ORDINANCES.
8. THIS PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS, COVENANTS, OR


RESTRICTIONS EITHER RECORDED OR UNRECORDED.
9. ALL STREETS, RIGHTS-OF-WAY, EASEMENTS, AND ANY SITES FOR PUBLIC


USE AS NOTED ON THIS PLAN ARE HEREBY DEDICATED FOR THE USE
INTENDED.


10. PER THE CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH'S STORMWATER ORDINANCE, THIS
DEVELOPMENT INVOLVES THE CREATION, ADDITION, OR REPLACEMENT OF
MORE THAN 5,000 SF OF IMPERVIOUS SURFACE AND MORE THAN ONE ACRE
OF LAND DISTURBING ACTIVITIES AND THEREFORE MUST MEET THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE STORMWATER ORDINANCE.


SITE


TEMPORARY TRUCK PARKING:


53' CONTAINER SPACES:


40' CONTAINER SPACES:


CONTAINER YARD PARKING COUNT


10


24


564


EMPLOYEE CAR PARKING


TRUCK PARKING


WAREHOUSE PARKING COUNT


214


152



AutoCAD SHX Text

NAVD 88



AutoCAD SHX Text

ELEVATION 8.06'



AutoCAD SHX Text

NAIL IN 



AutoCAD SHX Text

%%UBENCH MARK%%U:



AutoCAD SHX Text

LIGHT POLE



AutoCAD SHX Text

FLONNEL AVENUE



AutoCAD SHX Text

30' R/W



AutoCAD SHX Text

MARSHLAND



AutoCAD SHX Text

WETLAND



AutoCAD SHX Text

WETLAND



AutoCAD SHX Text

16' DRIVEWAY



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING  ZONING: P-I-2



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING ZONING:  P-C-3 PROPOSED ZONING: P-I-2



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

1068



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.8



AutoCAD SHX Text

GUM 20



AutoCAD SHX Text

1069



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.3



AutoCAD SHX Text

GUM 18



AutoCAD SHX Text

1073



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.0



AutoCAD SHX Text

GUM 22 12



AutoCAD SHX Text

1115



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.8



AutoCAD SHX Text

GUM 26



AutoCAD SHX Text

3032



AutoCAD SHX Text

7.1



AutoCAD SHX Text

GUM 16



AutoCAD SHX Text

3050



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.6



AutoCAD SHX Text

GUM 20



AutoCAD SHX Text

3173



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.5



AutoCAD SHX Text

GUM 12 18



AutoCAD SHX Text

1059



AutoCAD SHX Text

9.2



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO 18



AutoCAD SHX Text

1064



AutoCAD SHX Text

9.7



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO 40



AutoCAD SHX Text

3175



AutoCAD SHX Text

5.2



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO 18



AutoCAD SHX Text

1108



AutoCAD SHX Text

7.8



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 22



AutoCAD SHX Text

3102



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.9



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 34



AutoCAD SHX Text

3103



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.3



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 18



AutoCAD SHX Text

3104



AutoCAD SHX Text

7.6



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 18 20



AutoCAD SHX Text

3105



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.4



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 22



AutoCAD SHX Text

3172



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.8



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 18



AutoCAD SHX Text

3174



AutoCAD SHX Text

6.1



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 20



AutoCAD SHX Text

3177



AutoCAD SHX Text

7.4



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 24



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE 18" RCP ELEV.=4.13



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE 18" RCP ELEV.=4.36



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE 15" RCP  ELEV.=4.19



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE 15" RCP ELEV.=4.11



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE 15" RCP ELEV.=4.13



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE 15" RCP ELEV.=4.10



AutoCAD SHX Text

TOP OF  JURISDICTIONAL DITCH



AutoCAD SHX Text

0.17 ACRES



AutoCAD SHX Text

UPLAND #2



AutoCAD SHX Text

CMF



AutoCAD SHX Text

CMF



AutoCAD SHX Text

CMF



AutoCAD SHX Text

CMF



AutoCAD SHX Text

CMF



AutoCAD SHX Text

IRF



AutoCAD SHX Text

IRF



AutoCAD SHX Text

IRF



AutoCAD SHX Text

IRF



AutoCAD SHX Text

IRF



AutoCAD SHX Text

IRF



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE BOAT RAMP



AutoCAD SHX Text

WOODEN  DOCK



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE POST ON CORNER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE POST ON CORNER



AutoCAD SHX Text

FLONNEL STREET 30' R/W



AutoCAD SHX Text

SHED



AutoCAD SHX Text

BACK WALL OF TRAILER



AutoCAD SHX Text

DNR SALT MARSH LINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CENTER LINE OF ST. AUGUSTINE RIVER



AutoCAD SHX Text

DNR SALT MARSH LINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN #7-0002-01-001



AutoCAD SHX Text

NOW OR FORMERLY ESTATE OF MILLIE MOCK BARNWELL   PIN #7-0001-04-008



AutoCAD SHX Text

4.26



AutoCAD SHX Text

4.31



AutoCAD SHX Text

4.51



AutoCAD SHX Text

4.34



AutoCAD SHX Text

4.17



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

3175



AutoCAD SHX Text

5.2



AutoCAD SHX Text

WO 20



AutoCAD SHX Text

FRAME BUILDING



AutoCAD SHX Text

26.1'



AutoCAD SHX Text

17.9'



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHGW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

EARTHEN ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

EARTHEN ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

EARTHEN ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

EARTHEN ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO42



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO28



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO24



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO48



AutoCAD SHX Text

G24



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO32



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO42



AutoCAD SHX Text

P16



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO24



AutoCAD SHX Text

G16



AutoCAD SHX Text

CHAIN GATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO24



AutoCAD SHX Text

LO48



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

DNR SALT MARSH LINE



AutoCAD SHX Text

PARCEL A PRB 22-P, PG 51 NOW OR FORMERLY CECIL & FRANKIE B. FINCH PIN #7-0003-01-012



AutoCAD SHX Text

PARCEL B PRB 22-P, PG 51 NOW OR FORMERLY CECIL & FRANKIE B. FINCH PIN #7-0003-01-013



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN #7-0003-01-006



AutoCAD SHX Text

NAVD 88



AutoCAD SHX Text

ELEVATION: 11.18'



AutoCAD SHX Text

FLAT IN TREE



AutoCAD SHX Text

%%UBENCH MARK%%U:



AutoCAD SHX Text

2.52 ACRES



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN #7-0003-01-005



AutoCAD SHX Text

2.90 ACRES



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN #7-0003-01-002



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN #7-0003-01-002



AutoCAD SHX Text

9.720 ACRES



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN #7-0002-01-001A



AutoCAD SHX Text

4.646 ACRES



AutoCAD SHX Text

NOW OR FORMERLY HAMCO RENTALS LLC PIN #7-0002-01-003



AutoCAD SHX Text

NOW OR FORMERLY ESTATE OF MILLIE MOCK BARNWELL   PIN #7-0001-04-008



AutoCAD SHX Text

30' PRVATE ACCESS EASEMENT



AutoCAD SHX Text

EXISTING PRIVATE ACCESS ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

IRF



AutoCAD SHX Text

CMF POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

CMF



AutoCAD SHX Text

U.S. HIGHWAY #21



AutoCAD SHX Text

R/W



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE POST (LEANING)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHU



AutoCAD SHX Text

EARTHEN ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

GATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

4' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

4' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

4' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

4' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

6' PICKET FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

GATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

G



AutoCAD SHX Text

MAILBOX KIOSK



AutoCAD SHX Text

SIGN



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:6.74



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"RCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:6.96



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:7.30



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"RCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

6"PVC IE:9.11



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:7.82



AutoCAD SHX Text

6"PVC IE:9.96



AutoCAD SHX Text

6"PVC IE:8.58



AutoCAD SHX Text

6"PVC IE:8.61



AutoCAD SHX Text

GI TOP:8.67 IE:4.56



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"CPP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GI TOP:7.65 IE(N):3.38 IE(S):3.43



AutoCAD SHX Text

24"CPP



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:3.12



AutoCAD SHX Text

24"CPP IE:3.99



AutoCAD SHX Text

24"CPP IE:4.52



AutoCAD SHX Text

GI TOP:8.13 IE:2.50



AutoCAD SHX Text

GI TOP:7.62 IE:3.90



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"CPP



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

YELLOW PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

YELLOW PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

16"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

16"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

24"LO



AutoCAD SHX Text

PAVER SIDEWALK



AutoCAD SHX Text

52"O



AutoCAD SHX Text

48"O



AutoCAD SHX Text

24"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

60"O



AutoCAD SHX Text

30"O



AutoCAD SHX Text

20"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

20"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

22"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

34"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

34"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

36"O



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

22"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

20"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

26"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

36"P



AutoCAD SHX Text

12"ORN



AutoCAD SHX Text

12"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"MAG



AutoCAD SHX Text

24"MAG



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

20"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

26"O



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"ORN



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"ORN



AutoCAD SHX Text

14"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

16"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

12"MAG



AutoCAD SHX Text

16"PC



AutoCAD SHX Text

28"SG



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

C



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE(TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE(TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE(TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

18" CURB & GUTTER



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

TANK



AutoCAD SHX Text

6' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

WESTERN PORTION OF TRACT OF TOM T. REYNOLDS PLAT RECORD BOOK H, PAGE 57 N/F: RACHEL S. ROYAL   PIN: 7-0002-01-004B



AutoCAD SHX Text

12.365 ACRES



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN #7-0002-01-003



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

6' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

BOLLARD



AutoCAD SHX Text

BOLLARD



AutoCAD SHX Text

POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

POST



AutoCAD SHX Text

BOLLARD



AutoCAD SHX Text

BOLLARD



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

COVERED CONCRETE PORCH



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

COVERED CONCRETE PORCH



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

GW



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

SVP



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

OHPL



AutoCAD SHX Text

AC & PUMP



AutoCAD SHX Text

AC



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

AC



AutoCAD SHX Text

AC



AutoCAD SHX Text

AC



AutoCAD SHX Text

AC



AutoCAD SHX Text

SAT



AutoCAD SHX Text

SAT



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

PP



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

E



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

GATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

GATE



AutoCAD SHX Text

6' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

5' PICKET FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

SIGN



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"RCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"RCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"RCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"RCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"RCP



AutoCAD SHX Text

8"CMP



AutoCAD SHX Text

18"CIP



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:3.56'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:3.48'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:5.83'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:6.27'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:6.27'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:6.53'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:6.02'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:6.56'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:8.14'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:8.32'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:8.29'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:8.33'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:8.40'



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

YELLLOW PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

YELLOW PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

WHITE PAINT



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

T



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:8.86'



AutoCAD SHX Text

IE:8.83'



AutoCAD SHX Text

PAVERS



AutoCAD SHX Text

PAVED OVER CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

SIDEWALK



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE SIDEWALK



AutoCAD SHX Text

BLOCK FOUNDATION



AutoCAD SHX Text

CO



AutoCAD SHX Text

ANTENNA



AutoCAD SHX Text

ANTENNA



AutoCAD SHX Text

MANHOLE TOP:11.55'



AutoCAD SHX Text

GRINDER



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

SLAB (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

3' CHAINLINK FENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

6" ROLL CURB (TYP)



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

ONE STORY BRICK & FAME BUILDING



AutoCAD SHX Text

PIN: 7-0002-01-004A



AutoCAD SHX Text

0.978 ACRES 42,583 SQUARE FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCRETE



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

X



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

LP



AutoCAD SHX Text

UC



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

MB



AutoCAD SHX Text

ONE STORY BRICK RESIDENCE



AutoCAD SHX Text

53' TRAILER SPACES



AutoCAD SHX Text

40' TRAILER SPACES



AutoCAD SHX Text

POND



AutoCAD SHX Text

POND



AutoCAD SHX Text

POND



AutoCAD SHX Text

POND



AutoCAD SHX Text

POND



AutoCAD SHX Text

POND



AutoCAD SHX Text

POND



AutoCAD SHX Text

24



AutoCAD SHX Text

9



AutoCAD SHX Text

120'



AutoCAD SHX Text

60'



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE: 1"=120'



AutoCAD SHX Text

240'



AutoCAD SHX Text

0'



AutoCAD SHX Text

HWY. 21



AutoCAD SHX Text

JIMMY DELOACH PKWY



AutoCAD SHX Text

PORT WENTWORTH



AutoCAD SHX Text

SAVANNAH RIVER



AutoCAD SHX Text

ST. AUGUSTINE RIVER



AutoCAD SHX Text

HOULIHAN BR.



AutoCAD SHX Text

25



AutoCAD SHX Text

BONNY BRIDGE RD.



AutoCAD SHX Text

JIMMY DELOACH PKWY



AutoCAD SHX Text

PHASE LINE







Names, mailing addresses & PIN number of all property owners within 250 feet of all property lines: 

Robert & Sybil Cannon 
324 Flonnel Ave 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407 
70003 01006 
 
Brown Louise Eason 
6598 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407 
70001 04002 
 
Bell William R Ind & Trustee 
6620 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407 
70001 04006 
 
Royal Rachel S & Ronald Anthony 
6500 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407-8550 
70002 01004 
 
Royal Rachel S 
6500 Hwy 21 
Pt Wentworth GA 31407-8550 
70002 01004B 
 
Chatham County 
124 Bull St Room 240 
Savannah GA 31401-3230 
70003 01008 
 
Georgia Ports Authority 
PO Box 2406 
Savannah GA 31402-2406 
70003 01007 
 
Atlanta Gas Light Co 
241 Ralph McGill Blvd NE Bin #10081 
Atlanta GA 30308 
70002 02003 

13.D.c

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 S
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

A
d

j P
ro

p
 O

w
n

er
s 

 (
28

35
 :

 S
it

e 
P

la
n

 R
ev

ie
w

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 (

S
p

ec
if

ic
)



Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023 

1 
 6/20/2023 2:24 PM 

Project Timeline 

Project Number: 220656 

Project Name: Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023 

Applicant / Engineer: Coleman Co. Inc.-Patrick Warner 

Owner: Inter Metro Properties GA, LLC 

City Review Engineer: Thomas & Hutton  

 

• 12/22/2022 – Application received: Incomplete 

• 12/27/2022 - Email sent to Patrick Warner requesting PIN #’s 

• 01/04/2023 – Follow-up email sent to Patrick Warner regarding PIN #’s 

• 01/04/2023 – Email received from Patrick Warner with PIN #’s 

• 01/05/2023 – Application Complete 

• 01/05/2023 – Updated GPD received 

• 1/04/2023 – sent to Thomas & Hutton for review. 

• 1/18/2023 – received 1st comment letter from T&H. Coleman Company copied.  

• 3/3/2023 – received 1st resubmittal from Coleman Company. T&H Copied. [ME] 

• 3/15/2023 – Received 2nd Comment letter from T&H 

• 04/03/2023 – Received 3rd submittal from Coleman Company. T&H copied. 

• 04/13/2023 – Received 3rd comment letter from T&H. Coleman Copied. 

• 04/18/2023 – Received 4th submittal from Coleman Company 

• 05/02/2023 – received 4th comment letter from T&H. Coleman copied. 

• 05/04/2023 – Received 5th submittal from Coleman Company. T&H copied.  

• 05/09/2023 – Received 5th comment letter from T&H – Final (SC) 

• 5/15/23 – public hearing notice letters mailed.  

• 5/19/23 – public hearing notice published in the Savannah Morning News.  

• 6/12/23 – The Planning Commission voted unanimously to approve the application.  

 

13.D.d

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve

 L
o

g
is

ti
cs

 Y
ar

d
 7

-0
00

3-
01

-0
01

 S
-S

it
e 

P
la

n
 2

02
3-

T
im

el
in

e 
 (

28
35

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
S

p
ec

if
ic

) 
F

lo
n

n
el

 A
ve



 
May 9, 2023 

 
 
Mr. Jason Stewart 
Assistant City Manager 
City of Port Wentworth 
7224 GA Highway 21 
Port Wentworth, GA 31407 
 

Re: Flonnel Ave. Logistics Facility Container Yard 
 City of Port Wentworth, Georgia 
 Site Plan Review 
 25412.0036 

 
Dear Mr. Stewart: 
 

This site plan review was completed based on our interpretation of the latest City of Port 
Wentworth zoning ordinance and development regulations. Thomas & Hutton’s review was 
performed in an effort to assess if the application package for the proposed improvements is in 
general conformance with City of Port Wentworth regulations. Our review shall not be interpreted 
as a detailed technical analysis of the design or for verification of technical sufficiency for 
elements of design. Under no circumstances shall our review and comments related to the site 
plans relieve the Applicant’s Design Professional of their professional obligations and professional 
standards of care. As such, the design submitted by the Applicant’s Design Professional shall be 
the sole responsibility of the Applicant’s Design Professional. Thomas & Hutton shall not accept any 
responsibility for any liability due to design and construction, in whole or in part, for any aspect of 
the design and construction of design documents. 

 
We have reviewed the submittal package for conformance with City of Port Wentworth 

regulations of the following: 
 

1. Please provide complete signed and sealed site development plans. 
• Applicant addressed. 
 

2. The previously submitted cut and fill volumes demonstrating that the cumulative 
effect of the proposed development will not increase the water surface elevation 
of the base flood more than one foot at any point within the community appear 
to include the cut volume below the pond’s normal water level.  The intent of the 
exhibit is to demonstrate available floodplain storage remains the same as pre-
developed conditions when compared to post-developed conditions. Volumes 
should not include areas having normal water elevations (groundwater or pond) 
that prohibit the storage of flood waters. Please provide a revised analysis and 
adjust grading as required to mitigate floodplain fills. 
• Applicant addressed. 

 
3. The approved General Development Plan for the facility shows that a 70-foot buffer 

and 20-foot berm is to be constructed between the proposed site development 
and the adjacent property owned by the Cannon family (PIN 70003 01006).  The 

13.D.e

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

54
12

.0
03

6 
- 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve
 L

o
g

is
ti

cs
 -

 5
th

 R
ev

ie
w

 b
y 

T
&

H
 (

F
IN

A
L

) 
05

.0
9.

23
  (

28
35

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
S

p
ec

if
ic

) 
F

lo
n

n
el



Mr. Jason Stewart 
Assistant City Manager 
City of Port Wentworth 
May 9, 2023 
Page 2 
 

   
 

applicant appears to have discussed this requirement with the Cannon family and 
has submitted a letter stating that the Cannon family finds a 50-foot-wide buffer 
and 6-foot-tall fence instead of the required buffer and berm acceptable. They 
have also stated that the material/aesthetic of the privacy fence is to be 
determined at a later time between the two entities.  Since the original General 
Development Plan was recommended for approval by Planning Commission and 
subsequently approved by City Council, the buffer and berm revisions will need to 
be resubmitted to Planning Commission, and then City Council, for approval prior 
to issuance of a development permit. 
• Applicant stated that they are planning to discuss this item before Planning 

Commission and City Council. 
 

The Applicant’s latest submittal received on May 5th, 2023, addressed comments 1-2 
above. Upon the resolution of Comment 3, all prior site plan comments appear to have been 
satisfied and be in general conformance with the City of Port Wentworth’s zoning ordinance and 
development regulations with the exception of the following. The City of Port Wentworth retains 
the right to issue a development permit at their discretion prior to the below comment being 
addressed. However, the following comment must be addressed prior to project closeout: 

 
4. A performance bond should be provided prior to any building and/or grading 

permit for any land development activity requiring a permanent stormwater 
management system per section 7–80(h) of the City of Port Wentworth Code of 
Ordinances. 

 The Applicant should address item 3 prior to proceeding with the City’s development 
permit process. If the City chooses to proceed with the issuance of a development permit prior to 
the resolution of item 4, the City may include these conditions with the development permit. 
Please call us with any questions or comments at (912) 234–5300. 
      
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      THOMAS & HUTTON  
 
 

       
              Jessica L. Routt, P.E. 
 

JLR/wr 

13.D.e

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

54
12

.0
03

6 
- 

F
lo

n
n

el
 A

ve
 L

o
g

is
ti

cs
 -

 5
th

 R
ev

ie
w

 b
y 

T
&

H
 (

F
IN

A
L

) 
05

.0
9.

23
  (

28
35

 :
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 (
S

p
ec

if
ic

) 
F

lo
n

n
el



 City Council Meeting: 06/22/23 07:00 PM 
 7224 GA Highway 21 Department: All 
 Port Wentworth, GA  31407 Category: Ordinance 
  Prepared By: Zahnay Smoak 

 DRAFT Department Head: Brian Harvey 

  

 AGENDA ITEM (ID # 2844) DOC ID: 2844  

Updated: 6/20/2023 12:49 PM by Zahnay Smoak  Page 1 

Zoning Ordinance- 2nd Reading 

Issue/Item: : Consideration of a new Zoning Ordinance, City of Port Wentworth Code of 

Ordinances, Appendix B, Zoning, including the amended official Zoning Map.  

 

Background: An audit of the City’s development regulations was performed by Horizon 

Planning Group.  The current ordinance was found to be outdated, have conflicting 

language, and needed development standards.  This resulted in confusion among city staff, 

the development community, and the public.  As a result of the audit, the City Council 

directed staff to work with Horizon to develop a new Zoning Ordinance to replace the 

current ordinance. 

 

Facts and Findings:  Horizon hosted two open house presentations last Fall to get 

community feedback from the public and the development community regarding the new 

ordinance.  A steering committee was established which consisted of staff, a member of the 

City Council, and representatives from the City’s contracted engineering firms.  The steering 

committee met individually with consultants from Horizon and had regular meetings each 

month from November 2022 to February 2023 in person and over Zoom to discuss Horizon’s 

drafts and suggest and make changes.  The draft ordinance was presented to the Planning 

Commission at their February 13, 2023 meeting and a public input session was held the 

night of February 13, 2023.    The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the draft 

ordinance at the March 13, 2023 meeting and unanimously recommended approval to City 

Council with the knowledge that City Council would have the ability to make further changes 

and the City Attorney may recommend further changes as to form and content to City 

Council before final approval. 

 

Funding:  NA 

 

Planning Commission:  The Planning Commission unanimously recommends Approval to 

the City Council.   

 

Recommendation: Approve 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• 23.03.23 - Zoning Ord (DOCX) 

• PW ZO - Complete Bind v2 (PDF) 

• PW ZO - Zoning Map v2 (PDF) 

14.A

Packet Pg. 26



 

 

Page 1 of 5 

ORDINANCE No. 23-03-0010 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF CHATHAM 

CITY OF PORT WENTWORTH 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO REPLACE THE CITY’S CURRENT ZONING ORDINANCE;  

TO REPEAL CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; 

TO PROVIDE FOR AN ADOPTUION DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 

WHEREAS, it is necessary from time to time to modify the City’s ordinances;  

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council is tasked with the authority to adopt and 

provide for such ordinances, resolutions, rules, and regulations which it deems necessary, 

expedient, or helpful for the peace, good order, protection of life and property, health, welfare, 

sanitation, comfort, convenience, prosperity, and well-being of the inhabitants of the City; 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council is tasked with the authority to provide such 

comprehensive city planning for development by zoning, subdivision regulation, and the like as is 

deemed necessary and reasonable to ensure a safe, healthy, and aesthetically pleasing community;  

 

 WHEREAS, state law recognizes and confirms the authority of local governments to 

exercise zoning power within their respective territorial boundaries, where such local governments 

may provide by ordinance to expediently and efficiently exercise zoning powers and may provide 

for procedures and requirements to establish procedures for such local government’s exercise of 

zoning powers; 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of Port Wentworth is vested with substantial 

powers, rights and functions to generally regulate the practice, conduct or use of property for 

the purposes of maintaining health, morals, safety, security, peace, and the general welfare of 

the City; 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council has, as a part of planning, zoning, and growth 

management, been in review of its zoning ordinances, and has been studying, with concern, 

the City's best estimates and projections of the developments and projects within Port 

Wentworth; 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council deems it important to prudently and deliberately 

develop its zoning ordinances in a manner which integrates the above-mentioned concerns; 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council considers it paramount that land use regulation 

continues in the most orderly and predictable fashion with the least amount of disturbance to 

landowners and to the citizens of the City; 

 

 

 

 

14.A.a

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
03

.2
3 

- 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

  (
28

44
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

-2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



 

 

Page 2 of 5 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council has always had a strong interest in growth 

management so as to promote the traditional police power goals of health, safety, morals, 

aesthetics, and the general welfare of the community and, in particular, the lessening of traffic 

on City roads, security of the public from crime and other dangers, promotion of health and 

general welfare of its citizens, protection of the aesthetic qualities of the City including 

access to air and light, and facilitation of the adequate provision of transportation and other 

public requirements; 

 

WHEREAS, it is the belief of the Mayor and City Council: that the concept of "public 

welfare" is broad and inclusive; that the values it represents are spiritual as well as physical, 

aesthetic as well as monetary; and that it is within the power of the Mayor and Council to 

determine that a community should be beautiful as well as healthy, spacious as well as 

clean, well balanced as well as carefully patrolled; 

 

WHEREAS, it is also the opinion of the Mayor and Council that "general welfare" 

includes the valid public objectives of aesthetics, conservation of the value of existing lands 

and buildings within the City, making the most appropriate use of resources, preserving 

neighborhood characteristics, enhancing and protecting the economic wellbeing of the 

community, facilitating adequate provision of public services, and the preservation of the 

resources of the City; 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council is, and has been, interested in developing a 

cohesive and coherent policy regarding certain uses in the City, and has intended to promote 

community development through stability, predictability and balanced growth which will 

further the prosperity of the City as a whole; 

 

WHEREAS, the City and its partners have diligently worked on rewriting the City’s 

Zoning Ordinance, taking all of the above and resident, developer, and business insights into 

consideration;  

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF 

PORT WENTWORTH, GEORGIA, in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof, as follows: 

 

1. The entirety of the existing “Appendix A - Franchises” to the City’s Code of Ordinances 

is moved to City Code Sec. 8.5-1 in its entirety.  

 

2. City Code Sections 8.5-2 though 8.5-10 shall remain “Reserved”. 

 

3. The entirety of the existing “Appendix B – Zoning” to the City’s Code of Ordinances is 

moved to the newly created “Appendix D” and is named “Appendix D – Zoning, pre-

2023”. 

 

4. The “Appendix B” to the City’s Code of Ordinances shall be “Reserved” and is named 

“Appendix B – Reserved”. 

14.A.a

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
03

.2
3 

- 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

  (
28

44
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

-2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



 

 

Page 3 of 5 

 

5. The “Appendix A” to the City’s Code of Ordinances shall be named “Appendix A – 

Zoning Ordinance” and shall include the City’s Zoning Ordinance as is attached to this 

Ordinance as Exhibit A, and is incorporated as if fully stated herein. 

 

A summary of the Table of Contents of such Zoning Ordinance is as follows: 

 

 

Part I: Introduction 

Article 1 Title and Purpose   

 

Part II: Zoning District Regulation 

Article 2 General Requirements and Interpretations   

Article 3 Residential Zoning Districts   

Article 4 Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts   

Article 5 Planned Unit Development District   

 

Part III: Development Provisions 

Article 6 General Provisions 

Article 7 Specific Use Requirements 

Article 8 Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Article 9 Site Lighting 

Article 10 Landscaping and the Environment 

Article 11 Streets and Subdivision Design 

 

Part IV: Review Processes and Standards 

Article 12 General Processes 

Article 13 Site Development Plan Review 

Article 14 Special Use Permit Review  

14.A.a

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
03

.2
3 

- 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

  (
28

44
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

-2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



 

 

Page 4 of 5 

Article 15 Planned Unit Development Review 

Article 16 Subdivision Review 

Article 17 Zoning Map and Text Amendments 

 

Part V: Administration 

Article 18 Zoning Administration 

Article 19 Planning Commission 

Article 20 City Council 

Article 21 Zoning Board of Appeals 

Article 22 Nonconformities 

Article 23 Enforcement 

 

Part VI: Definitions and Specifications 

Article 24 General Definitions   

Article 25 Land Use Definitions   

Article 26 Planting Specifications  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[ INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK ] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14.A.a

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
03

.2
3 

- 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

  (
28

44
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

-2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



 

 

Page 5 of 5 

 

6. All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed.  

 

7. This Ordinance shall become effective upon the date noted therein of the Zoning 

Ordinance.  

 

 

SO ORDAINED this the    day of      , 2023. 

 

 

       Approved: 

 

 

             

       Gary Norton, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

     

Zahnay Smoak, City Clerk 

 

First reading:        (date) 

 

Second reading:       (date) 

 

14.A.a

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3.
03

.2
3 

- 
Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

  (
28

44
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 O

rd
in

an
ce

-2
n

d
 R

ea
d

in
g

)



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     

                             
 

  
 
 
 

CITY OF 
PORT WENTWORTH 
ZONING ORDINANCE  

 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL REVIEW DRAFT 
FOR JUNE 20, 2023 

 
 

 
 

Horizon Draft 6-6-23  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PLB PLANNING GROUP 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-1 

Table of Contents 
 

Part I: Introduction 

Article 1 Title and Purpose   
Section 1.10  Title 

Section 1.20  Intent and Purpose 

Section 1.30  Applicability 

Section 1.40  Organization 

Section 1.50  Figures and Tables 

Section 1.60  Interpretation and Conflict 

Section 1.70  Transitional Provisions 

Section 1.80  Legal Basis 

Section 1.90  Validity and Severability 

Section 1.100  Repeal of Ordinances and Effective Date 

 

Part II: Zoning District Regulation 

Article 2 General Requirements and Interpretations   
Section 2.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 2.20  Established Zoning Districts 

Section 2.30  Interpretation of Zoning District Boundaries 

Section 2.40  Zoning of Vacated and Annexed Areas 

Section 2.50  Principal Buildings and Uses 

Section 2.60  Similar Land Uses 

Article 3 Residential Zoning Districts   
Section 3.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 3.20  Zoning District Intent Statements 

Section 3.30  Land Use Regulation 

Section 3.40  Lot, Building, and Siting Requirements 

Section 3.50  Residential Building Requirements 

Section 3.60  Building Requirements 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Table of Contents 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-2 

Section 3.70  Other Applicable Development Requirements 

Section 3.80  Review Processes and Procedures 

Article 4 Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts   
Section 4.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 4.20  Zoning District Intent Statements 

Section 4.30  Land Use Regulation  

Section 4.40  Lot, Building, and Siting Requirements  

Section 4.50  Building Requirements  

Section 4.60  Other Applicable Development Requirements 

Section 4.70  Review Processes and Procedures 

Article 5 Planned Unit Development District   
Section 5.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 5.20  Qualifying Conditions 

Section 5.30  Permitted Uses 

Section 5.40  PUD Development Requirements 

Section 5.50  Previously Approved Master Planned Overlay 

Section 5.60  Other Applicable Development Requirements 

 

Part III: Development Provisions 

Article 6 General Provisions 
Section 6.10  General Compliance 

Section 6.20  Accessory Buildings, Uses, and Structures 

Section 6.30  Building Height Exceptions 

Section 6.40  Setbacks and Yards 

Section 6.50  Lots 

Section 6.60  Utilities and Services 

Article 7 Specific Use Requirements 
Section 7.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 7.20  Accessory Dwelling Unit 

Section 7.30  Adult Entertainment Establishments 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Table of Contents 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-3 

Section 7.40  Animal and Pet Services 

Section 7.50  Bed and Breakfast 

Section 7.60  Campground or Recreational Vehicle Park  

Section 7.70  Commercial Outdoor Recreation, Low-Intensity  

Section 7.80  Community Garden 

Section 7.90  Day Care Home (Adults and Children)  

Section 7.100  Drive-Through Service  

Section 7.110  Farm Market and Agritourism 

Section 7.120  Golf Course 

Section 7.130  Home Occupations  

Section 7.140  Manufactured Home Community 

Section 7.150  Outdoor Display and Sales 

Section 7.160  Outdoor Storage  

Section 7.170  Outdoor Theater 

Section 7.180  Personal Care Home  

Section 7.190  Salvage or Impound Operation  

Section 7.200  Self-Storage 

Section 7.210  Solar Energy 

Section 7.220  Stables, Commercial 

Section 7.230  Temporary Offices and Land Uses 

Section 7.240  Vehicle Repair 

Section 7.250  Vehicle Service Station  

Section 7.260  Vehicle Wash 

Article 8 Parking, Loading, and Traffic 
Section 8.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 8.20  General Requirements and Applicability 

Section 8.30  Parking Lot Design and Dimensional Requirements 

Section 8.40  Required Off-Street Parking 

Section 8.50  Reduction and Deferment 

Section 8.60  Shared Parking 

Section 8.70  Vehicle and RV Parking, Storage, and Repair 

Section 8.80  Electric Vehicle Charging Stations 

Section 8.90  Loading Zones 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Table of Contents 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-4 

Section 8.100  Access Management 

Section 8.110   Traffic Impact Analysis 

Section 8.120   Bicycle and Pedestrian Accommodation 

Article 9 Site Lighting 
Section 9.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 9.20  General Requirements and Applicability 

Section 9.30  Lighting Plans 

Section 9.40  Fixtures 

Section 9.50  Site Lighting Levels 

Section 9.60  Lighting Modifications 

Article 10 Landscaping and the Environment 
Section 10.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 10.20  General Requirements and Applicability 

Section 10.30  General Landscape Regulations 

Section 10.40  Buffer Landscaping 

Section 10.50  Street Yard Greenway Landscaping 

Section 10.60  Parking Lot Landscaping 

Section 10.70  Screening 

Section 10.80  Landscaping Modifications 

Section 10.90  Tree Preservation 

Section 10.100  Grading, Excavation and Ponds 

Section 10.110  Stormwater Management 

Article 11 Streets and Subdivision Design 
Section 11.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 11.20  Subdivision Street Requirements 

Section 11.30  Private Street Easements and Maintenance 

Section 11.40  Street Dimensional Requirements 

Section 11.50  Subdivision Lot Layout and Design 

Section 11.60  Easements, Monuments, and Benchmarks 

Section 11.70  Water Supply and Sanitary Sewerage 

Section 11.80  Subdivision Modifications 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Table of Contents 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-5 

Part IV: Review Processes and Standards 

Article 12 General Processes 
Section 12.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 12.20  Application, Contents, Fees, and Completeness 

Section 12.30  Review Authorities and Application Types  

Section 12.40  Notices for Public Hearings 

Section 12.50  Decisions and Records 

Section 12.60  Conditions of Approval 

Section 12.70  Performance Guarantees 

Section 12.80  Administrative Adjustments  

Article 13 Site Plan Review 
Section 13.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 13.20  Applicability 

Section 13.30  Exemptions 

Section 13.40  Process 

Section 13.50  Development Plan Requirements 

Section 13.60  Review Standards 

Section 13.70  Conditions 

Section 13.80  Changes to an Approved Site Plan 

Section 13.90  Expiration 

Section 13.100  Appeal 

Article 14 Special Use Permit Review 
Section 14.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 14.20  Applicability 

Section 14.30  Process 

Section 14.40  Review Standards 

Section 14.50  Conditions 

Section 14.60  Appeal 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Table of Contents 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-6 

Article 15 Planned Unit Development Review 
Section 15.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 15.20  Application Process 

Section 15.30  Development Impact Assessment 

Section 15.40  Review Standards 

Section 15.50  Changes to an Approval Plan 

Article 16 Subdivision Review 
Section 16.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 16.20  Applicability and Subdivision Types 

Section 16.30  Sketch Plan 

Section 16.40  Exempt and Minor Subdivision Process 

Section 16.50  Major Subdivision- Preliminary Plat Process 

Section 16.60  Preliminary Plat Requirements 

Section 16.70  Final Plat Process 

Section 16.80  Final Plat Requirements 

Section 16.90  Maintenance Guarantees 

Section 16.100  Plat Amendments 

Article 17 Zoning Map and Text Amendments 
Section 17.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 17.20  Initiation 

Section 17.30  Amendment Review Process 

Section 17.40  Approval Standards 

 

Part V: Administration 

Article 18 Zoning Administration 
Section 18.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 18.20  Authority 

Section 18.30  Zoning Compliance 

Section 18.40  Other Duties 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Table of Contents 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-7 

Article 19 Planning Commission 
Section 19.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 19.20  Power and Duties 

Section 19.30  Rules and Procedures 

Article 20 City Council 
Section 20.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 20.20  Powers and Duties 

Section 20.30  Rules and Procedures 

Article 21 Zoning Board of Appeals 
Section 21.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 21.20  Creation and Membership 

Section 21.30  Powers and Duties 

Section 21.40  Rules and Procedures 

Section 21.50  Decisions 

Section 21.60  Time Limit on Variances 

Section 21.70  Appeal of Board Decision 

Article 22 Nonconformities 
Section 22.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 22.20  Nonconforming Lots of Record 

Section 22.30  Nonconforming Uses 

Section 22.40  Nonconforming Buildings and Structures 

Section 22.50  Nonconforming Site Development 

Section 22.60  Exceptions 

Article 23 Enforcement 
Section 23.10  Intent 

Section 23.20  Procedures 

Section 23.30  Violations and Penalties 

 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Table of Contents 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page T-8 

Part VI: Definitions and Specifications 

Article 24 General Definitions   
Section 24.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 24.20  Definitions A, B, C 

Section 24.30  Definitions D, E, F  

Section 24.40  Definitions G, H, I  

Section 24.50  Definitions J, K, L  

Section 24.60  Definitions M, N, O  

Section 24.70  Definitions P, Q, R 

Section 24.80  Definitions S, T, U  

Section 24.90  Definitions V, W, X, Y, Z 

Article 25 Land Use Definitions   
Section 25.10  Intent and Purpose 

Section 25.20  Accessory Use 

Section 25.30  Accommodations, Hospitality, and Entertainment 

Section 25.40  Agricultural  

Section 25.50  Civic and Institutional  

Section 25.60  Industrial, Infrastructure, and Transportation  

Section 25.70  Offices and Services  

Section 25.80  Residential Group Living  

Section 25.90  Residential Household Living  

Section 25.100  Retail and Other Sales and Rental  

Section 25.110  Other Uses  

Article 26 Planting Specifications  
Section 26.10  Prohibited Species 

Section 26.20  Planting Details 

Section 26.30  Tree Protection Details 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part I 

 
 
 
 
Part I. Introduction 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Part I. Introduction 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part I 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 1-1 

Article 1. Purpose and Intent 
 

Section 1.10 Title    
This ordinance shall be known and may be cited as "The Zoning Ordinance of the City of Port Wentworth, 
Georgia." The map referred to shall be known as the “The Zoning Map of the City of Port Wentworth, 
Georgia” and shall be maintained by the Zoning Administrator. 

Section 1.20 Intent and Purpose   
For the purpose of promoting and protecting the health, safety, morals, convenience, order, prosperity, or 
welfare of the present and future inhabitants of the City of Port Wentworth; and for the purpose of 
lessening congestion in the streets and roads; securing safety from fire and other dangers; providing 
adequate light and air; promoting the distribution of population and classification of land uses and 
distribution and utilization of land development as will tend to facilitate and conserve adequate provision 
of transportation, water supply, drainage, sanitation, educational opportunity, and recreation; and for 
other public purposes, the Council of the City of Port Wentworth does hereby ordain and enact into law the 
following regulations and zoning districts.  

Section 1.30 Applicability 
This ordinance of the City of Port Wentworth: 

A. regulates the location, height, bulk, number of stories, and size of buildings and other structures; the 
percentage of a lot that may be occupied; the sizes of yards and other open spaces; the density and 
distribution of population; and regulates the use of all land within the City; 

B. regulates the uses of buildings, structures, and lands for trade, industry, residence, recreation, 
conservation, water supply, sanitation, public safety, and public activities; 

C. provides for the preservation of scenic areas and protection against floods, rising waters, and erosion; 

D. creates districts for these purposes and establishes the boundaries for those districts; 

E. defines certain terms used in the ordinance; and 

F. provides for the method of administration, appeal and amendment, enforcement, duties, and the 
provision of penalties for violation. 

Section 1.40 Organization  
This ordinance is divided into the following six (6) parts: 

A. Part I Introduction. An introduction to set the purpose, applicability, organization, and legal basis for 
zoning regulation. 

B. Part II Zoning District Regulation. Land use, building, and dimensional regulations specific to Zoning 
Districts. 

C. Part III Development Provisions. Regulations related to general property, specific land uses and 
activities, and the development of land. 

D. Part IV Review Processes and Standards. Direction for review of zoning and land development 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 1. Purpose and Intent 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 1-2 

applications. 

E. Part V Administration. Administrative and review authorities, regulations concerning enforcement, and 
restrictions on nonconformities. 

F. Part VI Definitions and Specifications. General definitions and land use definitions for terms used in 
this ordinance and planting specifications. 

Section 1.50 Figures and Tables 
Graphics are provided as “figures” throughout this ordinance to illustrate the intent of the regulatory 
language. When there is an apparent discrepancy between the ordinance text and a text within a figure, the 
ordinance text shall supersede. Any text within a table is a requirement. 

Section 1.60 Interpretation and Conflict 
A. Interpretation. In the interpretation and application of this ordinance, all provisions shall be considered 

as minimum requirements, liberally construed in favor of the City Council and the Zoning Administrator, 
and deemed neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under state law. This ordinance is not 
intended to repeal, abrogate or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed restrictions.  

B. Conflict. Where the provisions of this ordinance are in conflict or overlap with other ordinances, 
whichever imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail. 

C. State Law. In the event this ordinance conflicts with State law, then State law shall prevail. 

Section 1.70 Transitional Provisions 
A. Purpose. The purpose of this section shall be to establish the procedures for handling previously 

approved items that existed as of the effective date of this Zoning Ordinance. 

B. Effect of this Ordinance on Applications Submitted and Prior Approvals. 

1. Applications Submitted. Applications for plan approval, permits, and other authorizations that are 
determined to be complete by the Zoning Administrator as of the effective date of this Zoning 
Ordinance may be approved if in compliance with the zoning ordinance in effect at the time of 
submission. Complete shall mean that all information required by the particular application has 
been provided and that all applicable fees have been submitted. 

2. Approved Plans, Permits, and Other Authorizations. Approved plans, permits, authorizations, and 
similar development approvals shall be governed by the zoning ordinance or other ordinances 
under which the approval was given. The continued validity of such plans, permits, and 
authorizations shall be determined pursuant to this subsection. 

C. Effect of this Zoning Ordinance on Pending Land Use Development and Permit Applications.  

1. Any land use development, license, or permit application that is complete as of the time of 
adoption of this Zoning Ordinance shall be reviewed under the ordinances in force and effect at the 
time the application is completed and shall be approved if in compliance with said ordinances.  

2. If a development requires a series of applications (i.e., site development plan approval, application 
for a variance, building permit, business license, etc.), if one application is filed prior to the effective 
date of this Zoning Ordinance, all applications shall be reviewed under the zoning ordinance and 
other ordinances in force and effect at the time the first application is completed and shall be 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 1. Purpose and Intent 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 1-3 

approved if in compliance with said ordinances. If a development is subject to this sub-section, then 
the developer may elect to have the applications reviewed under this Zoning Ordinance; once such 
decision is made to apply this Zoning Ordinance, the development may not revert to elect other 
previous Zoning Ordinance or other ordinances for application reviews. 

D. Any Use Previously Allowed as a Matter-of-Right Use that Becomes a Special Use Under This 
Ordinance. 

1. Uses with Approved Development Impact Assessment. A use approved under the prior zoning 
ordinance that was established with the approval of a Preliminary Development Plan (which 
included a Development Impact Assessment and Preliminary General Site Plan) shall be an 
approved special use. 

2. Other Uses. Any other conforming use in operation as of the effective date of this Zoning Ordinance 
that was previously permitted as a matter-of-right use and that is now a special use under this 
Zoning Ordinance shall be considered a nonconforming special use. 

Section 1.80 Legal Basis 
A. Authorization. The Port Wentworth City Council is authorized to adopt this ordinance pursuant to the 

enabling authority contained in the Georgia Zoning Procedures Law (O.C.G.A. 36-66-1 et. seq.) and all 
other relevant laws of the State of Georgia. 

B. Change of Statute. Whenever any provision of this ordinance refers to or cites a section of the Georgia 
Code of Laws and that section is later amended or superseded, this ordinance shall be deemed 
amended to refer to the amended section or the section that most nearly corresponds to the 
superseded section. 

Section 1.90  Validity and Severability 
If any section, subsection, clause, provision, or portion of these regulations shall be held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect any other section, 
subsection, clause, provision, or portion of these regulations which is not invalid or unconstitutional.  

Section 1.100 Repeal of Ordinances and Effective Date 
A. Repeal.  

1. The adoption of this Zoning Ordinance shall have the effect of repealing the prior Zoning Ordinance 
(Appendix B of the City of Port Wentworth Code of Ordinances) and replacing all ordinances and 
parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance. 

2. When any language which repealed another shall itself be repealed, the previous language shall not 
be revived without being approved as a text amendment to this ordinance, as detailed in Article 17. 

B. Approval and Effective Date. This ordinance is a restatement of the City of Port Wentworth Zoning 
Ordinance approved on _____, 2023, and effective on _____, 2023. 

 

 

 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 1. Purpose and Intent 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 1-4 

This page is intentionally blank. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part II 

 
 
 
 
Part II. Zoning District Regulation 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Part I. Introduction 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part II 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 2-1 

Article 2. Zoning Districts and Interpretations 
 
Section 2.10 Intent and Purpose    
It is the intent of this article to establish zoning districts to ensure the compatible use of and to ensure 
desirable conditions within the City of Port Wentworth to live, work, conduct business, and visit.  

Section 2.20 Established Zoning Districts   
A. Zoning Districts. The City of Port Wentworth is divided into the following zoning districts: 

Table 2.20: Zoning Districts 
Zoning District Abbreviation Article 
Single-Family Residential R-1 3 
Suburban Single-Family Residential R-2 3 
Old Town Residential R-3 3 
Mixed Residential R-4 3 
Multi-Family Residential R-5 3 
Neighborhood Commercial C-1 4 
General Commercial C-2 4 
Interchange Commercial  C-3 4 
Industrial I-1 4 
Planned Unit Development PUD 5 

Section 2.30 Interpretation of Zoning District Boundaries 
A. Zoning Map. The location and boundaries of the zoning districts are established and shown on a map 

titled “The Zoning Map of the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia,” as amended from time to time. The 
official and final Zoning Map shall be publicly displayed at the Community Development Department 
office. The Zoning Map is declared to be part of the Zoning Ordinance. 

B. Rules. When uncertainty exists with respect to the location of boundaries of any zoning district as 
shown on “The Zoning Map of the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia," the following rules shall apply:  

1. Unless otherwise specifically indicated, where district boundaries are indicated on the zoning map 
as approximately following the centerline of a street, highway, railroad right-of-way line, stream 
bed, or riverbed, or such centerlines extended, then that centerline shall be constructed to be the 
boundary.  

2. Where district boundary lines are indicated on the zoning map as approximately following the 
corporate limits line of the City of Port Wentworth, then the corporate limits line shall be construed 
to be the district boundary.  

3. Where district boundaries are indicated on the zoning map as being set back from a street, road, 
highway, railroad, stream, or river, and parallel thereto, then such district boundaries, unless 
otherwise specifically indicated, shall be construed as being at the scaled distance of the zoning 
map as measured from the centerline of such street, road, highway, railroad, stream or river and as 
being parallel thereto.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 2. Zoning Districts and Interpretations 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 2-2 

4. Where district boundaries are indicated on the zoning map as approximately following lot lines or 
such lot lines extended, then those lot lines or lot lines extended shall be construed to be the 
district boundaries.  

5. Where a district boundary divides a lot, the requirements for the district in which the greater 
portion of the lot lies shall be extended to the balance of the lot; provided however, that such 
extension shall not include any part of the lot which lies more than 50 feet beyond the district 
boundary and provided further that this provision shall not apply to a through lot. In the case of a 
through lot, the restrictions of the district applying to adjoining lots that front on the same street as 
the lot frontage in question shall apply. 

Section 2.40 Zoning of Vacated and Annexed Areas  
A. Vacated Land. Whenever any street, alley, or other public way within the City is vacated by official 

governmental action and the lands within those vacated lands attach to and become a part of lands 
adjoining the street, alley, or public way, those lands shall automatically be subjected to the same 
zoning regulations as are applicable to the adjoining lands. 

B. Annexed Land. When land is annexed into the City, it shall be zoned R-1 until or unless the City Council 
takes action to classify it as another zoning district. 

Section 2.50 Principal Buildings and Uses 
A lot or parcel shall not be devoted to more than one (1) principal use or contain more than one (1) 
principal building, except for groups of multiple family buildings, commercial establishments, or industrial 
buildings which are determined by the Zoning Administrator to be a principal use collectively, based on one 
or more of the following considerations: 

A. Individual buildings share common parking areas. 

B. Access to the buildings/uses is provided via shared access drives or streets. 

C. Buildings are under single ownership. 

D. Individual activities support one another (such as auto dealership/vehicle repair or a convenience 
store/restaurant/gas station). 

Section 2.60 Similar Land Uses 
A. Intent. Since every potential use cannot be addressed in this ordinance, each district provides for 

"similar uses" referencing this section.  

B. Request for Determination. Requests for a use not specifically addressed in any zoning district shall be 
submitted to the Zoning Administrator for review based on the following standards:  

1. A finding has been made by the Zoning Administrator that the proposed use is not listed as a 
permitted or special use in any zoning district. 

2. If the use is not addressed in this ordinance, the Zoning Administrator shall select the use which 
most closely approximates the proposed use, using criteria such as: the nature of the use; 
conformance with the purpose of the zoning district in which the similar use is permitted; aesthetic 
and traffic characteristics; and potential nuisance effects (noise, vibration, dust, smoke, odor, glare, 
hours of operation, etc.).  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 2. Zoning Districts and Interpretations 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 2-3 

3. Once a similar use is determined, the proposed use shall comply with any conditions and review 
procedures applicable to that use, including rezoning (if applicable) and compliance with the 
specific use requirements of this ordinance, as applicable. 

4. If the Zoning Administrator determines a proposed use is not similar to any use addressed in the 
ordinance, the applicant may petition for an amendment to the ordinance, as governed by this 
ordinance, to permit the use.  

5. The determination as to whether a proposed use is similar in nature and class to another permitted 
or special use within a district shall be considered an interpretation of the use regulations, not a 
variance applying to a particular situation. Any use determined by the Zoning Administrator to be 
similar shall thereafter be included in the enumeration of uses allowed within the particular zoning 
district. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 2. Zoning Districts and Interpretations 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 2-4 

This page is intentionally blank  
 
 
 
 
 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-1 

Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts 
 

Section 3.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Introduction. This article outlines the intent and purpose statements for the residential zoning districts 

and contains basic information pertaining to the land use, dimensional, and building requirements for 
properties in the City of Port Wentworth. 

B. Zoning Districts. The City is divided into five (5) residential zoning districts described in Section 3.20. 
Each zoning district has unique requirements concerning land use and site development. 

Section 3.20 Zoning District Intent Statements   
A. Single-Family Residential (R-1). This district is intended for detached single-family residential dwellings 

on larger lots, primarily within rural areas with historic established neighborhoods, but may transition 
through rezoning to higher-density districts in the future. The district also allows for limited civic and 
recreational uses. Characteristics of lands zoned R-1 include open space, fields, farmland, and minor 
subdivisions in areas that are not conducive to pedestrian or bicycle travel.  

B. Suburban Single-Family Residential (R-2). This district is intended for detached single-family residential 
dwellings on typical suburban-scale lots. The district also allows for limited civic and recreational uses. 
Characteristics of lands zoned R-2 include major subdivisions with curvilinear and grid pattern street 
systems with moderate connectivity between neighborhoods and commercial areas, as well as 
sidewalks and community amenities.  

C. Old Town Residential (R-3). This district is intended for a range of detached single-family dwellings, 
two-family dwellings, and attached single-family townhomes within the Old Town area of Port 
Wentworth. This district recognizes the Old Towns as a traditional urban village where infill or 
redevelopment projects may occur. Characteristics of lands zoned R-3 include established 
neighborhoods on traditional grid pattern street systems with sidewalks, or the feasibility of sidewalks, 
as it is a walkable traditional neighborhood.  

D. Mixed Residential (R-4). This district is intended for attached single-family townhomes. The district also 
allows for limited civic and recreational uses, as well as single-family and two-family residences on 
smaller urban-scale lots. Characteristics of lands zoned R-4 include major subdivisions with curvilinear 
and grid pattern street systems with significant connectivity between neighborhoods and commercial 
areas, as well as sidewalks and community amenities.  

E. Multi-Family Residential (R-5). This district is intended for multi-family residential buildings. This 
district also allows for limited civic and recreational uses, as well as single-family and two-family 
residences and townhomes. Characteristics of lands zoned R-5 include apartment complex facilities and 
denser townhome communities closer to goods and services or planned mixed-use village areas. 
Developments include sidewalks and community amenities.  

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-2 

Section 3.30 Land Use Regulation 
A. Requirements. Land and buildings shall only be used in accordance with Table 3.30. 

1. Permitted Use (P). This use is authorized by-right, subject to all other applicable provisions of this 
ordinance.  

2. Special Use Permit Required (S). This use is subject to review in accordance with Article 14. 

3. Permitted Use or Special Use (P/S). The designation will depend on whether the principal use or 
similar land use is a permitted (P) or special use (S).  

4. Not Permitted. A cell marked with two dashes (--) indicates that a use is not permitted. 

B. Other Requirements. See the referenced section for additional requirements specific to the land use if 
noted in the far-right column.  

C. Land Use Definitions. See Article 25 for definitions of the land use terms in Table 3.30. 

Table 3.30:  Residential Districts- Land Use Regulation 

Use R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 Other 
Accessory Uses- uses defined in Section 25.20 
Accessory building, non-residential P/S P/S P/S P/S  P/S  
Accessory building, residential P P P P P 6.20 
Accessory dwelling unit P -- P -- -- 7.20 
Antennas and over-the-air reception devices P P P P P  
Day care home, adults P P P P P 7.90 
Day care homes, children P P P P P 7.90 
Home occupation, major P -- -- -- -- 7.130 
Home occupation, minor P P P P P 7.130 
Residential subdivision amenities P P P P P  
Solar energy collector, ground-mounted P -- -- -- -- 7.210 
Accommodations, Hospitality, and Entertainment- uses defined in Section 25.30 
Bed and breakfast P -- -- -- -- 7.50 
Campground or recreational vehicle park S -- -- -- -- 7.60 
Commercial outdoor recreation, low-intensity S -- -- -- -- 7.70 
Golf Course S P P P P 7.120 
Agricultural- defined in Section 25.40 
Farm P -- -- -- --  
Farm market and agritourism P -- -- -- -- 7.110 
Stables, commercial S -- -- -- -- 7.220 
Stables, private P -- -- -- --  
Civic and Institutional- defined in Section 25.50 
Cemetery P P P -- --  
Community garden P P P P P 7.80 
Community-oriented cultural facility S S S -- --  
Government facility P P P P P  
Public park or preserve P P P P P  
Place of worship P P P P P  
School- college or university -- -- -- -- --  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-3 

Table 3.30:  Residential Districts- Land Use Regulation 

Use R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 Other 
School- pre-school to 12 P P P P P  
Industrial, Infrastructure, and Transportation- defined in Section 25.60 
Commercial solar energy system S -- -- -- -- 7.210 
Essential public services and utilities without 
buildings P P P P P 6.60 A 

Essential public services and utilities with 
buildings P P P P P 6.60 A 

Residential, Group Living- defined in Section 25.90 
Personal care home P P P -- -- 7.180 
Nursing home and assisted living -- -- -- -- S  
Residential, Household Living- defined in Section 25.100 
Dwelling, single-family P P P P P 3.50 
Dwelling, two-family -- -- P P P 3.50 
Dwelling, townhome -- -- P P P 3.50 
Dwelling, multiple-family -- -- -- - P 3.50 
Manufactured home community S -- -- -- -- 7.140 
Other Uses- defined in Section 25.120 
Similar land use P/S P/S P/S P/S P/S 2.60 
Temporary offices and land uses P P P P P 7.230 

Section 3.40 Lot, Building, and Siting Requirements 
A. Intent. This section includes the dimensional requirements for lots and the requirements for the 

location and size of buildings. 

B. Applicability.  

1. Lots. All lots shall meet the minimum area and width requirements of Table 3.40 A, B, C, and D. Lots 
shall not be created or changed in dimension except in conformance with these requirements. 

2. Buildings. The placement of principal buildings shall conform to the minimum dimensional and 
sizing requirements listed in this section, as applicable. Accessory buildings shall comply with the 
requirements of Section 6.20. 

3. Specific Use Requirements. Stricter lot, building, and siting requirements may be included in Article 
7 for specific land uses. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-4 

 
Table 3.40 A: Single-Family Residential Districts 

Requirement R-1 R-2 R-1 R-2 
Single-Family Non-Residential 

Min. Lot Area (s.f.) 8,000 7,500 43,560 43,560 

Min. Lot Width (ft.) 70 60 150 150 
Min. Lot Frontage (ft.)1 70 60 150 150 
Max. Building Height (ft.) 35 35 40 40 
Max. Building Coverage (%) 30 45 30 30 
Min. 
Setbacks 
(ft.) 

Front- major arterial road 50 40 50 50 
Front 35 25 50 50 
Street Side 35 20 50 50 
Side 15 5 25 25 
Rear 40 20 25 25 

 
 

Table 3.40 B: Old Town Residential 

Requirement 
R-3 

Single-
Family 

Two-
Family Townhouse Non-

Residential 
Min. Lot Area (s.f.) 5,000 6,000 2,0002 10,000 
Min. Lot Width (ft.) 40 50 252 50 
Min. Lot Frontage (ft.)1 40 50 252 50 
Max. Number of Units per Building 1 2 6 -- 
Max. Building 
Height (ft.) 35 35 35 40 

Max. Building Coverage (%) 50 60 75 50 
Min. 
Setbacks 
(ft.)  

Front (front-
loaded)3 25 25 -- 30 

Front (rear-
loaded)4 15 15 5 30 

Street Side 15 15 5 30 
Side 5 5 105 20 
Rear 20 20 25 25 

 

  

 
1 See Section 6.50 B for frontage requirements and cul-de-sac reductions. 
2 Minimum lot area, width, and frontage for each dwelling unit. 
3 A front-loaded building means the garage(s) and driveway(s) are oriented toward the primary street they face. Note 
restrictions for front-loaded townhomes in Section 3.50 D.2. 
4 A rear-loaded building means the garage is in the back yard, back of home, or is oriented toward an alley. 
5 Only applicable to end units on each side of the townhouse building. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-5 

Table 3.40 C: Mixed Residential 

Requirement 
R-4 

Single-
Family 

Two-
Family Townhouse Non-

Residential 
Min. Lot Area (s.f.)1 7,500 8,000 2,4201 10,000 
Min. Lot Width (ft.) 60 60 251 50 
Min. Lot Frontage (ft.)2 60 60 251 50 
Max. Number of Units per Building 1 2 8 -- 
Max. Building Height (ft.) 35 35 35 40 
Max. Building Coverage (%) 45 60 75 40 
Min. 
Setbacks (ft.)  

Front- major arterial road 40 40 40 50 
Front (front-loaded)3 25 25 -- 50 
Front (rear-loaded)4 20 20 5 50 
Street Side 20 20 5 50 
Side 5 5 105 25 
Rear 20 20 256 25 

 
 

Table 3.40 D: Multi-Family Residential 

Requirement 
R-5 

Single-
Family 

Two-
Family Townhouse Multiple-

Family 
Non-

Residential 
Min. Lot Area (s.f.)1 7,500 8,000 2,4201 1,8001 10,000 

Min. Lot Width (ft.) 60 60 251 100 50 
Min. Lot Frontage (ft.)2 60 60 251 100 50 
Max. Number of Units per Building 1 2 8 24 -- 
Max. Building Height (ft.) 35 35 35 45 40 
Max. Building Coverage (%) 45 60 75 75 40 
Min. 
Setba
cks 
(ft.)  

Front- major arterial road 40 40 40 50 50 
Front (front-loaded)3 25 25 -- 35 50 
Front (rear-loaded)4 20 20 5 35 50 
Street Side 20 20 5 35 50 
Side 5 5 105 20 25 
Rear 20 20 256 25 25 

 
1 Minimum lot area and width for each dwelling unit (width not applicable to multiple-family). 
2 See Section 6.50 B for frontage requirements and cul-de-sac reductions. 
3 A front-loaded building means the garage(s) and driveway(s) are oriented toward the primary street they face. Note 
restrictions for front-loaded townhomes in Section 3.50 D.2. 
4 A rear-loaded building means the garage is in the back yard, back of home, or is oriented toward an alley. 
5 Only applicable to end units on each side of the townhouse building. In a development with common open space 
between buildings with no lot line between the townhouse buildings, buildings shall be separated by a minimum of 20 
feet (side to side). 
6 In a development with common open space behind buildings, the rear setback from the open space may be reduced 
to 20 feet. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-6 

Section 3.50 Building Requirements 
A. Intent. Residential building design requirements are intended to ensure that exterior building materials 

are of high quality, attractive, and consistent with other buildings within the same zoning district. 
Further, they are intended to ensure:  

1. context-sensitive and compatible infill development in existing neighborhoods; 

2. architectural diversity to avoid repetitive styles of buildings; 

3. high-quality and lasting buildings that will add value to the community; 

4. a pedestrian and bicycle-friendly environment; and 

5. the minimization of the visual impact of street-facing garages.  

B. Primary Siding Material. Durable and quality materials shall be used for siding on all residential 
buildings, including any of the following: 

1. Brick. 

2. Stone. 

3. Cementitious material. 

4. Wood siding. 

5. Vinyl siding certified by the Vinyl Siding Institute with a thickness of four-hundredths (.040) inch or 
greater. 

6. Exterior Insulation and Finish Systems (EIFS). 

7. Other materials as approved by the City Council after a recommendation from the Planning 
Commission. 

C. Single-Family and Two-Family. 

1. Orientation and Placement within a Major Subdivision. 

a. The orientation of the primary entry and building facade shall be consistent with the 
established pattern along the same side of the block.   

b. Buildings shall not be constructed diagonally or skewed on the lot. 

2. Garages.  

a. Street-facing garages. 

i. Street-facing garages shall not comprise more than 50 percent of the front width of the 
front façade. 

ii. Garages shall not protrude toward the street in front of the primary façade of the structure. 
All street-oriented garages shall recess a minimum of 10 feet behind the front building 
elevation (including side-oriented garages) or a front porch if the porch is at least five (5) 
feet deep by eight (8) feet wide. However, subdivision developments where at least one (1) 
phase has been built out with homes shall be exempt from this requirement. 

b. Where an alley exists to the rear of a lot, garages shall be rear-loaded and accessed from the 
alley.   

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-7 

3. Variety.  

a. A residential development shall have a variety of house models. The following table indicates 
the minimum number of different types of house models for developments of various sizes: 

Table 3.50: Minimum Number of House Models 
Size of Development Minimum  
2-20 buildings 2 
21-30 buildings 3 
31-40 buildings 4 
41+ buildings  5 

b. Each house model shall have multiple characteristics that clearly distinguish it from the other 
house models, such as different exterior materials, rooflines, garage placement, architectural 
style, number of stories, and/or building face. 

c. No more than two (2) of the same house model can be located adjacent to one another in 
developments that are required three (3) or more house models. 

4. Other Construction Requirements: 

a. Minimum width from any direction of a dwelling unit shall be 16 feet. 

b. Roof pitch shall be no less than 2:12. 

c. Foundations shall be of permanent construction. 

D. Townhome Buildings. 

1. Orientation and Placement. 

a. The orientation of the primary entry and building facade shall be consistent with the 
established pattern along the same side of the block.   

b. Buildings shall not be constructed diagonally or skewed on the lot. 

2. Garages. Detached garages shall be located in rear yards. Attached garages shall be oriented 
toward the rear yard or a rear alley.   

E. Multi-Family Buildings, Nursing Homes, and Assisted Living Facilities. 

1. Orientation. To the maximum extent feasible, the primary entrance and façade of individual 
buildings shall be oriented towards: 

a. primary, internal, or perimeter streets; or  

b. common open space, such as interior courtyards, parks, or on-site natural areas or features 
with a clearly defined and easily accessible pedestrian circulation system. 

2. Garages. Garage entries shall be internalized in building groupings and located away from street 
frontages or accessed using an alley.  

3. Massing and Form. One (1) or more of the following techniques shall be used to reduce the overall 
bulk and mass of individual buildings: 

a. Breaking up the mass of the multi-family building by stepping back the façade (minimum two 
feet deep and one foot wide) for every 30 feet of building frontage so that the building appears 
from the street to be separate homes. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-8 

b. Organizing units around a central courtyard that maintains the impression of the traditional 
side yard setback between units along the street frontage. 

c. Designing the multi-family building so that the massing, arrangement of architectural elements, 
and use of exterior materials give the appearance of a large single-family home or townhome. 

4. All-Sided Design. Although the front facade of a building is expected to be the primary focal point in 
terms of the level of architectural character and features, all sides of a multi-family residential 
building shall incorporate architectural detailing that complements the front facade and provides 
visual interest. Blank walls void of architectural detailing are prohibited. Five (5) architectural 
features listed below shall be incorporated into the overall design on each side of the building: 

a. Covered porches. 

b. Balconies. 

c. Prominent entry features. 

d. Windows. 

e. Door openings. 

f. Distinct variations in color (not a slight variation of a similar hue, such as beige or pastel). 

g. Variations in materials. 

h. Variations in building height. 

i. Variations in roof form. 

j. Dormers. 

k. Projected or recessed building walls. 

l. Other architectural features as approved by the City Council after a recommendation from the 
Planning Commission. 

F. Manufactured Homes. Compatibility standards for manufactured homes meeting the definition of 
"single-family dwelling” are as follows:  

1. Manufactured Homes qualifying as single-family dwellings shall be compared to site built and other 
housing in the immediate general area within the same zoning or residential district or area. 
Approval shall be granted upon the finding that the manufactured home is substantially similar or 
superior in size, siding material, roof material, foundation, and general aesthetic appearance to:  

a. site-built or other forms of housing which may be permitted in the same general area under 
this ordinance; or  

b. existing development; or  

c. proposed development in the same zoning district or area.  

2. All towing devices, wheels, axles, and hitches must be removed.  

3. At each exterior door, there must be a landing that is a minimum of 36 inches by 48 inches. 

G. Illegal Dwellings.  

1. The use of any floor area below base flood elevation for dwelling purposes is prohibited in all 
zoning districts unless the floor area meets the applicable building code and flood mitigation 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-9 

requirements.  

2. Buildings erected as garages or accessory buildings, except approved accessory dwelling units, shall 
not be occupied for dwelling purposes. 

H. Architectural Deviations. Except for Section 3.50 G, deviations from the requirements of Section 3.50 
may be authorized after a recommendation of the Planning Commission and approval by the City 
Council.  

1. In determining if a deviation is warranted, the following shall be considered: 

a. The proposed architectural design and/or building material is equal or superior to these 
requirements as it relates to achieving the character desired by this section. 

b. The proposed architectural design and/or building material better fits the character of the area 
than when it strictly conforms to the requirements of this section. 

c. The deviation has no significant visual impact or distinction from the public right-of-way or 
adjacent properties. 

d. The applicant shall demonstrate that conformance with the requirements is impractical due to 
complexity, but this factor alone shall not be the sole reason for granting a deviation. 

2. The City Council may grant a lesser deviation than requested. 

3. The City Council may attach conditions necessary to uphold the intent of this section. 

Section 3.60 Non-Residential Building Requirements 
See Section 4.50 for building requirements for non-residential buildings located within residential zoning 
districts. 

Section 3.70 Other Applicable Development Requirements 
In addition to the requirements of this article, the following articles may apply to the development of land 
and certain uses and activities: 

Table 3.70: Other Applicable Development Requirements 
Requirement Article Included Applicability 
General Provisions  Article 6 General provisions and requirements for 

certain activities that are not necessarily 
regulated distinctly by zoning districts 

Varies 

Specific Use 
Requirements 

Article 7 Requirements specific to certain uses See far right column of 
Table 3.30 

Parking, Loading, 
and Traffic 

Article 8 General parking requirements, minimum 
number of parking spaces and loading 
areas, design of parking and loading areas, 
access management, traffic impact 
studies, and other general requirements 

All projects that require 
off-street parking or 
loading spaces or that 
require new driveways 
and curb cuts 

Site Lighting Article 9 General lighting and light fixture 
requirements, minimum and maximum 
levels, and lighting plan requirements 

Primarily non-residential 
and multi-family 
development, residential 
lots to a lesser degree 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 3. Residential Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 3-10 

Table 3.70: Other Applicable Development Requirements 
Landscaping and 
the Environment 

Article 10 General landscaping requirements, 
landscape plan requirements, buffer 
landscaping, street yard greenways, 
parking lot landscaping, screening, tree 
preservation, grading and excavations, 
and stormwater management 

Non-residential and 
multi-family site 
development 

Streets and 
Subdivision Design 

Article 11 Street requirements, private easements 
and maintenance, street dimensions, lots 
and layouts, easements, monuments, 
benchmarks, water supply, and sanitary 
sewerage 

Major subdivisions with 
streets 

 

Section 3.80 Review Processes and Procedures   
See the following articles and sections for review processes and procedures: 

Table 3.80: Review Processes and Procedures 
Requirement Article 
General Processes and Requirements  Article 12 
Site Plan Review Article 13 
Special Use Permit Review Article 14 
Planned Unit Development Review Article 15 
Subdivision Review Article 16 
Zoning Map Amendment If rezoning is required, see Article 17 
Variance If variances are required, see Article 21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 4-1 

Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning 
Districts 
 

Section 4.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Introduction. This article outlines the intent and purpose statements for the commercial and industrial 

zoning districts and contains basic information pertaining to the land use, dimensional, and building 
requirements for properties in the City of Port Wentworth. 

B. Zoning Districts. The City is divided into four (4) commercial and industrial zoning districts described in 
Section 4.20. Each zoning district has unique requirements concerning land use and site development. 

Section 4.20 Zoning District Intent Statements   
A. Neighborhood Commercial (C-1). This district is intended to encourage and accommodate a walkable 

downtown area with storefronts on the ground story and upper story residential, local market retail, 
personal services, restaurants, entertainment, offices, and professional services. Sites are located near 
the established commercial core of the Old Town area of the City of Port Wentworth. Characteristics of 
uses and land in C-1 include daytime and early evening operations, smaller-scale and mixed-use 
buildings, sidewalk sales, and on-street parking.  

B. General Commercial (C-2). This district is intended for a range of retail, office, and service uses, such as 
large-scale retailers, restaurants, office buildings, professional services, and other related commercial 
uses serving local and regional markets. Sites may be closer to residential areas and, in some cases, are 
part of mixed-used development and typically have easy access to arterials or major roadways. 
Characteristics of uses and land in C-2 may include daytime and early evening operations, larger 
employers, outdoor sales areas, pedestrian-oriented design, generous landscaping and greenspace, and 
larger parking areas for higher volumes of customers and visitors.  

C. Interchange Commercial (C-3). This district is intended for uses such as accommodations, fast food 
restaurants, vehicle service stations, convenience retail stores, and other service uses that primarily 
cater to individuals traveling or commuting by cars or commercial vehicles on the interstate highway or 
major state routes. Sites in this district have direct or convenient access to I-95 or SR-21. Characteristics 
of uses and land in C-3 include drive-through service, 24-hour or late-night operations, fast food and 
drive-through services, and high-visibility signage or structures.  

D. Industrial (I-1). This district is intended for large and intensive warehousing, distribution, and 
manufacturing, as well as heavier commercial uses and support services that provide the backbone for 
economic development and job creation. Sites in this district should have ready access to necessary 
utilities and direct access to major truck transportation routes with significant separation and buffering 
from residential areas. Characteristics of uses and land in I-1 may include outdoor storage areas, truck 
traffic, manufacturing, large buildings, and multiple worker shifts.  

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 4-2 

Section 4.30 Land Use Regulation 
A. Requirements. Land and buildings shall only be used in accordance with Table 4.30. 

1. Permitted Use (P). This use is authorized by-right, subject to all other applicable provisions of this 
ordinance.  

2. Special Use Permit Required (S). This use is subject to review in accordance with Article 14. 

3. Permitted Use or Special Use (P/S). The designation will depend on whether the principal use or the 
similar land use is a permitted (P) or special use (S).  

4. Not Permitted. A cell marked with two dashes (--) indicates that a use is not permitted. 

B. Other Requirements. See the referenced section for additional requirements specific to the land use if 
noted in the far-right column.  

C. Land Use Definitions. See Article 25 for definitions of the land use terms in Table 4.30. 

Table 4.30: Commercial and Industrial Districts- Land Use Regulation 

Use C-1 C-2 C-3 I-1 Other 
Accessory Uses- uses defined in Section 25.20 
Accessory building, non-residential P/S P/S P/S P/S  
Antennas and over-the-air reception devices P P P P  
Outdoor display and sales P P P -- 7.150 
Outdoor storage -- -- P P 7.160 
Outdoor storage of containers -- -- -- P 7.160 
Accommodations, Hospitality, and Entertainment- uses defined in Section 25.30 
Banquet or meeting hall P P P --  
Campground or recreational vehicle park -- -- S -- 7.60 
Commercial indoor recreation facility P P P P  
Commercial outdoor recreation facility -- -- -- P  
Hotel or motel P P P --  
Indoor theater P P -- --  
Outdoor theater -- -- -- S 7.170 
Restaurant  P P P --  
Restaurant with drive-through -- S S -- 7.100 
Restaurant with accessory micro-brewery, 
distillery, or winery P P P --  

Tavern P P P --  
Civic and Institutional- defined in Section 25.50 
Cemetery P -- -- --  
Community-oriented cultural facility P P -- --  
Community-based indoor recreational facility P P -- --  
Government facility P P P P  
Public park or preserve P P P P  
Place of worship P P -- --  
School- college or university P P -- --  
School- preschool to 12 P P -- --  
School- specialized training P P P P  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 4-3 

Table 4.30: Commercial and Industrial Districts- Land Use Regulation 

Use C-1 C-2 C-3 I-1 Other 
School- truck driving -- -- -- P  
Industrial, Infrastructure, and Transportation- defined in Section 25.60 
Brewery, winery, distillery -- -- -- P  
Commercial solar energy system -- -- -- P 7.210 
Crematorium -- -- -- P  
Essential public services and utilities without 
buildings P P P P 6.60 A 

Essential public services and utilities, with 
buildings P P P P 6.60 A 

Manufacturing, processing, and packaging- 
heavy -- -- -- S  

Manufacturing, processing, and packaging- light -- -- -- P  
Outdoor storage, principal use -- -- -- S 7.160 
Outdoor container storage as principal use -- -- -- S 7.160 
Propane gas sales -- -- -- P  
Salvage or impound operation -- -- -- P 7.190 
Sawmill or planing mill -- -- -- P  
Self-storage -- P P P 7.200 
Truck terminal -- -- -- S  
Warehousing and distribution -- -- -- S  
Waste management and recycling  -- -- -- P  
Wholesaling and distribution -- -- -- S  
Offices and Services- defined in Section 25.70 
Animal and pet services P P P -- 7.40 
Animal clinic P P P   
Child day care center P P -- --  
Contractor facility P P -- P  
Funeral home or mortuary P P -- --  
General offices and services P P -- --  
General offices and services with  
drive-through S S -- -- 7.100 

Hospital -- P P --  
Research and development -- -- -- P  
Truck stop or truck fuel sales -- -- S S 7.250 
Vehicle repair, major -- -- P P 7.240 
Vehicle repair, minor S P P P 7.240 
Vehicle service station S S S P 7.250 
Vehicle wash, cars -- S S --  
Vehicle wash, trucks -- -- -- P  
Residential Group Living- defined in Section 25.80 
Nursing home S S -- --  
Residential Household Living- defined in Section 25.90 
Mixed-use residential P -- -- --  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 4-4 

Table 4.30: Commercial and Industrial Districts- Land Use Regulation 

Use C-1 C-2 C-3 I-1 Other 
Retail and Other Sales and Rental - defined in Section 25.100 
Bakery, 5,000 square feet or less P P -- --  
Construction and landscape supply, outdoor -- -- P P 7.150 
Greenhouse and nursery -- P P --  
Retail sales P P P --  
Retail sales with drive-through service -- S S -- 7.100 
Vehicle and equipment sales and rental, major -- S S P 7.150 
Vehicle and equipment sales and rental, minor -- P P -- 7.150 
Other Uses- defined in Section 25.110 
Adult entertainment establishments -- -- S S 7.30 
Similar land use P/S P/S P/S P/S 2.60 
Temporary land use P P P P 7.230 

Section 4.40 Lot, Building, and Siting Requirements 
A. Intent. This section includes the dimensional requirements for lots and the requirements for the 

location and size of buildings. 

B. Applicability.  

1. Lots. All lots shall meet the minimum area and width requirements of Table 4.40. Lots shall not be 
created or changed in dimension except in conformance with these requirements. 

2. Buildings. The placement of principal and accessory buildings shall conform to the minimum 
dimensional and sizing requirements listed in Section 4.40, as applicable. 

3. Specific Use Requirements. Stricter lot, building, and siting requirements may be included in Article 
7 for specific land uses. 

Table 4.40: Lot, Building, and Siting Requirements 
Requirement C-1 C-2 C-3 I-1 
Min. Lot Area (s.f. unless noted otherwise) -- 1 acre 1 acre 5 acres 
Min. Lot Width/Frontage (ft.) -- 150 150 300 
Max. Building 
Height (ft.) 35 45 45 50 

Max. Building Coverage (%) 75 60 60 50 
Min. 
Setbacks 
(ft.) 

Front 0 25 25 50 
Street Side 0 25 25 50 
Side abutting residential 
districts 10 35 50 200 

Side abutting commercial and 
industrial districts 0 15 15 50 

Rear abutting residential 
districts 20 35 50 200 

Rear abutting commercial and 
industrial districts 10 15 15 50 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 4-5 

Section 4.50 Building Requirements 
A. Intent. The intent of this section is to ensure that exterior building materials are of high quality, 

attractive, and consistent with other buildings within the same zoning district. Buildings should have 
architectural features and patterns that provide visual interest and reduce massive aesthetic effects. 

B. Nursing Homes and Assisted Living Facilities. See Section 3.50 E. 

C. Requirements.  

1. Walls. The exterior walls shall be tilt-up concrete panels, split-faced block, brick on block, or a 
combination of tilt-up concrete (minimum height 10 feet), and metal panel construction. The use of 
materials such as nondecorative concrete block, corrugated metal, or pre-engineered metals 
installed with exposed fasteners will be prohibited in connection with the construction of the 
exterior of any buildings or other improvements.  

2. Architectural Articulation. 

a. Building facades shall include a repeating pattern that shall include no less than three (3) of the 
elements listed below. Blank areas on walls shall not exceed 30 feet in width. At least one (1) of 
these elements shall repeat horizontally:  

i. Color and texture change. 

ii. Material change. 

iii. Step backs. 

iv. Change in building, parapet, or roofline height. If used to comply with this standard, the 
minimum change in roofline shall be two (2) feet. 

v. Awnings, canopies, or marquees extending at least four (4) feet beyond the building face. 

vi. Expression of architectural detail through a change of plane no less than 12 inches in width, 
such as an offset, reveal, or projecting rib.  

b. These elements shall be integral parts of the building fabric and not superficially applied trim or 
graphics. 

3. Rooftop Equipment. Exterior rooftop equipment, such as storage tanks, cooling towers, 
transformers, antennae, electronic receivers, and other similar equipment and facilities, shall be 
screened from view from adjacent parcels and streets. The materials used for screening shall be 
compatible in architectural design and aesthetics with building materials employed in the 
construction of the primary building and other improvements to the parcel. 

D. Architectural Deviations. Deviations from the requirements of Section 4.50 may be authorized after a 
recommendation of the Planning Commission and approval by the City Council.  

1. In determining if a deviation is warranted, the following shall be considered: 

a. The proposed architectural design and/or building material is equal or superior to these 
requirements as it relates to achieving the character desired by this section. 

b. The proposed architectural design and/or building material better fits the character of the area 
than when it strictly conforms to the requirements of this section. 

c. The deviation has no significant visual impact or distinction from the public right-of-way or 
adjacent properties. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 4-6 

d. The applicant shall demonstrate that conformance with the requirements is impractical due to 
complexity, but this factor alone shall not be the sole reason for granting a deviation. 

2. The City Council may grant a lesser deviation than requested. 

3. The City Council may attach conditions necessary to uphold the intent of this section. 

Section 4.60 Other Applicable Development Requirements 
In addition to the requirements of this article, the following articles may apply to the development of land 
and certain uses and activities: 

Table 4.60: Other Applicable Development Requirements 
Requirement Article Included Applicability 
General Provisions  Article 6 General provisions and requirements for 

certain activities that are not necessarily 
regulated distinctly by zoning districts 

Varies 

Specific Use 
Requirements 

Article 7 Requirements specific to certain uses See far right column of 
Table 4.30 

Parking, Loading, 
and Traffic 

Article 8 General parking requirements, minimum 
number of parking spaces and loading 
areas, design of parking and loading areas, 
access management, traffic impact 
studies, and other general requirements 

All projects that require 
off-street parking or 
loading spaces or that 
require new driveways 
and curb cuts 

Site Lighting Article 9 General lighting and light fixture 
requirements, minimum and maximum 
levels, and lighting plan requirements 

Primarily non-residential 
and multi-family 
development, residential 
lots to a lesser degree 

Landscaping and 
the Environment 

Article 10 General landscaping requirements, 
landscape plan requirements, buffer 
landscaping, street yard greenways, 
parking lot landscaping, screening, tree 
preservation, grading and excavations, 
and stormwater management 

Non-residential and 
multi-family site 
development 

Streets and 
Subdivision Design 

Article 11 Street requirements, private easements 
and maintenance, street dimensions, lots 
and layouts, easements, monuments, 
benchmarks, water supply, and sanitary 
sewerage 

Major subdivisions with 
streets 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 4-7 

Section 4.70 Review Processes and Procedures   
See the following articles and sections for review processes and procedures: 

Table 4.70: Review Processes and Procedures 
Requirement Article 
General Processes and Requirements  Article 12 
Site Plan Review Article 13 
Special Use Permit Review Article 14 
Planned Unit Development Review Article 15 
Subdivision Review Article 16 
Zoning Map Amendment If rezoning is required, see Article 17 
Variance If variances are required, see Article 21 

 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 4. Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 4-8 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 5-1 

Article 5. Planned Unit Development District 
 

Section 5.10 Intent and Purpose    
It is recognized that traditional zoning, with its segregation of uses and rigid dimensional requirements, may 
not be suitable in all situations to best achieve the objectives of the City relative to desired land use and 
preservation of its resources and character. In order to permit and encourage more creative and innovative 
land development for the benefit of the community as a whole and in furtherance of the vision and goals of 
the City of Port Wentworth Comprehensive Plan, planned unit development (PUD) may be permitted as a 
zoning district to achieve the following purposes:     

A. provide for flexibility in development that will result in a better project for the developer, residents, 
and users, as well as for the City in general;   

B. preserve existing natural assets, such as stands of trees, floodplains, open fields, marshes, rivers, 
streams, and the like; 

C. accomplish a more desirable and sustainable residential environment than would be possible through 
the strict application of minimum requirements of this ordinance; 

D. encourage the utilization of open space and development of recreational amenities generally located 
within walking distance of all living units; 

E. encourage the use of lands in ways that are most in accord with their character and adaptability;  

F. result in recognizable public benefits to the community-at-large; and 

G. allow efficient land use by facilitating economical and suitable arrangements for buildings, streets, 
utilities, and other land use features.  

Section 5.20 Qualifying Conditions   
At a minimum, all proposed PUDs shall meet the following qualifying conditions, as applicable, to be 
considered for approval: 

A. Location. PUDs may be located in any part of the City, subject to meeting all other applicable 
requirements. 

B. PUD Purpose. The applicant shall demonstrate that the PUD will achieve three (3) or more of the 
purposes listed in Section 5.10. 

C. Size. The minimum site size for a PUD shall be based on the type of development, as shown in the 
following table. Churches, public or private schools, public buildings, and residential subdivision 
amenities such as golf courses and health clubs, and their ancillary commercial uses, such as clubhouses 
and pro shops, shall not be considered non-residential uses for purposes of this condition.   

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 5.  Planned Unit Development District 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 5-2 

 
Table 5.20: Minimum Site Size 
PUD Type Minimum Required Site Size 
All residential 20 acres 
Mixed residential/non-
residential 30 acres 

All non-residential* 10 acres 
* Where more than 10 percent of the PUD site area is to be 
devoted to industrial, warehousing, and/or distribution, the 
minimum required site size shall be 80 acres 

 

D. Housing Variety. Any PUD containing residential uses shall include a variety of housing types and/or lot 
sizes to provide for varying lifestyles, diversity, and affordability. 

E. Utilities. The PUD shall be served by public water and sanitary sewer facilities. 

F. Ownership and Control. The tract(s) of land for which a PUD application is submitted must be either in 
single ownership or the subject of an application filed collectively by all owners of the property. Each 
property owner, or their agent, must sign the PUD application. 

G. Recognizable Public Benefit. The PUD shall achieve recognizable and substantial benefits that may not 
be possible under the existing zoning classification(s). At least two (2) of the following benefits shall be 
accrued to the community as a result of the proposed PUD: 

1. preservation of significant natural features not otherwise required by this ordinance; 

2. a complementary mix of land uses or housing types that address a demonstrated community need; 

3. incorporation of infrastructure improvements or other means to mitigate existing and future traffic 
congestion in the vicinity of the PUD site; 

4. preservation of common open space beyond the minimum required; 

5. connectivity of preserved open space with adjacent open space, greenways, or public trails; 

6. coordinated redevelopment of multiple lots or parcels; or 

7. removal or renovation of deteriorating buildings, sites, or contamination clean-up. 

Section 5.30 Permitted Uses 
Any land use or combination of land uses may be considered for inclusion within a PUD. 

Section 5.40 PUD Development Requirements 
A. Minimum Lot Size and Zoning Requirements. Lot area, width, setbacks, height, building coverage, 

minimum floor area, parking, landscaping, lighting, and other requirements for the district specified in 
the following table for the proposed use shall apply to all such uses within a PUD unless modified in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 5.40 B. Within a PUD, the minimum buffer requirements 
specified in Section 10.40 between uses shall not apply, provided the Planning Commission or City 
Council may require separation or buffering of uses as a condition of concept plan approval.  

 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 5. Planned Unit Development District 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 5-3 

Table 5.40: Zoning Requirements by Use Type 
Land Use Type Applicable Zoning District 
Single-family residential R-2 
Two-family residential 

R-5 Townhouses 
Multiple-family residential 
Commercial C-2 
Industrial I-1 
Public/Quasi-public R-1 

B. Modification of Minimum Requirements. Regulations applicable to a land use in the PUD district may 
be altered from the requirements specified in Table 5.40, including the following: modification from the 
lot area and width, building setbacks, height, building coverage, signs, and parking. However, a 
reduction in lot size shall not result in an increase in the number of parcels or dwellings otherwise 
permitted by the applicable zoning district unless a density bonus is also granted in accordance with 
Section 5.40 C. In the absence of a density bonus, land gained by the reduction in lot sizes shall be 
added to the open space required within the PUD. The applicant for a PUD shall identify, in writing, all 
proposed deviations from the zoning district requirements. Modifications may be approved by the City 
Council during the concept plan review stage after Planning Commission recommendation. 
Adjustments to the minimum requirements may be permitted only if they will result in higher quality 
and more sustainable development, consistent with the purpose of the PUD district, as expressed in 
Section 5.10. 

C. Residential Density Bonus. In addition to the modification of minimum requirements permitted in 
Section 5.40 B, the City Council, after Planning Commission recommendation, may permit an increase, 
not to exceed 20 percent, in the total number of residential units otherwise allowed within a PUD, 
according to the requirements in Table 5.40, where it is demonstrated that: 

1. The appearance and construction will result in a development of high quality, as evidenced by the 
innovative design and predominant use of building materials such as stone, masonry, wood, and 
hardie-plank; 

2. Amenities beyond the minimum required open space will be provided to create a more sustainable 
community and desirable living environment; and 

3. At least four (4) of the following will be included within the development: 

a. Dedicated common open space is provided in excess of the minimum required, per Section 5.40 
D. 

b. One (1) or more parking structures are proposed within a mixed-use or non-residential PUD to 
meet the minimum parking requirements of this code.  

c. One (1) or more LEED-certified buildings will be constructed. 

d. Significant natural features, in addition to those required, will be preserved and/or substantial 
landscaping beyond the minimum requirements will be incorporated into the development. 

e. Decorative pavers and/or aesthetic enhancements (e.g., plazas, boulevards, round-a-bouts, 
ornamental lighting, fountains, and street furniture) will be incorporated into the vehicular and 
pedestrian circulation system throughout the PUD. 

f. A commercial and/or office component, comprising not less than 15 percent of the PUD site is 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 5.  Planned Unit Development District 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 5-4 

proposed within the development. 

g. Property is to be conveyed to and accepted by the City or school district for a future public use.  

h. Three (3) or more public benefits, as identified in Section 5.20 G., will be achieved. 

D. Common Open Space. For purposes of the PUD requirements, "common open space" is defined as an 
area of land or water, or a combination of land and water, designed and intended for the perpetual use 
and enjoyment of the users of the development and/or the general public. Common open space may 
contain accessory structures and improvements necessary or desirable for educational, noncommercial, 
recreational, or cultural uses. A variety of open space and recreational areas is encouraged, such as: 
children's informal play areas in close proximity to neighborhoods or dwelling unit clusters; formal 
parks, picnic areas, and playgrounds; pathways and trails; scenic open areas and communal, 
noncommercial recreation facilities; and natural conservation areas. At a minimum, the following 
regulations shall apply to all common open space within a PUD:  

 The area of common open space shall not be less than 25 percent of the total land area of a PUD 
containing any residential units and not less than 10 percent of the total land area in non-
residential developments. Land dedicated for recreation, in accordance with Section 5.40 D.2., shall 
count toward the common open space requirement.  

2. All common open space shown on the final development plan must be reserved or dedicated by 
conveyance of title to a corporation, association, or other legal entity by means of a restrictive 
covenant, easement, or through other legal instrument. The terms of such legal instrument must 
include provisions guaranteeing the continued use in perpetuity of such open space for the 
purposes intended and for continuity of proper maintenance of those portions of the open space 
requiring maintenance. 

3. The open space shall meet the following minimum dimensions, contiguity, and connectivity 
requirements: 

a. The required open space shall be centrally located along the street frontage of the 
development to protect or enhance views, located to preserve significant natural features, 
adjacent to dwellings, and/or located to interconnect other open spaces throughout the 
development or on contiguous properties. 

a. Required open space areas shall be of sufficient size and dimension and located, configured, or 
designed in such a way as to achieve the applicable purposes of these regulations and enhance 
the quality of the development. The open space shall neither be perceived nor function simply 
as an extension of the rear yard of those lots abutting it. 

b. If the site contains a river, stream, or other body of water, the City may require that a portion 
of the required open space shall abut the body of water.   

c. All required open space areas shall be configured so the open space is reasonably accessible to 
and usable by residents, visitors, and other intended users of the development. The minimum 
size of a required open space area shall be 15,000 square feet; provided, however, that the 
required open space abutting a public street may be less than 15,000 square feet; and, further 
provided, that the City Council, upon recommendation of the Planning Commission, may 
approve other open space areas of less than 15,000 square feet if these areas are designed and 
established as pedestrian or bicycle paths or are otherwise determined to be open space 
reasonably usable by residents, visitors and other intended users of the development. The 
minimum average dimension of a required open space area shall be 100 feet. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 5. Planned Unit Development District 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 5-5 

d. Open space areas are encouraged to be linked with any adjacent open spaces, public parks, 
bicycle paths, or pedestrian paths. 

e. Grading in the open space shall be minimal, with the intent to preserve existing topography, 
trees, and other natural features, where practical. 

f. A sign, structure, or building may be erected within the required open space if it is determined 
to be accessory to a recreation or conservation use or an entryway. These accessory 
structure(s) or building(s) shall not occupy, in the aggregate, more than one (1) percent of the 
total open space area. Accessory structures or uses of a significantly different scale or character 
than present in abutting residential districts shall not be located near the boundary of the 
development if they may negatively impact the residential use of adjacent lands as determined 
by the Planning Commission. Pathways, sidewalks, play fields, and courts shall be exempt from 
this limitation. 

g. The following areas shall not qualify as required common open space for the purposes of this 
section: 

i. The area within any public street right-of-way.  

ii. The area within private road easements. 

iii. The area within a subdivision lot. 

iv. Land within any required yard or setback area. 

v. Any area less than 100 feet wide adjacent to the rear lot line of two (2) or more contiguous 
lots. 

vi. Parking and loading areas. 

vii. Fifty percent of any easement for overhead utility lines. 

viii. Fifty percent of any rivers, streams, detention ponds, marshes, lakes, or floodplains that are 
not generally accessible within the development. Accessible shall mean that the feature is 
bordered by a substantial open space area, park, playground, pathway, or reasonable 
means of access for the enjoyment of all owners, visitors, or others, in which case the total 
area may qualify as required common open space. 

ix. Fifty percent of the area of any golf course.  

E. Connectivity. Pathways for bicycles and pedestrians shall be incorporated throughout the PUD and 
along all perimeter streets to ensure connectivity between uses and with adjacent properties. Pathways 
and sidewalks shall be constructed in accordance with the City design standards. 

Section 5.50 Previously Approved Master Plan Overlay 
The Rice Hope Plantation Master Planned Overlay is rezoned to “Planned Unit Development” on the Zoning 
Map on the effective date of this ordinance. Previously approved general and specific site plans within its 
boundaries are subject to Sections 1.70, Section 13.90, and Section 13.100. However, any expansion, 
alteration, or variation of the existing approved developments that constitute a major change, as defined in 
Section 15.50, shall be subject to the major change procedural requirements of Section 15.50. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 5.  Planned Unit Development District 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 5-6 

Section 5.60 Other Applicable Development Requirements 
In addition to the requirements of this article, the following articles may apply to the development of land 
and certain uses and activities. 

Table 5.60: Other Applicable Development Requirements 
Requirement Article Included Applicability 
General Provisions  Article 6 General provisions and requirements for 

certain activities that are not necessarily 
regulated distinctly by zoning districts 

Varies 

Specific Use 
Requirements 

Article 7 Requirements specific to certain uses See far right column of 
Table 4.30 

Parking, Loading, 
and Traffic 

Article 8 General parking requirements, minimum 
number of parking spaces and loading 
areas, design of parking and loading areas, 
access management, traffic impact 
studies, and other general requirements 

All projects that require 
off-street parking or 
loading spaces or that 
require new driveways 
and curb cuts 

Site Lighting Article 9 General lighting and light fixture 
requirements, minimum and maximum 
levels, and lighting plan requirements 

Primarily non-residential 
and multi-family 
development, residential 
lots to a lesser degree 

Landscaping and 
the Environment 

Article 10 General landscaping requirements, 
landscape plan requirements, buffer 
landscaping, street yard greenways, 
parking lot landscaping, screening, tree 
preservation, grading and excavations, 
and stormwater management 

Non-residential and 
multi-family site 
development 

Streets and 
Subdivision Design 

Article 11 Street requirements, private easements 
and maintenance, street dimensions, lots 
and layouts, easements, monuments, 
benchmarks, water supply, and sanitary 
sewerage 

Major subdivisions with 
streets 

 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part III 

 
 
 
 
Part III. Development Provisions 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Part III. Development Provisions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Update Part III 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 6-1 

Article 6. General Provisions 
 

Section 6.10 General Compliance    
A. Compliance with Ordinance. Except as otherwise provided in this ordinance, no building, structure, or 

premises shall be used or occupied; and no building or part of any building or other structures shall be 
erected, razed, moved, placed, reconstructed, extended, enlarged, or altered, except in conformity with 
the provisions of this ordinance. 

B. Unlawful Buildings and Uses. Any building, use, or lot which has been unlawfully constructed, occupied 
or created prior to the date of adoption of this ordinance shall continue to be unlawful unless expressly 
permitted by this ordinance. Such unlawful buildings, uses, or lots shall not be considered to be 
nonconforming buildings, uses, or lots and shall not be afforded any protections or allowances 
otherwise granted to legally nonconforming buildings, uses, or lots. 

C. Trash, Litter, or Junk. It shall be unlawful for any person to accumulate, place, store, or allow or permit 
the accumulation, placement or storage of trash, litter, or junk on premises in the city, except in a 
lawful sanitary landfill, a lawful junkyard, or not to exceed seven (7) days storage in watertight storage 
receptacles designed for the temporary accumulation of trash. Waste receptacles and trash shall not be 
left unattended in any yard longer than a period of 24 hours unless they are kept or enclosed in a 
permanent structure designed to prevent disturbance of such receptacles by animals or severe weather 
conditions.   

D. Restoring Unsafe Buildings. Nothing in this ordinance shall prevent the strengthening or restoration to 
a safe condition of any part of any building or structure declared unsafe by the building official or 
required to comply with his lawful order, provided such restoration shall be subject to and completed 
in accordance with the City of Port Wentworth building code and all other applicable ordinances. 
Nonconforming buildings and uses shall also be subject to the limitations of this ordinance.  

E. Voting Place. The provisions of this ordinance shall not interfere with the temporary use of any 
property as a voting place in connection with a federal, state, county, municipal, or other public 
election. 

Section 6.20 Accessory Buildings, Uses, and Structures   
A. Accessory Buildings.  

1. Residential. 

a. Accessory buildings or garages shall be considered to be part of the main building if structurally 
and architecturally integrated into the main building or if attached by an enclosed breezeway 
or similar enclosed structure not more than 10 feet in length.  

b. Detached accessory buildings shall not be located closer than 10 feet to the main building on 
the lot. 

c. A building permit shall be required for any accessory building exceeding 240 sq. ft. in area. 

d. No accessory building shall be located in a front or side yard. 

e. No accessory building shall be constructed on a lot before the principal building or use on the 
lot is constructed. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 6. General Provisions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 6-2 

f. Accessory buildings shall be set back at least five (5) feet from the side and rear lot lines. 
However, if the rear lot line of the property on which the accessory building is located is also 
the side lot line of the neighboring property, the accessory building shall be set back the same 
distance from the rear lot line as the required side yard setback for a principal building.  

g. If a detached garage is accessed from an alley, there shall be no rear setback requirement. 

h. The maximum number of accessory buildings permitted on any lot containing a single- or two-
family dwelling shall comply with the requirements specified in Table 6.20, based on whether a 
garage is attached to the principal dwelling and the number of vehicle stalls provided within 
such garage: 

Table 6.20: Maximum Size and Number of Accessory Buildings 1 

Lot Size (sq. ft.) 
 

Number of 
Accessory 

Bldgs. 
Allowed 

Maximum Total Size (square feet) Allowed for All 
Accessory Buildings in Combination2 

If no 
attached 
garage 

If one stall 
attached 

If two stall 
attached 

If three or 
more stalls 
attached 

< 5,000 1 576 240 120 0 
5,000 – 8,999 2 720 432 144 120 
9,000 – 14,999 2 864 576 288 180 
15,000 – 21,780 2 984 696 408 270 
21,781 – 43,560 2 1,128 840 552 408 
> 43,560 (1 acre) 3 1,128 

 

i. The area of accessory buildings shall be included in the maximum building coverage. 

j. The maximum height of an accessory building shall not exceed 12 feet. 

k. No accessory building, except as otherwise permitted in this ordinance, shall be used as a 
dwelling or rented. 

2. Non-Residential Accessory Buildings. Non-residential accessory buildings on lots within non-
residential districts and non-residential buildings in residential districts shall comply with all yard 
setback requirements for principal buildings within the applicable zoning district. 

B. Domestic Animals.  

1. The keeping of household pets, including dogs, cats, fish, birds, hamsters, and other animals 
commonly considered household pets, is permitted in any residential district, provided no more 
than three (3) dogs or cats, six (6) months of age or older, in any combination shall be kept or 
housed in or at one (1) dwelling. 

2. The keeping of farm animals not generally considered to be household pets, including, but not 
limited to, exotic animals, horses, pigs, sheep, cattle, goats, and poultry, is prohibited in all zoning 

 
1 Bona fide farm buildings in the R-1 District shall be exempt from the size limits. 
2 Regardless of the total size shown, no more than 25 percent of the rear yard shall be occupied by accessory 
buildings. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 6. General Provisions 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 6-3 

districts, except within the R-1 District on existing bona fide farms and lots larger than five (5) acres. 
The keeping of wild animals shall not be permitted in any district. 

C. Fences and Walls.   

1. A permit shall be obtained prior to the erection or construction of any fence or wall. 

2. Fences and walls, including gates, shall be constructed of durable, weather-resistant, rustproof, and 
easily maintainable materials customarily used in the construction of walls and fences, such as 
wood, metal, masonry, chain-link, composite, or vinyl. However, this provision shall not preclude 
the use of decorative architectural materials when consistent with the intent of this section and the 
character of the area where the fence is to be placed and as approved by the Zoning Administrator. 
Fence material shall be permitted subject to review and approval by the Zoning Administrator.  

3. Fences shall be maintained to ensure they remain free of deficiencies and are kept upright and 
firmly fastened to the ground and associated supporting structures. 

4. A non-sight obscuring security fence, not exceeding 12 feet high, may be permitted around the 
perimeter of an essential public service building, essential public service storage yard, towers, 
approved outdoor storage areas in the commercial (not including the C-1, Neighborhood 
Commercial) or industrial districts, and around the property boundary of sites in the I-1 District. The 
security fence may also include a maximum of one (1) additional foot of barbed wire. Razor wire 
and electrification shall not be permitted in any district. 

5. Fences or walls erected within a front yard in any residential district or on any residentially used lot 
shall not exceed four (4) feet in height. This shall also apply to a secondary front yard on a corner 
lot, provided the fence or wall shall not exceed three (3) feet in height within the clear vision 
corner. Fences or walls in any residential district or on any residentially used lot shall not exceed six 
(6) feet in height within the side and rear yards. 

6. Fences shall not be erected within any public right-of-way or easements. 

7. In any district, if both sides of the fence or wall are not identical, the finished side shall face the 
adjoining property. 

8. Chain link fences shall not be erected in any front yard within either a residential district or any lot 
containing a dwelling unless enclosing a retention pond, essential public service, or publicly owned 
facility that has been approved by the city. In all such cases, the chain link fence shall be black vinyl 
coated. 

9. Barbed wire shall not be permitted in any residential district or on any lot or parcel containing a 
residential use except for security around essential public services or publicly owned facilities.  

10. Required screen walls shall be located inside the property line. The design of all walls, including 
openings for vehicular traffic or other purposes, shall only be as approved by the Zoning 
Administrator. 

D. Mechanical Appurtenances. 

1. Mechanical units located on the ground shall be located in the rear or side yard and may encroach 
as permitted in this ordinance. When attached to a building, the mechanical equipment shall be 
architecturally integrated or appropriately screened by shrubbery or fencing so as not to be visible 
from neighboring property. Screening shall comply with the requirements of this ordinance. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 6. General Provisions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 6-4 

2. If located on the roof of a building or in a location that cannot otherwise be screened, the 
equipment shall be enclosed or designed in a manner that is architecturally integrated with the 
building where it is located. 

3. Mechanical units shall not be placed within any easement. 

E. Swimming Pools, Spas and Hot Tubs.   

1. Any swimming pool, spa, hot tub, or similar structure whose depth at any point exceeds 24 inches 
shall be subject to the following regulations and shall be fenced securely in accordance with the 
applicable requirements of the City of Port Wentworth building code. 

2. Swimming pools, spas, hot tubs, and similar structures shall only be permitted in the rear yard. 

3. Swimming pools, spas, hot tubs, and similar structures, whether above or below ground, shall be 
set back a minimum of 10 feet from any side or rear lot line, as measured from the edge of the 
pool. 

F. Temporary Storage Units.  

1. It shall be unlawful to place or permit the placement of a temporary storage unit on property 
located within the City of Port Wentworth for more than seven (7) consecutive days, provided a 
longer period may be approved by the Zoning Administrator for building construction or 
remodeling projects. 

2. Temporary storage units shall only be placed upon or within a driveway, parking area or if access 
exists to the rear of the lot, the rear yard. 

3. No temporary storage unit shall be placed upon or within public property or a public place, 
including, without limitation, a street, sidewalk, or street greenway. 

4. The temporary storage unit shall not exceed eight (8) feet in height, eight (8) feet in width, and 16 
feet in length. 

5. The temporary storage unit shall be secured in a manner that does not endanger the safety of 
persons or property in the vicinity of the unit. 

6. The temporary storage unit shall, at all times, be maintained in good condition, free from evidence 
of deterioration, weathering, discoloration, graffiti, rust, ripping, tearing, or other holes or breaks. 

7. No temporary storage unit shall be used for human occupancy or to store solid waste, construction 
debris, demolition debris, business inventory, commercial goods, hazardous materials, or goods for 
property other than the property on which the storage unit is located. Upon reasonable notice, the 
officials of the City of Port Wentworth may inspect the contents of any temporary storage unit at 
any reasonable time to ensure compliance with these requirements. 

8. Any temporary storage unit which is not removed at the end of the time for which it may lawfully 
remain in place may be removed by the city immediately, with 24 hours notice and such notice 
affixed to the temporary storage unit, and the cost of such removal may be assessed against the 
property on which the unit was located. 

9. A sign identifying the storage unit supplier, mounted on the temporary storage unit, shall not 
require a sign permit, provided the storage unit is in compliance with this subsection and all other 
applicable ordinances. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 6. General Provisions 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 6-5 

Section 6.30 Building Height Exceptions 
The following structures are exempt from the height limitations of this ordinance: belfries, broadcast 
towers, antennas, chimneys, cooling towers, elevator bulkheads, fire towers, flag poles in non-residential 
districts, stacks, elevated water towers, stage lofts, monuments, cupolas, domes, spires, and penthouses 
housing necessary mechanical appurtenances such as HVAC or similar equipment on the roof of a building. 
Parapet walls may not exceed the height limits by more than four (4) feet. 

Section 6.40 Setbacks and Yards 
A. Setback Requirements. All setbacks shall be measured from the property lines. For unplatted lots, an 

up-to-date property survey prepared by a surveyor registered in the State of Georgia shall be submitted 
with any application for building permit or site development plan approval. In the case of a private 
street easement, setbacks shall be measured from the easement line. A building shall not be erected, 
converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally altered except in conformity with the setback 
requirements of the district in which it is located.   

B. Encroachment into Right-of-Way. No buildings, structures, service areas, or off-street parking and 
loading facilities, except driveways, shall be permitted to encroach on public or private rights-of-way. 

C. Front Setback Requirements. All yards abutting upon a public or private street right-of-way shall be 
considered as front yards or secondary front yards for setback purposes, except as otherwise provided 
in this ordinance. A setback within a secondary front yard is a side street setback. 

D. Clear Vision Corner. Signs, fences, walls, 
structures, benches, shrubbery, or other potential 
obstructions to vision, shall not be permitted to 
exceed a height of three (3) feet within a 
triangular area formed by the intersection of two 
(2) street right-of-way lines or a street and 
railroad right-of-way line and a line connecting 
two (2) points located on those intersecting right-
of-way lines 20 feet from the point where the 
right-of-way lines intersect; provided, utility poles, 
street lights, and street signs shall be exempt 
from this requirement (Figure 6-1).  

E. Setbacks and Yards by Lot Type.  

1. Interior Lots. On interior lots, the minimum 
front, side, and rear building setbacks shall be 
met. Each interior lot shall be comprised of a 
front yard, two (2) side yards, and a rear yard. 

2. Corner Lots. On corner lots, the minimum front, side street, side, and rear building setbacks shall be 
met. Each corner lot shall be comprised of a front yard, a secondary front yard, a side yard, and a 
rear yard. 

3. Through Lots. On through lots, the minimum front building setback shall be met on the primary 
street frontage, which is the direction the building faces, and side setbacks shall be met. The 
minimum rear setback shall be the greater of the front and rear setback applicable to the zoning 
district. Each through lot shall be comprised of a front yard, two (2) side yards, and a rear yard. 

Figure 6-1 Clear Vision Corner 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 6. General Provisions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 6-6 

4. Multi-Frontage. On multi-frontage lots, the minimum front building setback shall be met on the 
primary street frontage, which is the direction the building faces, a street side setback shall be met, 
and a side setback shall be met. The minimum rear setback, along the opposite frontage of the 
front setback, shall be the greater of the front and rear setback applicable to the zoning district. 
Each multi-frontage lot shall be comprised of a front yard, a secondary front yard, a side yard, and a 
rear yard. 

 

  

Figure 6-2 Setbacks for Interior (L) and Corner Lots (R) 

Figure 6-3 Setbacks for Through (L) and Multi-Frontage 
Lots (R) 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 6. General Provisions 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 6-7 

F. Projections into Required Setbacks. Certain structures and architectural features may project into the 
required setbacks, as provided in Table 6.40. 

 
Table 6.40: Encroachments into Required Setbacks 1 
Type of Feature Allowed Encroachment into a Setback 

Front Yard Side Yard Rear Yard 
Accessory structures See Section 6.20 A 
Accessible ramps, wheelchair lifts and 
similar structures  

Least encroachment necessary to meet state 
or federal requirements, but no more than 8 
ft.; must maintain a 3-foot side yard setback 

Air conditioning units, generators and 
other mechanical equipment 1 None 

3 ft. 3 ft. 
No more than 5 ft. from the 

building 
Arbors, trellises and pergolas 
(attached to principal building)  5 ft. 3 ft. 10 ft. 
Awnings and canopies 
Balconies 5 ft. None 10 ft. 
Bay windows 3 ft. 3 ft. 3 ft. 
Chimneys 3 ft. 3 ft. 3 ft. 
Driveways N/A Up to 1 ft. from 

a side lot line N/A 

Eaves and gutters 2 ft. 2 ft. 2 ft. 
Fences and walls  See Section 6.20 C 
Flagpoles Permitted up to 6 ft. from all lot lines 
Light poles (not including ground-
mounted lights) Permitted up to 6 ft. from all lot lines 

Outdoor fireplaces and pits 

None None 

Up to 10 
ft. from a 
rear lot 

line 
Paved patios and similar at-grade 
structures (not including driveways 
and sidewalks), un-roofed and 
unenclosed 1 

10 ft. Up to 3 ft. from 
a side lot line 

Up to 3 ft. 
from a 
rear lot 

line 
Porches, decks and stoops, uncovered 
and unenclosed2 5 ft. 3 ft. 10 ft. 

Stairways (not including steps to main 
floor entry) and below-grade 
stairwells 

5 ft. 3 ft. 10 ft. 

 
1 Building code may necessitate additional fire protection.  Equipment shall not be located within any easement. 
2 Any covered or roofed porch, deck, patio, stoop or similar structure shall be considered part of the principal building 
and shall comply with the required setbacks applicable to the principal building. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 6. General Provisions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 6-8 

Table 6.40: Encroachments into Required Setbacks 1 
Type of Feature Allowed Encroachment into a Setback 

Front Yard Side Yard Rear Yard 
Swing sets and similar play structures 
(attached) None Up to 3 ft. from 

a side lot line 

Up to 3 ft. 
from a 
rear lot 

line 
Window wells and egress windows, 
below grade 3 ft. 3 ft. 3 ft. 

 

Section 6.50 Lots 
A. Required Area or Space. No lot or lots in common ownership and no yard, court, parking area or other 

space shall be so divided, altered, or reduced as to make the area or space smaller than the minimum 
required under this ordinance. If already less than the minimum size required, the area or space shall 
not be further divided or reduced.  

B. Minimum Lot Frontage. All lots and parcels shall have 
frontage on and be accessible from a public or private 
street. The required minimum frontage shall be equal 
to the minimum lot width. However, frontage for cul-
de-sac lots for single-family and two-family dwellings 
may be reduced to 40 feet and minimum lot width 
shall be measured at the required front setback line. 
(Figure 6-3). 

C. Lots on Lakes, Rivers, and Streams.  

1. Lots abutting an inland lake, river, or stream shall 
comply with the following regulations: 

a. The lot width abutting a waterbody shall meet 
the minimum requirements of the zoning district in which the lot is located, measured at the 
ordinary high-water mark between side lot lines.  

b. Waterfront lots shall be considered through lots for the purpose of setback and yard 
designations.  

2. This subsection shall not apply to stormwater basins or other man-made water features. 

Section 6.60 Utilities & Services 
A. Essential Public Services. The erection, construction, alteration, or maintenance of essential public 

services shall be permitted in any zoning district and shall be exempt from the application of this 
ordinance; provided buildings, parking areas, and other uses or structures accessory to the essential 
service shall not be exempt and shall conform to all applicable ordinance requirements and procedures. 
This provision, however, shall not be construed to waive the rights of the City of Port Wentworth to 
require that specific services be installed underground. 

  

Figure 6-4 Cul-de-Sac Lot Frontage 

 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 6. General Provisions 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 6-9 

B. Water and Sanitary Sewer Service. No structure for human occupancy shall, after the effective date of 
this ordinance, be erected, altered, or moved upon any lot or premises and used, in whole or in part, 
for dwelling, business, industrial, institutional, or recreational purposes unless provided with a safe, 
sanitary and potable water supply and with a safe and effective means of collection, treatment, and 
disposal of human, domestic, commercial and industrial waste. All such systems shall be designed to 
preclude infiltration of flood waters into the system and discharges from the system into flood waters. 
Such installations and facilities shall conform to the minimum requirements for such facilities as 
established by the State of Georgia, Chatham County, City of Port Wentworth, and other relevant 
government codes, ordinances, and standards. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 6. General Provisions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 6-10 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance 
Final Draft 

Page 7-1 

Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 
 

Section 7.10 Intent and Purpose    
This article outlines conditions applicable to specific land uses based on the unique operational 
characteristics that warrant additional regulations to protect public health, safety, and welfare. These 
requirements apply in addition to all the regulations of the zoning district in which the use is located, as 
well as all other applicable requirements in this ordinance. 

Section 7.20 Accessory Dwelling Unit  
A. General Requirements. 

1. Single-Family. Accessory dwelling units are limited to single-family lots.  

2. Number. Only one (1) attached or detached accessory dwelling unit shall be permitted per principal 
dwelling. 

3. Occupancy. The principal dwelling or the accessory dwelling unit shall be owner-occupied. 

4. Setbacks. Attached accessory dwelling units shall comply with all setback requirements applicable 
to the principal dwelling. Detached accessory dwelling units shall comply with all setback 
requirements applicable to accessory buildings. 

5. Appearance. Attached and detached accessory dwellings shall retain a residential appearance 
consistent with the architectural design and building materials of the principal dwelling, including 
but not limited to roof material, roof type, siding material, and window type and placement. 

6. Area. Accessory dwelling square footage shall not exceed 50 percent of the principal dwelling 
square footage, or 800 square feet, whichever is less. Square footage shall also not exceed the 
maximum accessory building square footage per Table 6.20. The minimum area is subject to 
Building Code compliance. 

7. Metering and Mailing Address. The accessory dwelling shall not have a separate meter for public 
utilities, such as electric and gas service or a separate mailing address. 

B. Specific Requirements for Attached Accessory Dwelling Units. 

1. An attached accessory dwelling may be designed as an independent living area that can be isolated 
from the principal dwelling space; however, an internal connection to the principal dwelling must 
be maintained, and the principal and accessory living space must both be accessible through the 
primary entrance of the dwelling. This requirement does not preclude separate entrances to either 
living space. 

2. An attached accessory dwelling unit located over an attached garage may be served by a single 
access point separate from the rest of the building. 

C. Specific Requirements for Detached Accessory Dwelling Units. 

1. A lot shall not be divided in a manner that separates a detached accessory dwelling unit and 
principal dwelling unit onto separate parcels if the division results in a nonconformity. 

2. A new detached accessory dwelling unit to be constructed shall not be located closer to a front lot 
line than the principal dwelling. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  
Final Draft 

Page 7-2 

3. In the case of a detached accessory dwelling unit over garage space, such as a carriage house, the 
first-floor garage space shall not count against the maximum square footage applicable to the 
accessory dwelling unit. 

4. The minimum square footage shall be the minimum necessary to comply with applicable building 
codes. 

5. The height of a detached accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed the height of the principal 
dwelling. However, the height of a detached accessory dwelling unit over garage space may exceed 
the height of a single-story principal dwelling by 10 feet.  

Section 7.30 Adult Entertainment Establishments 
A. Applicability and Intent. These standards are intended to regulate adult entertainment establishments 

businesses, promote the health, safety, morals, and general welfare of the citizens of the City, and 
establish reasonable and uniform regulations to prevent the deleterious location and concentration of 
sexually oriented businesses within the City, thereby helping to reduce and eliminate the adverse 
secondary effects from such sexually oriented businesses. These standards have neither the purpose 
nor effect of imposing a limitation or restriction on the content of any communicative materials, 
including sexually oriented materials. Similarly, it is not the intent or effect of these standards to 
restrict or deny access by adults to sexually oriented materials protected by the First Amendment of 
the U.S. Constitution or Georgia statute or to deny access by the distributors and exhibitors of sexually 
oriented entertainment to their intended market. Neither is it the intent or effect of these standards to 
condone or legitimize the distribution of obscene material.  

B. Licensing and Operations. Adult Entertainment Establishments shall comply with all applicable City of 
Port Wentworth licensing and operations requirements. 

C. Location Requirements. 

1. No adult entertainment use shall be located within 2,000 feet of the exterior boundary of any 
residential zoning district, place of worship, K-12 school, library, day care center, public community 
center, park, fairground, recreation center, and publicly owned or maintained building opened for 
use by the general public. 

2. No adult entertainment use shall be located within 2,000 feet of any other adult entertainment use, 
whether such adult entertainment use is within or outside the city boundaries. 

D. Retail Display. No product for sale or gift, nor any picture or other representation of any product for 
sale or gift, shall be displayed so that it is visible by a person of normal visual acuity from the nearest 
adjoining roadway or adjoining property. 

E. Site Lighting. In addition to the requirements of Article 11, all off-street parking areas shall be 
illuminated from at least 90 minutes prior to sunset to at least 60 minutes after closing. 

Section 7.40 Animal and Pet Services    
A. General Requirements. 

1. Outdoor activity areas shall be screened in accordance with Section 10.70. An outdoor activity area 
is a location for walking leashed and unleashed dogs, pet relief, leashed and unleashed dog 
training, dog exercise and play areas, and outdoor dog runs. 

2. All kennels shall be operated in conformance with any applicable County and State regulations. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance 
Final Draft Page 7-3 

3. Buildings used as commercial kennels or pet services shall be insulated in such a manner that 
excessive noise from barking is minimized. 

4. Habitual barking, which results in a nuisance to neighboring landowners or residents, is prohibited. 

B. Outdoor Exercise and Play Area Requirements. 

1. Outdoor exercise and play areas are locations outside of enclosed structures that are intended and 
used for unleashed dog exercise, training, and play. 

2. The outer limits of outdoor exercise and play areas shall not be located closer than 100 feet from 
any adjacent residential-zoned property. 

3. Outdoor exercise and play areas shall be fenced. 

C. Outdoor Run Requirements for Boarding and Day Care. 

1. Outdoor runs are individually fenced areas connected to buildings that accommodate outdoor 
access for associated indoor pens or suites. 

2. Outdoor runs shall not be located closer than 100 feet from any adjacent residential-zoned 
property. 

3. Outdoor runs shall be located in the rear or side yards. 

4. Outdoor runs shall be equipped with impervious surfaces suitable for cleaning with high-pressure 
water. Outdoor runs shall be kept in a clean and sanitary manner to prevent the accumulation of 
flies, the spread of disease, offensive odor, or dust generation. 

Section 7.50 Bed and Breakfast    
A. Principal Residence. A bed and breakfast use shall only be established in a detached single-family 

dwelling, which shall also be the principal residence of the owner or manager. 

B. Appearance. The building shall maintain an exterior appearance that is in character with surrounding 
residential uses. 

C. Lot Conformance. A bed and breakfast shall be located on a lot that conforms to non-residential area 
requirements. 

D. Guest Rooms. The total number of guest rooms in the establishment shall not exceed six (6).  

E. Term. The length of stay for a guest or guests shall not exceed 14 consecutive days. 

F. Cooking. No separate cooking facilities shall be provided. 

G. Food Service. Meals shall only be served to the operator's family, employees, and overnight guests. 

Section 7.60 Campground or Recreational Vehicle Park    
A. Minimum Lot Area. A minimum of five (5) acres is required to establish the use. 

B. Setbacks. Buildings shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned properties. 

C. Buffer. The site shall be subject to a buffer type B as noted in Table 10.40 B where abutting residential-
zoned property. 

D. General Requirements. All recreational vehicle (RV) sites shall include water and sewer services unless 
separate restroom facilities are available. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  
Final Draft 

Page 7-4 

1. Accessory sheds and buildings are not permitted on individual RV sites. 

2. A park attendant must be on duty at the park or available at all times to address the needs of 
campers, emergencies, and maintenance issues. 

3. Common areas and individual sites shall be kept free of litter and debris at all times. 

4. Service buildings shall be maintained in a sanitary condition at all times. 

5. The operator shall ensure continued maintenance of landscaping and buildings. Common areas 
shall be mowed and kept free of fallen branches and tall grass and weeds. 

6. RV lots shall be provided a concrete, paved, or gravel off-street car parking area of a minimum size 
to accommodate two vehicles without vehicle encroachment onto internal driveways.  

7. Driveways shall be clear for emergency vehicle access at all times. Guest parking shall not obstruct 
driveways. 

8. Dumpsters and trash bins shall be required in a common area. The dumpster shall be emptied 
frequently to avoid the accumulation of waste and debris. 

9. No part of any campground shall be used for any other purpose than for temporary living quarters 
occupancy of individual recreational vehicle units or tent camping, except for such uses that are 
required for the direct servicing and well-being of campground guests and for the management and 
maintenance of the campground. 

10. The open discharge of gray water within the park shall be prohibited. 

Section 7.70 Commercial Outdoor Recreation, Low-Intensity   
A. Minimum Lot Area. A minimum of five (5) acres is required to establish the use. 

B. Setbacks. Buildings shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned properties. 

C. Buffer. The site shall be subject to a buffer type B as noted in Table 10.40 B where abutting residential-
zoned property. 

D. Parking. Parking lots shall be at least 100 feet from abutting residential-zoned property lines. 

E. Noise. Outdoor electrified sound amplification is prohibited. 

F. Lighting. Light levels shall not be detectable along lot lines on a photometric plan (0.0 foot-candles). 

G. Hours of Operation. Hours of operation are limited to dawn to dusk. 

Section 7.80 Community Garden 
A. Drainage. The site shall be designed and maintained so that water and fertilizer will not drain onto 

adjacent property. 

B. Sales. The on-site sale of community garden products is prohibited except when permitted as an 
approved temporary use. 

C. Noise. The use of motorized equipment is restricted to hours beginning at 7:00 AM and ending at 9:00 
PM. 

D. Waste and Compost. An on-site trash storage container must be provided and located as close as 
practicable to the rear lot line or when located on a lot with other uses, the rear side of the community 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance 
Final Draft Page 7-5 

garden. Compost bins or piles must also be located in the same location. Trash must be removed from 
the site regularly. 

E. Chickens and Farm Animals. The keeping of animals is prohibited unless the community garden is 
located in a zoning district that permits animals. 

F. Hours of Operation. Within a residential zoning district, operating hours for community garden 
activities are restricted to between 5:00 AM and 11:00 PM daily. 

Section 7.90 Day Care Home (Adults and Children)    
A. State Approvals and Regulations. 

1. All licensing and permitting shall be obtained from the State of Georgia. 

2. All rules and regulations from the State of Georgia shall be adhered to. 

B. Residency Requirement. The owner or management of the dwelling shall reside on the premises. 

C. Separation. A day care home shall not be located within 1,000 feet from any other day care home. 

Section 7.100 Drive-Through Service    
A. Access and Circulation. Site access and circulation shall be designed to minimize traffic conflicts, 

congestion, and disruption and enhance traffic safety on abutting public and private streets and drives. 
Access and drive aisles shall be arranged to prevent queued or parked vehicles from encroaching upon 
a sidewalk, street, intersection, or public right-of- way. 

B. Stacking Spaces. The City Council may require additional stacking spaces beyond those required by 
Table 8.40 based on the characteristics of the use and anticipated traffic volumes. 

C. Sound. Loudspeakers shall be modulated so that any generated sound is not audible beyond property 
boundaries. 

Section 7.110 Farm Markets and Agritourism 
A. Minimum Lot Area. A minimum of five (5) acres is required to establish the use. 

B. Setbacks. Buildings shall be at least 100 feet from abutting residential-zoned property lines. 

C. Buffer. The site shall be subject to a buffer type B as noted in Table 10.40 B where abutting residential-
zoned property. 

D. Parking. Parking lots shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned property. 

E. Lighting. Light levels shall not be detectable along lot lines on a photometric plan (0.0 foot-candles). 

F. Noise. Outdoor amplified sound is prohibited. 

G. Hours of Operation. The hours of operation of annual and seasonal events, as well as permanent uses, 
shall be set by the City Council. The intent of these restrictions is to ensure the use remains accessory 
and incidental to the farm use of the property and not a typical commercial use. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  
Final Draft 

Page 7-6 

Section 7.120 Golf Course   
A. Minimum Lot Area. A minimum of 40 acres is required to establish the use. 

B. Setbacks. Buildings shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned property. 

C. Parking. Parking lots shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned property. 

Section 7.130 Home Occupations   
A. Major Home Occupation. 

1. Minimum Lot Area. A minimum of five (5) acres is required to establish the use. 

2. Location. Major home occupation operations must be conducted entirely within a principal 
dwelling, attached accessory building, detached accessory building, or combination of these 
buildings. 

3. A maximum of 25 percent of the gross floor area of a dwelling and accessory buildings may be 
devoted to major home occupation business operations. Up to 25 percent of the floor area of the 
principal dwelling may be devoted to a major home occupation.  

4. There shall be no physical evidence of the major home occupation from other properties or the 
public right-of-way aside from parking and customer visitation.  

5. All equipment and vehicles shall be stored indoors. 

6. Retail Sales. Accessory retail sales shall only be allowed if incidental to authorized uses and shall be 
subject to the parking and visitation requirements of this section. Only items produced on the 
subject lot shall be sold. 

7. Operation and Employees. 

a. Major home occupations shall only be owned and operated by a full-time resident of the 
dwelling.  

b. Any occupant of the principal dwelling may be employed by the major home occupation.  

c. A maximum of four (4) persons who are not residents of the dwelling may work on-site or may 
pick up and return work vehicles during any one (1) day. 

8. Parking and Visitation. 

a. Visitation of the site by clients, customers, or students shall be by appointment only. 

b. No more than two (2) individual appointments shall be scheduled at any one (1) time unless 
group activities or classes are approved. 

c. If open to the public for appointments or other approved activities, see Article 8 for parking 
requirements. 

B. Minor Home Occupation.  

1. Minor home occupations shall only be owned and operated by a full-time resident of the principal 
dwelling. Non-resident employees may not work on-site. 

2. Home occupations must be conducted entirely within the principal dwelling and not within an 
accessory building. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance 
Final Draft Page 7-7 

3. Up to 25 percent of the floor area of the principal dwelling may be devoted to a home occupation.  

4. There shall be no physical evidence of the home occupation from the exterior of the dwelling. 

5. No customers or clients shall visit the site. 

Section 7.140 Manufactured Home Community 
A. Manufactured Home Spaces. 

1. Each space shall contain a minimum area of 5,000 square feet and shall be at least 40 feet wide. 

2. Each space shall abut on a driveway or other access with unobstructed access to a street. 

B. Placement. Each manufactured home shall be placed upon a space so that: 

a. There is a minimum of 15 feet between mobile homes; 

b. It is not located within 50 feet of an exterior boundary of the manufactured home community; 

c. It is not located within 50 feet of a public right-of-way; 

d. It does not obstruct any roadway, walkway, or easement; 

e. It is not located within 10 feet of any internal street or drive. 

C. Access. Internal access drives shall meet all Fire Department requirements for maneuverability. 

Section 7.150 Outdoor Display and Sales   
A. Setbacks. Outdoor display and sales areas shall comply with setbacks applicable to principal buildings. 

B. Maximum Area. Accessory outdoor display and sales areas as part of a general retail establishment are 
limited to 20 percent of the principal building square footage. For businesses where the primary sales 
area is outdoors, such as landscaping supply, construction supply, nurseries, and similar uses, there is 
no maximum sales area as long as all other zoning requirements are met. 

C. Surface. See Outdoor Storage, Section 7.160 B. 

Section 7.160 Outdoor Storage    
A. Setbacks. Outdoor storage areas shall be subject to setbacks for principal buildings. 

B. Surface. Outdoor storage areas shall be asphalt, concrete, gravel, or crushed stone. Gravel and crushed 
stone surfaces are subject to the following requirements: 

1. Shall be properly drained in accordance with the City of Port Wentworth Stormwater Ordinance 
and Comprehensive Development Manual. 

2. Dust generation shall be minimized. 

3. The surface will be maintained and free of weeds, grass, and overgrown vegetation at all times. 

C. Screening. Outdoor storage areas shall be screened from all sides. See Section 10.70 for screening 
requirements.  

D. Hazardous Materials. No flammable liquids, solvents, cleaners, and other hazardous substances 
capable of contaminating groundwater shall be stored outdoors. 

E. Containers. Containers shall not be stacked more than five (5) high. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  
Final Draft 

Page 7-8 

Section 7.170 Outdoor Theater    
A. Access. Outdoor theaters shall have direct access to a state road. 

B. Setbacks. Buildings and screens shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned property. 

C. Buffer. The site shall be subject to a buffer type B as noted in Table 10.40 B where abutting residential-
zoned property. 

D. Circulation. There shall be sufficient stacking and queuing space for vehicles entering the facility to 
ensure that there will be no resulting obstructions within the public right-of-way. 

E. Design. The site shall be designed to prevent the movie screens from being viewed from residential 
areas or adjacent major thoroughfares.  

Section 7.180 Personal Care Home    
A. State Approvals and Regulations. 

1. All licensing and permitting shall be obtained from the State of Georgia. 

2. All rules and regulations from the State of Georgia shall be adhered to. 

B. Residency Requirement. The owner or management of the dwelling shall reside on the premises. 

C. Separation. A personal care home shall not be located within 1,000 feet from any other personal care 
home. 

Section 7.190 Salvage or Impound Operation    
A. Surface. See Outdoor Storage, Section 7.160 B. 

B. Screening. Outdoor storage areas for damaged or disabled vehicles shall be screened from all sides. See 
Section 10.70 for screening requirements.  

C. Parking. Parking of operable vehicles shall comply with the requirements of Article 8. 

D. Hazardous Materials. All flammable liquids, solvents, cleaners, and other hazardous substances 
capable of contaminating groundwater shall be stored within a building, and secondary containment 
measures shall be employed to prevent ground contact of any spilled materials. 

Section 7.200 Self-Storage    
A. Building Separation. Storage buildings shall be separated by drive aisles no less than 24 feet in width. 

B. Outdoor Storage.  

1. Areas provided for outdoor storage of automobiles, boats, recreational vehicles, trailers, and 
similar personal property shall be designated on the site plan.  

2. Outdoor storage shall not be located within any required setback area.  

3. For surface requirements, see Outdoor Storage, Section 7.160 B 

4. Outdoor storage areas shall be screened from all sides. See Section 10.70 for screening 
requirements. 

C. Use Restriction. Use of any storage unit for the conduct of manufacturing, repair, service, sales, 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance 
Final Draft Page 7-9 

fabrication, assembly, or any other business purpose other than the storage of goods or merchandise is 
prohibited. 

D. Caretaker’s Dwelling. A single one-bedroom dwelling unit is permitted as an on-site residence for the 
facility caretaker. This dwelling unit shall be physically attached to the building, which contains the 
leasing and management office for the facility. 

Section 7.210 Solar Energy    
A. Applicability. This section does not apply to rooftop solar panels or smaller-scale solar energy collectors 

mounted on fences, poles, or on the ground with collector surface areas less than five (5) square feet 
and less than six (6) feet above the ground.  

B. Solar Energy, Accessory Ground-Mounted. 

1. Applications and Review.  

a. Accessory ground-mounted solar energy systems shall be approved administratively by the 
Zoning Administrator and the Building Official. 

b. Accessory ground-mounted solar energy systems shall be approved administratively by the 
Zoning Administrator and the Building Official. 

2. Requirements. 

a. Glare and Reflection. The exterior surfaces of solar energy collectors shall be substantially non-
reflective of light. A system shall not be installed or located in a manner that directs glare onto 
neighboring dwellings or adjacent streets. 

b. Location. Systems shall be placed in rear yards unless existing vegetation and other site 
constraints make rear yard placement unfeasible. The Zoning Administrator shall refer side and 
front yard placement requests to the Planning Commission in cases where there is a higher 
likelihood of visual impact to nearby residents. 

c. Installation. Systems shall be installed, maintained, and used only in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s directions. Upon request, a copy shall be submitted to the City before 
installation.  

d. Wires. All wires shall be buried underground. Overhead wires are prohibited. 

e. Setbacks. Accessory ground-mounted solar energy systems shall be subject to the setbacks 
required for principal buildings. Measurement shall be taken from the outermost edge of the 
support structure or solar panel, whichever is closer to the property line, to the applicable 
property line. 

f. Maximum Number. One (1) accessory non-commercial ground-mounted solar energy system 
and its associated support structure are permitted per lot. However, in the case of a uniquely 
shaped parcel or lot or extraordinary conditions of the land, a single system with multiple 
structures and panels may be approved as long as the structures are clustered in close 
proximity. 

g. Maximum Size. Systems shall be designed and sized to produce no more than 125 percent of 
the annual kWh usage or 1,500 square feet, whichever is less. Proposed system power 
generation specifications and historical annual usage data shall be provided by the applicant for 
review. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  
Final Draft 

Page 7-10 

h. Maximum Height. The maximum height of a system at its highest point, or at full tilt, shall be 16 
feet. Height is measured from the natural grade below the system to the highest point of the 
panels or any part of the support structure, whichever is greater. 

i. Abandonment. Systems that cease to produce energy continuously for 12 months will be 
considered abandoned unless the landowner provides a plan to reinstate the operation of the 
system within six (6) months. If the system remains non-functional after six (6) months, it shall 
be determined as abandoned. 

j. Removal. The landowner shall remove the support structure, panels, and all equipment and 
restore the site to its condition prior to installation of the system within one (1) year of 
abandonment. 

C. Commercial Solar Energy System.  

1. Applications. In addition to all other required application contents, equipment and unit renderings 
or plans shall be submitted for review. Multiple participating commercial solar energy parcels 
operating as one commercial solar energy system may be requested under a single special land use 
permit application. However, each participating commercial solar energy parcel is subject to special 
land use and site plan application fees. 

2. Principal or Accessory Use. Commercial solar energy systems may be established as principal or 
accessory uses.  

3. Requirements. 

a. Building Coverage. Solar energy collectors and panels shall not count against the maximum 
building coverage required by the Zoning Ordinance. 

b. Glare and Reflection. The exterior surfaces of solar energy collectors shall be substantially non-
reflective of light. A system shall not be installed or located in a manner that directs 
considerable glare onto neighboring dwellings or adjacent streets. The applicant shall provide a 
glare analysis to demonstrate compliance with this standard. 

c. Minimum Setbacks. Commercial solar energy systems and all equipment, aside from wires, 
shall be set back a minimum of 100 feet from property lines and public right-of-way. 
Commercial solar energy systems shall not be subject to property line setbacks between 
participating commercial solar energy parcels. 

d. Maximum Height. The maximum height of a system at its highest point, or at full tilt, shall be 16 
feet. Height is measured from the natural grade below the system to the highest point of the 
panels or any part of the support structure, whichever is greater. 

e. Minimum Acreage. The minimum acreage for a commercial solar energy system on a single 
parcel is 40 acres. For commercial solar energy systems spanning multiple contiguous 
participating commercial solar energy parcels, the minimum combined acreage is 40 acres. 

f. Screening. Views of collectors and equipment from residential properties or public right-of-way 
may be required to be screened. Screening methods may include the use of fences, screening 
walls, landscaping, or preservation of existing vegetation that will blend the facility into the 
natural setting and existing environment. 

g. Abandonment. Systems that cease to produce energy continuously for 12 months will be 
considered abandoned by the City unless the responsible party provides a plan to reinstate the 
operation before the end of the 12-month period. If a plan is provided, a 12-month extension 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance 
Final Draft Page 7-11 

for reinstatement may be granted by the City Council.  

h. Removal. The responsible party shall remove all equipment and structures and restore the site 
to its condition prior to the installation of the system within one (1) year of abandonment. 

i. Decommissioning. A decommissioning plan signed by the responsible party and the property 
owner (if different) addressing the following shall be submitted prior to approval: 

i. Defined conditions upon which decommissioning will be initiated (i.e. end of land lease, no 
power production for 12 months, abandonment, etc.). 

ii. Removal of all non-utility owned equipment, conduit, structures, fencing, roads, solar 
panels, and foundations. 

iii. Restoration of property to its original condition or a condition that is stabilized and graded 
to be consistent with the character of the area. 

iv. The timeframe for completion of decommissioning activities. 

v. Description of any agreement (e.g. lease) with the property owner regarding 
decommissioning, if applicable. 

vi. The entity or individual responsible for decommissioning. 

vii. The financial plan for decommissioning activities and site restoration. 

viii. Protocol for updating the decommissioning plan. 

j. A performance guarantee may be required to be posted in the form of a bond, letter of credit, 
cash, or another form acceptable to the City to ensure removal upon abandonment. As a part 
of the decommissioning plan, the responsible party shall provide at least two (2) cost estimates 
from qualified contractors for full removal of the equipment, foundations, and structures 
associated with the facility. These amounts will assist the City when setting the performance 
guarantee amount. The performance guarantee shall be valid throughout the lifetime of the 
facility. Bonds and letters of credit shall be extended on a regular basis with expiration dates 
never less than two (2) years from the annual anniversary of special land use approval. 

k. The property owner and responsible shall record the decommissioning plan with the office of 
the Clerk of Superior Court of Chatham County. 

Section 7.220 Stables, Commercial    
A. Minimum Lot Area. A minimum of five (5) acres is required to establish the use. 

B. Setbacks. Buildings shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned property. 

C. Buffer. The site shall be subject to a buffer type B as noted in Table 10.40 B where abutting residential-
zoned property. 

D. Parking. Parking lots shall be at least 100 feet from abutting residential-zoned property lines. 

E. Lighting. Light levels shall not be detectable along lot lines on a photometric plan (0.0 foot-candles). 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  
Final Draft 

Page 7-12 

Section 7.230 Temporary Offices and Land Uses  
A. Permits. Zoning permits are required for all temporary offices and land uses except for garage and yard 

sales. 

B. Temporary Construction Office. A temporary office building or yard for construction materials and/or 
equipment is permitted in any zone without a permit for such period of time as it is both incidental and 
necessary to construction at the site. 

C. Temporary Sales Office. A temporary office is permitted in any zone without a permit for such period 
of time as it is both incidental and necessary for the sale or rental of real property in a new subdivision 
or housing project. 

D. Temporary Sales. 

1. Permitting. Temporary outdoor parking lot sales are subject to review and approval by the Zoning 
Administrator in accordance with this section in the C-1, C-2, C-3, and I-1 zoning districts. 

2. Application Requirements. Applications shall include a site plan illustrating structures, tents, off-
street parking, and lighting. 

3. Sales and events shall be permitted a maximum of twice during a calendar year for a maximum of 
30 days total per lot. 

4. The sales area shall not extend into the clear vision area at any street intersection. 

5. No more than 20 percent of the available parking spaces may be utilized for temporary use. 

6. All temporary structures shall be erected in a safe manner in accordance with any applicable 
Building Codes, ordinances, and standards. 

E. Mobile Food Units. 

1. Location. Mobile food units may be temporarily permitted in the C-1, C-2, C-3, and I-1 zoning 
districts. 

2. Location. Mobile food units shall be located on a privately-owned property where an existing 
permanent business operates in a building with a certificate of occupancy. A maximum of one (1) 
mobile food unit shall be allowed on a lot at any time. 

3. Visibility. Mobile food units shall not obscure traffic sight visibility or operate in driveways or fire 
lanes. 

4. Parking. Mobile food units may operate in parking spaces if the required parking for the property 
remains in compliance with the parking requirements of this ordinance. 

5. Drive-Through. Mobile food units shall not provide a drive-through service of any kind. 

6. Setbacks. Mobile food unit parking shall be set back at least 20 feet from public right-of-way and 50 
feet from all other lot lines. 

7. Licensing. Licenses shall be secured from the Georgia Department of Public Health. 

F. Garage and Yard Sales. Yard and garage sales are permitted for durations of four (4) days, no more 
than four (4) times a calendar year. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance 
Final Draft Page 7-13 

Section 7.240 Vehicle Repair  
A. Overhead Doors. Overhead doors shall not face residential-zoned property. The City Council may 

modify this requirement upon a determination that there is no reasonable alternative and the visual 
impact will be diminished through use of building materials, architectural features, and landscaping. 

B. Indoor Work. All maintenance and repair work shall be conducted completely within an enclosed 
building. 

C. Outdoor Storage. There shall be no outdoor storage or display of vehicle components and parts, 
materials, commodities for sale, supplies, or equipment unless allowable within the applicable zoning 
district and in accordance with Section 7.160. 

D. Parking. Parking of operable vehicles awaiting service or pickup shall comply with the requirements of 
Article 8. 

E. Requirements for Major Vehicle Repair. 

1. Outdoor storage areas for damaged or disabled vehicles shall be screened from all sides. See 
Section 10.70 for screening requirements.  

2. Buildings shall be at least 100 feet from residential-zoned properties. 

Section 7.250 Vehicle Service Station   
A. Access and Circulation. All fueling pumps shall be arranged to prevent queued or parked vehicles 

waiting to be serviced from encroaching upon a sidewalk, street, intersection, or public right-of- way. 

B. Vehicle Repair. Repair work shall be limited to minor vehicle repair unless major vehicle repair is 
approved for the site. 

C. Surface. All areas designated for vehicles shall be concrete or asphalt. Notwithstanding any other 
allowance in this ordinance, alternative surfaces are not permitted. 

D. Canopy. A permanent building or freestanding canopy shall be located over all fuel pump islands. 
Canopies shall meet setback requirements for principal buildings. 

E. Hazardous Materials. All flammable liquids, solvents, cleaners, and other hazardous substances 
capable of contaminating groundwater shall be stored within a building, and secondary containment 
measures shall be employed to prevent ground contact of any spilled materials. 

Section 7.260 Vehicle Wash  
A. Indoor Washing. All washing activities must occur inside a building. 

B. Access and Circulation. Site access and circulation shall be designed to minimize traffic conflicts, 
congestion, and disruption and enhance traffic safety on abutting public and private streets and drives. 
Access and drive aisles shall be arranged to prevent queued or parked vehicles from encroaching upon 
a sidewalk, street, intersection, or public right-of-way. 

C. Bypass Lane. For automated drive-through wash facilities, a bypass lane is required that allows 
bypassing waiting vehicles. 

D. Overhead Doors. Overhead doors shall not face residential-zoned property. The City Council may 
modify this requirement upon a determination that there is no reasonable alternative and that the 
visual impact will be diminished through the use of building materials, architectural features, and 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 7. Specific Use Requirements 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  
Final Draft 

Page 7-14 

landscaping. 

E. Setbacks. A vehicle wash facility building and any accessory buildings and uses, including vacuums, shall 
be located at least 100 feet from residential-zoned property. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-1 

Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 
 

Section 8.10 Intent and Purpose    
The purpose of this article is to prescribe regulations for off-street parking of motor vehicles in residential 
and non-residential zoning districts; to ensure by the provision of these regulations that adequate parking 
and access are provided in a safe and convenient manner; and to afford reasonable protection to adjacent 
land uses from light, noise, air/water pollution and other effects of parking lot proximity. 

Section 8.20 General Requirements and Applicability   
A. Applicability of Parking Requirements. For all buildings and uses established after the effective date of 

this ordinance, off-street parking shall be provided as required by this article. In addition, the following 
shall also apply: 

1. Whenever use of a building or lot is changed to another classification of use, off-street parking 
facilities shall be provided, as required by this article for that use.   

2. If the intensity of use of any building or lot is increased, through the addition of floor area, increase 
in seating capacity, or other means, additional off-street parking shall be provided, as required by 
this article. 

3. Off-street parking facilities in existence on the effective date of this ordinance shall not be reduced 
below the requirements of this article, nor shall nonconforming parking facilities that exist as of the 
effective date of this ordinance be further reduced or made more nonconforming.   

4. An area designated as required off-street parking shall not be changed to another use unless equal 
facilities are provided elsewhere in accordance with the provisions of this article. 

B. Location. Off-street parking facilities required for all uses other than single and two-family dwellings 
shall be located on the lot or within 400 feet of the building(s) or use they are intended to serve, as 
measured from the nearest point of the parking facility to the nearest public entry of the building(s) or 
use served. Off-street parking facilities required for single-and two-family dwellings shall be located on 
the same lot or parcel as the dwelling they are intended to serve, and shall consist of a driveway, 
parking strip, parking apron, and, if applicable, garage. 

C. Maximum Allowed Parking. In order to minimize excessive areas of pavement that detract from 
aesthetics, contribute to high rates of stormwater runoff, and generate reflective heat, the minimum 
parking space requirements of this section shall not be exceeded by more than 10 percent unless 
approved by the City Council, as part of concept plan review, or if the parking spaces are located within 
a multi-level parking structure. In approving additional parking space, the City Council shall determine 
that the parking is necessary, based on documented evidence, to accommodate the use on a typical 
day. Further, all additional parking spaces exceeding 10 percent over the minimum requirement shall 
be located on permeable surfaces. 

D. On-Street Parking. Where on-street parking is available within 400 feet of the boundary of a lot or 
parcel, a portion of the off-street parking requirement may be waived by the City Council, in its 
consideration of a concept plan, upon determining that one or more of the following conditions is 
applicable (see Section 11.40 B): 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-2 

1. A number of the on-street spaces are currently routinely available and can reasonably be expected 
to be available to the use for which the waiver is requested; 

2. The nature of the proposed use is such that its peak demand occurs at times when the on-street 
parking is not likely to be used; or 

3. The on-street parking would not be the primary parking area for the use and may be considered as 
a temporary option in support of deferred parking, as provided in Section 8.50 B. 

E. Maintenance. All parking areas shall be maintained free of trash and debris. Surface, curbing, light 
fixtures, and signage shall be maintained in good condition. 

F. Limitations on Use of Parking Lots. 

1. Off-street parking areas are intended only for temporary vehicle parking. Except when land is used 
as storage space in connection with the business of a vehicle repair (see Section 7.240) or salvage 
or impound operation (see Section 7.190), the use of parking areas or open land is not permitted 
for the storage or parking of wrecked or junked cars, or for creating a junkyard or nuisance. 

2. Loading spaces, as required in Section 8.90, and parking spaces, as required in Section 8.40, shall be 
considered separate and distinct requirements and shall be provided as individual components on 
the site. In no case shall one component be construed as meeting the requirements of the other. 

3. Parking lots and loading areas shall not be used for the long-term storage of trucks, trailers, or 
containers, except where such outdoor storage is specifically permitted in the zoning district and 
has been approved in accordance with this ordinance. Overnight parking or storage of commercial 
vehicles or containers shall be prohibited except for uses and locations approved for vehicle or 
container storage. This shall not be construed to prohibit the parking overnight of commercial fleet 
vehicles or the short-term parking of trailers in loading bays or staging areas related to commercial 
or industrial uses.  

4. It shall be unlawful to use a parking lot or open area to store or park any vehicle for the purpose of 
displaying vehicles for sale except in an approved vehicle sales dealership. 

Section 8.30 Parking Lot Design and Dimensional Requirements 
A. Location and Setbacks. Off-street parking lots shall meet the setback requirements applicable to 

parking, as may be specified in the zoning district, as specified for individual uses, or sufficiently set 
back to remain outside of required buffer areas and street yard greenways. 

B. Parking Construction and Development. The construction of any parking lot shall require approval of a 
site plan in accordance with Article 13. Construction shall be completed and approved by the Zoning 
Administrator before a certificate of occupancy is issued and the parking lot is used. 

1. Pavement. All parking lots and vehicle, container, and equipment storage areas shall be paved with 
asphalt or concrete and shall be graded and drained so as to dispose of surface water that might 
accumulate. Alternative paving materials, such as permeable/grass pavers, stone, or asphalt 
millings, may be approved for all or a portion of the parking areas based upon credible evidence of 
the durability and appearance of the proposed materials. For storage areas, a substitute for hard-
surfaced pavement may be approved by the City Council in conjunction with concept plan review 
upon a determination that there are no adverse effects on adjoining properties. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-3 

2. Drainage. Surface water from parking areas shall be managed in accordance with the City 
Engineering standards. The City Engineer shall determine the appropriate detention or retention 
treatment.   

3. Dimensions. Parking space and aisle dimensions shall meet the following requirements and as 
specified in Table 8.30. 

a. Angled parking between these ranges shall be to the nearest degree.  

b. Space length may be reduced by up to two (2) feet if an unobstructed overhang, such as a 
landscaped area or sidewalk, is provided. A sidewalk shall have a minimum width of seven (7) 
feet where abutting a parking space. There shall be a minimum distance of seven (7) feet 
between the parking lot curb and the building. Where curbing does not exist, bumper blocks 
shall be provided to protect pedestrian space adjacent to the building.  

c. All parking lots shall be striped and maintained showing individual parking bays, in accordance 
with the following dimensions; provided, if alternative materials are used wheel stops shall be 
installed to define the spaces:  

Table 8.30:  Dimensional Requirements 

Parking Pattern 

Parking Space Maneuvering Aisle 
Width 

Width (ft.) Length (ft.) One-
way 
(ft.) 

Two-way 
(ft.) 

0°(parallel) 8 22 stall to stall 11 22 
30° 9 17 curb to aisle 12 22 
45° 9 19 curb to aisle 12 22 
60° 9 20 curb to aisle 14.5 22 
90° 9 18 curb to aisle 22 24 

 

4. Stacking Spaces. Waiting/stacking spaces for drive-through uses (such as banks, restaurants, car 
washes, pharmacies, dry cleaners, and oil change establishments) shall be at least 24 feet long and 
10 feet wide. Stacking spaces shall not block required off-street parking spaces. Where the drive-
through waiting lane provides for a single lane for five (5) or more vehicles, an escape/by-pass lane 
shall be provided to allow vehicles to exit the waiting lane.  

5. Ingress and Egress. Adequate vehicular ingress and egress to the parking area shall be provided by 
means of clearly limited and defined drives. Parking lots shall provide interior access and circulation 
aisles for all parking spaces. The use of streets for maneuvering into or out of off-street parking 
spaces shall be prohibited.  

6. Access Through Residential Districts. Ingress and egress to a parking lot in a non-residential zoning 
district shall not be through a residential district, except in instances where access is provided by 
means of an alley that forms the boundary between a residential and non-residential district or if 
specifically authorized by the City Council in conjunction with concept plan review. 

7. Curbing. A six (6) inch concrete curb or approved alternative shall be provided around all sides of 
any parking lot of 10 or more spaces to protect landscaped areas, sidewalks, buildings, or adjacent 
property from vehicles that might otherwise extend beyond the edge of the parking lot. Curb 
openings are allowed for stormwater drainage, as recommended by the City Engineer. Plantings 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-4 

shall be set back two (2) feet from curbs to allow for bumper overhang. This curbing requirement 
may be modified, as recommended by the City Engineer, where stormwater runoff is intended to 
flow across the parking area or where a pervious border is designed. 

8. Landscaping. Off-street parking areas shall be landscaped and/or screened in accordance with the 
requirements of Article 10. The use of rain gardens and other low-impact design solutions to 
minimize the impact of stormwater runoff is encouraged. 

9. Lighting. Parking lot lighting shall conform to the requirements of Article 9. 

10. Fire Lanes. Fire lanes shall be designated on the site and posted with signage prior to occupancy. 
Vehicle circulation shall meet turning radius requirements set by the fire department. 

11. Crosswalks. Pedestrian pathways and crosswalks in parking areas shall be distinguished from 
concrete and asphalt driving surfaces through the use of durable, low maintenance, striping or 
surface materials such as pavers, bricks, or scored, stamped, or colored concrete to enhance 
pedestrian safety and comfort as well as the attractiveness of the parking area. 

E. Barrier Free Parking in Parking Lots. Within each parking lot, signed and marked barrier free spaces 
shall be provided at a convenient location in accordance with the applicable requirements of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA). Barrier free spaces shall be located as close as possible to 
building entrances. Where a curb exists between a parking lot surface and a sidewalk entrance, an 
inclined approach or curb cut with a gradient of not more than a 1:12 slope and a width of a minimum 
of four (4) feet shall be provided for wheelchair access. 

F. Single-Family Residential Parking. Within any single-family residential zoning district, vehicles shall be 
parked only on the designated driveway area that provides access to a garage or lot from the abutting 
street. Parking areas shall not exceed 30 feet in width or half the lot width, whichever is less. The 
parking or storage of abandoned or inoperable vehicles, machinery, and recreational vehicles shall not 
be permitted except as specifically provided by Section 8.70.  

Section 8.40 Required Off-Street Parking 
A. Minimum Number. The minimum number of required off-street parking spaces shall be provided and 

maintained on the premises or as otherwise allowed by this article in accordance with the applicable 
requirements of Table 8.40. As a condition of site plan approval, a performance guarantee, in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 12.70, may be required to be posted. 

B. Fractions. When units or measurements determining the number of required parking spaces result in a 
fraction over one-half (½), a full parking space shall be required. 

C. Uses Not Mentioned. In the case of a use not specifically mentioned, the requirement for off-street 
parking facilities for a specified use that is most similar, as determined by the Zoning Administrator, 
shall apply. 

D. Benches and Pews. Each 24 inches of bench, pew, or similar seating facilities shall be counted as one 
(1) seat, except if specifications and plans filed in conjunction with a building permit application specify 
a maximum seating capacity, that number may be used as the basis for required parking spaces.  

E. Occupancy. Where parking requirements are based upon maximum seating or occupancy capacity, the 
capacity shall be as determined by the City building and fire codes. 

F. Usable Floor Area. Unless otherwise indicated, floor area shall be usable floor area (UFA). 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-5 

Table 8.40:  Parking Requirements by Use  
Use Number of Parking Spaces 
Accessory Uses 
Accessory dwellings 1 space per dwelling unit 
Mailbox clusters serving 
residential subdivisions or 
other concentrated 
developments 

A turn-out/offset area shall be provided adjacent to the 
mailbox cluster of sufficient dimension (minimum 66 feet long 
by 7 feet wide) to accommodate three (3) standing vehicles 

Residential subdivision 
amenities 

1 per 10 persons allowed within the maximum capacity as 
established by the City fire and building codes 

Accommodations, Hospitality, and Entertainment 

Banquet hall or meeting hall 1 per 3 persons allowed within the maximum occupancy load 
as established by the City fire and building codes 

Bed and breakfast  2 for the owner/operator and 1 per leasable room 

Commercial indoor 
recreation facility 

1 per 3 persons allowed within the maximum occupancy load 
as established by City fire and building codes, plus 1 per 
employee 

Commercial indoor 
recreation facility, billiard 
parlors 

1 per 3 persons allowed within the maximum occupancy load 
as established by City building and fire codes or 2 per table, 
whichever is greater 

Commercial indoor 
recreation facility, bowling 
alleys 

4 per bowling lane, plus additional for accessory uses such as 
bars or restaurants 

Commercial outdoor 
recreation facility, stadium, 
sports arenas, sports fields 
(ball diamonds, soccer fields, 
etc.) or similar place of 
outdoor assembly 

1 per 3 seats or 3 per 6 feet of bench, plus 1 per employee. For 
fields without spectator seating, there shall be a minimum of 
30 spaces per field. 
 

Golf course, miniature or 
"par-3" courses 2 per 1 hole, plus 1 per employee 

Golf course, public (except 
miniature or "par-3") 

4 per golf hole, plus additional for any bar, restaurant, 
banquet facility, meeting room, or similar use 

Hotel or motel 

1 per guest unit. In addition, spaces required for ancillary uses 
such as lounges, restaurants, meeting rooms, or places of 
assembly shall be provided and determined on the basis of 
specific requirements for each individual use 

Restaurant, standard sit-
down restaurants with or 
without liquor license 

1 per 75 sq. ft. of UFA 

Restaurant, carry-out with no 
or limited seating for eating 
on premises 

6 per service or counter station, plus 1 per employee 

Restaurant with drive-
through 

1 per 75 sq. ft. UFA, plus 8 stacking spaces per food pickup 
window 
 

Taverns and nightclubs 1 per 50 sq. ft. of UFA 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-6 

Table 8.40:  Parking Requirements by Use  
Use Number of Parking Spaces 
Civic and Institutional 
Community-oriented cultural 
facilities, public libraries, and 
museums 

1 per 400 sq. ft. of UFA, plus requirements for auditoriums, 
classrooms, or similar assembly rooms 

General places of assembly 
1 space per 4 seats or 1 space per 4 persons allowed based on 
maximum capacity in the main place of assembly, as 
established by the City fire and building codes 

Government facility 1 per 300 sq. ft. of UFA plus requirements for auditoriums, 
meeting halls, or similar assembly rooms 

Government facility, post 
office 

1 per 200 sq. ft. of UFA for customer parking, plus 1 per 
employee and additional space for delivery vehicles 

Place of worship and 
customary related uses 

1 per 8 seats in the main unit of worship, plus spaces required 
for each accessory use, such as a school 

School, college, or university, 
specialized training, or truck 
driving 

1 per classroom plus 1 per 3 students based on the maximum 
number of students attending classes at any one time 

School, high school, and 
performing and fine arts 
schools 

1 per teacher, employee, and administrator, in addition to the 
requirements for places of assembly such as auditorium, 
gymnasium, or stadium 

School, pre-k to 8 
1 per teacher, employee, and administrator, in addition to the 
requirements for places of assembly such as auditorium, 
gymnasium, or stadium 

Industrial, Infrastructure, and Transportation 
General industrial 
establishments, including 
manufacturing, research and 
testing laboratories, bottling 
works, printing, plumbing, or 
electrical work-shops 

1 per employee computed on the basis of the greatest number 
of persons employed at any one time during the day or night; 
or 1 per 550 feet of GFA, whichever is greater 

Self-storage Unobstructed parking area equal to 1 space per 20 door 
openings, plus parking for uses on the site such as truck rental 

Truck terminals 1 per employee, plus 2 truck spaces of 10 by 70 feet per truck 
berth or docking space 

Warehouses and storage 
buildings 

1 per employee computed on the basis of the greatest number 
of persons employed at any one time during the day or night; 
or 1 per 5,000 sq. ft. of GFA, whichever is greater. 

Offices and Services 
Animal and pet services 1 per 400 sq. ft. of GFA, but no less than 4 spaces 
Animal clinic 1 per 200 sq. ft. of UFA 
Child day care centers, 
nursery schools, and day 
nurseries; adult day care 
centers  

1 space per 2 employees. Sufficient area shall be designated 
for drop-off of children or adults in a safe manner that will not 
result in traffic disruptions 

Contractor 1 per business vehicle, plus 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. GFA 
Funeral home or mortuary 1 per 50 sq. ft. of assembly room or parlor floor space 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-7 

Table 8.40:  Parking Requirements by Use  
Use Number of Parking Spaces 
General offices and services, 
banks and other financial 
institutions 

1 per 200 sq. ft. of UFA for the public. Drive-up windows/drive-
up ATMs shall be provided with 3 stacking spaces per window 
or drive-up ATM 

General offices and services, 
business, professional and 
general offices 

1 per 300 sq. ft. of UFA, but no less than 5 spaces 

General offices and services, 
dry cleaners 1 per 500 sq. ft. of UFA 

General offices and services, 
laundromat 1 per washer-dryer pair, plus 1 space per employee 

General offices and services, 
medical and dental 1 per 200 sq. ft. of UFA 

General offices and services, 
personal services, beauty 
parlors, or barber shops 

2 parking spaces per chair/station 

Hospitals 1 per 2 beds, plus 1 per employee on the largest shift. 

Vehicle service station 

1 per employee, plus additional parking required for other 
uses within vehicle service station, such as the retail floor area, 
restaurants, or vehicle repair stalls. Each automobile fueling 
position may count as one-quarter (1/4) of a required space 
for other uses. 

Vehicle repair, major or 
minor   2 per service stall, plus 1 per employee 

Vehicle repair, quick oil 
change 

2 stacking spaces per service stall, rack, or pit plus 1 per 
employee 

Vehicle wash, self-service 2 spaces plus 2 stacking spaces per washing stall 

Vehicle wash, full service 
2 spaces, plus 1 per employee. 15 stacking spaces per washing 
stall or line, plus a minimum 30-foot-long drying lane to 
prevent water from collecting on street. 

Residential Group Living 
Group homes 1 per 4 occupants 

Nursing and assisted living 1 per 4 beds or occupants and 1 space per staff member or 
employee on the largest shift 

Senior apartments and senior 
independent living 

.75 spaces per dwelling unit. Should units revert to general 
occupancy, the requirements for multiple-family dwellings 
shall apply 

Residential Household Living 
Multiple-
family 
residential 
dwellings 
and attached 
single-family 
dwellings 

Studio 1.25 spaces per dwelling unit 
1-bedroom 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 
2-bedrooms 1.75 spaces per dwelling unit 

3 or more 
bedrooms 2 spaces per dwelling unit 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-8 

Table 8.40:  Parking Requirements by Use  
Use Number of Parking Spaces 
Single-family detached and 
two-family dwellings  2 spaces per dwelling unit 

Retail and Other Sales and Rental 
Retail, convenience store 1 per 200 sq. ft. of UFA 
Retail, furniture and 
appliance, household 
equipment, show-room of a 
plumber, decorator, 
electrician, hardware, 
wholesale and repair shop, or 
other similar uses 

1 per 800 sq. ft. of net UFA plus 1 additional space per 
employee 

Retail, general, except as 
otherwise specified herein 1 per 250 sq. ft. of UFA 

Retail, grocery 
store/supermarket 1 per 200 sq. ft. of UFA 

Retail, home improvement 
centers 1 per 400 sq. ft. of UFA 

Retail, open air businesses, 
except as otherwise specified 
herein 

1 per 500 sq. ft. of lot area for retail sales, uses, and services 

Retail, multi-
tenant 
shopping 
centers  

with 75,000 
square feet 
or less of 
retail 

4 per 1,000 sq. ft. of retail UFA 

with over 
75,000 
square feet 
of retail 

4.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. of retail UFA  

with 
restaurants 

If more than 20% of the shopping center’s floor area is to be 
occupied by restaurants or entertainment uses, parking 
requirements for these uses shall be calculated separately. 
Where the amount of restaurant space is unknown, it shall be 
assumed to be 20%. 

Vehicle and equipment sales 
and rental 

1 per 300 sq. ft. of show room floor space, plus 1 per 
automobile service stall, plus 1 per employee 

 

Section 8.50 Reduction and Deferment  
A. Modification of Parking Requirements. The City Council, during concept plan review, may reduce the 

parking space requirements of this article for any use based upon a finding that one or more of the 
following conditions shall be met: 

1. Other forms of travel (such as transit, bicycle, or pedestrian) are available and likely to be used. In 
particular, the site design will incorporate both bicycle parking facilities and pedestrian 
connections.   

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-9 

2. Shared parking is available to multiple uses where there will be a high proportion of multipurpose 
visits or where uses have peak parking demands during differing times of the day or days of the 
week and meeting the following requirements: 

a. Pedestrian connections shall be maintained between the uses.   

b. Unless the multiple uses are all within a unified business center, office park, or industrial park 
all under the same ownership, shared parking agreements shall be filed by the Zoning 
Administrator with the City Clerk after approval. 

3. Available municipal off-street or on-street spaces are located within 400 feet of the subject 
property. 

4. Expectation of walk-in trade is reasonable due to sidewalk connections to adjacent residential 
neighborhoods or employment centers. To allow for a parking space reduction, the site design shall 
incorporate pedestrian connections to the site and on-site pedestrian circulation, providing safe 
and convenient access to the building entrance. 

5. Where the applicant has provided a parking study conducted by a qualified transportation planner 
or transportation engineer, demonstrating that another standard would be more appropriate 
based on the actual number of employees, expected level of customer traffic, or actual counts at a 
similar establishment.   

6. A parking study may be required, at the sole discretion of the City Council, to document that any 
one or more of the criteria 1 through 4 above would be met. 

B. Deferred Parking. 

1. Where a reduction in the number of parking spaces is not warranted, but an applicant 
demonstrates that the parking requirements for a specific proposed use would be excessive, the 
City Council may, at the concept plan review stage, defer a portion of the required parking. A site 
plan shall designate areas of the site for future construction of the required parking spaces, 
meeting the design and dimensional requirements of this article. Any area so designated shall be 
maintained in a landscaped appearance and not occupy required buffers, street yard greenways, or 
parking lot setbacks, or be used for any other purpose.   

2. The deferred parking shall meet the requirements of this article if constructed. Construction of the 
additional required parking spaces within the deferred parking area may be initiated by the owner 
or required by the City based on parking needs or observation and shall require approval of an 
amended site plan which may be approved by the Zoning Administrator. 

C. Temporary Parking. It is recognized that special events or situations may occur infrequently which 
would result in a temporary reduction in the availability of required parking spaces or create a need for 
temporary off-site parking. Such events may include but are not limited to festivals or fairs, 
church/school car washes, holiday activities, or concerts. In those instances, the Zoning Administrator 
may authorize the use of a portion of the required parking area for other purposes on a temporary 
basis or permit temporary off-site parking, upon a demonstration by the applicant that: 

1. the loss of the required parking spaces may be offset by requiring employees or customers to park 
elsewhere or that due to the time of year or nature of the on-site business, the required spaces are 
not needed; 

2. all or part of the displaced parking may be accommodated on unpaved areas of the site; 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-10 

3. permission has been granted by neighboring property owners or operators to use their parking 
facilities;  

4. the duration of the special event is so short or of such a nature as to not create any appreciable 
parking shortage for the normal operation of the existing on-site use; 

5. temporary off-site parking is located and designed to ensure safe and efficient circulation for both 
pedestrians and vehicles (a site plan may be required to demonstrate this); and 

6. the proposed special event satisfies all other applicable City regulations. 

Section 8.60 Shared Parking 
A. Applicability. Two (2) or more buildings or uses may share a common parking facility, provided the 

number of parking spaces available shall equal the required number of spaces for all the uses computed 
separately. Cumulative parking requirements for mixed-use developments or shared facilities may be 
reduced by the City Council, as part of concept plan review, where it can be determined that one (1) or 
more of the factors listed in Subsection C apply. In any case, the continued availability of required 
parking, either shared or by other means, shall be made a condition of any site plan approval and/or 
conditional use approval, as provided by this ordinance. 

B. Maximum Shared Spaces and Location. Parking facilities for a church, place of worship or similar 
intermittently used facility may be used to meet up to 50 percent of the off-street parking for uses lying 
within 400 feet of the facility, as measured from the nearest edge of the parking area to the nearest 
public entry point of the building or use; provided, the church, place of worship, or similar facility 
makes the spaces available by written agreement, and there is no conflict between peak times when 
the uses are in need of the parking facilities.  

C. Request. A request for shared parking that will result in fewer than the total number of spaces required 
for all uses separately may be approved as part of concept plan review. The following documentation 
shall be provided in conjunction with such a request: 

1. A parking analysis shall be submitted to the Zoning Administrator that clearly demonstrates the 
feasibility of shared parking. The study must be provided in a form established by or acceptable to 
the Zoning Administrator. It must address, at a minimum, the size and type of the proposed 
development or combination of uses, the composition of tenants, the anticipated rate of parking 
turnover, and the anticipated peak parking and traffic loads for all uses that will be sharing off-
street parking spaces.  

2. A shared parking plan shall be enforced through written agreement among all owners of record and 
included in the development agreements filed with the City. The owner of the shared parking area 
shall enter into a written agreement with the City of Port Wentworth with enforcement running to 
the City. The agreement shall state that: 

a. the land comprising the parking area shall never be disposed of, except in conjunction with the 
sale of the building which the parking area serves so long as the facilities are required; and  

b. the owner agrees to bear the expense of recording the agreement, which shall bind his or her 
heirs, successors, and assigns.  

D. Agreement. An attested copy of the shared parking agreement between the owners of record shall be 
submitted to the Zoning Administrator to be recorded in a form established by the City attorney. The 
agreement must be recorded before issuance of a building permit or certificate of occupancy for any 
use to be served by the shared parking area. A shared parking agreement may only be voided if all 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-11 

required off-street parking spaces for individual uses will be provided on-site or if other off-street 
facilities are provided in accordance with the provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 8.70 Vehicle and RV Parking, Storage, and Repair 
A. Vehicle Parking, Storage, and Repair. 

1.  It shall be unlawful for the owner, tenant, or lessee of any building or land within the City to permit 
the open storage or parking of any inoperable motor vehicle, machinery, or equipment, or parts 
thereof, outside of an enclosed garage or enclosed building, for a period of more than 48 hours. An 
inoperable motor vehicle, for purposes of this section, shall include motor vehicles which, by 
reason of dismantling, disrepair, or other cause, are incapable of being propelled under their own 
power or are unsafe for operation on the streets and highways of this state because of the inability 
to comply with the Georgia Motor Vehicles and Traffic Code, or do not have a current license and 
registration as required for operation by the Georgia Motor Vehicles and Traffic Code. 

2. The repair, restoration, and maintenance of vehicles in any residential district or on property 
containing a dwelling unit, except as otherwise allowed, shall be conducted entirely within an 
enclosed building, except for those activities that can be and are completed in less than 24 hours. 
All such repair shall take place on private property and may not be conducted within any street 
right-of-way. This provision shall not apply to any lot larger than two (2) acres and occupied by a 
single-family dwelling in the R-1 district. 

3. It shall be unlawful for the owner, tenant, or lessee of any residentially zoned or used lot or parcel 
to permit the open storage or parking outside of a building of semi-truck tractors and/or semi-truck 
trailers, bulldozers, earth carriers, cranes, or any other similar equipment or machinery unless 
parked for purposes of construction being conducted on that lot. This provision shall not apply to 
any lot larger than two (2) acres and occupied by a single-family dwelling in the R-1 district. 

B. Storage of RVs. On residentially zoned or used lots or parcels of less than two (2) acres in size, 
recreational vehicles may only be located outside an enclosed building if the following requirements 
are met: 

1. If located on an interior lot, recreational vehicles shall not be permitted in the front yard. On a 
corner or through lot, recreational vehicles shall not be permitted in any yard abutting a street. 

2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.70 B.1., recreational vehicles may be parked within any 
yard on a hard-surfaced area for up to 48 hours within a seven (7) day period for purposes of 
cleaning, loading, or unloading. 

3. Recreational vehicles may be stored for extended periods outside of principal building setbacks in 
side or rear yards, provided the vehicle is on a hard-surfaced area suitable for that purpose and is 
screened from view of adjoining properties in accordance with the requirements of Section 10.70. 
On lots of five (5) acres or larger in the R-1 District, recreational vehicles may be stored within any 
yard but not within the yard setback area. 

4. Recreational vehicles may be used for temporary occupancy for periods not to exceed 48 hours, 
provided the recreational vehicle contains sleeping accommodations and is solely for the use of the 
owner of the lot or guests of the owner. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-12 

Section 8.80 Electric Vehicle Charging Stations 
A. Intent. To plan for the increase of electric vehicles and to expedite the establishment of a convenient, 

cost-effective electric vehicle infrastructure, this section authorizes required or excess parking spaces to 
be used as electric vehicle charging stations. 

B. Accessory Use and Accessory Structures. Electric vehicle charging station spaces are classified as 
accessory uses, and electric vehicle charging stations are classified as accessory structures. Electric 
vehicle charging station spaces and electric vehicle charging stations and equipment are permitted in all 
public and private parking lots. 

C. Review. The conversion of standard parking spaces to electric vehicle charging station spaces and the 
installation of electric vehicle charging station equipment shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Zoning Administrator in accordance with this section. For new and expanded parking lots subject to site 
plan review, the Planning Commission shall review and approve electric vehicle charging station spaces 
and the installation of electric vehicle charging station equipment. 

D. Encouragement of New Electric Vehicle Charging Stations.  

1. All new and expanded public and private parking lots are encouraged to include electric vehicle 
charging stations or be EV-capable or EV-ready. 

2. All new dwellings are encouraged to be constructed with a 220-240-volt / 40 amp outlet on a 
dedicated circuit and in close proximity to designated vehicle parking to accommodate the 
potential future hardwire installation of a Level-2 electric vehicle charging station. 

E. Requirements for Electric Vehicle Charging Stations.  

1. An electric vehicle charging station space may be included in the calculation for the minimum 
required parking spaces in accordance with Table 8.40. There is no limit on the number of electric 
vehicle charging stations. However, the applicant shall demonstrate by the historical use of the 
parking area for internal combustion engine vehicles and the anticipated demand for electric 
vehicle charging stations that there is sufficient parking for both drivers of electric vehicles and 
internal combustion engine vehicles. At a minimum, the applicant shall provide the number of 
existing parking spaces and the average number of available parking spaces at peak business hours 
for one week. The Zoning Administrator or Planning Commission, as applicable, shall make all final 
determinations regarding the minimum number of parking spaces for internal combustion engine 
vehicles to ensure compliance with Section 8.40. 

2. Electric vehicle charging station spaces shall comply with the dimensional requirements of Table 
8.30. 

3. Electric vehicle charging station equipment may be located on any part of a property but shall be no 
less than 10 feet from property lines and public or private right-of-way and shall not be located 
within clear vision corners per Section 6.40 D. Electric vehicle charging station equipment approved 
for on-street parking within the right-of-way is exempt from the setback requirement. 

4. Electric vehicle charging station equipment shall be protected with bollards or a comparable 
method. If curbing is used, the equipment shall be located at least two (2) feet behind the face of 
the curb. 

5. At least five (5) feet of clear area shall be maintained if installed on or adjacent to an internal 
sidewalk, walkway, or another area accessible to pedestrians, cyclists, or wheelchair users abutting 
a parking lot. Electric vehicle charging station equipment shall not obstruct these passageways. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-13 

6. Any parking space located in a public or private parking lot that is designated as an electric vehicle 
charging station or electric vehicle parking space shall have a sign posted that includes the 
maximum charging time allowed by the property owner and a notice that the parking of non-
electric vehicles is prohibited. This does not apply to single-family and two-family dwellings. 

7. Commercial electric vehicle charging stations are prohibited on residential properties. 

Section 8.90 Loading Zones 
A. Uses Requiring Loading Area. On the same premises with every building, structure, or part thereof, 

erected and occupied for manufacturing, storage, warehousing, distribution, retail sales, consumer 
services, or other uses similarly involving the receipt or distribution of vehicles, materials, or 
merchandise, there shall be provided and maintained on the lot adequate space for standing, loading, 
and unloading services in order to avoid undue interference with public use of the streets, alleys, and 
parking spaces. This provision shall not apply to retail sales and consumer service uses of less than 
10,000 square feet. 

B. Loading Area Requirements. Loading and unloading spaces shall be paved and, unless otherwise 
adequately provided for, shall be 10 feet by 50 feet, with 15-foot height clearance, according to Table 
8.90: 

 

  

Table 8.90: Minimum Off-Street Loading Requirements 
Building Net GFA Minimum Truck Loading Spaces 
Industrial and wholesale operations with a gross 
floor area of 10,000 square feet or over and as 
follows: 

Industrial and wholesale operations 
with a gross floor area of 10,000 

square feet or over and as follows: 
Industrial and wholesale operations with a gross floor area of 10,000 square feet or over 
and as follows: 
10,000—40,000 sq. ft. 1 
40,000—100,000 sq. ft. 2 
100,000—160,000 sq. ft. 3 
160,000—240,000 sq. ft. 4 
240,000—320,000 sq. ft. 5 
320,000—400,000 sq. ft. 6 
Each 90,000 square feet above 400,000 1 
Office building, hotel or apartment hotel with a 
gross usable floor area of 100,000 square feet or 
more devoted to such purposes. 

1 loading berth for every 100,000 
square feet of floor area. 

Retail operation and all first-floor nonresidential 
uses, with a gross floor area of more than 3,000 
square feet and less than 20,000 square feet, 
and all wholesale and light industrial operations 
with a gross floor area of less than 10,000 

1 loading space. 

Retail operation including restaurant and dining 
facilities within hotels and office buildings, with 
a gross usable floor area of 20,000 square feet 
or more devoted to such purposes. 

1 loading berth for every 20,000 
square feet of floor area. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-14 

C. Orientation of Overhead Doors. Overhead doors for truck loading areas shall not face a street right-of-
way and shall be screened to not be visible from a street or an adjacent residential district to the 
maximum extent possible. 

D. Residential Setback. Loading and unloading spaces shall not be located closer than 50 feet to any 
residential district boundary unless the spaces are wholly within a completely enclosed building or 
completely screened from the residential district by an approved solid, sight-obscuring wall or fence at 
least six (6) feet in height. 

E. Modification or Waiver. The City Council, during concept plan review, may modify or waive the 
requirements of this section for any use based on the frequency of deliveries or shipping activity and/or 
the size of trucks. 

Section 8.100 Access Management 
A. Applicability. Control over the number and location of access points, as specified in this section, along 

the City’s major roadways is necessary to reduce congestion, improve safety, maintain acceptable flow, 
and minimize confusion. Therefore, the standards of this section shall apply to all non-residential 
development having frontage on and direct access to any arterial or collector street, as defined in this 
ordinance. 

B. Driveway Location in General.  

1. All driveways serving non-residential uses, hereafter referred to as “commercial driveways,” shall 
comply with the requirements of this section. 

2. Driveways shall be located to minimize interference with the free movement of traffic, to provide 
adequate sight distance, and to provide the most favorable driveway grade. 

3. Driveways, including the radii, but not including right turn lanes, passing lanes, and tapers, shall be 
located entirely within the right-of-way frontage of the lot being served unless otherwise approved 
by the City or the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT), as applicable, and upon written 
certification from the adjacent property owner agreeing to such encroachment. 

C. Driveway Spacing Standards.   

1. Minimum spacing between two commercial driveways or a 
commercial driveway and a street intersection, either adjacent or 
on the opposite side of the street, shall be determined based 
upon posted speed limits along the parcel frontage. The minimum 
spacing indicated in Table 8.100 A is measured from centerline to 
centerline for driveways and nearest pavement edge to nearest 
pavement edge from driveways to street intersections. 

2. To reduce left-turn conflicts, new commercial driveways shall be 
aligned with those across the street, where possible. If alignment 
is not possible, driveways shall be offset from those on the 
opposite side of the street the same distance as required in Table 
8.100 A. These standards may be reduced by the City Council 
during concept plan review where there is insufficient frontage 
and shared access with an adjacent site is not feasible. Longer 
offsets may be required depending on the expected inbound left-
turn volumes of the driveways.  

Table 8.100 A: 
Minimum Commercial 
Driveway Spacing  

Posted 
Speed Limit 

(MPH) 

Minimum 
Driveway 

Spacing (In 
Feet) 

25 125 
30 125 
35 150 
40 185 
45 230 
50 275 
55 350 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-15 

D. Modification of Requirements.  

1. Given the variation in existing physical conditions along the City’s streets, modifications to the 
spacing and other requirements above may be permitted as part of the concept plan review. The 
City Council shall consider the criteria in Section 8.100 D.2 when determining if there is a need for 
modification in the following circumstances and the degree to which any modification is necessary.  

a. The modification will allow an existing driveway to remain that does not meet the standards of 
this section, but that has or is expected to have very low traffic volumes (less than 50 in- and 
out-bound trips per day) and is not expected to significantly impact safe traffic operations. 

b. The use is expected to generate a relatively high number of trips, and an additional driveway 
will improve overall traffic operations.   

c. Practical difficulties exist on the site (sight distance limitations, existing development, 
topography, unique site configuration or shape) that make compliance infeasible, or existing 
off-site driveways make it impractical to fully comply with the standards.  

d. Because of restricted turning movements or the presence of a median in the street that 
restricts turning movements, the driveway does not contribute to congestion or an unsafe 
situation. 

2. The City Council may modify the requirements of this section for any of the circumstances cited in 
Section 8.100 D.1. a-d, upon determining compliance with one or more of the following: 

a. The proposed modification is consistent with the general intent of the standards of this section, 
the recommendations of the Port Wentworth Comprehensive Plan, and, if applicable, published 
GDOT guidelines. 

b. Driveway geometrics have been improved to the extent practical to reduce impacts on traffic 
flow. 

c. Shared access has been provided, or the applicant has demonstrated it is not practical.  

d. Such modification is the minimum necessary to provide reasonable access, will not impair 
public safety or prevent the logical development or redevelopment of adjacent sites, and is not 
simply for convenience of the developer. 

E. Commercial Driveways Permitted. 

1. The number of commercial driveways serving a property shall be the minimum number necessary 
to provide reasonable user access and access for emergency vehicles while preserving traffic 
operations and safety along the abutting street. 

2. Access shall be provided for each separately owned parcel. Access may be via an individual 
driveway, shared driveway, or service drive.  

3. More than one (1) driveway may be permitted for property by the City Council during concept plan 
review, only as follows: 

a. One (1) or more additional driveways may be allowed for properties with a continuous frontage 
greater than 300 feet if it is determined there are no other reasonable access alternatives; 

b. The City Council determines, based on a traffic impact analysis, that additional access is 
justified without compromising traffic operations along the abutting street(s); and  

c. The minimum spacing requirements specified in Table 8.100 A would be met. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-16 

F. Commercial Driveway Design. 

1. All commercial driveways shall be designed according to the standards of the City of Port 
Wentworth or GDOT, as applicable. 

2. For high-traffic generators or for commercial driveways along streets experiencing or expected to 
experience congestion, the City Council may require two (2) egress lanes at a driveway.  

3. Where a boulevard entrance is proposed by the applicant or required by the City Council, a fully 
curbed island shall separate the ingress and egress lanes. The radii forming the edges of this island 
shall be designed to accommodate the largest vehicle that will use the driveway. The minimum 
area of the island shall be 180 square feet. Landscaping, tolerant of street conditions, on the 
section outside the right-of-way may be required.  

G. Shared Driveways and Frontage Streets. 

1. Where noted above, or where the City Council, during concept plan review, determines that 
reducing the number of access points may have a beneficial impact on traffic operations and safety 
while preserving the property owner's right to reasonable access, a shared commercial driveway, 
frontage street, or rear service drive connecting two (2) or more properties or uses may be 
required. In particular, frontage streets or rear service drives may be required near existing traffic 
signals or locations having potential for future signalization; along arterial streets with high traffic 
volumes; and along street segments with a relatively high number of crashes or limited sight 
distance. 

2. Shared driveways between two (2) abutting properties shall be encouraged in order to minimize 
the number and spacing of individual driveways and, in particular, where parcel widths on abutting 
properties are insufficient to accommodate individual driveway access in compliance with the 
specifications in Table 8.100 A; existing driveway spacing on adjacent parcels prevents compliance 
with the minimum separation requirements specified in Table 8.100 A; or as a condition of allowing 
more than one (1) driveway access to any parcel. 

3. Shared commercial driveways and frontage streets shall be within a recorded access easement. A 
draft of the access easement shall be provided to the City for review prior to filing.  

4. The number of access points along a frontage street shall be according to the standards of this 
section. City Council, when reviewing the concept plan, may allow temporary access where the 
frontage street is not completed if a financial guarantee is provided, which assures elimination of 
the temporary access upon completion of the frontage street. Building permits shall not be issued 
until the financial guarantee has been submitted to the City. 

H. Design Standards. Frontage streets and service drives shall generally be parallel to the front property 
line and may be located either in front of, adjacent to, or behind principal buildings. In considering the 
most appropriate alignment for a frontage street or service drive, as part of the concept plan review, 
City Council shall consider the setbacks of existing buildings and anticipated traffic flow for the site. 
However, placement of the frontage street or service drive intersection with the driveway from the 
abutting street shall be as far as possible from the street for safe and efficient operation. The distance 
between the nearest edge of the abutting street and the first internal movement from the frontage 
street or service drive shall meet the minimum requirements shown in Table 8.100 B. For large sites 
with high volumes or heavy truck traffic and along high-volume streets, the required distance may be 
increased to avoid interference with the mainline traffic flow. If no other design alternatives exist, the 
City Council may permit lesser separation distances, provided the left turning movement shall be 
prevented by means of a raised concrete median. Sites shall be designed so interior driveways  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 8-17 

I.  accommodate at least 100 feet of vehicle storage. 

1. Access easement. The shared driveway, 
frontage street, or service drive shall be within 
an access easement permitting traffic 
circulation between properties. This easement 
shall be 40 feet wide, except an access 
easement parallel to a public street right-of-way 
may be 30 feet wide if approved by the City Council. The required width shall remain free and clear 
of obstructions unless otherwise approved.  

2. Construction and materials. Shared driveways, frontage streets, and service drives shall have a 
base, pavement, and curb with gutter in accordance with City standards for public streets. See 
Table 11.40 for street specifications. 

3. Parking. The frontage street or service drive is intended to be used exclusively for circulation, not as 
a parking maneuvering aisle. The posting of "no parking" signs may be required along the frontage 
street or service drive. In reviewing the site plan, the City Council may permit temporary parking in 
the easement area where a continuous frontage street or service drive is not yet available, 
provided the layout allows removal of the parking in the future to allow extension of the service 
road. 

4. Access to frontage street or service road. All access points from abutting streets to the frontage 
street or service drive shall comply with the driveway spacing standards listed in Table 8.100 A. 

5. Elevation. The site plan shall indicate the proposed elevation of the frontage street or service drive 
at the property line, and the City shall maintain a record of all elevations so their grades can be 
coordinated.  

6. Landscaping. The area between a frontage street and the street right-of-way shall be planted as a 
street yard greenway, as specified in Section 10.50.  

7. Maintenance. Each property owner shall be responsible for maintenance of the easement and 
frontage street or service road. 

Section 8.110 Traffic Impact Analysis 
A. Applicability.  

1. TIA Required Unless exempted by Section 8.110 B, a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) shall be required 
for any development abutting a Georgia state highway or which is anticipated to generate more 
than 50 peak hour trips, based on the most recent edition of the Trip Generation Manual published 
by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE). 

2. Redevelopment. In the case of redevelopment, trip generation will be defined as the number of net 
new trips generated by the proposed use beyond the trips generated by the previous use unless the 
previous use has been discontinued for more than 12 months.  

3. Projects with Cumulative Impacts. A TIA shall be required for development projects that do not 
otherwise meet the thresholds of a required TIA, as specified in Section 8.110 A.1, if the application 
is for a project that: 

a. Shares features such as site access, common ownership, or other infrastructure with nearby 
undeveloped property for which future development can reasonably be anticipated; and  

Table 8.100 B: Interior Drive Separation 

Lot Depth (ft.) Minimum Required 
Distance (ft.) 

1,000 or more 200 
500 – 999 Not less than 1/5 lot depth 
Less than 500 100 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 8. Parking, Loading, and Traffic 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 8-18 

b. The cumulative impact of the overall development can be expected to exceed the threshold for 
preparation of a TIA. 

4. Other Circumstances. The City Council may waive the requirement to complete a TIA or may 
require a TIA to be submitted for developments not meeting the above requirements, based upon 
localized safety, operational, or street capacity issues, including levels of service (LOS) of existing 
streets.  

B. Exemptions. Previously approved developments for which a TIA was submitted in conjunction with a 
preliminary plat for subdivision, site plan, or planned development shall be exempt from the 
requirements of this section, provided the TIA is less than two (2) years old. 

C. Procedure. The TIA shall be submitted along with an application for a preliminary plat, concept plan, 
and final site plan review. The TIA shall be prepared by a professional transportation engineer licensed 
in the State of Georgia and shall, at a minimum:  

1. Identify existing conditions, including abutting street cross-section, current (background) traffic 
volumes, peak hour directional volumes, signalization, and intersection level of service (LOS). 

2. Project the traffic to be generated by the proposed development and proposed developments in 
the immediate vicinity based on the most recent edition of the ITE Trip Generation Manual. The 
Zoning Administrator and/or the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) may also specify 
annual growth factors to be used in the TIA;   

3. Evaluate site access, directional movements, and internal circulation;  

4. Evaluate, based on LOS during peak hours, the ability of the surrounding road network to support 
the proposed development and the cumulative traffic of current and other projected uses;  

5. Consider planned roadways or improvements identified by the City of Port Wentworth, Chatham 
County, and GDOT; and  

6. Identify specific improvements to the surrounding road network that are necessary to support the 
traffic to be generated at an acceptable level of service.  

Section 8.120 Bicycle and Pedestrian Accommodation 
Sidewalks shall be constructed in conjunction with the development or redevelopment of adjacent property 
and shall be located within the right-of-way or within the required setback area of all streets to ensure 
current and future connectivity. Where sidewalks are not located within the right-of-way, a public access 
easement shall be provided. Sidewalks shall be constructed in accordance with City of Port Wentworth 
design standards.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 9-1 

Article 9. Site Lighting 
 

Section 9.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Intent and Purpose. The intent and purpose of this article are to: 

1. ensure that all site lighting is designed and installed to maintain safe and adequate lighting levels 
on-site; 

2. prevent excessive light spillage and glare directed at adjacent properties, neighboring areas, and 
motorists; 

3. to minimize light pollution in the night sky; and 

4. provide security for people, buildings, and land. 

Section 9.20 General Requirements and Applicability  
A. General Requirements for All Property. 

1. Limitations. Light shall be confined on-site by the direction of the fixture, shielding, or adjustment 
of the level of brightness. 

2. Glare. Lighting shall not be directed in any manner which causes excessive glare onto neighboring 
residential property or distraction to drivers. 

3. Direction. All outdoor lighting, except ground lights that illuminate governmental flags and lights 
that are incorporated as architectural accent features of a building, shall be directed down or onto 
the object being illuminated. Flag and building lighting shall be placed so that lighting or glare is not 
directed toward streets or adjacent properties, and fixtures shall be located, aimed, or shielded to 
minimize light spilling into the night sky. 

4. Prohibited Light Sources. The following light sources are prohibited:  

a. Laser Source. The use of laser source light or any similar high-intensity light for outdoor 
advertising or entertainment is prohibited. 

b. Searchlights. The operation of searchlights for advertising purposes is prohibited. 

c. Flashing Lights. Except for motion-activated security lighting and temporary holiday lighting, 
permanent lights that flash, move, revolve, rotate, scintillate, blink, flicker, vary in intensity or 
color, or use intermittent electrical pulsation are prohibited. 

d. Public Safety. Lighting that is similar to that used for traffic control devices or emergency 
vehicles is prohibited. 

B. Applicability. The remaining sections within this article apply to non-residential and multi-family 
residential developments.  

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 9. Site Lighting 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 9-2 

Section 9.30 Lighting Plans  
A. Submittal Requirements. Compliance with the lighting design criteria shall be demonstrated by 

submitting the following information as part of the required site plan:  

1. Lighting plan (as part of the site plan package) showing light fixture locations and type designations.  

2. Fixture mounting height(s). 

3. Type and number of lighting fixtures. 

4. Lamp source type (bulb type, i.e. high-pressure sodium, LED, etc.), lumen output, color 
temperature, and wattage. 

5. Lighting manufacturer-supplied specifications (cut sheets) that include photographs or illustrations 
of the fixture(s), indicating the certified full cut-off characteristics or B.U.G. rating of the fixture or 
demonstration that the fixture is fully shielded. 

B. Photometric Plans. A photometric plan is required for all parking areas. The Zoning Administrator or 
Planning Commission may require a photometric plan for other areas illuminated on a site to ensure 
that the intent and requirements of this section are met. Photometric plans shall include the following: 

1. Maximum illuminance levels should be expressed in ground-level footcandle measurements on a 
grid of the site showing footcandle readings in every five (5) or 10-foot square.  

2. The grid shall include light contributions from all sources (i.e. pole-mounted, wall-mounted, sign, 
and street lights).  

3. Footcandle measurements shall be shown five feet beyond the property lines. 

4. A calculation summary indicating footcandle levels on the lighting plan, noting the maximum, 
average, and minimum, as well as the uniformity ratio of maximum to minimum, and average to 
minimum levels. Average and uniformity ratios shall only be calculated within the parking spaces 
and drive aisles and shall exclude other illuminated areas of the site. 

Section 9.40 Fixtures  
A. Color Temperature. The lighting color temperature of new and replacement light fixtures shall not 

exceed 4,000 Kelvins. 

B. Fixture Type. Lighting fixtures for non-residential and multi-family residential uses shall be a down-
lighted type and full cut-off and shall not allow light to be emitted above the fixture. For LED lighting, 
up-light shall be zero (0) for B.U.G. (backlight, uplight, glare)  ratings. Fixtures shall comply with the 
following requirements: 

1. A full cut-off fixture shall have no direct up-light and shall reduce glare by limiting the light output 
to less than 10 percent at and below 10 degrees below the horizontal. 

2. If the applicant cannot provide manufacturer confirmation of full cut-off characteristics of light 
fixtures, the fixture shall be fully shielded, which will be determined by visual inspection of the 
fixture or a specification sheet. Fully shielded light fixtures are constructed and installed in such a 
manner that all light emitted by it, either directly from the lamp or a diffusing element or indirectly 
by reflection or refraction from any part of the fixture, is projected below the horizontal. 

3. Under-canopy lighting shall be mounted flush with the canopy surface. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 9. Site Lighting 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 9-3 

C. Setbacks. Light fixtures shall be no closer than six (6) feet from property lines but shall not be placed in 
any buffer area required by Section 10.40. 

D. Mounting Height. Light fixture mounting heights shall not exceed the following: 

Table 9.40: Light Fixture Mounting Height 
Zoning District Maximum Height (ft). 
Residential 20 

Commercial 
and Industrial  

Less than 100 feet from a 
residential-zoned lot  20 

100 feet or more from a 
residential-zoned lot 40 

Section 9.50 Site Lighting Levels 
A. Required Lighting. 

1. All non-residential and multi-family residential parking lots shall be illuminated for customer and 
resident safety. 

2. Lighting shall be provided throughout any parking lot. Lights to illuminate parking lots shall not be 
attached to any building except for illuminating parking spaces that are within 10 feet of building 
walls. 

B. Illumination Levels. Light levels on a lot or parcel that are subject to site plan approval under this 
ordinance shall meet the requirements in Table 9.50 for the developed portion of the site.  

Table 9.50: Required Site Illumination 
Location on Site Min. fc Max. fc Ave. fc Uniformity Ratio 

Max. to Min./ Ave. to Min. 
Passenger Car Parking Lots .5 fc 1 10 fc 1 fc 10:1 / 4:1 
Under Canopies Such as Gas Stations, 
Drive-Thru Bank Porte-Cochere 3 fc 20 fc - - 

Along Front Lot Line Adjacent to the 
Street Frontage 0 fc 3 fc - - 

Along a Lot line Adjoining a Non-
Residential Use or District 0 fc 1 fc2 - - 

Along a Lot line Adjoining a Residential 
Use or District 0 fc 0.5 fc - - 

Outdoor Storage - 10 fc - - 
Semi-Truck and Trailer Parking Lots - 10 fc - - 

  

 
1 The minimum illumination levels shall not apply to portions of the site that are fenced to restrict public access, such 
as storage yards. 
2 The light level along a non-residential lot line may be increased to the maximum footcandle level where there is 
shared access/vehicular connections or the adjacent use is a similar use. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 9. Site Lighting 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 9-4 

Section 9.60 Lighting Modifications 
A. Authority. After review by the Planning Commission, the City Council may modify the illumination 

requirements in Table 9.50 and other lighting requirements based on a review of the applicant’s 
proposal against industry standards and advanced lighting technology, so long as lighting plans ensure 
safe conditions and minimize the impact on adjacent properties. 

B. Considerations. The Planning Commission and City Council shall consider the following during the 
review of lighting modification requests: 

1. The amount of space on the site available for lighting. 

2. Existing lighting on the site and on adjacent properties. 

3. The type of land use on the site and the size of the development. 

4. The potential impact on existing and proposed adjacent land uses. 

5. The effect that the required lighting would have on the operation of the existing or proposed land 
use. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-1 

Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 
 

Section 10.10 Intent and Purpose    
The City of Port Wentworth determines it is necessary and desirable to enact landscaping and tree 
preservation regulations for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. The importance of 
plant material is recognized by the City for its contribution to shade, cooling, noise and wind reduction, soil 
erosion prevention, oxygen production, dust filtration, carbon dioxide absorption, aesthetic and economic 
enhancement of real property, and its contribution to the general well-being and quality of life of the 
citizens of Port Wentworth. In order to achieve these purposes, this article calls for landscaping specific 
areas and for the conservation, planting, and replacement of trees, shrubs, and groundcover without 
denying the reasonable use and enjoyment of real property. 

Section 10.20 General Requirements and Applicability   
A. Applicability. This article governs and regulates the following activities within the City: 

1. All projects subject to the site plan requirements of Section 13.20. 

2. The subdivision of land. 

3. Removal of any protected tree, as defined in Section 10.90 B. 

4. The planting, removal, and perpetual maintenance of any dedicated common area or public land. 

B. Exceptions. The regulations of this article shall apply in all areas of the City except: 

1. Those lands which are subject to Section 1.70. 

2. Those lands which may in the future be annexed into the City, and on the effective date of that 
annexation, are improved by the construction of a building or other structure, or have received 
final approval for residential subdivision, in compliance with the zoning ordinance of the 
jurisdiction from which they are annexed as they exist on the date of annexation. 

3. Commercial timber operations in existence prior to the adoption of this ordinance; provided, no 
cutting shall be permitted within 50 feet of a street right-of-way. 

4. The mitigation of wetlands pursuant to an approved plan from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 
shall be exempt. 

5. Trees grown for sale by commercial nurseries. 

C. Review and Permitting Procedures for Site Development. All activities identified in Section 10.20 A 
shall be subject to the following procedural requirements: 

1. Pre-application Review. Applicants are strongly encouraged to meet with the Zoning Administrator 
to discuss site design concepts or present a preliminary plan prior to submission of a request for 
tree removal permit or landscaping plan approval. Such discussions shall not be binding on the 
applicant or the City, are strictly at the option of the applicant, and no official action will be taken 
regarding the discussion or presentation. 

2. Application. Upon receiving an application for concept plan review, subdivision approval, or 
landscape plan approval, the Zoning Administrator shall determine if the application is complete in 
all respects, as required by this section and the applicable requirements of Article 13. Incomplete 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-2 

applications will be returned to the applicant without further processing. Separate applications for 
a tree removal permit shall be processed in accordance with the procedures described in Section 
10.90. 

3. Technical Review. The Zoning Administrator shall review all applications and plans relative to 
compliance with the requirements of this article and all other ordinances and laws of the City. Such 
plans may, at the discretion of the Zoning Administrator, be submitted to qualified landscape 
architectural consultants, arborists and/or urban foresters for review and comment, the cost of 
which shall be paid by the applicant. 

4. Design Review. Schematic landscape plans shall be reviewed by the City Council as part of the 
concept plan review. Final site plans and tree removal applications shall be reviewed and decided 
upon by the Zoning Administrator, which shall consider all revisions and conditions imposed by City 
Council during concept plan review and the comments from the Zoning Administrator or other 
qualified professionals and shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application, based 
on conformance with the applicable landscape standards of Section 10.30 and requirements of this 
article. If denied, the reasons for the denial shall be stated in the motion to deny and submitted in 
writing for the record. 

D. Required Submissions. 

1. Landscape Plan. A conceptual landscape plan illustrating compliance with the requirements of this 
article relative to buffers, parking lot landscaping, screening, street yard greenways, and protected 
trees shall be submitted with any application for preliminary plat or concept plan approval unless 
exempted per Section 10.20 B. Following approval of such application, a detailed landscape plan 
and, if applicable, a tree survey in accordance with Section 10.90 D of this article shall be submitted 
in conjunction with the final plat or site plan review. 

a. Requirements. The detailed landscape plan, prepared and sealed by a landscape architect 
licensed in the State of Georgia, shall include the location, botanical name, common name, 
quantity, and size of all proposed plantings. Additionally, the plan shall include:  

i. summary plant schedules, charts, and notes as necessary to clearly demonstrate 
conformance with all applicable planting requirements for the site; 

ii. existing and proposed contours at intervals not to exceed two (2) vertical feet;  

iii. anticipated mature height shall be indicated, and the crown spread shall be shown on the 
plan with circles indicating anticipated plant size at maturity; 

iv. calculations for the proposed landscaping indicating how the plan complies with the 
regulations of this article; 

v. existing natural and man-made landscape features and proposed buildings and structures, 
as required for the overall site plan; 

vi. planting details to ensure proper installation and establishment of proposed plant material; 

vii. grass areas and other methods of ground cover; 

viii. a description of irrigation methods for landscaped areas; and 

ix. a landscape maintenance program, including a statement that all diseased, damaged or 
dead materials shall be replaced in accordance with the standards of this article. 

b. Separate Plan. Unless it can be clearly shown on a plat or site plan sheet, a separate landscape 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-3 

plan sheet shall be drawn at the same scale as the required plat or site plan. To ensure that 
landscaping is not affected by, or interferes with utilities, the plans shall indicate all existing or 
proposed utilities and easements.  

c. Deviation from Plans. After approval of a landscape plan, an applicant may request an 
amendment of the proposed plan. Review of such changes shall be processed in accordance 
with Section 13.80 as a site plan amendment. 

Section 10.30 General Landscape Regulations 
A. Material Standards. Existing trees within any required buffer or street yard greenway shall be 

preserved, if possible. Protected trees, as defined in Section 10.90 B, shall be subject to all applicable 
requirements of Section 10.90. In addition, the following standards shall apply at a minimum to all 
newly planted landscaped areas and any additional trees needed to meet the respective requirements 
of this article. 

1. Native and regionally appropriate plant species are required. Invasive species, as identified by the 
United States Forest Service, the University of Georgia, or included as prohibited within Article 26 
are prohibited from being planted in Port Wentworth. Further, the replacement of invasive species 
with desirable hardwood species is encouraged.  

2. All plant and tree material shall meet the American Standard for Nursery Stock standards published 
by and available from the American Association of Nurserymen.  

3. Landscape materials must be free from injury, pests, disease, nutritional disorders, or root defects, 
and must be of good vigor to assure a reasonable expectation of survivability. 

4. No more than 25 percent of a single tree species shall be used to meet any requirement of this 
article. 

5. The minimum standards specified in Table 10.30 shall apply to all plantings required by this article 
at the time of planting, except as otherwise specified. 

Table 10.30: Plant Specifications 
Plant Type Min. Size Min. Height Other 

Canopy trees – large  3 in. caliper 16 feet  
Canopy trees – 
medium  2 in. caliper 10 feet Multi-stemmed – one (1) inch 

on any cane 

Canopy trees – small  1½ in. caliper 6 feet Multi-stemmed – one-half (½) 
inch on any cane 

Palms – large   10 ft. clear trunk  
Palms – medium   6 ft. clear trunk  
Palms – small   4 ft. clear trunk  
Shrubs  24 inch Containerized 

B. Installation Standards. 

1. Installation of trees and landscape materials shall be in accordance with the standards established 
by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI). 

2. Root barriers shall be installed within tree lawns less than seven (7) feet between the back of the 
curb and the sidewalk to prevent root penetration and destruction of infrastructure. 

3. Large and medium trees shall not be planted beneath or directly adjacent to overhead power lines 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-4 

and shall be a minimum of 10 feet from any building or underground utility unless a root barrier is 
used. 

4. Small trees and palms shall be a minimum of five (5) feet from any building or underground utility. 

5. All trees and landscaped areas shall be provided with a means of water delivery in quantities 
sufficient to establish and maintain the viability of the plants, except for areas of established trees 
and other vegetation that are retained; provided, site grading or development activities will not 
result in damage to those areas. 

C. Maintenance Standards. 

1. All plant material shall be maintained in good condition at all times in accordance with standards 
established by ANSI. Plantings that die or are destroyed must be replaced during the next suitable 
planting season. 

2. Attaching lights, signage, fence rails, and any other items to trees is strictly prohibited. 

3. All sites are required to remain in compliance with the requirements of this article and are subject 
to inspection by the City for this purpose.  

Section 10.40 Buffer Landscaping 
A. Buffer Screening Standards. Buffering is a method of visually shielding or obscuring one use from 

another. The buffer may consist of a combination of required plantings, wall, screen fence, or berms. In 
the event walls, fences, or berms are used to provide screening, the City Council may reduce the 
required number of trees and shrubs by up to 50 percent if it is determined that the purpose of the 
buffer will still be achieved.  

1. Plantings. Plantings shall consist of a combination of trees and shrubs, as specified in Table 10.40 B. 
Planted areas shall be located along the abutting property lines in areas that will provide the most 
effective screening. 

a. Evergreen species, under normal growing conditions, shall attain a minimum height of eight (8) 
feet. The spacing of evergreens shall be such that within three (3) years the plantings can be 
expected to provide a continuous opaque screen. 

b. All other trees and shrubs used within any buffer area shall conform to the size requirements 
specified in Table 10.30 at time of planting. 

i. Existing trees and other vegetation within the buffer area shall be retained to the extent 
possible and may be counted toward meeting the applicable buffer requirement. 

ii. Protected trees, as defined in Section 10.90 B, shall be identified, and the requirements of 
Section 10.90 shall apply. 

2. Walls. If walls are incorporated into the buffer, they shall be constructed of masonry material on 
both sides and be not less than six (6) nor more than eight (8) feet in height. The wall shall be 
placed along the interior side of the buffer with the required plantings on the outer side facing the 
adjoining property. 

3. Fences. If fences are incorporated into the buffer, they shall be constructed of standard pressure-
treated wood fencing materials (but not woven wood), shadow-box design, provide at least 90 
percent opacity and be not less than six (6) nor more than eight (8) feet in height. Fences shall be 
placed along the interior side of the buffer with the required plantings on the outer side facing the 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-5 

adjoining property. 

4. Berms. Earthen berms, if incorporated into the buffer, shall have a slope of 3:1 and a flat-topped 
crown at least two (2) feet wide. Plant material shall be placed along the top of the berm and the 
side slope facing the adjoining property. Berms shall be undulated to provide a more natural 
appearance. 

B. Buffer Design. All buffers required by this article shall conform to the following specifications: 

1. Landscape plans and tree surveys shall be required to show the type and location of all existing and 
proposed plantings within a required buffer.  

2. Landscaping within buffer areas shall be used to screen objectionable views or nuisances, such as 
parking and service areas, loading docks, outdoor activity areas, refuse containers, air conditioning 
units, and transformers. To achieve such purposes, trees may be clustered rather than uniformly 
spaced to achieve optimum screening and buffering.  

3. Existing trees within the designated buffer area may be credited toward meeting the requirements 
of this article. Protected trees within the buffer area shall be preserved and regulated in 
accordance with Section 10.90. 

C. Buffer Location. Buffers shall be located on the outer perimeter of a lot or parcel along the lot lines 
between dissimilar zone districts or residential and non-residential uses within the same district. The 
required buffer shall be provided even when dissimilar districts or residential and non-residential uses 
are separated by an existing or proposed public right-of-way; provided, the buffer shall not be located 
on any portion of an existing, dedicated, or reserved public or private street right-of-way.  

D. Use of Buffers. A buffer may be used for some forms of passive recreation such as pedestrian, bike, or 
equestrian trails, or as stormwater retention, detention, or water quality area provided that: 

1. No required materials shall be eliminated;  

2. The total depth of the required buffer area shall be maintained; and 

3. The effectiveness of the desired screening shall not be diminished. 

E. Maintenance. The responsibility for buffer maintenance shall remain with the owner of the property. 
Any required plant that has died shall be replaced. Maintenance of planted areas shall consist of 
mowing, removal of litter and dead plant materials, and necessary pruning. Fences and walls shall be 
kept in a condition that meets the requirements of this article.  

F. Buffers Required. 

1. Perimeter Buffer. When two (2) adjoining properties are in dissimilar zone districts or where a non-
residential use abuts a residential use in the same district, the property within the zoning district 
allowing the more intensive uses or the site containing the non-residential use abutting residential 
shall provide a buffer, as shown in Table 10.40 A.   Where a buffer or trees and vegetation exist 
within the required buffer area, the existing trees and vegetation may count toward meeting the 
buffer requirements of this section and shall be supplemented, as needed, to fully comply with the 
requirements shown in Table 10.40 B, Buffer Zone Specifications. When two adjoining parcels are 
vacant, no buffer shall be required until the more intensively zoned property or non-residential use 
for that property, as applicable, acquires a site plan approval. In calculating the area devoted to 
meeting the buffer requirements, areas dedicated for drainage ditches, easements, or rights-of-way 
shall not be included. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-6 

Table 10.40 A: Buffer Zones Required 

Zoning 
Districts 

Required Buffer 
R-1 R-2 R-3 R-4 R-5 C-1 C-2 C-3 I-1 Non-Res1 

R-1    A A  B B C B 

R-2    A A  B B C B 

R-3    A A  B B C B 

R-4       B B C A 

R-5       B B C A 

C-1       A A C  

C-2         B  

C-3         B  

 

 

 

  

 

1 Non-residential uses within a residential zoning district. 
2 Additional screening options, per paragraph A of this section, may be proposed or required. 
3 The buffer requirement shall be 100 feet for proposed heavy manufacturing uses, as defined in Article 25 of this 
ordinance. 
4 Number required per 100 linear feet of buffer, as measured along the property line 
5 An earthen berm, not less than eight (8) feet in height, shall be required along the full length of the buffer and shall 
meet the requirements of Subsection D.4. below. Where such berm would require the removal of existing healthy 
trees that provide a substantial visual screen serving the purpose of the buffer, the City Council may alter the berm 
requirement. 

Table 10.40 B: Buffer Zone Specifications 

Requirements Buffer Zones2 
A B C 

Minimum depth (ft.) 20 35 753 
Canopy trees4 

2 2 1 

Medium/Ornamental 
trees3 2 3 3 

Evergreen trees3 
2 3 5 

Shrubs3 
4 6 10 

Berm5 - - 4 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-7 

2. Highway Buffer. In addition to the previously listed buffer requirements, buffers shall be required 
where residential districts abut I-95, GA-21, and GA-25. Residential developments located along or 
adjacent to these highways shall be buffered from traffic noise and lights. A masonry wall, berm, 
landscaping, or combination of these elements shall be established along the residential district 
boundary abutting the highway right-of-way, as approved by the City Council. The height of a wall 
or berm shall not be less than six (6) feet or more than eight (8) feet. Additionally, any such buffer 
wall or berm within a residential development shall be landscaped on the residential side with 
plantings that screen the wall or berm from adjacent properties.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 10-1 Buffer Zone A 

Figure 10-2 Buffer Zone B 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 10.50 Street Yard Greenway Landscaping 
To protect and enhance the beauty and aesthetics of properties within the City of Port Wentworth and 
effectively screen front yard parking areas when viewed from the street right-of-way, the following shall be 
required. 

A. General Provisions. 

1. All required greenways shall contain only living plant materials; provided, the following may be 
located within the greenway in addition to the planting requirements when approved as part of the 
site plan: 

a. Decorative walls or fences less than four (4) feet high;  

b. Vehicular access drives placed approximately perpendicular to the right-of-way; 

c. Electrical, telephone, gas, water supply, sewage disposal, and other utilities may be constructed 
to pass through or across the required buffer area. If the installation of such services impacts 
the requirements of this ordinance, additional landscaping and/or greenway area may be 
required to meet the intent and standards of this section;  

d. Foot and bicycle paths (including sidewalks); 

e. Landscape sculpture, lighting fixtures, trellises, pedestrian amenities, and arbors; 

f. Bus/transit shelters; 

g. Signs; 

h. Berming or mounding of soil; and 

i. Bioretention and other heavily vegetated stormwater BMPs. 

2. When calculating lot frontage, driveways shall be subtracted from the linear foot total. 

3. Where existing or created lagoons and drainage swales will occupy a substantial portion of the 
required street yard greenway, additional depth may be required to achieve the intent of this 
section.  

4. Any area not otherwise planted shall be sodded. 

Figure 10-3 Buffer Zone C 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-9 

5. The minimum planted size for each plant type within required street yard greenways shall meet the 
minimum specifications cited in Table 10.30. 

B. Non-Residential Uses. Non-residential (commercial, industrial, office, civic, institutional, etc.) uses shall 
provide a greenway adjacent to the public street right-of-way. In all cases, the requirements of Section 
10.90 shall be met; provided, that existing protected trees shall be counted toward the planting 
requirements for street yard greenways. This requirement does not apply to the C-1 zoning district. 

1. For non-residential development fronting on Arterial Streets, the following standards shall apply: 

a. A minimum 25-foot-deep landscaped greenway shall be established parallel to the entire 
frontage along the road right-of-way. If an easement parallels the frontage and precludes 
planting the required trees, the greenway shall be in addition to the easement or increased to 
the extent that the planting requirements can be met. (Example: If a 15-foot power easement is 
directly adjacent to the right-of-way and does not permit trees within it, the 25-foot greenway 
would commence from the interior edge of the easement for a total of 40 feet). 

b. The greenway shall include: 

i. One (1) large canopy tree (Live Oak preferred) per 50 feet of linear frontage, spaced no 
more than 50 feet on-center (o.c.) for the entire lot frontage. For areas where overhead 
utilities exist that preclude planting large trees, two (2) medium canopy trees shall be 
provided for every one (1) large tree required.  

ii. Four (4) small canopy trees (Crape Myrtle preferred) or palms for every 100 linear feet of 
lot frontage.  

iii. A double row staggered evergreen shrub hedge or otherwise approved continuous 
grouping of evergreen shrubs planted along the lot frontage planted at a minimum of two 
and one-half (2 ½) feet o.c. and a species capable of being maintained at a three (3) foot 
height within two (2) years of planting.  

iv. Vehicular entrances shall be defined using a mixture of trees, shrubs, and groundcovers 
that will create a sense of arrival. Clusters of flowering and other ornamental plant species 
such as knockout roses, ornamental grasses, and annuals, are strongly encouraged. A 
minimum of 200 square feet shall be planted on each side of the entrance drive. 

2. For all non-residential development fronting on collector streets the following standards shall 
apply: 

a. A minimum 15-foot-deep landscaped greenway shall be established parallel to the entire 
frontage along the street right-of-way. If an easement parallels the right-of-way frontage and 
precludes the ability to meet the requirements, as specified below, the 15-foot greenway shall 
be in addition to the easement width or increased to the extent that the planting requirements 
can be met. (Example: A 15-foot power easement directly adjacent to the right-of-way that 
does not allow trees planted within it will require the 15-foot greenway to start inside the 
property once outside the easement for a total of 30 feet required). 

b. The greenway shall include: 

i. One (1) large canopy tree (Live Oak preferred) per 50 feet of linear frontage, spaced no 
more than 50 feet on-center (o.c.) for the entire lot frontage. For areas where overhead 
utilities exist that preclude planting large trees, two (2) small or medium canopy trees shall 
be provided for every one (1) large tree required. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-10 

ii. A double row staggered evergreen shrub hedge or otherwise approved continuous 
grouping of evergreen shrubs planted along the lot frontage planted at a minimum of two 
and one-half (2 ½) feet o.c. and a species capable of being maintained at a three (3) foot 
height within two (2) years of planting.  

iii. Vehicular entrances shall be defined using a mixture of trees, shrubs, and groundcovers 
that will create a sense of arrival. Clusters of flowering and other ornamental plant species, 
such as knockout roses, ornamental grasses, and annuals, is strongly encouraged. A 
minimum of 100 square feet shall be planted on each side of the entrance drive. 

C. Residential and Sylvicultural (Timbering) Uses. A street yard greenway at least 20 feet in depth shall be 
established adjacent to the Arterial or Collector street right-of-way of all single- and two-family 
residential developments and 50 feet in depth along timber harvesting sites; provided, timbering sites 
adjacent to a residential use shall maintain a separation of 100 feet along the entire property line that 
abuts the residential use. The following requirements shall apply to the street yard greenways: 

1. Plantings. Plantings shall consist of trees and shrubs in combination. Planted areas shall be in areas 
that will provide the best screening effectiveness. The following minimums shall apply to street 
yard greenway plantings: 

a. Fifteen (15) large evergreen shrubs per 1,000 square feet of greenway (Shrubs shall attain a 
minimum height of six (6) feet within three (3) years after planting). 

b. Two (2) small or medium canopy trees per 1,000 square feet of greenway. 

c. One (1) large canopy tree per 1,000 square feet. 

2. Protected Trees. In all cases, the requirements of Section 10.90 shall be met; provided, that existing 
protected trees shall be counted toward the planting requirements for street yard greenways. 

3. Walls. If incorporated into the required street yard greenway, walls shall be constructed in a 
durable fashion of masonry materials on both sides and be a minimum height of four (4) feet. The 
wall shall be placed along the interior of the greenway area with the required plantings located on 
the street side of the wall. 

4. Fences. If fences are incorporated into the greenway, they shall be constructed of durable, low-
maintenance materials such as standard pressure-treated wood (but not woven wood) or vinyl and 
be at least four (4) feet in height. Fences shall be placed along the interior of the greenway, with 
the required plantings located on the street side of the fence. 

5. Berms. Earthen berms, if incorporated into the greenway, shall have a slope of 3:1 and a flat-
topped crown at least two (2) feet wide. Plant material shall be placed along the top of the berm 
and the side slope facing the street. Berms shall not exceed six (6) feet in height and shall be 
undulated to provide a more natural appearance. 

D. Single-Family Detached Subdivisions.   In addition to the requirements of Section 10.50 B, the required 
street yard greenway for single-family detached residential subdivisions shall also be subject to the 
following standards: 

1. For single-family subdivisions, a greenway 50 feet in depth and meeting the requirements of 
Section 10.50 B shall be maintained along the street frontage where the rear yard of the lots abuts 
the street right-of-way. 

2. The greenway shall be a combination of existing healthy vegetation and/or newly planted 
landscaping; provided, all existing protected trees shall be retained within the greenway. The 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-11 

greenway shall remain uninterrupted along the length of the property, except to allow for access 
roads, signs, and entry features. Diseased, dead, or invasive species shall be removed from the 
greenway. Should the existing vegetation not provide an adequate greenway, additional 
supplemental plantings, berms, etc. may be required. 

E. Multiple-Family and Attached Single-Family Uses. In addition to the requirements of Section 10.50 B, 
the required street yard greenway for multiple-family and attached single-family uses shall also be 
subject to the following standards: 

1. A street yard greenway of 50 feet in depth shall be maintained along the entire property frontage 
abutting the Arterial or Collector street right-of-way. 

2. The greenway shall remain uninterrupted along the length of the property, except to allow for 
access roads, signs, and entry features. 

3. All protected trees shall be retained within the greenway and supplemented as needed. In all cases, 
the requirements of Section 10.90 shall be met; provided, that existing protected trees shall be 
counted toward the planting requirements for street yard greenways. 

Section 10.60 Parking Lot Landscaping 
A. Applicability. Surface parking lots of more than 20 spaces shall include landscaped tree islands meeting 

the requirements of this section. 

B. Requirements. The following landscaping requirements shall apply for parking lot interiors: 

1. A landscaped island at least 10 feet wide and 120 square feet in area shall be installed within all 
parking rows at intervals no greater than every 10 parking spaces. Each landscaped island shall 
contain one (1) medium canopy tree, as specified in Table 10.30. 

2. If overhead utilities preclude the planting of a medium tree, small trees and/or palms shall be 
planted at a ratio of two (2) small trees and/or palms to every one (1) medium tree required. 

3. All island plantings shall be protected from vehicle bumpers with curbing, wheel stops, or other 
appropriate means of protection. 

4. All islands shall have soil suitable for vigorous plant growth to a minimum depth of 24 inches. The 
top of grade for the center of all islands shall be mounded to a height of 12 inches above adjacent 
curb or edge of the pavement. The use of unsuitable muck/clay soils in these areas is prohibited. 
Any islands that have been compacted during construction shall have the compacted soil removed 
and replaced with appropriate soil capable of allowing vigorous plant growth. The City reserves the 
right to inspect the soil within these areas at any time, and should the soils be found to be 
substandard, the soils, plantings, mulch, etc. shall be removed and replaced, as necessary, to be in 
conformance. A note acknowledging these soil requirements shall be included on all landscape 
plans. 

5. All islands shall also be planted with low-growing shrubs and/or groundcover. 

C. Alternatives. Alternatives to the strict application of the maximum of 10 spaces in a row may be 
considered where practices such as the preservation of existing trees are proposed. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-12 

 

 

Section 10.70 Screening 
A. Applicability. Outdoor storage, service, and dumpster areas shall be adequately screened with 

permanent vegetation and/or walls when visible from adjacent properties or street right-of-way, in 
accordance with the following: 

1. The design of a screening wall shall be the same architectural style as the principal building or 
buildings on the lot. 

2. Except where otherwise allowed by these regulations, any wall shall be opaque to prevent the 
passage of light and debris and shall be constructed of textured or split-faced block, brick, stone, 
stucco over concrete block, architectural tile, or similar opaque materials. Unfinished concrete 
block shall not be permitted. 

3. The height of a wall shall be adequate to block the view to the area being screened but shall not 
exceed eight (8) feet, except as otherwise allowed by this section. Wall height shall be measured 
from the finished grade at the base of the wall to the top of the fence or wall but shall not include 
columns or posts. 

4. Walls shall be interrupted at intervals not exceeding 25 feet by architectural features such as 
pilasters or columns or by various species of plants that are at least as tall as or taller than the wall. 

5. Such walls shall be setback a minimum of five (5) feet from any adjacent property lines unless 
otherwise approved as part of the site plan review. 

6. Additionally, during site plan review, evergreen plantings or other trees may be required along the 
wall to provide a visual accent for lengthy and monotonous walls. 

B. Landscape Alternative. In lieu of a screen wall, a dense landscape screen which, in the site plan 
reviewer’s sole discretion, meets the intent of this section to visually screen and soften the impact of 
the storage, service, or dumpster area. 

C. Modification. Where the storage, service, or dumpster is located adjacent to a required buffer or street 
yard greenway, the requirements of this section may be waived or modified by the City Council, as 
provided in Section 10.80. 

Figure 10-4 Parking Lot Landscaping 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-13 

Section 10.80 Landscaping Modifications 
A. Conditions. The requirements of this article may be waived or modified by the City Council, under any 

of the following conditions: 

1. If it is clearly demonstrated that the existing topography and/or vegetation will achieve the 
purposes of this article. 

2. If it is clearly demonstrated that for topographic reasons, no required screening device could 
reasonably screen the ground level activities of the use from the adjacent street or first-floor view 
of an abutting structure. 

3. It is clearly demonstrated that an existing (or proposed) public right-of-way separation between 
adjoining properties will achieve the purposes of this article. 

B. Petition. Any person affected by this article may petition the City Council for a waiver or modification 
from the strict application of any provision or provisions, as follows: 

1. The application shall be made upon a form provided by the Zoning Administrator. 

2. A public hearing shall be held on the application after due notice to the applicant and adjoining 
property owners. 

3. The City Council, upon considering all evidence and input at the public hearing, shall approve or 
deny the request based upon the following criteria: 

a. That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions or exceptional topographical or 
other physical conditions peculiar to the particular property that prevent or severely inhibit 
compliance with all or a portion of the requirements of this article. 

b. Failure to grant relief would result in practical difficulties and exceptional hardship. 

c. That granting relief would not adversely impact the overall purpose and intent of this article 
and would be the minimum necessary based on conditions of the property. 

C. Alternate Site Planting. Council, after finding that a waiver or modification of the landscaping 
requirements meets the above review criteria, may require that the trees/shrubs shall be planted on an 
alternate site as approved by the City Council. 

Section 10.90 Tree Preservation 
A. Requirements. These regulations shall apply to all trees and land in the City of Port Wentworth, except 

as noted below; provided, that even for those exempted, tree preservation and best practices are 
strongly encouraged to uphold the intent of this ordinance. 

1. Applicability. All trees not specifically exempted shall be regulated by the provisions of this 
ordinance. Protected tree classifications are defined in Section 10.90 B.  Conditions under which 
protected trees may be removed by permit are specified in this section. 

2. Exemptions. The parties listed below are exempt from this section to the extent specified. 

a. Timber harvesters and foresters:  Timber harvesting and forestry shall be exempt from this 
section.  

b. Commercial tree farms and nurseries: Growers raising trees for sale and transplant shall not be 
held to the provisions of this article; provided, such trees are not planted in protected wetlands 
or required buffer zones after the adoption of this ordinance. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-14 

c. Public utilities: Utility providers shall be exempt from these regulations within easements and 
rights-of-way in which clearing is necessary for the public safety and welfare. The regulations of 
this article, however, shall apply within any required buffer zone. 

d. Occupied single-family dwelling: Developed single-family residential lots shall be exempt from 
the heritage tree protection requirements, but not those pertaining to grand trees or specimen 
trees: provided, the lot is occupied by a single-family dwelling or manufactured home erected 
on the lot prior to the adoption of this ordinance. This provision shall not exempt individual lots 
or parcels being prepared for development and shall not exempt existing developed lots from 
the provisions of Section 10.90 A.4 regarding the preservation of trees within the street yard 
greenway. 

3. Maintenance or Removal. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the ordinary 
pruning, trimming, and maintenance of a tree, nor to prevent the cutting or removal of any tree 
that is diseased, dying, or required to be removed by a governmental agency for public safety. 
However, such maintenance or removal shall only be performed by a certified arborist. 

B. Protected Tree Classifications. These regulations shall apply to three (3) categories of trees: Heritage 
Trees, Grand Trees, and Specimen Trees, collectively known as Protected Trees. 

1. Heritage Tree. All trees meeting a minimum of 12 inches diameter at breast height (DBH) but less 
than 24 inches DBH. 

2. Grand Tree. A grand tree, due to its age and stature, is considered to have irreplaceable value and 
is defined as any tree 24 inches in DBH or greater. 

3. Specimen Tree. A tree that is of significant size for that species as determined by an arborist, 
landscape architect, forester, or other licensed tree professional. 

C. Tree Preservation Standards. Protected trees, unless otherwise permitted by these regulations, shall 
not be removed, or be caused to be removed. Approval to remove such trees shall be obtained from 
the Zoning Administrator upon filing a request for a tree removal permit. If approval to remove 
protected trees is given, the removed trees shall be replaced according to the mitigation requirements 
of Section 10.90 G.  Individuals failing to obtain a tree removal permit shall be cited as provided in 
Section 10.90 F. 

D. Tree Removal Permit. Except as otherwise exempt, it shall be unlawful to fell, improperly prune, or 
otherwise destroy a protected tree without first obtaining a tree removal permit from the Zoning 
Administrator. 

1. Exception. A tree removal permit shall not be necessary to remove a tree creating imminent danger 
to other trees, permanent structures, public utilities, rights-of-way, or persons. A tree posing 
imminent danger shall be defined as one damaged by a storm, fire, or vehicular accident such that 
its structural integrity is seriously compromised and that the tree can be reasonably expected to fall 
and injure persons or structures. 

2. Permit Application Procedure. 

a. Application for a tree removal permit must be made at least three (3) business days in advance 
of the proposed tree removal. The Zoning Administrator shall issue the permit, valid for 60 
days, if the request meets the criteria for tree removal, as specified in Section 10.90 D.3. 

b. The applicant may apply for a tree removal permit concurrently with a subdivision plan 
submittal, request for concept plan approval, or a building permit. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-15 

c. A tree survey meeting the requirements of this section shall be submitted as part of the permit 
application. The tree survey shall be prepared by a certified arborist and shall depict the 
location, species, and size in DBH of all protected trees in the development area and 
differentiate them as to whether they are heritage, grand, or specimen trees. The development 
area shall be defined as all areas within 50 feet of any proposed grading, temporary and 
permanent structures, and other improvements; and as wetlands proposed to be disturbed. 
The survey shall specify which trees are proposed for removal. 

i. For developments disturbing more than 25 acres, this tree survey requirement may be 
satisfied by a “sample area” survey. Each sample shall cover at least one (1) acre. Sample 
areas shall be evenly distributed throughout the site and proportional to the acreage of 
types of forest found on the site. Sample areas shall represent at least five (5) percent of 
the site or five (5) acres, whichever is greater. The surveyor shall estimate the relative 
densities and total number of heritage trees across the site based on the distribution of 
these trees in the samples. Grand trees and specimen trees shall nevertheless be 
individually surveyed and documented by location, species, and size in DBH. Upon 
reviewing the sample survey, the plan reviewer may require that inventories be taken of 
additional sample sites of their choosing. 

ii. For development plans disturbing 25 or fewer acres, all protected trees shall be individually 
surveyed. 

d. Trees to be preserved will be physically marked with brightly colored engineer’s tape. The 
property may first be inspected by the Zoning Administrator before approval is granted. The 
tape on those trees approved for preservation shall be left in place throughout construction. 
Following inspection by the Zoning Administrator, the tree removal permit will be approved, 
partially approved, or disapproved. 

e. If the permit is approved or partially approved, the applicant shall post a financial guarantee, as 
provided in Section 12.90, prior to commencing any tree removal activities to ensure 
preservation of those trees not authorized for removal. 

f. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to post the tree removal permit on the property in 
a place that is visible from the public right-of-way throughout any tree removal activity. 

3. General Criteria. The following conditions, when attested to by a registered forester or certified 
arborist, shall constitute grounds for issuance of a tree removal permit regardless of use or zone: 

a. Trees potentially hazardous to surrounding trees, permanent structures, public utilities, rights-
of-way, or persons due to a loss of stability caused by high wind, unstable soil, age, or other 
natural forces. 

b. Diseased and/or infectious trees and trees in decline. 

c. Trees or their root systems causing visible damage to permanent structures that cannot be 
prevented through proper pruning. 

d. Trees or their root systems causing damage to utility lines that cannot be prevented through 
proper pruning. 

e. Trees inhibiting access through a street right-of-way such that proper pruning cannot mitigate 
the condition. 

f. Trees creating hazardous conditions on pedestrian walkways underneath such trees due to 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-16 

excessive debris of a size and shape known to cause injuries from tripping and falling, as 
determined by the Zoning Administrator. 

4. Design Criteria for Property Development. The following criteria shall be followed with respect to 
the applicable property development: 

a. Subdivision of parcel: The subdivider shall make conscious efforts to avoid grand trees and 
specimen trees, as well as groupings of heritage trees in proposing placement of rights-of-way 
and easements. Additionally, lots shall be platted in a way that avoids the removal of grand 
trees, specimen trees, or groupings of heritage trees, such as locating them in the middle of 
proposed lots. Lot lines should be platted adjacent to protected trees to retain them as design 
features and vegetative buffers and to mitigate storm water run-off and erosion problems. 

b. Building envelopes:  Grand trees and specimen trees within a proposed building footprint and 
for a distance of 20 feet from the perimeter of that footprint shall be mitigated if removed, in 
accordance with Section 10.90 G.  Heritage trees within a building footprint and an area 20 feet 
from the perimeter of the footprint may be removed without mitigation if determined to be 
necessary by the reviewer. 

c. Setbacks and buffers:  Protected trees shall not be removed from required setbacks (except as 
may be permitted by paragraph b regarding building envelopes), street yard greenways, or 
buffer zones and shall be counted toward the landscape requirements for such areas. A 
protected tree may be limbed up if located outside a required buffer. Heritage trees may be 
limbed up to eight (8) feet, while grand trees and specimen trees may be limbed up to 16 feet 
to provide view sheds. 

d. Means of access and parking:  Grand trees and specimen trees shall not be removed to make 
way for parking lots, parking spaces, drive aisles, or driveways unless the applicant 
demonstrates to the satisfaction of the reviewer that no reasonable alternative exists. Heritage 
trees may be removed in these locations, but mitigation shall be required per Section 10.90 G. 

e. Outdoor uses and active recreation areas. Except as otherwise restricted in this section, 
protected trees may be removed on land where the principal use is proposed outside; 
provided, mitigation shall be required for all trees per Section 10.90 G.  The Zoning 
Administrator shall determine whether the proposed outdoor use qualifies under this provision 
and that the protected tree removal is the minimum necessary to accommodate the proposed 
use. Qualifying uses shall include, but are not limited to: outdoor sales areas with minimal 
ancillary indoor space, transportation and construction businesses that store fleet vehicles on 
site, outdoor storage of containers and oversized bulk items that cannot practically be stored 
under roof, industrial activities and processes that do not occur under roof, as well as 
recreation areas, such as golf courses, athletic fields, courts, and pools managed by schools, 
public recreation departments, country clubs, home owners associations, and other legally 
established organizations. 

f. Streets: Protected trees may be removed without mitigation from public rights-of-way to allow 
for arterial and collector street construction, including widening, intersection improvements, 
parallel bicycle/pedestrian improvements, and drainage improvements. Grand and specimen 
trees removed for construction of local street projects shall be mitigated per Section 10.90 G, 
while heritage trees may be removed from local street rights-of-way without mitigation. 

g. Water, sewer, and drainage improvements: Protected trees may be removed, but must be 
mitigated per Section 10.90 G, for installation of water, sewer, and drainage infrastructure and 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-17 

implementation of associated easements on private property. 

h. Waters of the State:  Protected trees within 25 feet of any water of the state shall be preserved 
and no disturbance shall occur within the critical root zone, even if more than 25 feet distant 
from such water. 

E. Tree Protection Procedures. The base and root systems of most trees are very sensitive to changes and 
must be protected to ensure the tree’s health and survival. The following measures shall also be taken 
to protect trees located off-site but whose limbs and drip lines encroach across property boundaries. 

1. Protected trees shall have their critical root zone guarded before, during, and after construction 
against the following: 

a. Unnecessary cutting, breaking, or skinning of roots 

b. Skinning and bruising of bark 

c. Storing or stockpiling construction, excavation, or other machinery, tools, materials, and debris 
within drip lines 

d. Burning within drip lines 

e. Absorption of wastewater run-off within drip lines 

f. Excessive foot or vehicular traffic within drip lines 

g. Parking vehicles within drip lines 

2. Wounds to protected trees shall be cleaned to sound wood by removing loose bark and wood, 
leaving a smooth edge around the wound, and be properly dressed. 

3. If any protected tree roots are to be removed, they shall be severed clean and treated with a two 
(2) inch layer of mulch applied on the surface above the roots, to be retained and replenished 
throughout harvesting and construction activities. 

4. Soil removal or fill within the drip line of a protected tree shall be limited to six (6) inches in depth. 
Any soil added under the drip line shall be a loamy soil mix to ensure minimal compaction. 

5. The following additional measures shall be taken to protect trees scheduled to be retained in 
preparation for and during property development. 

a. Setbacks. Site improvements, other than landscaping and hardscaping, shall not occur within 
the critical root zone. 

b. Protective barricading. Barricades shall be erected around all protected trees according to 
required setbacks, as provided in Subsection 5.a. above. Barricades shall be erected prior to the 
start of site grading and shall remain in place until all construction activities are complete. The 
following standards apply: 

i. Barricading trees in groups is encouraged. 

ii. Barricades a minimum of three (3) feet high shall be erected and readily apparent, including 
in the rearview or side mirror of vehicles and construction equipment moving in reverse. 

iii. Barricading shall consist of orange safety fencing supported by wood/metal members or 
other comparable material approved by the Zoning Administrator. In any case, barricading 
shall be capable of repelling a man moving at walking speed. Flagged string or tape alone 
shall not be sufficient to meet the barricading material requirements. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-18 

iv. All tree protection areas shall be designated with signs or tape posted visibly on or within 
the required barricade. Tree protection area signs shall denote the area as off-limits for the 
sake of tree protection.  

v. Utilities shall not be installed in tree protection areas without the use of special tunneling 
techniques to preserve root systems. 

F. Violation and Penalty. 

1. The removal, damage, or destruction of a protected tree without a required tree removal permit 
shall constitute a violation of this ordinance. Each protected tree that is removed, damaged, or 
destroyed shall constitute a separate offense. Each day during which the loss of the tree goes 
unmitigated, as provided below, shall be judged a separate offense. 

2. In lieu of any fines and penalties incurred by a violator of this section, the Zoning Administrator may 
require tree replacement as a condition of granting Certificates of Occupancy. Replacement trees 
shall be required such that the total caliper inches of new trees shall be equivalent to a 50% 
increase in the mitigation requirements as set forth in Section 10.90 G. In no case, however, shall 
any replacement tree measure less than four (4) inch DBH for any protected tree. 

3. In the event that violations of this article result in the issuance of a stop work order, the violator 
shall be responsible for tree replacement, payment of fines, or posting a financial guarantee, as 
determined by the Zoning Administrator, before construction is allowed to resume. 

4. In the event that the violator of tree protection standards cannot be identified and located, the 
developer shall be held responsible for fines and mitigation. 

G. Mitigation for Tree Removal. 

1. Trees planted for mitigation shall meet the performance standards of this article. Mitigation for 
protected trees shall be as specified in Table 10-90, based on the species of the tree that was 
removed. In addition, the following size requirements shall apply: 

a. Mitigation for heritage trees shall occur at a rate of 50 percent, where every two (2) inches of 
heritage trees removed, measured in DBH, shall be replaced by one (1) inch of mitigation trees, 
measured in caliper inches. 

b. Mitigation for grand and specimen trees shall occur at a rate of 100 percent, where every inch 
of tree removed, measured in DBH, shall be replaced by one (1) inch of mitigation trees, 
measured in caliper inches. 

c. Any tree planted for mitigation shall measure at least four (4) inches DBH at the time of 
planting. 

2. Any tree at least six (6) inches DBH but less than 12 inches DBH retained within the area of 
disturbance may be retained to contribute, inch for inch, to a tree mitigation requirement; 
provided, the tree does not stand in a wetland, any required buffer, street yard greenway, or other 
area in which the tree would otherwise be required to be conserved. Such trees shall be protected 
as heritage trees. 

3. Trees planted for mitigation in new developments shall be in addition to those required for street 
yard greenways, buffering, and parking lots and may be used to create a street yard greenway in 
existing developments where such greenway does not currently exist. 

4. There is hereby created a city tree escrow fund for the purpose of receiving money paid to the City 
in lieu of mitigation. The fund will be used by the City to purchase, plant, and maintain trees or 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 10. Landscaping and Environment 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 10-19 

landscaping on public rights-of-way, easements, or other public property. If the required mitigation 
cannot be met on-site due to lot size and allowable lot coverage, then payment shall be made to 
the tree fund.  

 
Table 10.90: Tree Replacement by Species Category 

Species Category Percent Replacement 
Required 

1 

Live Oak, Bald Cypress, American Beech, Gingko, 
American Holly, Southern Magnolia, Sweetbay Magnolia, 
Tupelo, Chinese Pistache, White Oak, Willow Oak, 
Overcup Oak, Chestnut oak, Eastern Red Cedar 

100 

2 
Persimmon, Ash species, Hickory species, Tulip Poplar, 
Sycamore, swamp White Oak, Scarlet Oak, Southern Red 
Oak, Shumard Oak, Post Oak, Laurel Oak 

75 

3 Sugarberry, Hackberry, Willow species, Water Oak, Black 
Cherry, American Elm, Red Maple 50 

41 
Pine species, Sweet Gum, Callary Pear varieties, River 
Birch, Mimosa, Chinaberry, Chinese Tallow, Camphor 
tree, White Poplar 

0 

Section 10.100 Grading, Excavation, and Ponds 
The construction, maintenance, or existence within the City of any unprotected, unbarricaded, open, or 
dangerous excavations, holes, pits, or wells, which constitute or are likely to constitute a danger or menace 
to the public health, safety, or welfare, is hereby prohibited; provided, this section shall not apply to the 
following: 

A. any excavation under a permit issued by the City where such excavation is properly protected and 
warning signs posted in such manner as approved by the City; and 

B. rivers, streams, other natural water bodies, ditches, reservoirs, and similar bodies of water created or 
existing by authority of governmental units or agencies. 

Section 10.110 Stormwater Management 
All requirements of Article III, Stormwater Management, of Chapter 7 of the City Code of Ordinances shall 
be met. 

 

1 Species in this category shall be exempt from the requirements of Section 10.90, except that Pine species and Sweet 
Gum shall be maintained in buffer areas requiring protection of all vegetation or vegetation of a certain size, and may 
be approved for plantings in such buffers. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-1 

Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 
 

Section 11.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Intent. To ensure safe travel and street conditions for all users, streets established in any subdivision 

shall comply with the requirements of this article.  

B. Purpose. Street design shall enhance the quality of life for Port Wentworth's citizens by promoting 
high-quality residential development and minimizing safety hazards to drivers, cyclists, and pedestrians. 

C. Technical Specifications. The Community Development Department maintains a set of standard details 
and specifications on file illustrating details of construction and design of streets, sidewalks, 
stormwater drainage facilities, site improvements, and other elements related to the development of 
land in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance. These details and specifications are contained in the City 
of Port Wentworth Comprehensive Development Manual. 

Section 11.20 Subdivision Street Requirements 
A. Overall Design.  

1. Access and Circulation. Proposed streets shall provide a safe, convenient, and functional system for 
vehicular, bicycle, and pedestrian circulation and shall be appropriate for the particular traffic 
characteristics of each proposed subdivision or development. New subdivisions shall be supported 
by a thoroughfare network having adequate capacity and safe and efficient traffic circulation.  

2. Street Layout. Street layout should show consideration of natural features such as trees and 
wetlands, drainage requirements, traffic calming measures, addition or relocation of public spaces, 
and utility location. 

3. Major Thoroughfare Plan. The subdivider shall design the street system within such subdivision to 
conform to the location and arrangement of such arterial streets and collector streets of any 
applicable major throughfare plan adopted by the City of Port Wentworth. 

4. Interior Streets. Interior streets within subdivisions shall be so laid out and designed that their use 
by through traffic and speeding traffic will be discouraged.  

5. Continuation of Existing Street Pattern. The arrangement of streets in a subdivision shall provide for 
the alignment with, or the continuation of, or the appropriate projection of, existing principal 
streets in surrounding areas.  

6. Subdivisions on Arterial Streets. Where a subdivision abuts or contains an existing or proposed 
arterial street, residential lots shall not have individual driveways to the arterial street.  

B. Minimum Curb and Street Radius. The lot line radius at intersecting streets shall be not less than 20 
feet. The centerline radius of all curvilinear streets shall be not less than 75 feet.  

C. Dead Ends. 

1. Permanent dead-end streets. Dead-end streets, designed to be such permanently, shall be provided 
at the closed end with a turnaround having an outside roadway diameter of not less than 96 feet 
and a right-of-way diameter of not less than 100 feet.  

2. Temporary dead-end streets. Temporary dead-end streets shall be provided with a temporary 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-2 

turnaround area which shall meet the requirements for design, maintenance, and removal as 
approved by the Mayor and Council.  

D. Block lengths. Any block exceeding 600 feet in length shall include a mid-block crosswalk. Blocks shall 
not exceed 800 feet. 

E. Street Names. 

1. Street name markers. Street name markers which shall be constructed to City specifications shall be 
installed at all street intersections.  

2. Street names. All streets within a subdivision hereafter established shall be named as approved by 
the Manager and Council. No name shall be used which will duplicate or be confused with existing 
street names.  

F. Gates. No gates or other limited access devices shall be allowed on public streets. 

G. Sidewalks and Bike Lanes.  

1. Sidewalks shall be installed on both sides of streets. Requirements may be reduced or eliminated 
for roads adjacent to or crossing wetland areas or lakes, where dwellings or buildings are not 
proposed, or in industrial development. 

2. When provided, bike lanes shall be in addition to the minimum pavement width. Bike lanes are a 
separate feature from pedestrian sidewalks and multipurpose trails and shall be constructed as 
such in accordance with guidelines developed by the American Association of State Highway and 
Transportation Officials (AASHTO). 

H. Streetlights. Streetlights shall be installed in residential areas at a distance to provide safety to the 
neighborhood in accordance with City guidelines and requirements. Streetlights shall be installed in 
retail areas to provide illumination to encourage evening activity along the street. 

Section 11.30 Private Street Easements and Maintenance 
A. Review and Recording. 

1. Applications for private streets and shared commercial driveways shall include a recordable legal 
instrument describing and granting the easement and a maintenance agreement. 

2. The easement shall be recorded, and a copy of the recorded easement shall be provided to the 
Zoning Administrator. 

B. Easement Width. See Table 11.40.  

C. Maintenance Agreement Content. A copy of a recordable travel surface maintenance agreement, 
signed by all owners of the lands served by the access easement and other parties in interest, which 
includes the following: 

1. Provisions that assure that the travel surface will be maintained and repaired for the full width and 
length to ensure safe travel and accessibility by emergency vehicles at all times. 

2. A legal description of the easement and a legal description of the individual lots or parcels to be 
served. All properties served by the easement and travel surface shall be subject to the 
maintenance agreement. 

3. Provisions declaring that the maintenance agreement constitutes a restrictive covenant, running 
with the benefitted lands, and binding on all current and future owners and other parties in interest 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-3 

as to the respective obligations stated therein. 

4. Provisions to indemnify, save and hold the City of Port Wentworth and its officers, employees, and 
agents harmless from any and all claims for personal injury and/or property damage arising out of 
the failure to properly construct, maintain, repair, or replace the travel surface. 

Section 11.40 Street Dimensional Requirements    
A. Street Design and Construction Specifications. 

All streets established in any subdivision shall 
be designed and constructed in accordance 
with the following specifications. Street types 
shall be proposed as part of preliminary plat 
review and approved based on the design 
requirements and standards in this article. 

B. On-Street Parking. On-street parking lanes may 
be approved by the City Council during the 
preliminary plat process and shall be a 
minimum of eight (8) feet in width. This width 
shall be in addition to the pavement width 
requirements in Table 11.40. On-street parking 
shall be marked or posted with signage 
approved by the Community Development 
Department. 

C. Curb and Gutter. Curb and gutters shall be 
required for all streets. 

 
 
 
 
  

Figure 11-1 Street Design Elements 

Figure 11-2 Street Design with Parking Lane 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-4 

Table 11.40: Dimensional Requirements for Streets and Alleys 
Specification Arterial  

Street  
Collector  
Street  

Minor  
Street  

Marginal  
Access  

Alley 

A. Min. width of right-of-
way or private 
easement  

80 ft. 60 ft. 60 ft. 40 ft. 20 ft. 

B. Maintenance strip 1 ft. 1 ft. 1 ft. 1 ft. 1 ft. 
C. Min. sidewalk width- 

single-family 
residential 

5 ft. 5 ft. 5 ft. 5 ft. -- 

D. Min. sidewalk width- 
multi-family residential 

6 ft. 6 ft. 6 ft. 6 ft. -- 

E. Min. sidewalk width- 
commercial1 

8 ft. 8 ft. 8 ft. 8 ft. -- 

F. Min. tree yard2 6 ft. 6 ft. 4 ft. 4 ft. -- 
G. Curb and gutter (each 

side) 
2 ft. 2 ft. 2 ft. 2 ft. 2 ft. 

H. Pavement width 36 ft. 30 ft. 24 ft. 24 ft. 14 ft.3 
I. Parking Lane 8 ft. 8 ft. 8 ft. 8 ft. -- 

Section 11.50 Subdivision Lot Layout and Design    
A. Street Access. All lots shall front an existing public or private street unless performance guarantees are 

posted prior to the recording of a final plat. 

B. Lot Lines. Side lot lines shall be as nearly as practical at right angles to straight street lines and radial to 
curved street lines.  

C. Corner lots. Corner lots for residential use shall be provided with sufficient width and depth to permit 
the establishment of front and side street setbacks.  

D. Through Lots. Through lots shall only be permitted where it shall be found necessary to separate a 
development from major arterials or to overcome specific disadvantages or topography and 
orientation.  

E. Minimum Lot Elevation. No lot shall be approved that does not contain a suitable site of sufficient 
elevation to permit a finished floor elevation as required in the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance if 
located in a FEMA Special Flood Hazard Area, or at a greater elevation than the localized one (1) 
percent annual, 24-hour chance design storm event, if not located in a FEMA Special Flood Hazard Area.  

F. Residential Lots in Floodplain. Residential subdivision lots shall be prohibited within floodplain areas 
where the cost of providing governmental services in the area would pose an unreasonable economic 

 

1 May be waived industrial development. 
2 May be waived for industrial development. 
3 Pavement width shall be increased if required by the Fire Department. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-5 

burden.   

G. Lot Width and Lot Area Requirements. Lots shall conform to the lot area and lot width requirements as 
set forth by the applicable zoning district in which the subdivision is located or as required by the 
Chatham County Health Department. Where the Chatham County Health Department requires wider or 
larger lots for private water and sewer, the stricter requirement shall prevail. 

H. Commercial and Industrial Lots. Lots shall be of adequate depth and width for the type of commercial 
or industrial development contemplated and shall be sufficient in area and dimension to provide off-
street parking and loading facilities. 

I. Preservation of Noteworthy Features. In all subdivisions, to the maximum degree reasonably 
practicable, efforts shall be made to preserve historic sites, scenic points, trees in accordance with 
Article 10, and other desirable natural growths, watercourses and other water areas, and other 
features worthy of preservation, either as portions of public sites and open spaces, or in such other 
forms as to provide amenity to the neighborhood.  

1. Large trees or other desirable natural growths located in public or private street rights-of-way or 
public or private easements shall not be removed unless such removal is necessary for the 
installation of utilities or drainage structures or for other purposes in the public interest and 
approved by the Mayor and Council.  

2. Such removal may be prohibited if the amenity of adjacent property, or the amenity of the general 
neighborhood, is adversely affected. 

J. Exempt Lots. Lots that do not comply with the requirements of the applicable zoning district are 
prohibited, except as follows: 

1. Signage, Landscape Features. The creation of an unbuildable lot in a proposed subdivision for the 
exclusive purpose of subdivision identification signage or subdivision entrance landscape features is 
authorized only under the following circumstances (no waiver, exception or variance is allowed): 

a. The lot must be located at an entrance to the subdivision as an "island" in the right-of-way of a 
local or minor collector street; 

b. A mandatory homeowner's association is required for the subdivision for ownership and 
maintenance of the lot as common area. 

2. Stormwater Management Facilities. The creation of an un-buildable lot for the exclusive purpose of 
providing and maintaining a stormwater management facility is authorized. 

3. Private Streets. The creation of an un-buildable lot for the exclusive purpose of providing and 
maintaining a private street is authorized. 

4. Conservation Areas The creation of an un-buildable lot for the exclusive purpose of conserving land 
from development is authorized and must be recorded as such. 

5. Common Areas. The creation of an un-buildable lot, in common ownership, for the exclusive 
purpose of providing neighborhood amenities such as swimming pools or outdoor amenity space. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-6 

Section 11.60 Easements, Monuments, and Benchmarks    
A. Easements.  

1. Types. The following kinds of easements shall be required within subdivisions:  

a. Utility Easement. Utility easements for water, sewer, and gas shall be provided where 
necessary, shall not be less than five (5) feet in width, and shall be centered on side or rear 
property lines when possible. The location, elevation, and construction of all public utilities, 
such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems, and streets, shall be in such a manner as to 
minimize or eliminate damage by flooding.  

b. Drainage Easement. Where a subdivision is traversed by a water course, drainage way, channel, 
or stream, there shall be provided a stormwater easement or drainage right-of-way which shall 
conform substantially with the lines of such water course, drainageway, channel, or stream or 
shall be of such additional width or construction, or both, as will be adequate for the purpose.  

c. Maintenance Easement. Where a drainage canal is of such size that it requires mechanical 
means for cleaning, such as a dragline, there shall be a 12-foot access easement on either side 
of such canal for access purposes unless similarly sized areas already lie within the drainage 
right-of-way within which the canal is located.  

2. Width. Required easement widths shall be increased if required by the City Engineer or in 
accordance with the Comprehensive Development Manual. 

3. Dedication. Easements shall be noted on the preliminary plat and shall be dedicated prior to final 
plat approval. 

B. Monuments. The subdivider shall provide stone or concrete monuments four (4) inches in diameter or 
square, 30 inches long, with a flat top, which shall be set at each street corner, and at all points of 
curvature in each street. The top of the monument shall contain a metal pin or be scored with an 
indented cross to properly identify the location. The subdivider shall also provide all interior lot corners 
of subdivisions with concrete monuments, iron pins, or iron pipes. Iron pipes shall be at least one-half-
inch in diameter and 24 inches in length. 

C. Benchmarks. At least two (2) benchmarks shall be established within a subdivision. Such benchmarks 
shall be at opposite corners of the property being subdivided. 

Section 11.70 Water Supply and Sanitary Sewerage    
A. Public Water and Public Sewerage.  

1. When available in accordance with the Environmental Protection Division (EPD) of the Georgia 
Department of Natural Resources and City of Port Wentworth requirements, every portion of a 
subdivision shall be served by public water; when feasible, as determined by the Mayor and 
Council, every portion of a subdivision shall be served by a sanitary sewer system. All such systems 
shall be designed to preclude infiltration of flood waters into the system and discharges from the 
system into flood waters.  

2. Water and sewer systems must be constructed in accordance with EPD and City of Port Wentworth 
design specifications; sewer systems must connect to an existing publicly-owned treatment plant, 
where practical, and both water and sewer systems and trunk lines shall be conveyed to the City of 
Port Wentworth. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-7 

3. When sewer is available, connections will be required to lots that were previously approved with 
septic systems. 

B. Private Water and Private Sewerage. Where either public water or public sewers or both are not 
available to a subdivision as determined by the Mayor and Council and a subdivider shall decide to 
establish a private water supply system and a private sewer system, then the plans and specifications 
for such private water system and sewer shall be approved by the Chatham County Health Department 
and the Mayor and Council. Any such private systems shall be so located as to avoid impairment of 
them, or contamination from them, during times of flooding.  

C. Publicly-Owned Water and Sewer Systems.  

D. Fire Hydrants. Fire hydrants shall be required for all subdivisions by a public or private internal water 
distribution system and shall be located and designed in accordance with the standards as set forth in 
the "Standard Fire Prevention Code," 1985 edition as amended, Section 603.1.3.  

E. Non-Potable Reuse Line (NPRC). A non-potable reuse water main shall be installed in a subdivision. The 
system shall include reuse water mains, valves, fittings, and hydrants and shall be installed in 
accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the City of Port Wentworth. The system shall 
be designed and installed in accordance with the City of Comprehensive Development Manual. 

Section 11.80 Subdivision Modifications  
When a peculiar shape, the topography of a tract of land, or other unusual condition, makes it impractical 
for a developer to comply with the literal interpretations of the design requirements of this article, the City 
Council, following a recommendation of the Planning Commission, may approve modifications to the design 
requirements in this article as part of preliminary plat review; provided, however, that in so doing the 
intent and purpose of this article are not violated. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 11. Streets and Subdivision Design 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 11-8 

This page is intentionally blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part IV 

 
 
 
 
Part IV. Review Processes and 
Standards 
 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Part IV. Review Processes and Standards 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Update Part IV 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 12-1 

Article 12. General Processes 
 

Section 12.10 Intent and Purpose    
Intent and Purpose. The intent and purpose of this article are to establish a uniform set of submittal, 
processing, and review requirements for land development proposals and new structure requests to 
determine compliance with the requirements and standards of this ordinance. 

Section 12.20 Application, Contents, Fees, and Completeness  
A. Application.  

1. Application. Requests for review and approval of uses, activities, construction, and development 
required by the Zoning Ordinance shall be provided on official City application forms. An application 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department during normal office hours. 

2. Authority to File Applications. Applications shall only be submitted by an owner of the property 
subject to the request or an agent authorized in writing by the owner. 

3. Deadline. For all requests that require Planning Commission or Zoning Board of Appeals review, 
complete applications shall be submitted by the deadlines established by the Planning Commission 
and Zoning Board of Appeals for the meeting in which the applicant desires the request to be 
considered. 

4. Contact Person and Meeting Representation. The application shall indicate one (1) person as the 
primary contact. The Zoning Administrator or other authorized City official will communicate with 
the contact person concerning the application and review procedures. The applicant shall notify the 
City in writing if there is a change in the contact person. The contact person shall be present at all 
scheduled review meetings, or consideration of the application may be postponed due to lack of 
representation. 

B. Fees.  

1. Administrative Fee. Required administrative fees shall be paid to the City at the time of application 
submittal. Administrative fees are non-refundable unless the project is withdrawn prior to 
administrative time and effort spent on review and processing. The fee schedule is set and 
approved by the City Council. 

2. Professional Review Fees. An applicant shall also submit a professional review fee set and approved 
by the City Council. This fee is an estimate of the costs which may be incurred by the City in 
reviewing and acting upon development proposals. 

C. Content. Applicants shall refer to the submittal checklists and shall provide the items required that are 
specific to the request. 

D. Completeness Review.  

1. Requirement. An application submitted for review in accordance with this article shall be submitted 
in complete form, including the application, required checklist items, and applicable fees. 

2. Completeness Determination. If deemed to be complete by the Zoning Administrator or other 
authorized City official, an application will be formally processed and reviewed. If the Zoning 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 12. General Processes 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 12-2 

Administrator or other authorized City official waives required checklist items, the application may 
be deemed complete if all other items are received.  

3. Incomplete Application. If deemed incomplete by the Zoning Administrator or other authorized City 
official, the applicant will be informed within 14 days of such determination, and the application 
will not be formally processed and reviewed until it is determined to be complete. 

Section 12.30 Review Authorities and Application Types  
A. Review Authorities. Table 12.30 summarizes application types and review authorities under the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

Table 12.30: Review Authorities 
Application Type Zoning 

Admin. 
Planning 
Commission 

City Council Zoning Board of 
Appeals 

Legislative Review 
Zoning Text Amendment R R (PH) D (PH) -- 
Zoning Map Amendments R R (PH) D (PH) -- 
PUD Concept Plan and 
Rezoning R R (PH) D (PH) -- 

Special Use Permit R R (PH) D (PH) -- 
Subdivision Review 
Preliminary Plat R R D -- 
Final Plat with Dedication R -- D -- 
Final Plat (exempt, minor, 
and major amendments) 
without Dedication 

D -- -- A (PH) 

Permit Review 
Concept Site Plan and Major 
Amendments  R R D  -- 

Minor Changes to Concept 
Site Plans and Final Site 
Plans 

D -- -- A (PH) 

Final Site Plans D -- -- A (PH) 
Final PUD Plan D -- -- A (PH) 
Tree Removal Permit D -- -- A (PH) 
Zoning Permit D -- -- A (PH) 
Administrative Plan and 
Amendment D -- -- A (PH) 

Relief 
Administrative Adjustment D -- -- A (PH) 
Variance R -- -- D (PH) 
R= review and recommendation authority; D= decision-making authority; A= appeal authority; 
(PH)= A public hearing is required 
 

 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 12. General Processes 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 12-3 

B. Zoning Administrator Reviews.  

1. Zoning Permits. 

a. Zoning Permit- Use Compliance. A change from one permitted use to another permitted use, or 
establishment of a new permitted use, is subject to a use compliance review.  

b. Zoning Permit- Structure Compliance. Buildings and structures that do not require site plan 
review per this ordinance are reviewed administratively. Zoning permits are valid for one (1) 
year and expire if the structure or building construction does not commence within this 
timeframe.  

c. Zoning Permit- Certification of Site Compliance. Once all site work associated with a site plan is 
complete, the Zoning Administrator shall issue a zoning permit. 

d. Zoning Permit- Minor Site Plan Amendment. For a minor amendment to a site plan in 
accordance with this ordinance which meets zoning requirements, the City Manager shall issue 
a zoning permit.  

2. Building Permits and Certificates of Occupancy. Building permits and certificates of occupancy are 
processed in accordance with the building code. However, as the process relates to the Zoning 
Ordinance, the following applies: 

a. Building permits shall not be issued for building construction until all applicable zoning and site 
plan approvals are secured, as applicable, and after all conditions of approval are satisfied. 
However, at the discretion of the Zoning Administrator, building permits may be issued 
conditionally so long as site plan requirements are satisfied prior to the issuance of a certificate 
of occupancy.  

b. Certificates of Occupancy shall not be issued until all applicable site improvements are installed 
and certified as complete by the Zoning Administrator or other authorized City Official. 
However, at the discretion of the Zoning Administrator, Temporary Certificates of Occupancy 
may be issued conditionally so long as required site improvements are completed within a 
specified timeframe. Performance guarantees may be required pursuant to this ordinance. 

Section 12.40 Notices for Public Hearings 
A. Requirements. Whenever a public hearing is required by this ordinance, the notification requirements 

of this section shall be followed. 

B. Legal Notice. Notice of public hearings shall be published within a newspaper of general circulation 
within the City in which are carried the legal advertisements of the City or as permitted by State law. 
The notice shall state the time, place, and purpose of the hearing and include the location of the 
property that is the subject of the zoning action, the present zoning district of the property, and the 
proposed zoning district or proposed zoning action, as applicable. The notice shall be published once, at 
least 15 days but not more than 45 days, prior to the date of the hearing. 

C. Signs Posted. Where a zoning action of property is initiated by an individual or a property owner, the 
zoning administrator shall post a sign at least 15 days prior to the required public hearing in a 
conspicuous place on the property that is the subject of an application. The sign or signs will contain 
information as to the current zoning district, the proposed zoning district or zoning action, and the 
date, time, and location of the public hearing. 

D. Notification to Adjacent Property Owners. At least 15 days, but not more than 45 days before the date 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 12. General Processes 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 12-4 

of the public hearing, a notice setting forth the date, time, and place for the hearing shall be sent by 
mail to the applicant, the mayor and council, and all owners of property located adjacent to, or within 
300 feet of, or across a public right-of-way from the property that is the subject of the zoning 
application. The notice shall also include the location of the property, its present zoning classification, 
and the proposed zoning classification or requested zoning action. The names and addresses of owners 
of those properties to be notified shall be provided by the applicant. However, where a map 
amendment is initiated by the Planning Commission the names and addresses of those adjacent 
property owners shall be provided by the Zoning Administrator. Failure of the Zoning Administrator to 
send notices or failure of the property owner to receive notice shall not affect the validity of any zoning 
action. This procedure exists as a supplement to the legally required notification procedures. 

Section 12.50 Decisions and Records 
A. Recommendations. A recommending authority shall review an application against applicable zoning 

requirements and standards and shall provide a recommendation to the decision-making authority.   

B. Decisions. The decision-making authority provides final decisions on all applications. 

C. Appeals. Final decisions may be appealed to an appeal authority. 

D. Actions. Recommendations and final decisions are limited to the following: 

1. Approval. 

2. Approval with conditions. 

3. Denial. 

4. Postpone or table action (not available for zoning permit reviews). 

E. Records and Findings. Action taken regarding an application, along with the findings in support of that 
action, shall be recorded in the meeting minutes and by resolution or ordinance, if applicable. Actions 
of the Zoning Administrator shall be documented in writing. Copies of all officially approved plans shall 
be filed at the City Offices. 

Section 12.60 Conditions of Approval 
A. Applicability. Reasonable conditions of approval may be recommended by the Planning Commission 

and approved by the City Council for rezonings, Planned Unit Developments, and special use approvals. 
Conditions may also be applied to variance approvals by the Zoning Board of Appeals. 

B. Criteria. Conditions shall be designed to ensure compliance with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance 
and shall be based on the following criteria. Conditions shall: 

1. ensure that there will be no adverse impact on public services and facilities; 

2. ensure that the use is compatible with adjacent and nearby land uses and activities; 

3. protect natural resources; the health, safety, welfare, and social and economic well-being of those 
who will use the land use or activity under consideration; residents and landowners immediately 
adjacent to the proposed land use or activity; and the community as a whole; 

4. ensure compatibility between the proposed use or activity and the rights of the City to perform its 
governmental functions; 

5. meet the intent and purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, be related to the regulations and standards 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 12. General Processes 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 12-5 

established in the ordinance for the land use or activity under consideration and be necessary to 
ensure compliance with those standards; and 

6. ensure compliance with the intent of other City ordinances that are applicable to the site plan. 

C. Performance Guarantee. A performance guarantee in accordance with this ordinance may be 
incorporated as a condition of approval. 

Section 12.70 Performance Guarantees 
To ensure compliance with this ordinance and any conditions of project approval, the City may require a 
cash deposit, certified check, irrevocable letter of credit, or surety bond covering the estimated cost of 
improvements to be accepted by the city to ensure completion of the improvements. The performance 
guarantee shall be deposited at the time of the issuance of the permit authorizing the activity or project. 
The City shall not require the deposit of the performance guarantee until it is prepared to issue the permit. 
The City shall rebate cash deposits based on an established policy. The monetary value of a performance 
guarantee shall be approved by the City Engineer and Zoning Administrator. 

Section 12.80 Administrative Adjustments 
A. Purpose. Administrative adjustments are intended to allow the Zoning Administrator or their designee 

to review and approve minor deviations from specified zoning requirements. This authority provides 
limited flexibility to consider requests for adjustments without requiring an applicant to seek a variance 
or amendment to this ordinance. 

B. Process and Authority. An administrative adjustment shall only be reviewed as part of a formal 
development application or as a minor amendment to a plan. The Zoning Administrator or their 
designee may approve an adjustment if the applicant provides justification that the adjustment will 
address an unusual or unique site or building condition and does not result in an adverse or 
incompatible effect on adjacent property. At their discretion, Zoning Administrator or their designee 
may forward the adjustment request to the Planning Commission for review and action. 

C. Justification. The applicant shall submit documented justification for the request and demonstrate that 
there is an unusual or unique site or building condition that warrants an adjustment. 

D. Effect of Approval. An administrative adjustment shall only apply to the specific requirement and 
aspect of a site plan or building plan as indicated on the plan and is only valid if developed or built in 
the manner shown on the plan. 

E. Validity. Approval of an administrative adjustment expires in two (2) years unless substantial 
construction has commenced and is continuing. 

F. Allowable Administrative Adjustments. The Zoning Administrator or their designee may grant 
adjustments for the following requirements to the limitations noted in Table 12.80. 

Table 12.80: Allowable Administrative Adjustments 
Requirement Limitation of 

Adjustment (maximum) 
Lot Requirements 
Minimum lot area 10% 
Minimum lot width 10% 
Minimum lot frontage 10% 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 12. General Processes 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 12-6 

Table 12.80: Allowable Administrative Adjustments 
Requirement Limitation of 

Adjustment (maximum) 
Building Requirements 
Maximum building height 10% 
Maximum building coverage 10% 
Minimum front setback 10% 
Minimum street side setback 10% 
Minimum side setback 10% 
Minimum rear setback 10% 
Projection into setback 10% 
Projection past height maximum 10% 
Accessory building size and height 10% 
Development Requirements 
Fence or wall height 10% 
Landscaping numeric requirements 10% 
Light fixture height 10% 

G. Prohibited Adjustments. Any adjustment inconsistent with adopted building codes, fire codes, and 
engineering requirements, or the use of an adjustment on the same requirement and aspect of a site, is 
prohibited.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-1 

Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 
 

Section 13.10 Intent and Purpose    
The intent of this article is to establish a uniform set of requirements for the planning and design of 
developments within the City to achieve the following objectives to determine compliance with the 
provisions of this ordinance.  

Section 13.20 Applicability   
Varying levels of site t plan review are established, depending on the scale of the proposed development 
and potential impacts it may have on the community and immediate surroundings. This section defines the 
parameters under which varied levels of plans will be required for all commercial, industrial, institutional, 
and residential development and defines the required review as follows: 

A. Administrative Review. The Zoning Administrator shall review site plans in connection with the 
creation of a use or the erection of a building or structure as indicated in Table 13.20. 

B. Preliminary Concept Plan Review. After review and recommendation by the Planning Commission, the 
City Council shall act upon all concept plans in connection with the creation of a PUD district and as 
otherwise required in Table 13.20. 

C. Final Plan Review. The Zoning Administrator shall act upon all final site development plans as indicated 
in Table 13.20. 

D. Applicable Projects. Table 13.20 specifies the project categories applicable to each level of site 
development plan review. 

Table 13.20: Site Plan Review  
Applicable Projects Administrative Concept Final 
Requests for Land Disturbance Permit X   
Construction of a new accessory building, not exceeding 
1,000 sq. ft. X   

Additions of less than 20 percent of the current gross floor 
area of an existing building or 5,000 sq. ft., whichever is 
less, in any zoning district 

X   

Changes in the use of any existing building in any zoning 
district; provided, the use is a “permitted” use in that 
district and any expansion does not exceed 20 percent or 
5,000 sq. ft., as stated above 

X   

Construction or expansion of a parking lot, not involving 
new buildings or additions  X   

Minor changes to an approved site plan, as specified in 
Section 13.80 X   

New construction of a principal building in any zoning 
district  X X 

Construction of a new accessory building, greater than 
1,000 sq. ft.   X 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-2 

Table 13.20: Site Plan Review  
Applicable Projects Administrative Concept Final 
Major changes to an approved site plan, as specified in 
Section 13.80  X X 

When, in the opinion of the Zoning Administrator, a 
project which otherwise qualifies for administrative review 
may have a significant impact on surrounding properties, 
they may, in their sole discretion, submit the site plan to 
the Planning Commission for a recommendation, based on 
the standards of Section 13.60 and any additional 
information needed to make an informed decision. The 
Zoning Administrator shall then make the final decision. 

X   

Section 13.30 Exemptions 
Site t plan review shall not be required for a single or two-family dwelling when permitted by right on a lot 
on which there exists no other building or use or for any minor home occupation or accessory building in a 
residential district or residential planned unit development. 

Section 13.40 Process  
The process of reviewing a site plan shall be as follows: 

A. Administrative Plan Reviews. Administrative reviews shall be performed by the Zoning Administrator 
as follows: 

1. The applicant shall submit an application, checklist materials, and fees in accordance with Section 
12.20 A-C. 

2. The Zoning Administrator shall review the site plan for completeness in accordance with Section 
12.20 D and shall obtain comments, as they consider necessary, from City departments or 
consultants.  

3. The Zoning Administrator shall consider the site plan, any comment received, and the applicable 
standards of this ordinance and shall act upon the plan in accordance with Sections 12.50 and 
13.60. The Zoning Administrator may submit the application to the Planning Commission for 
comment. 

4. The reasons for the Zoning Administrator‘s action, along with any conditions that may be 
attached, shall be stated in writing and provided to the applicant, pursuant to Section 12.50. 

5. If approved, then two (2) copies of the approved site plan shall be signed and dated by the Zoning 
Administrator and the applicant. One (1) copy shall be kept on file with the City and one (1) copy 
shall be returned to the applicant or his designated representative. If the plan is approved with 
conditions, a revised plan, including an electronic version, shall be submitted reflecting those 
conditions and signed by the applicant and Zoning Administrator prior to issuance of any permits. 

B. Concept Plan Reviews. Concept plan reviews shall be performed by the Planning Commission and City 
Council in accordance with the procedures described below.  

1. Prior to submitting an application for concept plan review, the prospective applicant shall 
conduct a neighborhood meeting to present the concept development plan and invite comments. 
The meeting shall be scheduled in the evening for the convenience of the potential participants. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-3 

Invitations shall be sent by the prospective applicant by first-class US mail or hand-delivered to all 
property owners within 300 feet of the subject property. The prospective applicant shall 
document the meeting indicating the location, list of those invited, number of attendees, 
comments received, and how (or if) the comments are addressed in the concept development 
plan to be submitted to the City. 

2. Following the required neighborhood meeting, copies of a complete preliminary concept plan 
and an electronic version, in a quantity and format specified by the City shall be submitted to the 
Zoning Administrator along with an application for that purpose, documentation of the 
neighborhood meeting, and a fee, as established by the City Council. 

3. The Zoning Administrator shall review the preliminary concept plan development plan for 
completeness in accordance with Section 12.20 D. 

4. Once the concept plan is complete, the Zoning Administrator shall transmit the plan, along with 
comments from City departments and consultants, to the Planning Commission for consideration 
at an upcoming meeting, not to exceed 60 days from the determination of completeness. 

5. The Planning Commission shall consider the concept plan and shall act in accordance with this 
ordinance. While comments from the neighborhood meeting may be considered, the Planning 
Commission review shall be based on the requirements of this article and the review standards of 
Section 13.60. The Planning Commission shall render its decision in accordance with Section 
12.50 and shall conform with Section 13.60 for any recommended conditions of approval. 

6. The reasons for the Planning Commission’s recommendation, along with any proposed 
conditions, shall be forwarded to the City Council for action on the request. While comments 
from the required neighborhood meeting may be considered, the City Council shall make its 
decision based on the requirements of this article, the standards of section 13.60, and the 
Planning Commission recommendation. 

7. If approved, then two (2) copies of the concept plan shall be signed and dated by the mayor and 
the applicant. One (1) copy shall be kept on file with the City, and one (1) copy shall be returned 
to the applicant or their designated representative. If the plan is approved with conditions, a 
revised plan, including an electronic version, shall be submitted reflecting those conditions and 
signed by the applicant and the mayor prior to the issuance of any permits. 

8. Development approval in the concept plan may be constructed in one or more phases.  

C. Final Plan Reviews. Final site plan review shall be performed by the Zoning Administrator, as follows: 

1. The applicant shall submit an application, checklist materials, and fees in accordance with Section 
12.20 A-C. 

2. The Zoning Administrator shall review the site plan for completeness in accordance with Section 
12.20 D and shall obtain comments, as they consider necessary, from City departments or 
consultants.  

3. The final site plan shall conform to the concept plan in all relevant aspects such as use, building 
size and location, parking, access, buffering, and open space. If significant deviations are noted, 
then the plan shall be reviewed as a concept plan in accordance with the procedures of this 
article and then resubmitted with revisions, if any, for final plan review. 

4. Once the site plan is complete and addresses the substantive review comments from staff and 
consultants, the site plan shall be transmitted to the Zoning Administrator for action. The Zoning 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 163

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-4 

Administrator, at their discretion, may forward the plan to the Planning Commission for a 
recommendation.  

5. The Zoning Administrator shall consider the site plan and shall approve, approve with conditions, 
or deny the plan, in accordance with this ordinance. The Zoning Administrator shall render its 
decision in accordance with Section 12.50 and shall conform with Section 13.60 for any 
conditions of approval. The Zoning Administrator’s review shall be based on the requirements of 
and conformity with this article and this ordinance, including the standards of Section 13.60. 

6. If approved, then two (2) copies of the final site plan shall be signed and dated by the Zoning 
Administrator and the applicant. One (1) copy shall be kept on file with the City, and one (1) copy 
shall be returned to the applicant or his designated representative. If the plan is approved with 
conditions, a revised plan, including an electronic version, shall be submitted reflecting those 
conditions and signed by the applicant and the Zoning Administrator prior to issuance of any 
permits. 

Section 13.50 Development Plan Requirements 
A. Required Content. Each site development plan shall contain the following information. Incomplete 

plans may be returned to the applicant without further processing until fully compliant with the 
requirements of this section. 

 

Table 13.50: Development Plan Required Information 

Required Information Site Development Plan Level 
Administrative Concept Final 

General Information 
Date, north arrow and scale X X X 
Name and address of property owner and petitioner X X X 
Location sketch X X X 
Legal description of the subject property X X X 
Boundary survey X X X 
Size of subject property (in acres) X X X 
Name and firm address of plan preparer X X X 
Preparer’s professional seal    X 
Existing Conditions 
Existing zoning classification of subject property X X X 
Property lines and required setbacks X X X 
Location, width and purpose of all easements X X X 
Location and dimensions of all existing structures on the 
property X X X 

Location of all existing driveways, parking areas and total 
number of existing parking spaces on the property X X X 

Location of all existing structures, driveways and parking 
areas within 100 feet of the subject property  X X 

Location of all existing structures, driveways and parking 
areas within 50 feet of the subject property X   

Abutting street right-of-way width  X X 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-5 

Table 13.50: Development Plan Required Information 

Required Information Site Development Plan Level 
Administrative Concept Final 

Existing water bodies (rivers, streams, marshes, etc.) X X X 
Tree survey (see Section 10.4 D.2.c)  X  
Size and location of existing utilities (water, sanitary and 
storm) X X X 

Location of all existing surface water drainage facilities X X X 
Proposed Development 
Layout and typical dimensions of proposed parcels and 
lots  X X 

Location and dimensions of all proposed buildings X X X 
Finished floor elevations of all buildings X  X 
Number of proposed dwelling units (by type – detached, 
attached, multiple-family, etc.)  X X 

Location of all proposed streets, drives and sidewalks X X X 
Dimensions and radii of proposed drives, 
acceleration/deceleration lanes and sidewalks  X  X 

Curbing, parking areas (including dimensions of typical 
space and total number of spaces to be provided), and 
unloading areas 

X  X 

Location of walls and fences  X X X 
Height and materials of walls and fences   X 
Recreation areas, common use areas, dedicated open 
space and areas to be conveyed for common or public 
use 

X X X 

All deed restrictions or covenants   X 
General design concept for landscaped areas, including buffers 
and other interior areas of the site  X  

Landscape plan, per Article 10   X 
Exterior lighting location, fixture type   X 
Signs (location, dimensions, setbacks) X  X 
Proposed method of handling sanitary sewage and 
providing potable water X X X 

Size and location of proposed utilities, including 
connections to public sewer and water supply systems   X 

Location of fire hydrants and spacing between hydrants   X 
Concept grading plan w/one (1) foot contours showing 
proposed changes to existing site  X  

Final grading plan w/one (1) foot contours   X 
Generalized location and type of stormwater drainage 
facilities  X  

Storm drainage system, including location of catch 
basins, manholes, detention pond design, and materials   X 

Narrative description of the project including proposed 
use, existing floor area (square feet), size of proposed X X  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-6 

Table 13.50: Development Plan Required Information 

Required Information Site Development Plan Level 
Administrative Concept Final 

expansion (square feet), and any change in the number 
of parking spaces 
Building Details 
Typical elevation views of all sides of each building type  X X 
Elevation views of building additions X X X 
Color and material specifications X X X 
Building height X X X 
Gross and net floor area of non-residential buildings X X  
Livable floor area of dwellings by type X  X 
Additional Information 
Traffic impact analysis, as required by Section 8.90.  X  
Any other information required by the Zoning 
Administrator, Planning Commission, City Council, or City 
Manager to demonstrate compliance with other 
applicable provisions of this ordinance 

X X X 

B. Information Waiver. Specific requirements of any site plan may be waived in accordance with Section 
12.20 D. 

Section 13.60 Review Standards 
Site plans shall be approved upon a finding of compliance with the following standards: 

A. The plan must comply with all standards of this article and all applicable requirements of this ordinance 
and all other applicable laws and regulations. 

B. The site must be designed to minimize hazards to adjacent property and to reduce the negative effects 
of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, and glare to the surrounding area. Compliance with the standards of 
Section 13.60.C. shall be deemed to satisfy the requirements of this provision.  

C. Unless a more specific design standard is required by the City through a different ordinance, all uses 
and structures subject to site plan review shall comply with the following standards: 

1. Traffic Circulation. The number, location, size of access and entry points, and internal vehicular and 
pedestrian circulation routes shall be designed to promote safe and efficient access to and from the 
site, and circulation within the site. In reviewing traffic features, the number, spacing, and 
alignment of existing and proposed access points shall be considered relative to their impact on 
traffic movement on abutting streets and adjacent properties. Right-of-way recommendations for 
streets shall be met and setbacks from such streets shall be measured accordingly. 

2. Stormwater. Stormwater detention and drainage systems shall be designed so the removal of 
surface waters will not adversely affect neighboring properties or public stormwater drainage 
systems. Stormwater detention and drainage systems shall comply with the requirements of this 
ordinance. 

3. Landscaping. Tree preservation and landscaping shall comply with the requirements of this 
ordinance. 

4. Lighting. Lighting shall comply with the requirements of this ordinance. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 166

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-7 

5. Utility Service. All utility service shall be underground, unless impractical and approved by the City 
engineer. Utility service shall comply with the requirements of this ordinance. 

6. Exterior Uses. Exposed storage areas, machinery, heating and cooling units, service areas, loading 
areas, utility buildings and structures, and similar accessory areas shall comply with the 
requirements of this ordinance. 

7. Emergency Access. All buildings and structures shall be readily accessible to emergency vehicles, 
and shall comply with the requirements of this ordinance. 

8. Water and Sewer. Water and sewer installations shall comply with all City codes and ordinances 
and with the requirements of this ordinance. 

9. Signs. Signs shall comply with all City codes and ordinances and with the requirements of this 
ordinance. 

10. Building Design. New or substantially remodeled buildings shall comply with the requirements of 
this ordinance. 

Section 13.70 Conditions 
Conditions which are designed to ensure compliance with the intent and regulations of this ordinance and 
the City code of ordinances may be imposed on site plan approval in accordance with Section 12.60. 

Section 13.80 Changes to an Approved Site Plan 
Projects shall be developed in full compliance with the approved site plan unless a change is requested and 
approved in accordance with this section. Changes to an approved site plan shall be permitted only under 
the following circumstances: 

A. The holder of an approved site plan shall notify the Zoning Administrator of any proposed change to 
the plan. 

B. Changes to an administrative site plan may be approved by the Zoning Administrator. 

C. Minor changes to a concept plan or site plan may be approved by the Zoning Administrator upon 
determining that the proposed revision(s) will not alter the basic design, nor any specified conditions 
imposed as part of the original approval. Minor changes shall include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

1. Change in building size up to 20 percent of total approved floor area, not exceeding 5,000 sq. ft. 

2. Movement of buildings or other structures by no more than 10 feet.  

3. Alterations to parking layout; provided, the number of parking spaces does not increase by more 
than 10 percent of the approved total and the number or location of access drives does not 
change. 

4. Replacement of plant material specified in the landscape plan with comparable materials of an 
equal or greater size. 

5. Changes in building materials to materials of a comparable or higher quality. 

6. Changes in floor plans which do not alter the character of the use. 

7. Changes required or requested by a City, county, state, or federal regulatory agency in order to 
conform to other laws or regulations. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 13. Site Development Plan Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 13-8 

D. Major changes to concept plans or site plans shall be reviewed in the same manner as the original 
application, pursuant to this ordinance. 

Section 13.90 Expiration 
A. An application for final site plan approval shall be submitted within 24 months of the date on which the 

concept site plan was approved. If an application for final site plan approval is submitted more than 24 
months after the date on which the concept site plan was approved, then such application shall be 
reviewed in the same manner as the original concept plan. If a project is to be completed in phases, this 
requirement shall apply to each phase.  

B. Final site plan approval shall expire 24 months from the date of its approval unless substantial 
construction has commenced and is continuing. For the purpose of this section, “substantial” shall be a 
determination by the Zoning Administrator, who may request City staff or consultants assist in such 
determination. Such determination shall comply with Section 12.50. 

C. The Zoning Administrator may grant two (2) extensions of up to 24 additional months each; provided 
the applicant requests an extension, in writing, prior to the date on which the final site plan is due or 
the expiration date of the approval of the final site plan. The extension shall be approved if the 
applicant presents reasonable evidence to the effect that the development has encountered difficulties 
beyond the control of the applicant, and the final site plan will be submitted, or construction will 
proceed within the extension period. The Zoning Administrator shall also consider changing conditions 
in the area, such as recent development, and whether an extension is appropriate considering the 
potential impact on the changed conditions. 

Section 13.100 Prior Approved Plans 
Any plan pending or previously approved shall follow Section 1.70, Transitional Provisions. 

Section 13.110 Appeal 
The applicant may appeal any decision of the Zoning Administrator or any condition of approval by the 
Zoning Administrator to the Zoning Board of Appeals. The applicant may appeal any decision of the City 
Council pursuant to this ordinance, the City code, or State law. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 168

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 14-1 

Article 14. Special Use Permit Review 
 

Section 14.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Intent and Description. A special use permit is intended to manage specific land uses that may 

potentially impact or interfere with surrounding land uses; the natural environment; public 
infrastructure and services; and/or public health, safety, and welfare. Land uses that require special use 
permits are often desired by the community at large, but by their very nature, may:  

1. have a tendency to generate excessive traffic; 

2. have a potential for a large number of persons to be attracted to the area of the use, thus creating 
noise or other pollutants; 

3. have a detrimental effect on the value of potential development of other properties in the 
neighborhood; or 

4. create a higher potential for accidents or danger to public health or safety.  

B. Conditions and Safeguards. Special use permit approval may require the application of imposition of 
conditions to ensure safeguards for neighboring property owners and the general public. 

Section 14.20 Applicability  
A. Permit Required. Any use classified as requiring a special use permit pursuant to this ordinance shall be 

reviewed in accordance with this article and shall not be commenced without a valid special use permit 
and other applicable site development plan approvals, zoning permits, and building permits. 

B. Resubmittal. No application for a special use permit for the same use affecting the same or any portion 
of the property that was denied by the City Council will be accepted for filing within six (6) months of 
the date the application was denied. 

C. Ownership. A special use permit shall run with the land. Change in property ownership does not 
invalidate the special use permit, provided the operation remains compliant with this ordinance and 
any conditions of approval.  

Section 14.30 Process  
A. Process. Review of a special use permit shall either precede or proceed concurrently with a concept site 

plan review, and may proceed concurrently with, a property’s rezoning application, hearing, and 
consideration. Any applications or reviews that run concurrently shall be considered separate and 
distinct from each other. A public hearing shall be held by the City Council prior to action on a special 
use permit. If approved, concept and final site plan review shall be required if the use is proposed with 
associated site improvements or building construction. 

1. The Zoning Administrator shall review the special use permit application for completeness in 
accordance with Section 12.20 D and shall obtain comments, as they consider necessary, from City 
departments or consultants.  

2. Once the application is complete, the Zoning Administrator shall transmit the plan, along with 
comments from City departments and consultants to the Planning Commission for consideration at 
an upcoming meeting, not to exceed 60 days from the determination of completeness 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 14. Special Use Permit Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 14-2 

3. The Planning Commission shall consider the application and shall act in accordance with this 
ordinance. The Planning Commission review shall be based on the requirements of this article and 
the review standards of Section 14.40. The Planning Commission shall render its decision in 
accordance with Section 12.50 and shall conform with Section 12.60 for any recommended 
conditions of approval. 

4. The reasons for the Planning Commission’s recommendation, along with any proposed conditions, 
shall be forwarded to the City Council for action on the request.   

5. The City Council shall hold a public hearing in accordance with this ordinance and shall make its 
decision based on the requirements of this article, the standards of Section 14.40, and the 
comments from the public comments and Planning Commission recommendation. 

B. Permits and Conditions. If approved, then two (2) copies of the special use permit and concept plan, if 
applicable, shall be signed and dated by the mayor and the applicant. One (1) copy shall be kept on file 
with the City and one (1) copy shall be returned to the applicant or their designated representative. If 
the permit is approved with conditions, a revised concept plan, including an electronic version, shall be 
submitted reflecting those conditions and signed by the applicant and the mayor prior to the issuance 
of any future permits. 

Section 14.40 Review Standards 
Special use permits shall be approved only upon a finding of compliance with the following standards: 

A. Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan. The special use will be consistent with the goals, intent, 
and purposes of the City of Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan. 

B. Use Compatibility and Character. The special use and associated building construction and site 
development will be designed, constructed, operated, and maintained to ensure compatibility with 
adjacent and nearby land uses, compatibility with the property’s zoning classification, and it will 
consider the essential character of the area in which it is proposed. Further, it will not impede the 
normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding property. 

C. Public Services and Infrastructure. The site and the land use will be adequately served by essential 
infrastructure and services, such as roads, stormwater drainage infrastructure, schools, law 
enforcement, and fire protection; will not create excessive additional requirements at public cost for 
infrastructure; will not be detrimental to the economic welfare of the community; and will not prevent 
the City from maintaining sufficient levels of service to existing development. 

D. Impact and Nuisances. The use and its site design will not be hazardous or disturbing to existing or 
future uses in the same general vicinity and the community as a whole, and it will not involve uses, 
activities, processes, materials, equipment, or conditions of operation that will be detrimental to 
persons, property or general welfare because of excessive activity, noise, vibration, smoke, fumes, 
glare, odor, or visual impact. 

E. Environmental Impact. The protection of existing sensitive natural resources shall be considered during 
site design, as applicable, to the maximum extent practical, or the impact shall be effectively mitigated. 
The special use and associated building construction and site development will not cause irreversible 
environmental degradation and damage.  

F. Traffic. The use will not result in unsafe traffic conditions or negative impacts on bicycle and pedestrian 
travel and shall comply with the number, spacing, and alignment of existing and proposed access points 
relative to their impact on traffic movement on abutting streets and adjacent properties, as specified in 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 170

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 14. Special Use Permit Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 14-3 

Sec. 8.100 

Section 14.50 Conditions 
Conditions which are designed to ensure compliance with the intent of this ordinance and the City of Port 
Wentworth code of ordinances may be imposed on special use permit approval in accordance with Section 
12.60. Any modification of a condition of approval following City Council approval shall be processed in the 
same manner as the original application. 

Section 14.60 Appeal 
Decisions regarding special use permits by the City Council are final. An appellant may appeal the decision 
of the City Council pursuant to this ordinance, the City code, or State law. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 14. Special Use Permit Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 14-4 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 15-1 

Article 15. Planned Unit Development Review 
 

Section 15.10 Intent and Purpose    
This article establishes the application and review procedures to be followed when considering a request 
for Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning approval. 

Section 15.20 Application Process   
A. Pre-application Conference. Prior to submitting a formal application, the applicant shall schedule a 

meeting with the Zoning Administrator to discuss the zoning classification of the site, the applicable 
requirements and materials, the qualifying conditions, the review procedures, and the proposed 
development concept. The Zoning Administrator shall notify other appropriate staff and/or City 
officials. The purpose of this meeting is to discuss the proposed project and provide relevant 
information to the applicant. However, no statements or representations made at this meeting shall be 
construed to be a commitment or an assurance of approval on the part of the City. 

B. Neighborhood Meeting. Following the pre-application conference and prior to submitting an 
application, the prospective applicant shall conduct a neighborhood meeting to present the concept 
PUD plan and invite comments. The meeting should be scheduled in the evening for the convenience of 
the potential participants. Invitations, at a minimum, shall be sent by the prospective applicant via US 
mail or hand-delivered to all property owners within 300 feet of the subject property. The prospective 
applicant shall document the meeting indicating the location, list of those invited, number of 
attendees, comments received, and how (or if) the comments are addressed in the concept PUD plan to 
be submitted to the City. 

C. Preliminary PUD Review and Rezoning. The following procedures shall be followed for the review of 
any PUD request. 

 Application. An application for rezoning to the PUD district shall be submitted to the Zoning 
Administrator by the owner, owner’s authorized representative, or option holder of the property 
that is the subject of the application. The application shall be filed on a form provided for that 
purpose, along with a fee established by the City Council, and a PUD concept plan and narrative 
containing the information specified in the following subsections. Incomplete applications will not 
be accepted and will not be processed or forwarded to the Planning Commission.   

 Concept Plan. A PUD concept plan shall be submitted and include the following: 

 

Table 15.20: Concept PUD Plan Required Information 

Required Information 

General Information 
Date, north arrow, and scale 
Name, address, phone number and email address of the applicant(s) 
Name, address, phone number and email address of the professional or firm that prepared the 
plan 
Legal description of the property 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 15. Planned Unit Development Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 15-2 

Table 15.20: Concept PUD Plan Required Information 

Required Information 

General location map 
Existing Conditions 
Property boundary survey 
Existing zoning on the subject property and all abutting properties 
Adjacent buildings and structures within 100 feet of the property boundaries 
Location and dimensions of all existing structures on the property 
All perimeter streets abutting the property, including right-of-way width 
Existing topographic conditions (two (2) foot intervals) 
Existing natural features (woods, ponds, streams, and marshes 
Tree survey (see Section 10.4 D.2.c) 
Approximate location of existing utilities   
Proposed Development 

 Proposed uses within the PUD 
 Conceptual layout of the development illustrating the general location of interior streets and 

access points to abutting streets  
 Concept grading plan showing proposed changes to existing site 
 Proposed utilities, including a preliminary utility plan 
 Generalized location and type of stormwater drainage facilities 

 Location, width, and purpose of easements 
 Parking areas 
 Areas to be developed by type of use 
 Layout and typical dimensions of proposed parcels and lots 
 Number of proposed dwelling units (by type – detached, attached, multiple-family, etc.) 
 Common open spaces and required buffers 

Building Details 
 Gross and net floor area of non-residential buildings 
 Building height 
 Perspective sketches or photographs of representative building types, illustrating the proposed 

architectural style and building materials  
Narrative 
Identification of the present owners of all land within the proposed project 
Statement of how the PUD meets each of the Qualifying Conditions specified in Section 5.20. 
Explanation of the proposed character of the PUD, including a summary of acreage by use, 
number and type of dwelling units, gross residential density, area and percent of the project to 
be preserved as common open space, minimum lot sizes by type of use. 
A complete description of any requested deviations, in accordance with Section 5.40 B., from the 
minimum spatial or other requirements applying to the property. 
An explanation of why the proposed development should be given a density bonus, if applicable, 
in accordance with Section 5.40 C. 
A general description of the proposed development schedule and anticipated phases. 
Intended agreements, provisions and covenants to govern the use of the development, approval 
of building materials/architectural styles and open space areas to be preserved. 
A traffic impact analysis, per Section 8.90. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 15. PUD Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 15-3 

Table 15.20: Concept PUD Plan Required Information 

Required Information 

 
Other 
Any other information required by the Zoning Administrator, Planning Commission, or City 
Council to demonstrate compliance with other applicable provisions of this ordinance 

D. Planning Commission Review. Following receipt of a complete application package, the Zoning 
Administrator will cause the application materials to be forwarded to the Planning Commission for 
review. Within 45 days after submission of a complete application and all required plans and 
information, the Planning Commission shall conduct a public hearing and make a recommendation to 
the City Council, as follows: 

 Notice of hearing. Public notice of the time, date, location and purpose of the hearing shall be 
provided, in accordance with the requirements of Section 12.40. 

 Public hearing. The Planning Commission shall conduct a public hearing in accordance with its rules 
of procedure. 

 Recommendation. Following the public hearing, the Planning Commission shall recommend to City 
Council that the PUD concept plan and PUD zoning be approved as presented, approved with 
supplementary conditions, or disapproved. The recommendation shall be based on the standards of 
Sections 13.60 and 15.40. 

 Project representation. The applicant or authorized representative shall be present at all meetings 
at which the request is to be considered. If the applicant or authorized representative is not 
present, the matter may be tabled. 

E. City Council Action. Upon receiving the recommendation from the Planning Commission, the City 
Council shall take final action on the request.   

 Action. Council shall approve, approve with supplementary conditions, or disapprove the PUD 
concept plan and zoning change, based on the standards of Section 15.40.     

 Conditions. If conditions are attached to the City Council’s approval, the final site plan shall reflect 
those conditions. Failure of the applicant to comply with any conditions of approval shall be 
considered a violation of this ordinance and subject to all applicable enforcement, remedies, and 
penalties provided for in this ordinance. 

 Project representation. The applicant or authorized representative shall be present at all meetings 
at which the request is to be considered. If the applicant or authorized representative is not 
present, the matter may be tabled. 

F. Final PUD Review:  The following procedures shall be followed for the review of the final site plan.  

 Timing. An application for final site plan approval shall be filed not later than 24 months after the 
date of approval of the PUD concept plan and zoning change. Otherwise, the PUD concept plan 
approval shall be considered expired. One (1) extension of up to six (6) months may be authorized 
by the Zoning Administrator for cause. The applicant shall submit the request for an extension to 
the Zoning Administrator in writing prior to the expiration of the original approval period. The 
Zoning Administrator shall make a written determination regarding his decision to extend or deny 
the extension. Both the request and the determination shall be made part of the record.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 175

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 15. Planned Unit Development Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 15-4 

 Application. An application for approval of the final site plan shall be submitted to the Zoning 
Administrator by the property owner or owner’s authorized representative. The application shall be 
filed on a form provided for that purpose, along with a fee established by the City Council, including 
a final site plan and narrative containing the information specified in the following subsections. 
Incomplete applications will not be accepted and will not be processed. 

a. Final Plan. A final site plan, substantially consistent with the approved PUD concept plan and 
containing all information required in Section 13.50 (final plan), shall be submitted with the 
required application form. If applicable, a plat may be submitted concurrently in accordance 
with the City’s subdivision ordinance. 

b. Project Narrative. A project narrative shall also accompany the application and final site plan 
and provide the following: 

i. Proposed covenants and/or deed restrictions governing the use, design, maintenance, 
ownership and control of the development and common areas; 

ii. Identification of the entity responsible for maintenance of common areas; 

iii. Description of all deviations from the otherwise applicable zoning requirements; 

iv. Net and gross density of any residential component of the project; 

v. Open space calculations, identifying the gross acreage and percent of lands to be preserved 
as common open space, including calculations by phase of the development, if applicable. 

vi. Restrictions or requirements regarding architectural style and/or building materials; 

vii. Improvements that would be the responsibility of the developer such as construction of 
roads, parks, utilities, pathways, sidewalks, and similar elements;  

viii. An anticipated development schedule by phase, if applicable; and 

ix. An updated traffic impact analysis shall be required if the final plan deviates substantively 
from the approved PUD concept plan with respect to number of dwelling units, square 
footage of buildings, or proposed uses. 

 Phased Projects. If a proposed PUD is to be constructed in two (2) or more phases, final site plan 
approval may be granted for individual phases; provided, a complete plan for the entire 
development was first given concept plan approval and that each subsequent phase shall be 
submitted for final site plan approval and is consistent with the approved concept plan. The Zoning 
Administrator may require additional information beyond what is otherwise required if, in their 
judgment, more detailed information is necessary due to the size of the development; number of 
phases proposed; or the interrelationship of roads, utilities, or drainage systems within the total 
site. 

 Action. The Zoning Administrator shall consider the application and take action to approve, approve 
with supplementary conditions, or disapprove the final site plan, based on the review standards of 
Section 15.40 and the site plan review standards of Section 13.60. 

 Performance Guarantee. In conjunction with the approval of a final site plan, the petitioner may be 
required to provide a performance guarantee for all public and common improvements in 
accordance with Section 12.70. 

 Private Covenants and Restrictions. 

a. Covenants and restrictions for the property within any PUD district are required and must be 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 176

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 15. PUD Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 15-5 

recorded with the office of the county clerk prior to the approval of a plat or issuance of a 
building permit. These restrictions shall run with the land to ensure that, if subdivided or 
developed in phases, the covenants and restrictions shall still be enforced.  

b. Covenants and restrictions shall: 

i. Be based on the conditions attached to the approved PUD application; 

ii. Subject each owner or person taking title to land located within the development to the 
terms and conditions of the covenants and restrictions as well as any other applicable 
regulations;  

iii. Establish a property owners association (POA) with mandatory membership for each owner 
or person taking title to land located within the development, and require the collection of 
assessments from owners in an amount sufficient to pay for its functions; and 

iv. Provide for the ownership, development, management, and maintenance of any private 
open space, private community parking facilities, private community meeting spaces, or 
other common areas, as required by Section 5.40 D.2. 

 Expiration. Approval of the final site plan shall expire 12 months after the date of that approval 
unless substantial construction has been commenced and is continuing. An extension of up to 12 
additional months may be granted by the Zoning Administrator in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 13.90. 

Section 15.30 Development Impact Assessment 
As part of the PUD concept plan review process, the City Council, at its sole discretion, may require the 
applicant to prepare a development impact assessment to evaluate the potential impacts on municipal 
improvements and facilities, natural and historic resources, and the fiscal effect on the City. The content of 
such assessment shall be as follows: 

A. Executive Summary 

B. Introduction, Project Description, Objectives, Environmental Setting 

C. Projected Impacts and Mitigation Alternatives 

 Fiscal. The developer shall estimate and quantify the additional revenues and costs to the City of 
Port Wentworth as a result of the proposed development. Fiscal analysis involves assessing the 
public service costs and revenues associated with the development. Such an analysis projects the 
net cost of the development on the fiscal balance sheet of the community. Since fiscal feasibility 
plays an important role in determining whether or not to proceed with a proposed development, 
fiscal impact analysis is a critical component of the development impact assessment. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 177

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 15. Planned Unit Development Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 15-6 

 Community Facilities. 

a. Water supply and distribution. The developer shall provide an estimate and provide 
calculations of water supply needs including domestic and adequate fire flow protection. 
Anticipated improvements necessary to accommodate the proposed development shall be 
specified.  

b. Wastewater collection and treatment. The developer shall provide a quantitative estimate of 
sewage to be generated and specify any anticipated improvement necessary to accommodate 
the volume. 

c. Solid waste. The developer shall provide a quantitative estimate of the solid waste expected to 
be generated by the proposed development, including the assumptions used in all calculations. 

d. Stormwater management. The developer shall address all components of Article III. 
Stormwater Management, Section (5), Subsections (a) and (b) of the Code of Ordinances, City 
of Port Wentworth. The remaining requirements of Article III. shall be addressed in the final site 
plan. A discussion of the adequacy of the receiving stormwater conveyance shall be provided. 

e. Stormwater quality. The developer shall provide narrative discussing measures that will be used 
to preserve and/or improve the physical, chemical, biological, or radiological integrity of 
stormwater runoff from the proposed development. 

f. Schools. The developer shall provide a narrative discussing the impact on the local school 
system, if any, including the number of students to be generated, potential number of new 
employee families to reside in Port Wentworth, capacity of existing schools that would be 
impacted, and busing needs. 

g. Parks and recreation. The developer shall provide a narrative discussing impact to the municipal 
parks and recreation facilities or programs, including the location of existing parks, potential 
facility demands by employees, families, and visitors generated by the proposed development. 

h. Public safety (police and fire). The developer shall provide data and a narrative identifying 
impacts, including special needs, personnel, and equipment. The assessment shall identify the 
current availability of equipment and staffing, current demands on fire and police service per 
capita and per dwelling unit, increased demand on services based on number of employees, 
dwelling units, or residents in the proposed PUD, and any added personnel or equipment 
needs. 

Section 15.40 Review Standards 
In considering a PUD request, the Planning Commission, City Council, and/or Zoning Administrator, as 
applicable, shall find that the proposed development meets all applicable requirements and qualifying 
conditions of this ordinance, as well as each of the following general standards: 

A. Purpose of PUD. The proposed development shall be consistent with the stated purpose of this district, 
as found in Section 5.10. 

B. Qualifying Conditions. The proposed development shall satisfy each of the Qualifying Conditions, as 
stated in Section 5.20. 

C. Recognizable and Substantial Benefits. Approval of the PUD will result in a recognizable and 
substantial benefit to the users of the project and to the community, which would not otherwise be 
feasible or achievable under conventional zoning districts. The development shall provide two (2) or 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 178

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 15. PUD Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 15-7 

more of the benefits specified in Section 5.20 G. 

D. Comprehensive Plan. The PUD shall be consistent with the recommended future land use patterns, 
goals, and relevant recommendations contained in the City of Port Wentworth Comprehensive Plan. 

E. Surrounding Uses. The development shall be compatible with the existing and intended uses 
surrounding the subject property. 

F. Natural Environment. The design and layout of the PUD shall be harmonious with the natural character 
of the site and surrounding area and shall employ best management practices to ensure their 
conservation. 

G. Public Facilities and Services. The proposed development shall not place undue burden on the capacity 
of public facilities and services such as, but not limited to, roads, fire and police protection, water, 
sanitary sewer service, and drainage. 

H. Health, Safety, and Welfare. The PUD shall not contain uses or conditions of use that may be injurious 
to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

I. Consistent with All Applicable Standards and Requirements. The proposed development shall conform 
to all applicable requirements of this ordinance unless specifically modified and approved, as 
authorized by Section 5.40 B. 

J. Final Site Plan. The final site plan is substantially consistent with the representations made and plans 
shown during the prior PUD concept plan stage of approval. 

Section 15.50 Changes to an Approved Plan 
A. The PUD shall be constructed in compliance with the approved final site plan unless changes are 

approved in accordance with this section. Changes to an approved final site plan shall be permitted 
only as specified in Section 13.80. 

B. A proposed change to an approved final site plan that is determined by the Zoning Administrator to not 
be a minor change shall be considered a major change. A major change shall necessitate an 
amendment to the approved final PUD plan and shall be submitted and reviewed in accordance with 
the procedures established for the final PUD plan. When, in the sole judgment of the Zoning 
Administrator, the proposed change is a substantial deviation from the approved PUD concept plan, the 
change shall be reviewed as a new application in accordance with the provisions of Sections 15.20 C 
and 15.20 D; provided, public hearings shall not be required but may be conducted at the discretion of 
the Planning Commission and/or City Council. 

 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 179

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 15. Planned Unit Development Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 15-8 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 16-1 

Article 16. Subdivision Review 
 

Section 16.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Intent and Purpose. The intent and purpose of this article are to: 

1. conserve and protect the natural, economic, and scenic resources of the City of Port Wentworth;  

2. prevent and reduce the traffic congestion and traffic hazards which result from narrow or poorly 
aligned streets and which result from excessive entrance and exit points along major traffic 
arteries; 

3. eliminate the costly maintenance problems which develop when streets and lots are laid out 
without proper consideration being given to the drainage characteristics of the tract of land at the 
time the land is being subdivided into streets and lots; 

4. prevent the spread of urban blight and slums;  

5. insure that residential lots will be of such design, area, and width as will prevent health and 
sanitation problems from developing in those subdivisions with lots to be served by individual 
water supply and waste disposal systems; 

6. insure that all building lots will be accessible to fire fighting equipment and other emergency and 
service vehicles; 

7. to protect the investments of the buyers of subdivision lots; and 

8. promote and protect the health, safety, prosperity, and welfare of the citizens of the City of Port 
Wentworth and for other purposes. 

Section 16.20 Applicability and Subdivision Types  
A. Applicability. Upon the effective date of this ordinance, no subdivision plat for any land within the City 

of Port Wentworth, unless exempted below, shall be filed with or recorded by the Clerk of the Superior 
Court until the plat has been submitted and approved according to the procedures set forth in this 
article, including the following: 

1. All divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two (2) or more lots, building sites, or other divisions for 
the purpose of immediate or future sale, transfer, or building development.  

2. All divisions of land involving a new street or a change in existing streets.  

3. Re-subdivision of land and, when appropriate to the context, relates to the process of subdivision 
or to the land subdivided.  

B. Subdivision Types. 

1. Exempt Subdivision.  

a. The subdivision of a tract of land into two (2) or more lots, each having an area of five (5) acres 
or more, and in which no new street is required. The dividing of a tract into two (2) or more lots 
of five (5) acres or more each, which requires new access roads, easements or lot width 
variances at the required building setback line, shall be defined as a subdivision under the 
terms of this ordinance.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 181

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 16. Subdivision Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 16-2 

b. The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the total 
number of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the standards set forth in this 
ordinance. 

2. Minor Subdivision. Any subdivision comprising three (3) lots or less and not involving a new street 
or change in an existing street.  

3. Major Subdivision. Any subdivision comprising four (4) lots or more or any subdivision involving a 
new street or change in an existing street. 

Section 16.30 Sketch Plan 
A. Informal Review. Prior to submitting a formal subdivision application, a sketch plan may be submitted 

for informal review comments. Comments are non-binding and shall not be construed as an approval or 
commitment to approval. 

B. Sketch Plan Requirements. A sketch plan is a less formal plan which shall include the following 
information, as applicable:  

1. Boundary lines of the property being subdivided;  

2. Layout of streets, roads, and other features in relation to existing conditions; 

3. Watercourses and marshes found on the tract of land being subdivided and the limits of habitable 
area; and 

4. The location, name, and right-of-way width of any existing streets on the land being subdivided or 
on land adjacent to the tract of land being subdivided. 

Section 16.40 Exempt and Minor Subdivision Process 
A. Submittal. Applications shall be submitted in accordance with Section 12.20. 

B. Final Plat. Exempt and minor subdivisions may be submitted as final plats and shall comply with the 
requirements of these regulations, including minimum finished floor elevation requirements. 

Section 16.50 Major Subdivision- Preliminary Plat Process 
A. Submittal. Applications shall be submitted in accordance with Section 12.20. 

B. Deadline. Complete applications must be received by the Port Wentworth Planning Commission at 
least 20 business days prior to the Planning Commission meeting at which they are to be considered. 
Revisions to a subdivision under review by the Planning Commission must be received 10 business days 
prior to the Planning Commission meeting at which each subdivision is scheduled to be heard. 

C. Review. Upon determination of a complete application, the Zoning Administrator will promptly 
distribute the application for review by internal City Departments and external agencies. 

D. Planning Commission Action. Except where an extension of time is authorized by the applicant for 
preliminary plat review, the Planning Commission shall have 45 business days from the date of 
submittal of a complete preliminary plat with application to act on the preliminary plat application. The 
Planning Commission shall provide a recommendation to the City Council per Section 12.50. 

E. City Council Action. Upon receipt of a recommendation from the Planning Commission, the City Council 
shall act on the preliminary plat per Section 12.50. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 182

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 16. Subdivision Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 16-3 

F. Standards of Approval. When reviewing or approving a preliminary plat, the Planning Commission and 
City Council shall consider:  

1. Recommendations from internal City Departments and external agencies;  

2. Compliance with the applicable requirements of the Zoning Ordinance; and  

3. Substantial conformance with the City's applicable adopted plans, policies, and the any official or 
adopted design manuals of the City of Port Wentworth. 

G. Validity of Approval. Approval of a preliminary plat shall be valid for one (1) year. If work has not 
started on a subdivision on or before the end of this one (1) year period, the approval shall expire. An 
expired approval requires that a preliminary plat be resubmitted in accordance with this section. 

H. Extension. The City Council may approve one (1) extension of up to one (1) year if requested in writing 
by the applicant prior to the expiration date of the original approval. The extension may be approved if 
the City Council determines that the applicant has provided reasonable evidence that the development 
has encountered unforeseen difficulties beyond the control of the applicant and the project will 
proceed within the extension period. If work has not started on a subdivision on or before the end of 
this one (1) year extension period, the approval shall expire. 

Section 16.60 Preliminary Plat Requirements 
A. Preliminary Plat Requirements. The preliminary plat shall be drawn at a scale of not less than 200 feet 

to the inch. The preliminary plat shall contain the following information: 

Table 16.60: Preliminary Plat Submittal Checklist 
Existing Features 
The bearings and distances of the boundary lines of the property to be subdivided. 
The location of any streams, natural drainage ways, and other waterways which exist on the 
property.  
The distance and direction to public water lines and sanitary sewer lines. 
The name, location, and right-of-way width of existing streets either on the property or on land 
adjoining the property.  
Existing contours of the property in solid lines and at one-foot intervals and based on mean sea level 
datum.  
The name of subdivision or property owners adjoining the property.  
The location of railroads, of public or private rights-of-way or easements, and of parks or other public 
spaces either on the property or adjoining the property.  
Proposed Design Features 
The location, purpose, and width of any proposed drainage or utility easements and identification of 
those to be dedicated. 
Lot lines and lot line dimensions; proposed lot numbers. 
The location and specifications for proposed streets and lanes, including right-of-way lines, proposed 
paving, proposed finished grades, proposed pavement width, if any; profiles and typical cross-
sections of such streets; and such other information as shall be required to show compliance with 
the design specifications established by this ordinance for streets. 
Proposed street names. 
Proposed final contours in dashed lines at one-foot intervals and based on mean sea level datum. 
Building setbacks. 
Proposed crosswalks. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 183

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 16. Subdivision Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 16-4 

The expected limits of the 100-year flood where appropriate. 
Supplemental Information 
A statement from the subdivider shall be placed on the preliminary plat which shall describe the 
method by which storm sewers, sanitary sewers, and water facilities will be provided. If septic tanks 
or individual waste disposal systems are to be used in a subdivision, then soil tests shall be done in 
accordance with Chatham County Health Department requirements and the results of such tests, 
together with a contour map showing, where appropriate, the approved location for each private 
disposal system of each test hole, shall accompany the preliminary map.  
Grading and drainage plans shall be submitted with each subdivision application. If the required 
drainage plans reveal that a request for subdivision approval would overload the capacity of the 
channel downstream or increase flood stages upstream, the subdivision approval permit shall be 
denied, unless equivalent flow and storage capacity is replaced and maintained by the owner within 
the flood plain affected.  
When the preliminary plat includes only a part of the tract on which the subdivider has an interest, 
the developer shall submit a tentative street plan for all of said tract.  
All exhibits accompanying the preliminary plat shall be prepared by a registered civil engineer and 
shall contain the seal of such engineer along with a statement that the plat meets the provisions and 
standards of the Flood Drainage Prevention Ordinance for the City of Port Wentworth. 

Section 16.70 Final Plat Process 
A. Submittal. Applications shall be submitted in accordance with Section 12.20 and Section 16.80, and the 

number of copies shall be as required on the application form. For major subdivisions, all construction 
and site improvements must be complete unless a performance guarantee is posted to ensure the 
completion of the required work. 

B. Approval Authority. Final plat approval by the Zoning Administrator is required before a final plat of a 
subdivision is recorded with the Clerk of Superior Court of Chatham County or the transfer or sale of 
any of the land within the subdivision by reference to a plat. 

C. Review. Upon determination of a complete application, the Zoning Administrator will promptly 
distribute the application for review by internal City Departments and external agencies. 

D. Phasing. Final plat submittals for a major subdivision may be submitted in phases. 

E. Zoning Administrator Action.  

1. If the Zoning Administrator finds that the final plat does not meet all the standards of approval in 
this section, the applicant will be notified in writing of the specific provisions that have not been 
met and offer the applicant the opportunity to make changes to the final plat.  

2. If the Zoning Administrator finds that the final plat meets all the standards of approval in this 
section, the application will be certified as complying with all applicable requirements of the Zoning 
Ordinance and this article.  

F. Dedications. 

1. Where the approved final plat includes public dedication, the application will be scheduled for the 
next available City Council meeting. Upon certification by the Zoning Administrator that the 
application complies with all applicable requirements of the Development Code, no changes to the 
application are permitted prior to the City Council meeting.  

2. The City Council must accept or decline any dedication of land or public improvements.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 184

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 16. Subdivision Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 16-5 

3. Decisions of the City Council are final. Any party not satisfied with a decision of the City Council may 
pursue appeals to Chatham County Superior Court within 30 calendar days of the decision.  

G. Recording. Once approved by the Zoning Administrator or the City Council in the case of a final plat 
with dedications, the applicant will record the final plat in the records of the Clerk of the Chatham 
County Superior Court and file a copy with the Community Development Department.  

H. Standards of Approval. When reviewing or approving a final plat, the Zoning Administrator shall 
consider:  

1. Substantial conformance with the approved preliminary plat; 

2. Recommendations from internal City Departments and external agencies;  

3. Compliance with the applicable requirements of the Zoning Ordinance; and  

4. Substantial conformance with the City's applicable adopted plans, policies, and any official or 
adopted design manuals of the City of Port Wentworth. 

5. Completion of all infrastructure and required improvements. 

I. Lot Sales. After the final plat of the subdivision has been recorded, then all lots shown on such 
subdivision may be made available for sale, and such subdivision shall be entitled to all privileges and 
services available to other subdivisions within the City. 

Section 16.80 Final Plat Requirements 
A. Final Plat Requirements. The original copy of the final plat shall be drawn on 18-inch by 24-inch sheets 

of mylar with black India ink or equivalent material at a scale of not less than 200 feet to the inch. 
Where necessary, the final plat may be several mylar sheets accompanied by an index sheet showing 
the entire subdivision. The final plat shall contain the following information: 

Table 16.80: Final Plat Submittal Checklist 
Plat Details 
Title, scale, north arrow, and date. 
Key map showing the location of the subdivision in the City. 
All plats shall show the expected limits of the 100-year flood where appropriate.  
Primary control points to which all dimensions, angles, bearings, and similar data on the plat shall be 
referred.  
Tract boundary lines; right-of-way lines of streets; easements and other right-of-way; property lines 
of all lots; and in all such cases with surveyed dimensions. Bearings or deflection angles, radii, arcs, 
and central angles of all curves shown.  
Name and right-of-way width of each street or other right-of-way.  
Location, dimensions, and purpose of any easement. 
Number to identify each lot or site.  
Purpose for which sites, other than residential lots, are dedicated or reserved.  
Minimum building set back line on all lots and other sites.  
Location and identification of monuments.  
Names of record owners of adjoining unplatted land.  
Reference to recorded subdivision plats of adjoining platted land by record name.  
Certificate that all survey work was performed by a registered civil engineer or registered surveyor.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 185

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 16. Subdivision Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 16-6 

Statement by owner, on the plat, dedicating streets, rights-of-way, easements, and any sites for 
public use. This statement shall be signed by the owner, or his attorney as agent, and shall read as 
follows: "All streets, rights-of-way, easements and any sites for public use as noted on this plat are 
hereby dedicated to the City of Port Wentworth for the use intended. Such dedications are more 
specifically described in the deed that accompanies this plat. (Owner or attorney as agent)"  
Supplemental Information (Not included in the final plat) 
The developer must provide the city with a detailed cost report of all public infrastructure that was 
installed as part of the development. The detailed cost report shall include both on-site 
improvements and off-site improvements. The intent of the detailed cost report is for cost 
accounting of publicly held facilities. 
Certification from County Health Department if served by well and/or septic 
Drawings of record 
Maintenance guarantees 
Maintenance agreement 

B. Certification from County Health Department. If lots are not to be served by either public sewers or 
public water, or both, then the final plat shall be accompanied by a certificate from the Chatham 
County Health Department certifying health department approval of the water supply system and/or 
waste disposal system to be used and health department approval of lot sizes and lot widths 
established in such subdivision.  

C. Maintenance Guarantees. The developer will provide a cash security or bond payable to the City in the 
amount of 25 percent of the total public infrastructure construction costs for roadways, drainage 
facilities, and appurtenances and 10 percent of the total public infrastructure construction costs for 
water and sewage systems, with no security less than $50,000. The amount must be sufficient to cover 
all possible repairs required during the warranty/maintenance period (See Section 16.90). The City 
Engineer and Community Development Director shall review and approve all cash security amounts. 

D. Maintenance Agreement. The developer shall execute a maintenance agreement suitable in a form to 
the City Attorney.  

Section 16.90 Maintenance Guarantees 
A. Maintenance Periods. The developer must maintain the public infrastructure for the periods outlined 

below:  

1. Roadways, drainage facilities, and appurtenances will be maintained by the developer for a period 
of two (2) years from the date of acceptance of the final plat. The two (2) year period shall not 
begin until after all infrastructure and inspections are completed with all deficiencies corrected. The 
date of the beginning of the maintenance period shall be set by Mayor and Council upon 
acceptance of the final plat. The developer must request in writing that the City take the roadways, 
drainage facilities, and appurtenances for maintenance at the end of the two (2) year period. The 
request may be filed with the City no sooner than 45 business days prior to the end of the period. 
The City must notify the developer of deficiencies or needed repairs within 30 business days of the 
request. A notice of needed repairs or deficiencies will require that the developer extend the bond 
for a period of six (6) months to allow for time to correct such deficiencies or needed repairs. If the 
needed repairs or deficiencies continue to exist at the expiration of the extended maintenance 
period, the bond will be extended by such a period as identified by the Mayor and Council. The 
developer may request in writing that the City accept the roadways, drainage facilities, and 
appurtenances prior to the end of the extended maintenance period if all deficiencies and needed 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 186

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 16. Subdivision Review 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 16-7 

repairs have been satisfactorily corrected. The Mayor and Council shall determine whether to 
accept the infrastructure within 45 business days after all needed repairs and deficiencies have 
been satisfactorily corrected.  

2. Water and sewage systems will be maintained by the developer for a period of 12 months from the 
date of acceptance of the final plat. The 12-month period shall not begin until after all water and 
sewer infrastructure and inspections are complete with all deficiencies corrected. The date of the 
beginning of the 12 month period shall be set by the Mayor and Council upon acceptance of the 
final plat. The developer must request in writing that the City take the water and sewerage systems 
for maintenance at the end of the 12-month period. The request may be filed with the City no 
sooner than 45 business days prior to the end of the period. The City must notify the developer of 
deficiencies or needed repairs within 30 business days of the request. A notice of needed repairs or 
deficiencies will require that the developer extend the bond for a period of six (6) months to allow 
for time to correct such deficiencies or needed repairs. If the needed repairs or deficiencies 
continue to exist at the expiration of the extended maintenance period, the bond will be extended 
by such a period as identified by the Mayor and Council. The developer may request in writing that 
the City accept the water and sewerage systems prior to the end of the extended maintenance 
period if all deficiencies and needed repairs have been satisfactorily corrected. The Mayor and 
Council shall determine whether to accept the infrastructure within 45 business days after all 
needed repairs and deficiencies have been satisfactorily corrected.  

3. The developer shall post separate bonds for: 

a. the water and sewerage systems; and  

b. roadways, drainage facilities, and appurtenances.  

4. Should the developer construct and install water and sewage infrastructure that serves or is 
intended to serve multiple phases of a project, the developer may request that the portion of the 
required security derived from the construction cost of that infrastructure be prorated across each 
proposed phase of the project. Proration of any part of the required cash security will be at the sole 
discretion of the Mayor and Council.  

B. Release of Security. The security shall only be released at the request of the developer. In no event will 
the security be released prior to 45 business days before the maintenance period ends. Release of the 
security shall be by formal action of the Zoning Administrator. 

C. Forfeit. The security will be forfeited to the City after a period of 10 years from the date of the approval 
of the final plat for the initial phase of the subdivision by the Zoning Administrator, should the public 
infrastructure be incomplete and unaccepted by the City at the end of the 10-year period.  

Section 16.100 Plat Amendments  
A. Minor Revisions. Proposed revisions to a recorded plat that do not alter or change in any way the 

street and/or utility layout of the plat and does not add additional lots shall be submitted as follows:  

1. The subdivider shall file with the Zoning Administrator four (4) copies of the original plat with all 
minor revisions shown in red.  

2. The plats shall be accompanied by a statement signed by all affected property owners 
acknowledging their awareness and approval of the revisions.  

3. Review shall occur in accordance with Section 16.70. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 187

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 16. Subdivision Review 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 16-8 

B. Major Revisions. Any amendment not qualifying as a minor amendment shall be processed as a 
preliminary plat per Section 16.50. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 188

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 17-1 

Article 17. Zoning Map and Text Amendments 
 

Section 17.10 Intent and Purpose    
This article establishes the procedures to be followed for any amendment to the provisions of this 
ordinance or to the zoning designation of any property in the City of Port Wentworth. 

Section 17.20 Initiation   
Proposals to amend these regulations may be in the form of requests to change the ordinance text or the 
Zoning Map. Applications for amendment to the text or map may be initiated by the owner or option 
holder of property that is the subject of an amendment request or by the Planning Commission or City 
Council upon its own initiative. 

Section 17.30 Amendment Review Process 
A. Application. Each application to amend the zoning text or map shall be filed with the Zoning 

Administrator on forms provided for that purpose, along with the application fee and any other 
required documentation. Only complete applications containing all required information and exhibits 
and the required fee shall be processed by the Zoning Administrator in accordance with the public 
notice and hearing requirements of this ordinance.  

B. Additional Requirements for Map Amendments. 

1. Required Information. All applications for zoning map amendments shall include, in addition to 
a fully completed application form and required filing fee, the following: 

a. A legal description of the subject property by lot, block, and subdivision designations, or if 
none, by metes and bounds; 

b. The property identification number from the county tax records; 

c. Names, addresses, and zip codes, at the date of filing, of owners of the property being rezoned 
and of property owners adjacent to and across any public right-of-way from the property being 
proposed for rezoning, including properties diagonally across an intersection; and, 

d. All known previous applications for a map amendment affecting the subject property. 

2. Resubmittal of Map Amendments. No application for a zoning map amendment that has been 
denied by the City Council shall be resubmitted within six (6) months of the date when the 
request was first denied. However, if the amendment request is for a different zoning district 
than the previous request, an application may be accepted.  

C. Public Notice. Notice of public hearing shall be given in accordance with the requirements specified in 
Section 12.40 of this ordinance. 

D. Planning Commission Action. 

1. The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on each application for a text or map 
amendment.  

2. Upon completing the public hearing, the Planning Commission shall consider the application, 
testimony of the applicant and public, all reports, and supplemental information that may have 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 189

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 17. Zoning Map and Text Amendments 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 17-2 

been provided and shall make a recommendation to the City Council to approve or deny the subject 
application. The applicant may also choose to withdraw the request, without prejudice, prior to a 
decision by the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission may recommend amendments to 
the request, which in the case of map amendments, would reduce the land area for which a 
rezoning application is made or change the district requested to a more restrictive district. In the 
case of a text amendment, wording modifications may be recommended, which are deemed 
advisable so the purpose of this ordinance will be served, and the public health, safety, and general 
welfare secured.  

E. Council Action. After receipt of the Planning Commission’s report and recommendation, the City 
Council shall conduct a public hearing and may approve, deny, or defer the application. An action to 
defer shall include a written statement of justification for such action and a specific location and 
meeting date to which the application is deferred; no further public notice shall be required. In the case 
of map amendments, Council may consider the addition or deletion of conditions of rezoning in 
accordance with the standards of Section 17.40 B., so the purpose of this ordinance will be served, and 
the public health, safety, and general welfare secured. Should the Council consider additions or 
deletions of conditions, the application may be referred to the Planning Commission for review and 
recommendation. 

Section 17.40 Approval Standards 
A. Map Amendments, in General. In order to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of 

the City against the unrestricted use of property, the City Council and Planning Commission may 
consider the following standards and any other factors relevant to balancing the public interest in 
making a rezoning decision: 

1. Is the request in conformance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan? 

2. Is this request a logical extension of a zoning boundary which would improve the pattern of uses in 
the general area? 

3. Does the current zoning classification unreasonably restrict the use and enjoyment of the subject 
property? 

4. Has a change of conditions occurred in the surrounding area which makes the current zoning of the 
property unreasonable? 

5. Is there sufficient land already appropriately zoned and available elsewhere in the City? 

6. Is this spot zoning and generally unrelated to either existing zoning or the pattern of development 
of the area? 

7. Could traffic created by the proposed zoning classification travel through established residential 
neighborhoods on minor streets, leading to congestion, noise, and traffic hazards? 

8. Would the proposed zoning allow uses that could generate traffic flow beyond the carrying capacity 
of the current street system? 

9. Is there an imminent need for the rezoning and for the uses permitted within the proposed district? 

10. Would the allowed uses substantially conflict with existing or intended development density 
patterns in the surrounding area? 

11. Would the proposed zoning change likely precipitate similar requests which would generate or 
accelerate adverse land use changes in the zone or neighborhood? 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 190

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 17. Zoning Map and Text Amendments 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 17-3 

12. Would any or all of the allowed uses in the proposed zone district adversely impact adjacent or 
nearby properties in terms of: 

a. Environmental quality or livability, by creating undue traffic, noise, odor, or visual hazards 
incompatible with the established or intended development pattern. 

b. Property value, by rendering such properties less desirable and, therefore, less marketable for 
the type of development to which they are committed or restricted. 

13. Would the rezoning create development potential of such increased intensity that stormwater 
runoff from the site would exceed current limits, resulting in adverse impacts upon existing or 
planned downstream drainage systems?  

14. Would the rezoning result in public service demands beyond existing capacities and impose an 
economic burden on the community at-large? 

B. Conditional Zoning Amendments. 

1. In deciding any application for an amendment to the zoning classification of a parcel of property, 
the City Council may, on its own motion or upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission 
or the Zoning Administrator, grant the application subject to such conditions deemed necessary to 
promote and protect the health, safety, morality, and welfare of the City and to further the 
purposes of this ordinance. Such conditions shall be imposed for the benefit of the community to 
prevent or lessen any negative impact expected to result from the zoning map amendment.  

2. Conditions that may be adopted include but are not limited to, vegetative or structural buffers, 
preservation of existing vegetation and tree cover, maximum density and/or number of lots, access 
limitations, minimum lot size, setback restrictions, and property use restrictions. Such restrictions 
shall be binding upon the applicant and any successor in title.  

3. If the conditions under consideration by City Council are unacceptable to the applicant, the 
applicant may withdraw its application without prejudice to the filing of a new application seeking a 
different zoning classification.  

4. Map amendments approved conditionally shall be reflected on the zoning map by a notation 
indicating that the property has been conditionally zoned. 

C. Text Amendments. In its consideration of amendments to the text of this ordinance, the following may 
be applied to guide the deliberations of the Planning Commission and City Council: 

1. The proposed text amendment would clarify the intent of this ordinance.  

2. The proposed text amendment would correct an error in this ordinance.  

3. The proposed text amendment would address changes to the state legislation, recent case law, or 
opinions from the state attorney general.  

4. The proposed text amendment would promote compliance with changes in other City ordinances 
and county, state, or federal regulations.  

5. In the event the amendment would add a use to a district, that use would be fully consistent with 
the purpose of that district and the character of the uses allowed within the district.  

6. The amendment would not create incompatible land uses within a zoning district.  

7. The proposed text amendment is supported by the findings of reports, studies, or other 
documentation on functional requirements, contemporary building practices, environmental 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 191

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 17. Zoning Map and Text Amendments 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 17-4 

requirements, best practices, and similar technical items.  

8. As applicable, the proposed change would be consistent with the City's ability to provide adequate 
public facilities and services.  

9. The proposed change would be consistent with the ordinance’s intent to protect the public health, 
safety, and welfare of the community. 

 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 192

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part V 

 
 
 
 
Part V. Administration 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 193

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Part V. Administration 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part V 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 194

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 18-1 

Article 18. Zoning Administration 
 

Section 18.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Administration. The provisions of this ordinance shall be administered and enforced by the Zoning 

Administrator who may designate other City staff to assist in the performance of those duties.   

B. Enforcement. In carrying out the administration and enforcement duties of this ordinance, the Zoning 
Administrator shall also act in accordance with the requirements of all other City regulations regarding 
code enforcement and may cooperate with other municipal officials in the enforcement of this 
ordinance.   

Section 18.20 Authority   
A. Basic Duties. The Zoning Administrator shall have the power to grant certificates of zoning compliance, 

make inspections of premises necessary to carry out his duties in the enforcement of this ordinance, 
and otherwise carry out the duties assigned herein.  

B. Official zoning Map. The Zoning Administrator shall be responsible for maintaining the Official Zoning 
Map.  

C. Enforcement. The Zoning Administrator shall have the authority to determine zoning compliance in 
accordance with the requirements of this ordinance. 

D. Violations. If the Zoning Administrator finds any provisions of this ordinance being violated, they shall 
notify the person responsible for the violations, in writing, indicating the nature of the violation and 
ordering the action necessary to correct it. The Zoning Administrator shall order the discontinuance of 
illegal use of land, buildings, or structures; removal of illegal buildings or structures or of illegal 
additions, alterations, or structural changes; discontinuance of any illegal work being done; and shall 
take any other action authorized by this ordinance to ensure compliance or to prevent violation of its 
provisions. 

Section 18.30 Zoning Compliance 
A. Change or Extension of Use. It shall be unlawful to change the type of use or type of building 

occupancy or to extend any use on any lot on which there is a non-conforming use until the Zoning 
Administrator has determined the change complies with applicable provisions of this ordinance.  

B. Permit Required. It shall be unlawful to commence excavation for, or construction of, any building or 
other structure, including accessory buildings exceeding 240 square feet in gross ground floor area and 
parking areas, or to commence the moving or alteration of any structure, unless the plans, 
specifications and intended use of such building or structure conforms in all respects to the provisions 
of this ordinance. The Zoning Administrator shall determine if the project complies with this ordinance 
according to this section.   

1. It shall be unlawful for the Zoning Administrator to approve any plans, issue permits, or otherwise 
determine zoning compliance for any excavation, construction, or use until they have inspected the 
plans in detail and found them in compliance with this ordinance.  

2. Issuance of an approval shall in no case be construed as waiving any provision of this ordinance.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 195

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 18. Zoning Administration 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 18-2 

3. The Zoning Administrator shall not refuse to issue a permit or approval when the applicant 
complies with conditions imposed by this ordinance and all other applicable City, county, and state 
regulations. Violations of private contracts, such as covenants or private agreements, which may 
result from granting a permit, are not cause for denial of the permit.  

4. The Zoning Administrator may refuse to issue zoning approval where there are unresolved or 
outstanding violations to any City ordinance, including this zoning ordinance. Upon resolution of 
prior unresolved or outstanding violations, the Zoning Administrator shall issue the approval in 
accordance with subparagraph 3, above.  

5. When the Zoning Administrator receives an application that requires Planning Commission, City 
Council, or Zoning Board of Appeals approvals, the Zoning Administrator shall so inform the 
applicant.  

6. A zoning approval shall not be made until all applicable fees, charges, and expenses have been paid 
in full.  

7. In the case of a single- or two-family dwelling or an accessory structure on the same lot as a single- 
or two-family dwelling, the building official may determine zoning compliance during review of a 
building permit.  

C. Zoning compliance review shall not be required for ordinary repairs or maintenance, including but not 
limited to roofing, siding, and interior work, provided that such construction does not increase the 
gross ground floor area of the building, does not change the use of the structure, and/or does not alter 
the off-street parking area.  

D. A structure that does not require a zoning compliance review shall still comply with the requirements of 
this ordinance.  

E. If a proposed excavation, construction, moving, or alteration or use of land as set forth in the 
application is in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance and in conformance with the 
provisions of the building code, the Zoning Administrator shall determine that the project complies with 
this ordinance, provided all other requirements are satisfied. If the Zoning Administrator determines 
that the project or use is not in compliance, the reasons for the rejection shall be stated in writing. 

Section 18.40 Other Duties 
A. The Zoning Administrator is not, under any circumstance, permitted to grant exceptions to the actual 

meaning of any clause, order, or regulation contained in the ordinance to any person making 
application to excavate, construct, move, alter, or use either buildings, structures or land.  

B. The Zoning Administrator shall have the authority to review all plans, applications, and requests prior to 
such plans, applications, and requests being heard by the Planning Commission or City Council to 
determine completeness and conformance with the requirements of this ordinance.  

C. The Zoning Administrator shall have the authority to make inspections of buildings or premises 
necessary to carry out his duties in the enforcement of the ordinance.  

D. The Zoning Administrator may not make changes to this ordinance or vary the terms of this ordinance 
in carrying out his duties except as authorized by Section 12.80.  

E. The Zoning Administrator shall require every application for excavation, construction, moving, 
alteration, or change in type of use or type of occupancy, to be accompanied by a site development 
plan, if required by Article 13, and prepared in accordance with the specifications of Article 13. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 196

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 19-1 

Article 19. Planning Commission 
 

Section 19.10 Intent and Purpose    
The Planning Commission is an appointed body charged with various responsibilities related to the 
administration and enforcement of the zoning ordinance. Among its statutorily mandated responsibilities is 
that of an advisory role to the City Council related to adopting and amending the ordinance, including 
changes to the zoning map. Other duties are delegated by this ordinance and described in Section 19.20. 

Section 19.20 Powers and Duties   
In order to protect the public health, safety, morals, convenience, prosperity, and general welfare, as well 
as promote efficiency and economy in the development of the City, the Planning Commission shall have the 
power and duty to: 

A. Prepare a comprehensive plan or parts thereof for the development of the City. 

B. Prepare and recommend for adoption to the City Council a Zoning Ordinance and zoning map for the 
City and amendments to the Zoning Ordinance. 

C. Review all applications for text and map amendments and all recommendations for text and map 
amendments referred to it by the City Council and make recommendations thereupon to the City 
Council.  

D. Prepare and recommend for adoption to the City Council regulations for the subdivision of land within 
the City and to administer the regulations as applicable. 

E. Prepare and recommend for adoption to the City Council a plat or plats or an official map showing the 
exact location of the boundary lines of existing, proposed, extended, widened, or narrowed streets, 
public open spaces, or public building sites, together with regulations to control the erection of 
buildings or other structures within such lines, within the City or a specified portion thereof. 

F. Review and prepare recommendations regarding all requests, as specified by this ordinance, including, 
but not limited to, Zoning Map amendments, Zoning Ordinance text amendments, PUD concept plans, 
special use permits, concept plans, preliminary plats, and final plats involving dedications.  

Section 19.30 Rules and Procedures 
A. Members, Officers, and Quorum. The membership, election of officers, and quorum for conducting 

business is established by City Code, as adopted and amended by the City Council. 

B. Meetings and Records. The Planning Commission shall make its own rules of procedure and determine 
its time of meeting. All meetings of the Planning Commission at which official action is taken shall be 
open to the public, and all records of the Planning Commission shall be a public record. 

C. Staff and Outside Services. The Planning Commission may, with City Council approval, appoint such 
employees and staff as it deems necessary for its work and may contract with the state planning agency, 
City planners, and other consultants for such services as it may require. 

D. Expenditures. The expenditures of the Planning Commission, exclusive of gifts, shall be within the 
amounts appropriated for the purpose by the City Council.  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 197

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 19. Planning Commission 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 19-2 

This page is intentionally blank 

 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 198

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 20-1 

Article 20. City Council 
 

Section 20.10 Intent and Purpose    
The Mayor and City Council, as the City’s elected officials, are the sole legislative authority empowered to 
adopt and amend the Zoning Ordinance. As such, the City Council may, at its discretion, delegate certain 
non-legislative responsibilities and appoint those boards, commissions, and committees to whom such 
responsibility is entrusted. 

Section 20.20 Powers and Duties 
A. Ordinance Amendments. The City Council, by law, is responsible for adopting and amending this 

ordinance, including the Zoning Map. 

B. Preliminary and Final Plat Approval. The City Council shall be responsible for acting on requests for 
preliminary plat approval following receipt of a recommendation from the Planning Commission and 
final plats when dedications are proposed. 

C. Site Plans. The City Council shall review and act upon all concept site plans related to proposed 
development projects within the City. 

D. Appointments. The City Council shall appoint those bodies responsible for the administration, 
enforcement, and implementation of the various provisions of this ordinance that have been delegated 
to them. 

E. Budget. Approval of budgets and expenditures related to the administration and enforcement of this 
ordinance is the responsibility of the City Council. 

Section 20.30 Rules and Procedures   
City Council membership, meeting requirements, and procedures shall be as established by City Charter. 

  
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 199

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 20. City Council 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 20-2 

This page is intentionally blank 

 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 200

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 21-1 

Article 21. Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

Section 21.10 Intent and Purpose    
The Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) is created as an objective, quasi-judicial body to act on matters 
specifically authorized by this ordinance, including hearing appeals of certain administrative decisions and 
considering variance requests from dimensional requirements. It is not within the scope of the ZBA’s 
authority to amend the terms of this ordinance or to permit any use of land or building that is not 
specifically permitted within a zoning district in question. 

Section 21.20 Creation and Membership   
A. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall be composed of five (5) members who shall be residents of the City. 

Members shall be appointed by the City Council and shall serve for a term of three years; provided, the 
terms of the members first appointed shall be for varying numbers of years, none exceeding three 
years, in order to provide for differing expiration dates of member terms.  

B. The City Council shall fill any vacancies and may remove a member for cause after written notice and an 
opportunity for a public hearing. Cause may include, but shall not be limited to, repeated failure to 
attend meetings, misfeasance, and malfeasance. 

C. The concurring vote of a majority of the members of the ZBA shall be necessary to reverse any order, 
requirement, decision, or determination of any administrative official or to decide in favor of the 
applicant upon any matter which the ZBA is required to pass under this article or to grant any variance 
from the dimensional requirements of this ordinance.  

D. In the event that any members of the ZBA are absent from a meeting at which the required concurring 
vote is not obtained, and if the affirmative vote of such absent members would have resulted in the 
required concurring vote, the matter may, at the discretion of the chairperson, be continued on the 
agenda for consideration and decision at the next subsequent meeting when all members are present.  

E. The ZBA shall elect a chairperson and vice-chairperson from its members annually and adopt rules of 
procedure. These rules shall be available for public inspection at the office of the City Clerk. 

Section 21.30 Powers and Duties 
A. The Zoning Board of Appeals, in conformity with the provisions of this article, may reverse or affirm, 

wholly or in part, or may modify any order, requirement, decision, or determination appealed from and 
shall make such order, requirement, decision, or determination as in its opinion ought to be made in 
the premises, and to that end shall have all the powers to hear and decide all matters referred to it or 
upon which it is required to pass under this article.  

B. The provisions of this article are to be construed as consistent with the applicable provisions of the 
relevant statutes of the State of Georgia. In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this article 
and other statutory provisions, the statutory provisions shall prevail. 

C. The ZBA, after a public hearing, shall have the power to decide applications related to the following: 

1. Appeals. Where it is alleged by the appellant that there is error or misinterpretation in any order, 
requirement, decision, grant, or refusal made by the Zoning Administrator, other administrative 
officer, or body in the carrying out or enforcement of the provisions of this ordinance. The Board of 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 201

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 21. Zoning Board of Appeals 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 21-2 

Appeals may, in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, 
a decision of an administrative official or may modify the order, requirements, decisions, or 
determinations of such administrative official and to that end shall have all the powers of such 
administrative official. In exercising the above powers, the ZBA may issue or direct the issuance of a 
permit. 

2. Variances. Where by reason of the exceptional narrowness, shallowness, or shape of a specific 
piece of property, or by reason of exceptional topographic conditions, or other extraordinary 
situation or condition of the land, building, or structure, or of the use or development of property 
immediately adjoining the property in question, the literal enforcement of the requirements of this 
ordinance would involve practical difficulties or would cause undue hardship.  

Section 21.40 Rules and Procedures 
A. Meetings shall be held at the City offices and shall be open to the public. 

B. A record of the proceedings of each meeting shall be kept by the ZBA, relating evidence presented by 
the applicant and the resolution by the ZBA, the vote of each member on each question, or, if absent or 
failing to vote, indicating such fact. These shall be a public record and immediately filed in the office of 
the ZBA.  

C. The ZBA shall receive reasonable assistance from other departments in carrying out the functions of the 
ZBA.  

D. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not consider any variance application or appeal without the payment 
of an application fee in an amount established by the City Council. The application or appeal shall be 
filed with the Zoning Administrator, who shall transmit the application, together with all plans, 
specifications, and other papers pertaining to the application or appeal, to the City Clerk. 

E. An appeal from any ruling of the Zoning Administrator or other person administering any portion of this 
ordinance may be filed by any person affected or aggrieved, including the City. Notice of the appeal 
shall be filed with the Zoning Administrator specifying the grounds for the appeal and shall be filed 
within 15 calendar days after the order, requirements, decision, or determination appealed from is 
made.  

F. An appeal shall stay all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from unless it is determined 
that a stay would, in the opinion of the Zoning Administrator, cause imminent peril to life or property. 
In such case, proceedings shall not be stayed otherwise than by restraining order which may be granted 
by the ZBA or by a court of competent jurisdiction on application. 

G. When a variance application or appeal has been filed in proper form and with the required data, the 
Zoning Administrator shall immediately place the application or appeal upon the calendar for hearing 
and cause notices stating the time, place, and object of the hearing to be served. Notices shall be given 
in accordance with Section 12.40. Any party may appear at the hearing in person or by representative.  

H. Upon the day for hearing any variance application or appeal, the ZBA may adjourn the hearing in order 
to obtain additional information or to cause further notice, as it deems proper, to be served upon other 
property owners as it decides may be interested in the application or appeal. In the case of an 
adjourned hearing, persons previously notified and persons already heard need not be notified of the 
resumption of the hearing.  

I. No application for a variance that has been denied wholly or in part by the ZBA shall be resubmitted 
except upon proof of changed conditions satisfactory to the Zoning Administrator. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 202

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 21. Zoning Board of Appeals 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 21-3 

Section 21.50 Decisions 
A. The ZBA shall decide all variance applications and appeals within 30 days after the final hearing. A copy 

of the ZBA's decision shall be transmitted to the applicant or appellant and to the Zoning Administrator. 
Such decision shall be binding upon the Zoning Administrator, who shall incorporate the terms and 
conditions of the decision in the permit to the applicant or appellant whenever a permit is authorized 
by the ZBA. The decision of the ZBA shall be final and may only be appealed to a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

B. Consideration of any appeal shall be based solely on the record upon which the original administrative 
decision was made. New evidence or testimony that was not part of the original record shall not be 
heard by the ZBA. 

C. A variance from the provisions or requirements of this ordinance shall be authorized only upon an 
affirmative finding by the ZBA, based upon competent material and substantial evidence on the whole 
record, that all of the following criteria are satisfied:  

1. There are unusual, exceptional, or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applying to the 
property that do not apply generally to other property in the same vicinity or use district, and such 
conditions are not the result of the owner’s or occupant’s own actions. Such conditions may include 
topography, unique natural conditions, or the size or peculiar shape of the lot.   

2. As a result of such unusual circumstances or conditions, there is an unnecessary hardship or 
practical difficulty that renders it difficult to carry out the provisions of this code. 

3. Granting the requested variance would not be contrary to the intent and purpose of this ordinance. 

4. The variance approved is the minimum variance that will make possible the legal use of the land, 
building, or structure. 

5. Granting the variance will not result in the authorization of a use not otherwise permitted in the 
district in which the property is located or cause substantial detriment to the public good.  

D. The cost of compliance with the ordinance requirements or a nonconforming use of neighboring lands, 
structures, or buildings shall not be considered grounds for granting a variance.   

Section 21.60 Time Limit on Variances 
Unless otherwise specifically provided by the ZBA as a condition of approval, any variance granted by the 
ZBA shall automatically become null and void after a period of 12 months from the date granted unless the 
owner or their agent has demonstrated that substantial steps have been taken toward effecting the 
variance. Building permits shall only be granted for plans consistent with the approved application. Any 
deviation from the information submitted will require a new public hearing and approval by the ZBA. 

Section 21.70  Appeal of a ZBA Decision 
All decisions of the Board of Appeals are final. Any appeal of a ZBA decision shall be filed with a court of 
competent jurisdiction in Chatham County. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 203

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 21. Zoning Board of Appeals 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 21-4 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 204

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 22-1 

Article 22. Nonconformities 
 

Section 22.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Intent. It is recognized that there may exist within zoning districts certain lots, buildings, structures, 

and/or uses that were lawfully created before this ordinance was passed or amended but are now 
prohibited, regulated, or otherwise restricted under the terms of this ordinance. It is the intent to 
permit these legal nonconformities to continue until removed but not to encourage their survival. 

B. Incompatibility. Nonconforming lots, buildings, structures, and uses are hereby declared to be 
incompatible with the provisions of the district in which they are located. Such nonconformities shall 
not be enlarged upon, expanded, or extended, except as otherwise permitted in this article, and shall 
not be used as grounds for adding other buildings, structures, or uses prohibited elsewhere in the 
district. 

C. Lawful Construction. Nothing in this ordinance shall be deemed to require a change in the plans, 
construction, or designated use of any building on which actual construction was lawfully begun prior 
to the effective date of adoption or amendment of this ordinance and upon which actual building 
construction has been diligently conducted. 

D. Illegal Nonconformity. Nothing in this ordinance shall be interpreted as authorization for, or approval 
of, continuing the use of a structure or premises which was not legally created and in existence at the 
time of the adoption or amendment of this ordinance. 

Section 22.20 Nonconforming Lots of Record   
A. Use of Lot. Where a lot of record in existence at the time of adoption or amendment of this ordinance 

does not meet the minimum requirements for lot width or lot area, the lot of record may be used for 
any permitted or special use allowed in the district in which the lot is located; provided, any building or 
structure constructed on the lot complies with all other applicable requirements for the zoning district.   

B. Contiguous Nonconforming Lots. If two (2) or more contiguous vacant lots in existence at the time of 
the passage of this ordinance, or an amendment thereto, under single ownership do not meet the 
requirements established for lot width or lot area, the lands involved shall be considered to be an 
undivided parcel for the purposes of this ordinance. No portion of that undivided parcel shall be used 
or divided in a manner that diminishes compliance with lot width and area requirements established by 
this ordinance. 

Section 22.30 Nonconforming Uses 
A. Use Restriction. A nonconforming use shall not be enlarged or increased nor extended to occupy a 

greater area of land than was occupied at the effective date of adoption or amendment of this 
ordinance. The extension of a lawful nonconforming use throughout all portions of a single building or 
structure existing at the effective date of this ordinance shall not be considered an expansion of a 
nonconforming use. 

B. Moving a Nonconforming Use. No part of any nonconforming use shall be moved unless that 
movement eliminates or reduces the nonconformity. 

C. Abandonment. If a nonconforming use is abandoned for any reason for a period of more than 12 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 205

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 22. Nonconformities 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 22-2 

months, any subsequent use shall conform to the requirements of this ordinance. A nonconforming use 
shall be determined to be abandoned if one (1) or more of the following conditions exists, and which 
shall be deemed to constitute an intent on the part of the property owner to abandon the 
nonconforming use: 

1. utilities, such as water, gas, and electricity to the property, have been disconnected; 

2. the property, buildings, and grounds have fallen into disrepair; 

3. signs or other indications of the existence of the nonconforming use have been removed; 

4. equipment or fixtures necessary for the operation of the nonconforming use have been removed; 
or 

5. other actions which, in the opinion of the Zoning Administrator, constitute an intention on the part 
of the property owner or lessee to abandon the nonconforming use. 

D. Change to Another Nonconforming Use. A nonconforming use may be changed to another 
nonconforming use provided all the following determinations are made by the Zoning Administrator: 

1. The proposed use shall be as, or more, compatible with the surrounding neighborhood than the 
previous nonconforming use, considering factors such as hours of operation, traffic, noise, and 
similar external impacts. 

2. The proposed nonconforming use shall not be enlarged, increased, or extended to occupy a greater 
area of land or building than the previous nonconforming use. 

3. That appropriate conditions and safeguards are provided that will ensure compliance with the 
intent and purpose of this ordinance. 

E. Change to a More Restrictive Use. A nonconforming use which is changed to a conforming use or to 
another nonconforming use of a more restrictive classification shall not be permitted to revert to the 
original or less restrictive use. 

F. Outdoor Uses. Uses consisting of lots occupied by storage yards, used car lots, auto wrecking, junk 
yards, golf driving ranges, miniature golf courses, and similar outdoor uses, where the only buildings on 
the property are ancillary to the outdoor use and where the use is nonconforming, shall be subject to 
the following restrictions, in addition to all other applicable provisions of this article. 

1. Nonconforming outdoor uses of land shall only be converted to a conforming use. 

2. When a nonconforming outdoor use of land has been changed to a conforming use, it shall not be 
used again for any other nonconforming use. 

3. A nonconforming outdoor use of land shall not be enlarged to cover more land than was occupied 
by that use when it became nonconforming. 

4. When any nonconforming outdoor use of land is discontinued for a period of more than six (6) 
months, any future use of the land shall be limited to those uses permitted in the zoning district 
under which the property is governed. Vacancy and/or nonuse of the land for more than six (6) 
months, regardless of the intent of the owner or tenant, shall constitute discontinuance under this 
provision. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 206

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 22. Nonconformities 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 22-3 

Section 22.40 Nonconforming Buildings and Structures 
A. Building Restrictions. Where a lawful building or structure exists at the effective date of this ordinance, 

or an amendment thereto, but does not comply with one or more dimensional requirements of this 
ordinance, such as building coverage, height, or setbacks, that building or structure may continue to be 
occupied and used so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the following provisions: 

1. No nonconforming building or structure may be enlarged or altered in a way that increases its 
nonconformity, except in cases in which the setback of a building or structure is nonconforming by 
less than 50 percent of the distance required by this ordinance. Only in such cases the building or 
structure may be extended along the same plane as the existing nonconforming setback, provided 
that, in so doing, the setback itself is not further reduced.  

2. In the event that a nonconforming building or structure is destroyed to the extent of more than 50 
percent of its replacement value, exclusive of the foundation, it shall be reconstructed only in 
conformity with the provisions of this ordinance. 

3. If a nonconforming building or structure is moved for any reason and for any distance, it shall be 
moved to a location that complies with the requirements of this ordinance. 

B. Normal Repairs and Maintenance. None of the provisions of this section are meant to preclude normal 
repairs and maintenance on any nonconforming building or structure that would prevent strengthening 
or correcting any unsafe condition of the building or structure. 

Section 22.50 Nonconforming Site Development 
A. Continued Use of Site. The use of nonconforming sites may be continued, and sites are not required to 

be upgraded to conform with this ordinance so long as no site development improvements are 
initiated. 

B. Conformance. Conformance with all applicable site development requirements shall be demonstrated 
during site plan amendment review or plan reviews for the complete redevelopment of sites. However, 
for site plan changes, only the affected area of a site must be brought to conformance.  

Section 22.60 Exceptions 
A. Uncompleted Structures. If a permitted construction project remains dormant for more than 12 

months, the building permit and all other permits shall become null and void. The owner of such 
uncompleted structure may maintain the structure in its existing condition for up to six (6) months 
while awaiting new permits. If the applicant does not receive the necessary permits within the six (6) 
month period, the uncompleted structure shall be removed. The City Council may grant one (1) 
extension of up to 12 additional months where it is found that circumstances beyond the owner’s 
control, such as extreme weather conditions, availability of materials, or labor shortages, have caused 
delays. 

B. Errors and Violations. The issuance or granting of a permit or approval of plans or specifications shall 
not be considered as approval for any violation of any provision in this ordinance. No permit presuming 
to give the authority to violate or cancel any provision of this ordinance shall be valid. 

C. Illegal Nonconformity. Any lot, use, building, or structure established in violation of the provisions of 
this ordinance or any prior ordinance or amendment shall not be considered a legal nonconformity and 
shall not be entitled to the provisions, remedies, and safeguards of this article. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 207

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 22. Nonconformities 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 22-4 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 208

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 23-1 

Article 23. Enforcement 
 

Section 23.10 Intent    
A. Intent. In the interpretation and application of this ordinance, all provisions shall be held to be 

minimum requirements adopted for the promotion of the public health, morals, safety, comfort, 
convenience, or general welfare. It is not intended by this ordinance to repeal, abrogate, annul, or in 
any way to impair or interfere with any existing provision of law or ordinance other than this zoning 
ordinance; or with any rules, regulations, or permits previously adopted or issued or which shall be 
adopted or issued pursuant to the law relating to the use of buildings or premises; provided, however, 
that where this ordinance imposes a greater restriction than is required by any existing ordinance or by 
rules, regulations, or permits, the provisions of this ordinance shall control. Nothing in this ordinance 
shall be interpreted or construed to give rise to any permanent vested rights in the continuation of any 
particular use, district, zoning classification, or any permissible activities therein; and they are hereby 
declared to be subject to subsequent amendment, change, or modification as may be necessary to the 
preservation or protection of public health, safety, morals and general welfare.  

B. Administration. The provisions of this ordinance shall be administered and enforced by the Mayor and 
City Council, Planning Commission, Zoning Board of Appeals, Zoning Administrator, and their respective 
designees. The Zoning Administrator shall, among other duties, issue all permits, and notices of 
violations provided for in this ordinance. 

Section 23.20 Procedures   
A. Enforcement. Enforcement of this ordinance is the responsibility of the Zoning Administrator, who 

shall, jointly with other inspections personnel, have the right to withhold permits. The Zoning 
Administrator shall not have the authority to grant approval to any permit for a use, activity, building, 
structure, or other physical change that does not meet the requirements of the zoning ordinance. 

B. Complaints Regarding Violations. Whenever the Zoning Administrator receives a written, signed 
complaint alleging a violation of this ordinance, he or she shall investigate the complaint, take whatever 
action is warranted, and inform the complainant in writing what actions have been or will be taken. 

C. Persons Liable for Violations. The owner, tenant, or occupant of any building or land, or part thereof 
and any architect, engineer, builder, contractor, agent, or other person who participates in, assists, 
directs, creates, or maintains any situation that is contrary to the requirements of this ordinance may 
be held responsible for the violation and suffer the penalties and be subject to the remedies herein 
provided. 

D. Enforcement. When the Zoning Administrator finds that any provision of this ordinance is being 
violated, the Zoning Administrator or designee shall execute the following procedures: 

1. Send a written notice to the person responsible for such a violation, indicating the nature of the 
violation, ordering the action necessary to correct it, and setting a time limit for correction. 
Additional notices may be sent at the Zoning Administrator's discretion.  

2. If no response is received from the owner or no action is taken, a second and final notice shall be 
sent by certified mail stating the action the Zoning Administrator intends to pursue if the violation 
is not corrected and shall advise that the Zoning Administrator's decision may be appealed to the 
City Council at the next scheduled meeting. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 209

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 23. Enforcement 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 23-2 

3. If no appeal is filed or no corrective action is taken, the Zoning Administrator may, upon approval 
by City Council: 

a.  initiate such action as needed to correct the violation and assess the cost of the corrective 
action to the property, as permitted by the City Code of Ordinances; or  

b. file a complaint with the clerk of the municipal court, as follows: 

i. Upon receipt of the complaint, the clerk of the municipal court shall cause the complaint to 
be served along with a notice of hearing. Such hearing shall be held before the judge of the 
municipal court not less than 10 days nor more than 30 days after service of the complaint. 

ii. Complaints or orders issued by the municipal court pursuant to the provisions of this 
ordinance shall, in all cases, be served upon each person in possession of said property, 
each owner, and each party in interest. Return of service shall be signed by the public 
officer or his agent or an affidavit of service executed by any citizen of this state other than 
the resident initiating the complaint; and the return of such public officer or agent thereof 
or the affidavit of such citizen that such party or parties were served either personally or by 
leaving a copy of the complaint or order at the residence shall be conclusive as to such 
service. 

iii. If any owners and parties in interest reside out of the City, service shall be perfected by 
causing a copy of the complaint or orders to be served upon the party or parties by the 
sheriff or any lawful deputy of the county of residence of the party or parties; or service 
may be made by any citizen. The return of services signed by the public officer, his agent, or 
an affidavit of service executed by any citizen of this state, other than the resident initiating 
the complaint; and the return of such documentation attesting that the parties were 
served, either personally or by leaving a copy of the complaint or order at the residence, 
shall be conclusive as to such service. 

iv. Nonresidents of this state shall be served by posting a copy of the complaint or orders in a 
conspicuous place on the premises affected by the complaint or orders. Where the address 
of such nonresidents is known, a copy of the complaint or orders shall be mailed to them by 
registered or certified mail. 

v. In the event either the owner or any party in interest is a minor or person laboring under 
disabilities, the guardian or other personal representative of such person shall be served 
and if such guardian or personal representative resides outside the county or City they shall 
be served as provided for in paragraph D.3.b.iv. of this section. If such guardian or personal 
representative or in the event such minor or disabled person lives outside the City or is a 
nonresident, service by leaving a copy at the place of their residence shall be sufficient 
evidence as to the service of such person or persons; in the case of other persons who live 
outside of the City or are nonresidents, service shall be perfected by serving the judge of 
the probate court of the county wherein such property is located who shall stand in the 
place of and protect the rights of such minor or disabled person or appoint a guardian ad 
litem for such person. 

vi. In the event the whereabouts of any owner or party in interest is unknown and the same 
cannot be ascertained by the Zoning Administrator in the exercise of reasonable diligence, 
the Zoning Administrator shall make an affidavit to that effect. Then the service of such 
complaint or order upon such persons shall be made in the same manner as provided in 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 210

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 23. Enforcement 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 23-3 

paragraph D.3.b.iv. of this section, or service may be perfected upon any person, firm, or 
corporation holding itself out as an agent for the property involved. 

vii. A copy of such complaint or orders shall also be filed in the proper office or offices of the 
municipal court and such filing of the complaint or orders shall have the same force and 
effect of appropriate lis pendens notice and may contain a statement to the effect that a 
lien may arise against the described property and that an itemized statement of such lien is 
maintained on a lien docket maintained by the City clerk. 

C. Stop Work Orders.   

1. Upon notice given by the Zoning Administrator or Building Official that any land use is occurring or 
that any work on a building or structure is being carried out contrary to or in violation of any 
provision of this ordinance, such land use or work shall be immediately stopped. The stop work 
order shall be in writing and shall be given in the name of the Zoning Administrator or Building 
Official. It shall be posted on the property involved and shall be sent by first class U.S. mail to the 
owner of the property involved, as the owner’s address is shown in the current property tax 
assessment roll and may also be sent to any other last known address of the property owner. 

2. Any person who shall continue to work in or about a building or structure, or to use land or a 
building or structure after a stop work order has been posted at the site and mailed to the property 
owner, shall be in violation of this ordinance, including provisions thereof cited in the stop work 
order, except such work as the Zoning Administrator or the Building Official may authorize to be 
performed in order to moderate or end a violation or address potentially hazardous conditions. 

Section 23.30 Violations and Penalties 
A. Violations. 

1. Any use of land which is commenced or conducted, or any building or structure which is erected, 
moved, placed, reconstructed, razed, extended, enlarged, altered, maintained, or changed, in 
violation of any provision of this ordinance is hereby declared to be a nuisance per se.   

2. Any person who disobeys, omits, neglects, or refuses to comply with any provision of this ordinance 
or any permit, approval, or exception granted hereunder, or any lawful order of the Building 
Official, Zoning Administrator, Zoning Board of Appeals, Planning Commission, or the City Council 
issued in pursuance of this ordinance shall be in violation of this ordinance. Any such violation is 
hereby declared to be a nuisance per se. 

B. Penalties.  

1. The owner of any land, building, or structure that is erected, altered, converted, or maintained in 
violation of this ordinance shall be subject to a minimum penalty of $500.00. Continuance of a 
violation shall be considered a separate and distinct offense for each day the violation is continued. 
Furthermore, such land, building, or structure that is in violation of this ordinance is not eligible to 
petition for a variance or other zoning action and will be subject to fines until the land, building, or 
structure is brought within compliance with this ordinance.  

2. Any person or entity that violates, or assists in the violation of, any provision of this ordinance or 
fails to comply with the requirements thereof shall be subject to a minimum penalty of $500.00 for 
each such violation. Continuation of any violation of this ordinance shall be considered a separate 
and distinct offense for each day any such violation is continued.  

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 211

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 23. Enforcement 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 23-4 

C. Other Penalties Related to Subdivisions. In addition to the penalties of Section 23.30 B, the follow shall 
apply until violation is abated:  

1. The City shall not accept the dedication of any street within such subdivision; nor shall the City 
improve, maintain, grade, pave, or light any street within such subdivision unless such street or 
streets shall have received the status of public streets prior to the adoption of this ordinance.  

2. The City shall not assume any responsibility for drainage problems within such subdivision unless 
City owned and maintained drainage structures already exist in such subdivision.  

3. The City shall not issue a building permit within such subdivision.  

4. No unit of local government shall be authorized to extend any publicly operated service or utility 
into such subdivision.     

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 212

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part VI 

 
 
 
 
Part VI. Definitions and 
Specifications 
  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 213

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Part VI. Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Part VI 

This page is intentionally blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 214

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 24-1 

Article 24. General Definitions 
 

Section 24.10 Intent and Purpose    
A. Applicability. The following listed rules of construction shall apply to the text of this ordinance. 

1. The particular shall control the general. 

2. The headings which title an article, section or subsection are for convenience only and are not to be 
considered in any construction or interpretation of this ordinance or as enlarging or restricting the 
terms and provisions of this ordinance in any respect.  

3. The word "shall" is always mandatory and not discretionary. The word "may" is permissive. 

4. Unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary: 

a. Words used in the present tense shall include the future tense; 

b. Words used in the singular number shall include the plural number; and 

c. Words used in the plural number shall include the singular number. 

5. The word "person" includes a firm, association, partnership, joint venture, corporation, trust, 
municipal or public entity or equivalent entity or a combination of any of them as well as a natural 
person.  

6. The word "used" or "occupied," as applied to any land, building or structure, shall be construed to 
include the words "intended," "arranged," "designed to be used," or "occupied."  

B. Common Understanding. For the purpose of their use in this ordinance, the following terms and words 
are hereinafter defined. Any word or term not defined herein shall be considered to be defined in 
accordance with its common or standard definition. 

Section 24.20 Definitions A, B, C 
A. Addition. Any walled and roofed expansion to the perimeter of a building in which the addition is 

connected by a common load-bearing wall other than a firewall.  

B. Alley. A street affording only secondary means of rear vehicular access to abutting lots and land and 
which is not intended for general traffic circulation.  

C. Altered or Alteration. Any change, addition, or modification in the construction of any building or 
structure, including, without limitation, any change in the supporting members, bearing walls, columns, 
posts, beams, girders or roof structure, any architectural change of the interior or exterior of a building 
or structure which may affect its structural integrity, or any addition to or diminution of a structure or 
building.   

D. Animal, Domestic. An animal commonly domesticated as a companion or pet and kept in a home or 
yard. Examples include dogs, cats, birds, fish, rabbits, small rodents, and similar animals, and are not 
used for commercial purposes. Household or domesticated animals do not present an unusual risk to a 
person or property and are not considered farm or wild animals. 

E. Animal, Farm. Any animal or fowl customarily raised on a bonafide commercial farm for the production 
of income, including but not limited to goats, rabbits, horses, cows, pigs, chickens, turkeys, sheep, 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 215

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 24. General Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 24-2 

ducks, and geese or that are customarily raised for non-commercial consumption or production by the 
residents of the premises. 

F. Animal, Wild. An animal not domesticated by humans or any animal which a person is prohibited from 
possessing by law. 

G. Arborist. A professional in the practice of arboriculture and certified by The International Society of 
Arboriculture. 

H. Awning. A shelter projecting from and supported by the exterior wall of a building and constructed of 
non-rigid materials on a supporting framework. Awnings are classified as a roof type. 

I. Basement. That portion of a building which is partly or wholly below grade but so located that the 
vertical distance from the average grade to the floor is greater than the vertical distance from the 
average grade to the ceiling. A basement is not counted as a story. 

J. Block. All of the property located along one (1) side of a street between two (2) intersecting streets. 

K. Buffer. A strip of land which provides visual separation and aesthetic relief between potentially 
incompatible uses or provides protection to natural resources through the use of landscaping, 
preservation of existing vegetation, berms, or screening, or a combination of materials. 

L. Build Out or Built Out. Full completion of the public infrastructure, private infrastructure, structures 
(residential, commercial, auxiliary, etc.), amenities, lot development, and the like. 

M. Building. A permanent independent structure with a roof, supported by walls, columns or other 
supports that is designed for the shelter, housing or enclosure of persons, animals, possessions or 
property of any kind or to conduct business activities. A combination of materials, whether portable or 
fixed, forming a structure with a roof, affording a facility or shelter for use or occupancy by persons, 
animals, or property. 

N. Building Coverage. The lot area stated as a percentage of the total, covered by all buildings and areas 
under roofs. 

O. Building Frontage. The outside wall of a building approximately parallel, nearest, and oriented to a 
street. 

P. Building Height. The vertical distance from the average adjacent grade at the center of the front of the 
building to the highest point of the roof surface for a flat roof, to the deck line for a mansard roof and 
to the mean height level between eaves and ridge for gable, hip and gambrel roofs. 

Q. Building, Principal. A building in which is conducted the main or principal use of the lot on which the 
building is located. 

R. Canopy. 

1. Building canopy. A permanent roof-like structure projecting from a building and open on at least 
one side for the purpose of shielding a pedestrian walkway from the elements. 

2. Freestanding canopy. A freestanding roof-like structure supported by columns intended to shield a 
vehicular driveway or service area from the elements. 

S. City. Unless the context clearly discloses a contrary intent, the word "City" shall mean the City of Port 
Wentworth, Georgia. 

T. City Council. The City Council of the City of the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia. 

U. City Manager. The City Manager of the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 216

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 24. General Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 24-3 

V. Commercial Use. An activity involving the sale of goods or services carried out for profit. 

W. Community Development Director. The Community Development Director of the City of Port 
Wentworth, Georgia. 

X. Construction. The erection of a new building or the alteration of an existing building in connection with 
its repair or renovation. 

Y. Critical Root Zone. The area around and under a tree, the radius of which measures one (1) foot per 
one (1) inch of diameter at breast height (DBH) from the trunk outwards and twenty-four inches in 
depth. For example, for a 10-inch DBH tree, the Critical Root Zone is located at least 10 feet out from 
the trunk and 24 inches deep. 

Z. Cul-De-Sac. A circular vehicle turn-around area constituting the terminus of a street that has only one 
outlet to another street. 

Section 24.30 Definitions D, E, F 
A. Development. Any manmade change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, but not limited 

to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavating, drilling 
operations, and storage of materials or equipment. Shall also mean: 

1. The division of a lot, tract, or parcel of land into two (2) or more lots, plots, sites, tracts, parcels, or 
other divisions by plat or deed; 

2. The construction, installation, or alteration of a structure, impervious surface, or drainage facility; 

3. Cleaning, scraping, grubbing, or other activities that significantly disturb the soil, vegetation, and 
trees of a site; or 

4. Adding, removing, exposing, excavating, leveling, grading, digging, burrowing, dumping, piling, 
dredging, or otherwise disturbing the soil, vegetation, or trees of a site. 

B. Diameter at Breast Height (DBH).  The diameter of a tree measured, in inches, at 54 inches above 
natural grade. 

C. Dwelling Unit. A building or portion of a building designed for use and occupancy by one family, having 
permanent provisions for living, sleeping, cooking, and sanitation. A recreational vehicle, portable 
building, tent, or other transient residential use, such as hotels/motels and bed and breakfasts, are not 
considered a dwelling. 

D. Easement. A designated area surveyed, legally described, and recorded, which authorizes a person, 
government, agency or public utility company to use public or private land owned by another for a 
specific purpose. 

E. Easement, Private Street. A designated area surveyed, legally described, and recorded, applied to a 
private street, which authorizes vehicle travel and the installation and maintenance of public utilities. 

F. Exempt. The release of the obligation to comply with specific sections of this ordinance. 

G. Façade. The entire building front including the parapet, typically the front of a building, provided any 
face given special architectural treatment shall be considered a facade. 

H. Family. An individual or group of two (2) or more persons related by blood, marriage or adoption, 
together with foster children of the principal occupants, with not more than one (1) additional 
unrelated person, who are domiciled together within a dwelling, or a collective number of individuals 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 217

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 24. General Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 24-4 

domiciled together in one dwelling whose relationship is of a continuing non-transient domestic 
character. This definition shall not include any society, club, fraternity, sorority, association, lodge, 
coterie, organization, or group of students or other individuals whose domestic relationship is of a 
transitory or seasonal nature or for an anticipated limited duration of a school term or terms or other 
similar determinable period. 

I. Fence. A constructed barrier intended to prevent access, create an enclosure, or to mark a boundary. 

J. Fill. A portion of land surface to which soil or other solid material has been added; the depth above the 
original ground surface or an excavation. 

K. Floor Area. 

1. Floor Area, Gross. The sum of all gross horizontal areas of the several floors of a building or 
buildings, measured from the outside dimensions of the structure or from the centerline of a wall 
separating two (2) buildings, but excluding any space where the floor-to-ceiling height is less than 
six (6) feet. 

2. Floor Area, Usable. That area to be used for the sale of merchandise or services, or for use to serve 
patrons, clients or customers, measured from the interior faces of the exterior walls. Areas used 
principally for the storage or processing of merchandise, for hallways, stairways, and elevator 
shafts, or for utilities and sanitary facilities shall be excluded from this computation. 

3. Floor Area, Livable. The finished area of a dwelling unit heated and/or air conditioned, located 
above ground, but not including garages, covered patios or porches, or other outdoor space. 

Section 24.40 Definitions G, H, I 
A. Garage. A detached accessory building or portion of a principal building for the parking or temporary 

storage of automobiles, recreational vehicles and/or incidental personal property of the occupants of 
the premises. 

B. Grade. 

1. Grade, Average Adjacent. The average of the highest and lowest adjacent grade against a building 
foundation. 

2. Grade, Finished. The lowest point of elevation between the exterior wall of the structure and a line 
five (5) feet from the exterior wall of the structure.  

3. Grade, Natural. The elevation of the ground surface in its natural state before man-made 
alterations. 

C. Grading. Altering the shape of ground surfaces to a predetermined condition; this includes stripping, 
cutting, filling, stockpiling and shaping or any combination thereof and shall include the land in its cut 
or filled condition. 

D. Ground Cover. Low growing, spreading plants, other than turf grass, such as but not limited to ivy, 
liriope, juniper, mondo grass or sedge. 

E. Household. All persons occupying a house, apartment, group of rooms, or a single room occupied as 
separate living quarters, regardless of their relationship to one another. 

F. Impervious Surface. Any surface composed of any material that greatly impedes or prevents the 
natural infiltration of water into the underlying native soils. Impervious surfaces include but are not 
limited to, rooftops, buildings, sidewalks, driveways, streets, and roads. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 218

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 24. General Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 24-5 

Section 24.50 Definitions J, K, L 
A. Land Development Activity. Any project undertaken to change or improve a site that involves one or 

more land disturbing activities. 

B. Land Disturbing Activity. Any activity that changes stormwater runoff rates, volumes, and pollutant 
loads on a site. These activities include but are not limited to, the grading, digging, cutting, scraping, or 
excavating of soil, the placement of fill materials, paving, construction, substantial removal of 
vegetation and any activity that bares soil or rock or involves the diversion or piping of any natural or 
manmade watercourse. 

C. Landscape Materials. Any combination of living plant materials and nonliving materials such as rocks, 
pebbles, wood chips, mulch and pavers, and decorative features, including sculpture, patterned walks, 
fountains, and pools. 

D. Loading Space. An off-street portion of a lot of record designated for the temporary parking of 
commercial vehicles while loading or unloading materials used, sold, or made on the premises. 

E. Lot Area. The area of land included within a lot as defined by lot lines but excluding any public rights-of-
way and private street easements.  

F. Lot. A developed or undeveloped parcel 
or tract of land in one ownership, legally 
transferable as a single unit of land.  

1. Lot, Corner. A lot with at least two 
contiguous sides abutting two 
intersecting streets and where the 
interior angle of the intersecting 
streets is less than 135 degrees. 
Also, a lot located on a curved street 
or streets if tangents of the curve, at 
the points of beginning with the lot 
or the points of intersection of the 
side lot lines with the street line, 
intersect at an interior angle of less 
than 135 degrees.  

2. Lot, Interior. A lot other than a 
corner, multi-frontage, through, or 
corner lot, bordered on three sides by 
other lots.  

3. Lot, Multi-Frontage. A lot bordered by streets on three (3) sides.  

4. Lot, Through. An interior lot bordered by two, more or less parallel streets. For the purposes of this 
definition, if one side of the lot is bordered by an alley opposite of a street the lot is not considered 
a through lot.  

5. Lot, Waterfront. A lot with one or more of its lot lines adjoining a stream, river, or lake. 

G. Lot Depth. The average distance between the front lot line and the rear lot line. The average shall 
include measurements of the side lot lines if extending from front lot line to rear lot line and the 
shortest measurement from the front lot line to the farthest point of the rear lot line 

Figure 24-1 Lot Types 

 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 219

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 24. General Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 24-6 

H. Lot Frontage. The length of the front lot line measured at the public street right-of-way or private 
street easement.  

I. Lot Width. The horizontal distance between side lot lines measured at the two (2) points where the 
required setback intersects the side lot lines or along the front property line on a curvilinear lot. 

J. Lot Lines. The lines bounding a lot, as defined below:  

1. Lot Line, Front. In the case of an interior lot, the line separating the lot from the street right-of-way 
or road easement that is not classified as a secondary front lot line.   

2. Lot Line, Secondary Front. On a corner lot or multi-frontage lot, the lot line separating the lot from 
the street right-of-way or road easement which is not the front lot line, opposite of the side lot line 
on a corner lot and the side lot line on a multi-frontage lot. 

3. Lot Line, Rear. The lot line opposite and most distant from the front lot line. On a corner lot, the 
rear lot line is typically opposite the shorter of the two front lot lines. In the case of a triangular lot, 
the rear lot line shall be an imaginary line parallel to the front lot line, not less than ten feet long, 
lying furthest from the front lot line and wholly within the lot. On irregularly-shaped lots, the rear 
lot line is determined based on a line perpendicular to the front lot line extending to the point 
where a rear lot line would be 10 feet in width and parallel to the front lot line. This rear lot line is 
intended for the purpose of establishing the rear setback and lot depth only. 

4. Lot Line, Side. The lot lines connecting the front and rear lot lines of an interior or corner lot or 
connecting the front lot lines of a through lot. Any lot line other than a front or rear lot line 

Section 24.60 Definitions M, N, O 
A. Manufactured Home. A factory-built, single-family structure manufactured under the authority of 42 

U.S.C. Sec. 5401, the National Manufactured Home Construction and Safety Standards Act, is 
transportable in one or more sections, is built on a permanent chassis, and is designed to be used as a 
place of human habitation with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required 
utilities. It is not constructed with a permanent hitch or other device allowing transportation of the unit 
other than for the purpose of delivery to a permanent site, and which does not have wheels or axles 
permanently attached to its body or frame. All manufactured housing must bear a decal issued by the 
Georgia Department of Community Affairs to certify the unit as to construction and safety standards. 

B. Mobile Food Vending Unit. A mobile food vending unit shall mean any motorized or non-motorized 
vehicle, trailer or other enclosure designed to be portable and not permanently attached to the ground 
from which food is vended, served or offered for sale. A mobile food vending unit may include ancillary 
sales of branded items consistent with the food and beverage offered, such as a t-shirt that bears the 
name of the organization.   

C. Mulch. Pine straw, pine or cypress bark, pebbles, lava rock, or synthetic landscaping materials. 

D. Nonconforming Building or Structure. A structure or building lawfully constructed that does not 
conform to the dimensional requirements of the Zoning Ordinance but existed prior to the effective 
date of this ordinance or any amendment to this ordinance.  

E. Nonconforming Lot. A lot lawfully existing on the effective date of this ordinance, or its subsequent 
amendment, that does not meet the current area and/or dimensional requirements of the zoning 
district in which it is located.  

F. Nonconforming Site. A site that does not conform to the regulations of the zoning district in which it is 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 220

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 24. General Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 24-7 

situated, applicable conditional use requirements of Article 7, or any applicable development 
provisions. 

G. Nonconforming Use. A land use that does not conform to the regulations of the zoning district in which 
it is situated, or applicable conditional use requirements of Article 7, and lawfully existed on the 
effective date of this ordinance, or any amendments to the ordinance. 

H. Occupancy. The portion of a building or premises owned, leased, rented, or otherwise occupied for a 
given use. 

I. Occupied. Arranged, designed, built, altered, converted, rented or leased, or intended to be occupied. 

Section 24.70 Definitions P, Q, R 
A. Parking. The temporary, transient storage of motor vehicles used for transportation, while their 

operators are engaged in other activities. It shall not include storage of new or used motor vehicles for 
sale, services, rental or any other purpose other than specified above. 

B. Parking Space. The space required to park one vehicle, exclusive of driveways and access aisles, in 
accordance with the requirements of this ordinance. 

C. Permit. An official authorization issued by a representative of the City, to conduct a specific activity 

under the provisions of this ordinance. 

D. Permitted Use. A use of property specifically allowed within a zoning district wherever that district 
exists in the City, provided all dimensional and other requirements applicable to that district are 
satisfied. 

E. Planning Commission. The City of Port Wentworth Planning Commission.  

F. Pond. An outdoor body of standing water, accumulated in a natural or artificially constructed basin or 
depression in the earth, either above or below or partly above and partly below grade, capable of 
holding water to a depth of greater than two (2) feet when filled to capacity.  

G. Porch. A roofed-over space attached to the outside of an exterior wall of a building which has no 
enclosure other than exterior walls of the building. 

H. Principal Use. The primary or predominant use of a lot. 

I. Recreational Vehicle. Any of the following vehicles or equipment: recreation camper, boat, boat trailer, 
snowmobile, snowmobile trailer, motorcycle or motorcycle trailer, all-terrain vehicle, all-terrain vehicle 
trailer, enclosed trailers, utility trailers, or similarly licensed vehicles, trailers, or equipment. 

J. Root Barrier. An underground wall or barrier placed to block tree roots from intruding upon or 
impacting nearby structures or other plants. 

Section 24.80 Definitions S, T, U 
A. Setback. The minimum horizontal distance that buildings and any structure 30 inches in height or 

greater shall be separated from a public street right-of-way or private street easement, lot line, shore 
of a lake, wetland, edge of a stream, or river bank, to meet the minimum requirements of this 
ordinance. 

1. Setback, Front. The line marking the required setback from the public street right-of-way or private 
street easement. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 221

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 24. General Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 24-8 

2. Setback, Rear. The line marking the required setback distance from the rear lot line. 

3. Setback, Side. The lines marking the required setback distance from the side lot lines. 

4. Setback, Street Side. The line marking the required setback from the public street right-of-way or 
private street easement in the direction of the secondary front yard. 

B. Sewage, Public. A system that is owned, maintained, and operated by the City, a community 
corporation, or a privately owned system serving a community and approved by the Chatham County 
Health Department.  

C. Shipping Container. A receptacle designed for the transport of cargo aboard ship and also by truck 
trailer or rail car, and which exhibits features designed to facilitate the movement of containerized 
cargo, including but not limited to corner fittings for pins, design for stacking, and which is otherwise 
designed and constructed in conformance with standards for shipping containers as set forth by the 
International Standards Organization. 

D. Site Plan. A plan of a proposed project that shows all relevant features necessary to determine if it 
meets the requirements of this ordinance. 

E. Special Event. A temporary and non-commercial community event, such as a festival, fair, car show, or 
sporting event. 

F. Special Use. A use identified by this ordinance which may have characteristics of its operation (such as 
traffic, noise, hours of operation, or other potential nuisance effects) that requires special use permit 
review and may warrant additional conditions beyond the general requirements of the district in which 
it is located to mitigate its impacts and ensure its compatibility with its surroundings. 

G. Start of Construction. The date the first placement of permanent construction of the structure such as 
the pouring of slabs or footings, installation of piles, construction of columns, or any work beyond the 
stage of excavation, and includes the placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. (Permanent 
construction does not include initial land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; the 
installation of streets and/or walkways; excavation for a basement, footings, piers or foundations or the 
erection of temporary forms; installation on the property of buildings appurtenant to the permitted 
structure, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or part of the main structure.) See 
also, “Substantial Improvement”. 

H. Story. The portion of a building included between the surface of any above floor grade and the surface 
of the floor next above it, or if there is no floor above it, then the space between any floor and the 
ceiling next above it. A story shall have vertical walls.  

I. Street. Any public or private thoroughfare which affords the principal means of access to abutting 
property. 

1. Street, Arterial. A road or highway, as shown on the official map maintained by the City of Port 
Wentworth, which carries large volumes of traffic at relatively high speed between population 
centers or from one section of the City to another. 

2. Street, Collector. A public way, as shown on the official map maintained by the City of Port 
Wentworth, designed primarily to connect local streets with arterial streets or to provide access 
from residential areas to major destination points such as shopping or employment centers and 
which may be expected to carry a significant volume of traffic. Any street may be declared a 
collector street by city council at any time and shall be designated as such on the official street 
map. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 222

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 24. General Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 24-9 

3. Street, Local. These roads serve the final function in destination trips and the initial function at 
point of origin. They provide direct access to adjacent land as well as serve the purpose of short 
distance transportation needs. This category encompasses all streets, roads and highways not 
classified as either arterial or collector streets. 

4. Street, Marginal Access. Those minor streets which are parallel to and adjacent to arterial streets 
and highways; and which provide access to abutting properties, and protection from through 
traffic.  

5. Street, Opened. A street shall be deemed to be opened if it is either of the following:  

a. Available for public use prior to the adoption of this ordinance; or  

b. Was constructed to City specifications following the adoption of this ordinance.  

6. Street, Privately Maintained. A street maintained by private parties through use of private funds. 

7. Street, Publicly Maintained. A street maintained by federal, state, county, or local public agencies. 

8. Street, Unopened. A street or any part thereof shall be deemed to be unopened if it is not cleared, 
graded, and available for public use.  

J. Street Centerline. That line surveyed to be the centerline of a street, or in the event that no centerline 
has been determined, it shall be that line running midway between and parallel to the outside right-of-
way lines of such streets. 

K. Street Frontage. The distance within which a front lot line of a lot adjoins a public street, measured 
between the two (2) lot lines intersecting the street right-of-way or easement. 

L. Street Intersection. Any street which joins another street at an angle, whether or not it crosses the 
other. 

M. Street Yard Greenway. A strip of land on a lot or parcel abutting a street right-of-way line that is 
landscaped and maintained as a visual edge to create a unified appearance along the street frontage 
and an attractive foreground for the abutting development. 

N. Structure. A combination of materials constructed, erected, or placed in or upon the ground or is 
attached to something having such a location. Structures may include but are not limited to: buildings, 
elevated decks, radio towers, signs, and storage bins, but exclude sidewalks and paving on streets, 
driveways, parking areas, or patios placed at grade. 

O. Subdivider. An individual, firm, association, syndicate, partnership, corporation, trust, or any other 
legal entity (or agent thereof) that undertakes any activities covered by this ordinance. The word 
"subdivider" is intended to include the terms "developer" and "builder" even though the persons 
involved in successive stages of a project may vary. 

P. Subdivision. The division of a single lot, tract or parcel of land into two (2) or more lots, tracts, parcels 
or other divisions of land for the purpose of sale or development. 

Q. Swimming Pool. A structure located inside, outside, or partly in each, designed to hold water to a depth 
of greater than 24 inches when filled, and intended to be used for swimming purposes.  

R. Trailer, Utility. A vehicle with or without its own motive power, which is mounted on wheels or is 
designed to be so mounted and transported. 

S. Traffic Study. A written report prepared by an transportation engineer or a professional planner, 
describing in detail the roads and streets which serve an area of the City, furnishing information on 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 223

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 24. General Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 24-10 

ingress and egress to and from lots, providing current traffic counts on existing streets and projected 
traffic counts on both existing and proposed streets, and additionally containing an impact statement 
describing the expected impact of the proposed activities on traffic flow and traffic patterns within a 
specific area of the City. 

T. Tree. 

1. Tree, Canopy. A deciduous shade tree. 

2. Tree, Evergreen. A tree with foliage that persists and remains green throughout the year. 

3. Tree, Ornamental. A small deciduous tree grown for its foliage and/or flowers. 

Section 24.90 Definitions V, W, X, Y, Z 
A. Variance. An allowed modification to a requirement of this ordinance, as authorized by the Zoning 

Board of Appeals under the provisions of this ordinance. 

B. Vehicles and Trailers, Commercial. Any vehicle or trailer bearing or required to bear commercial license 
plates and/or DOT numbers. Examples include, but are not limited to: 

1. Semi-truck tractors; 

2. Semi-truck trailers, which shall include flat beds, stake beds, roll-off containers, tanker bodies, 
dump bodies, and full or partial box-type enclosures; 

3. Food trucks and vehicles of a type that are commonly used for the delivery of food or vending 
supplies; 

4. Pickup trucks, vans, and trailers commonly used by construction industry contractors; 

5. Tow trucks and repair service trucks; 

6. Vehicles designed to transport 16 or more passengers, including the driver; and 

7. Commercial trailers designed to haul heavy equipment, materials, and supplies. 

C. Violation. The failure of a use, structure or other 
development to be fully compliant with the 
provisions of this ordinance. 

D. Water, Public. A system that is owned, 
maintained, and operated by the City, a 
community corporation, or a privately owned 
system serving a community and approved by the 
Chatham County Health Department.  

E. Yard. An open space at grade between a building 
and the adjoining lot lines.  

1. Yard, Front. An open space between the front 
of a principal building and the front lot line, 
generally adjacent to a street and extending 
the full width of the lot. 

2. Yard, Front. An open space between the front 
of a principal building and the front lot line Figure 24-2 Yard Designations by Lot Type 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 224

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 24. General Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 24-11 

and extending the full width of the lot. The narrower of the two (2) front lot lines on a corner lot. 
Where the lot lines are of equal length and/or the primary front yard is not evident, the Zoning 
Administrator shall determine the front yard. In the case where there is an existing principal 
building, it is the front yard that the front building elevation faces. 

3. Yard, Rear. An open space between the rear of a principal building and the rear lot line and 
extending the full width of the lot. 

4. Yard, Secondary Front. A front yard on a corner lot that the front building elevation does not face 
which extends from the rear of the front yard designation to the rear lot line. 

5. Yard, Side. An open space between the side of a principal building and the side lot line extending 
from the front yard to the rear yard. 

F. Zoning Administrator. An official authorized by the City Manager to administer, interpret, and enforce 
the City of Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance. 

G. Zoning District. A designation on the Official Zoning Map in which requirements for the use and 
dimensions of the land and buildings are prescribed. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 225

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 24. General Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 24-12 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 226

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 25-1 

Article 25. Land Use Definitions 
 

Section 25.10 Intent and Purpose    
This article includes all land use definitions included Tables 3.30 and 4.30. 

Section 25.20 Accessory Uses 
A. Accessory Building or Structure. A detached building or structure on the same lot with and of a 

customarily incidental nature that is subordinate to the principal structure and accommodates an 
accessory use. 

B. Accessory Dwelling Unit. An attached or detached dwelling unit that contains an independent living 
area, including sleeping quarters, bathroom, living area, and kitchen facilities that is secondary and 
subordinate to a principal single-family dwelling. 

1. Accessory Dwelling Unit, Attached. An accessory dwelling unit that is physically attached to a 
principal single-family dwelling as an addition; incorporated internally within a principal dwelling 
within the basement or attic; or above an attached garage. Except for an accessory dwelling unit 
above an attached garage, an attached accessory dwelling unit is connected by internal access 
between separate living spaces. The inclusion of a secondary kitchen or kitchenette within the 
principal dwelling does not alone result in the classification as an attached accessory dwelling unit. 

2. Accessory Dwelling Unit, Detached. An accessory dwelling unit that is physically detached from a 
principal single-family dwelling as a standalone and separate building. 

C. Accessory Use. A land use or activity that is customarily and clearly incidental and subordinate to the 
principal use of the land or building. 

D. Antennas and Over-the-Air Reception Devices. 

1. Amateur Radio Service. A federally licensed radio-communication service for the purpose of self-
training, intercommunication, and technical investigations carried out by amateurs, that is, duly 
authorized persons interested in radio technique solely with a personal aim and without pecuniary 
interest particularly with respect to providing emergency communications. 

2. Over-The-Air Reception Device and Satellite Dish Antennas. Antennas and dish antennas designed 
to receive direct broadcast satellite service, including direct-to-home satellite service, to receive or 
transmit fixed wireless signals via satellite, receive video programming services via broadband radio 
service (wireless cable), receive or transmit fixed wireless signals other than via satellite, or receive 
local television broadcast signals. 

E. Day Care Home, Adults. An establishment where care and therapy is provided to elderly persons during 
normal business hours. 

F. Day Care Home, Children. A private residence certified by the Georgia Department of Human 
Resources and operated by any person paid to supervise and care for three (3) but not more than six (6) 
children under 18 years of age who are not related to such person and whose parents or guardians are 
not residents in the same private residence. This service may be provided for a duration of less than 24 
hours per day and does not include and is not limited to residents of the dwelling. Owner or manager 
shall reside on the premises. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 227

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 25. Land Use Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 25-2 

G. Home Occupation, Major. A business operated on a residential parcel that because of its nature, 
intensity, and characteristics, is not customary for a residential property and does not qualify as a minor 
home occupation. A major home occupation is an incidental and secondary use of the property. 
Business operations include financial advisors, accountants, business services, personal services, 
making of handcrafted products, accessory retail sales, and independent trucking. 

H. Home Occupation, Minor. A use which includes any activity which is clearly secondary to residential 
use and carried out for economic gain. It is conducted within a dwelling, carried out by its occupants 
utilizing equipment typically found in a home, and it is not evident from the outside. 

I. Outdoor Display and Sales, Permanent. The outdoor placement, storage, or keeping, for display 
purposes, of equipment, vehicles, trailers, and other similar goods for sale on premises. 

J. Outdoor Storage, Commercial. The outdoor placement of goods such as building or construction 
materials, equipment, vehicles, trailers, and other supplies, for future use, production, assembly, 
preservation, or disposal, as an accessory function to a principal building and use. This definition does 
not include materials related to permitted on-site construction projects. 

K. Subdivision Amenity. Improved areas designed and intended for the playing of a game such as 
basketball, volleyball or tennis, and indoor or outdoor facilities such as community meeting rooms, 
picnic areas, swimming pools, or playgrounds. These facilities serve dwelling units and are owned 
and/or controlled by a neighborhood club, homeowner's association, or similar organization. The term 
includes fences surrounding the recreational amenity and all surface area inside the fences and 
overhead lighting fixtures. 

L. Solar Energy, Building-Mounted. A solar energy collector attached to the roof or wall of a building. 

M. Solar Energy, Ground-Mounted. A solar energy collector that is mounted directly to a support structure 
on the ground and is not connected to a building. The system is intended to generate energy for the 
principal and accessory land uses and buildings on the lot or parcel of land on which the system is 
located. 

Section 25.30 Accommodations, Hospitality, and Entertainment 
A. Banquet or Meeting Hall. A use which provides rental space for such functions as, but not limited to: 

wedding parties, conferences, service club meetings, and other similar gatherings, along with the 
catering of food services off the premises. 

B. Bed and Breakfast. A house, or portion of a house, where short-term lodging rooms and breakfast and 
light snacks are provided to overnight guests and where the operator lives on the premises or in 
adjacent premises. 

C. Campground or Recreational Vehicle Park. A form of temporary lodging where guests bring tents, 
travel trailers, campers, or other similar forms of shelter to experience the natural environment. 
Campgrounds rent pads or spaces to guests and may also include accessory uses such as a camp store, 
shower/bathroom facilities, and recreational facilities. 

D. Commercial Indoor Recreation Facility. A facility, open either to the general public or to members and 
their guests, located in an enclosed building that is designed to accommodate sports, recreational 
activities, training, or related enterprises. Also included are accessory uses that are clearly in support of 
the primary use, such as sporting goods shops, food service and party/banquet facilities serving patrons 
of the indoor recreation use, spectator accommodations, changing/locker rooms and employee offices. 

E. Commercial Outdoor Recreation Facility. A facility providing a variety of outdoor recreational 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 228

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 25. Land Use Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 25-3 

opportunities and entertainment services, often for a fee, including, but not limited to amusement and 
theme parks; go-cart tracks; golf driving ranges; miniature golf courses; marinas; watercraft rentals; and 
water parks. It may also include commercial facilities customarily associated with the above indoor 
commercial recreational uses, including bars and restaurants, arcades, etc. 

F. Commercial Outdoor Recreation, Low-Intensity. An outdoor venue for nature-based recreation and 
ecotourism activities, including but not limited to disc golf, ropes courses, eco-challenges, adventure 
racing and events, zip-line courses, and other activities which rely primarily on the preserved natural 
environment as a core element of the activity and use. 

G. Golf Course. A use consisting of regulation and par three golf courses having nine or more holes, and 
accessory facilities and uses, including driving ranges, clubhouses with bar and restaurant; locker and 
shower facilities; pro shops for on-site sales of golfing equipment and clothing; and golf cart storage 
facilities. 

H. Hotel or Motel. A building under single management that provides rooms or suites intended primarily 
as sleeping accommodations for public rental on a daily basis for registered guests. Other supportive 
facilities may also be included, such as, but not limited to, meeting rooms, incidental retail sales, 
restaurants, lounges, swimming pools, recreational and fitness facilities, and similar facilities/services 
intended principally to serve registered guests. 

I. Indoor Theater. A building or part of a building used to show movies or a facility used for drama, dance, 
musicals, or other live performances. This use may also include accessory concession and retail sales. 

J. Outdoor Theater. An outdoor commercial facility which shows movies on outdoor screens. This use 
may also include accessory concession and retail sales. 

K. Restaurant. A business establishment whose method of operation involves either the delivery of 
prepared food by servers to customers seated at indoor or outdoor areas, or prepared food is acquired 
by customers at a counter or cafeteria line and consumed at tables within a completely enclosed 
building, but does not include drive-through services, which are separately defined and regulated. 
Service of alcoholic beverages by the drink is incidental to the service of food, and food receipts exceed 
50 percent of sales. 

L. Restaurant with Drive-Through. A business establishment whose method of operation involves the 
delivery of prepared food or beverages to the customer in a motor vehicle, typically through a drive-
through window, for consumption off the premises. A drive-through restaurant may also have indoor or 
outdoor seating. 

M. Tavern. A commercial establishment licensed to sell at retail and serve beer, wine, liquor or other 
alcoholic beverages for consumption on the premises and where the service of food is incidental to the 
sales and consumption of such beverages. Taverns include nightclubs, lounges, and bars. 

Section 25.40 Agricultural 
A. Farm. The land, plants, animals, buildings, structures, including ponds used for agricultural or 

aquacultural activities, machinery, equipment, and other appurtenances used in the commercial 
production of farm products. 

B. Farm Market. A year-round or seasonal location where transactions and marketing activities between 
farm market operators and customers take place. At least 75 percent of the products offered must be 
produced on and by the affiliated farm measured by retail floor space during peak production season, 
or 75 percent of the average gross sales. Processed products will be considered as produced on and by 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 229

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 25. Land Use Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 25-4 

the farm if at least 50 percent of the product’s primary or namesake ingredient was produced on and 
by the farm. 

C. Farm-Related Businesses and Agritourism. Agriculturally-oriented commercial and tourism endeavors 
on farms that are accessory to and have a direct and intrinsic relationship to the principal agricultural 
use of the subject property, conducted by a farmer or rancher for the enjoyment or education of the 
public to promote the products of the farm and generate additional farm income, including but not 
limited to: artisan craft sales, corn mazes, U-Pick operations, petting and feeding zoos, hay rides, 
demonstration farms; agricultural museums; living history farms; on-farm farmers’ markets; winery 
tours and wine tasting, garden tours and the production and sale of cider, wine, and beer. 

D. Stables, Commercial. A structure designed for the feeding, boarding, breeding, and exercising of horses 
that are owned by someone other than the owner of the premises and for which the owner of the 
premises receives compensation. This definition also includes riding stables, riding academies, and 
horse show facilities. 

E. Stables, Private. A structure designed for the feeding, boarding, breeding, and exercising of horses that 
are owned by the occupant of a principal dwelling on the premises. 

Section 25.50 Civic and Institutional 
A. Cemetery. One (1) or a combination of more than one (1) of the following: a burial ground for earth 

interments, a mausoleum for crypt entombments, or a columbarium for the inurnment of cremated 
remains. For the purposes of this ordinance, a cemetery does not include a crematorium. 

B. Community-Oriented Cultural Facility. A public or non-profit facility that provides educational and 
cultural experiences for the general public, examples of which include: aquariums, arboretums, art 
galleries, botanical gardens, libraries, museums, planetariums, civic centers, and theaters 
predominantly used for live performances, and zoos. It may also include accessory retail uses such as a 
gift/book shop, restaurant, etc. 

C. Community-Based Indoor Recreation Facility. A facility providing a variety of indoor recreational 
opportunities including, but not limited to: gymnasium, swimming pool, tennis, racquetball and/or 
handball courts, batting cages, and other indoor sports activities. This use includes all public, 
government, and not-for-profit organizations chartered to provide community-based recreation 
services.  

D. Government Facility. Buildings, structures, and facilities that may include administrative offices, public 
works services, law enforcement, fire protection, libraries, museums, cemeteries, recreational centers, 
and storage areas for public equipment and materials for local, county, state, and federal public 
adjacencies. 

E. Public Park or Preserve. A facility providing a variety of outdoor recreational opportunities including, 
but not limited to: playground equipment, playing fields, tennis and basketball courts, swimming pools, 
boat ramps, and fishing piers, and areas for passive recreation such as hiking trails, picnic areas, and 
bird blinds.   

F. Place of Worship. A building or structure or group of buildings or structures that, by design and 
construction, are primarily intended for conducting organized religious worship services. Associated 
accessory uses include, but are not limited to, classrooms, meeting halls, indoor and outdoor 
recreational facilities, daycare, counseling, and kitchens. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 230

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 25. Land Use Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 25-5 

G. School: 

1. College or University. A facility for post-secondary education, other than a trade or commercial 
school, that provides education, whether full-time or part-time, and that grants associates, 
bachelors, masters, or doctoral degrees, and may include research functions. Includes professional 
schools (law, medicine, etc.) and technical colleges. 

2. Pre-school to 12. A school that is not a publicly owned or publicly operated school that offers 
courses of instruction for students in one or more grades from kindergarten through 12th grade. 

3. Specialized Training. A specialized instruction establishment that provides individual and group 
instruction, education, and/or training, including, but not limited to: the arts, dance, music, 
tutoring, photography, martial arts, health and wellness, business and vocational schools, 
passenger vehicle driver education schools, barbering, hairdressing, appliance and computer repair, 
and teaching of industrial or trade skills which machinery is employed as a means of instruction. 

4. Truck Driving. Commercial facilities which provide instruction and education concerning the driving 
of trucks. 

Section 25.60 Industrial, Infrastructure, and Transportation 
A. Brewery, Winery, Distillery. The industrial production of beer, wine, and spirits. 

B. Commercial Solar Energy System. A utility-scale facility of solar energy collectors with the primary 
purpose of wholesale or retail sales of generated electricity. Also known as a solar farm. 

C. Crematorium. A facility consisting of one or more furnaces for cremation services. 

D. Essential Public Services and Utilities. Any person furnishing to the public, transportation, water, gas, 
electricity, telephone, cable television, communication, steam, telegraph, sewage disposal or other 
similar service, including the township. The erection, construction, alteration, or maintenance by a 
public utility, or municipal department, of underground, surface or overhead gas, communication, 
telephone, electrical, steam, fuel or water, transmission, distribution collection, supply, or disposal 
systems. This includes related poles, wires, pipes, conduit, cables, public safety alarm and 
communication equipment, traffic signals, hydrants, and similar accessories that are necessary to 
furnish adequate service, addressing general public health, safety, convenience, or welfare. These do 
not include wireless telecommunication towers (unless located on public property and used as part of a 
municipal emergency communications network); wind energy turbines; offices, utility buildings, 
substations, or structures that are enclosures or shelters for service equipment; or maintenance 
depots. 

E. Manufacturing, Processing, and Packaging- Heavy. A facility accommodating manufacturing processes 
that involve and/or produce basic metals, building materials, chemicals, fabricated metals, paper 
products, machinery, textiles, and/or transportation equipment, where the intensity and/or scale of 
operations may cause significant impacts on surrounding land uses or the community. Examples of 
heavy manufacturing uses include the following: chemical product manufacturing; concrete, gypsum, 
and plaster product manufacturing; glass product manufacturing; paving and roofing materials 
manufacturing; petroleum refining and related industries; plastics, other synthetics, and rubber product 
manufacturing; primary metal industries; pulp and pulp product manufacturing; textile and leather 
product manufacturing. 

F. Manufacturing, Processing, and Packaging- Light. A facility accommodating manufacturing processes 
involving less intense levels of fabrication and/or production, such as the assembly, fabrication, and 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 231

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 25. Land Use Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 25-6 

conversion of already processed raw materials into products, where the operational characteristics of 
the manufacturing processes and the materials used are unlikely to cause significant impacts on 
surrounding land uses or the community. The premises may include secondary retail or wholesale sales. 
Examples of light manufacturing uses include: artisan/craft product manufacturing; clothing and fabric 
product manufacturing; furniture and fixtures manufacturing, cabinet shop, media production, 
photo/film processing lab not accessory to a retail business, printing & publishing, and food preparation 
and packaging. 

G. Mineral Extraction. The extraction, by mining, of natural resources from underground.  

H. Outdoor Storage, Principal. The outdoor placement of building or construction materials, landscape 
materials, equipment, trailers, and other supplies, for future use, production, assembly, preservation, 
or disposal where there is no other principal use on the site. 

I. Outdoor Container Storage Yard. An outdoor storage area for short-term or long-term placement of 
containers associated with port operations that are awaiting pick up for land or sea shipping transport. 

J. Propane Gas Sales. An establishment providing LPG dispensing and bulk containers for sale. 

K. Salvage or Impound Operations. Any land or structure used for storing, dismantling, reconditioning, 
collecting, purchasing or selling of scrap metal or other discarded goods and materials, including the 
collection, dismantlement, and salvage of two or more inoperative vehicles, boats, trucks, or other 
types of machinery or equipment, or the impounding of any operable or inoperable vehicle associated 
with towing or wrecker services. 

L. Sawmill or Planing Mill. A facility where logs are sawn, split, shaved, stripped, chipped, or otherwise 
processed to produce lumber and other wood products. 

M. Self-Storage. A building or group of buildings in a controlled access and/or fenced compound that 
contains varying sizes of individualized, compartmentalized, and controlled access rooms, stalls or 
lockers for the storage of customer’s goods or wares. 

N. Truck Terminal. A facility at which freight is consolidated to be shipped or where full load consignments 
may be loaded and off-loaded, and where vehicles and trailers are regularly maintained and stored. 

O. Warehousing and Distribution. Facilities for redistributing goods from one truck to another that serve 
as intermediate transfer points and are primarily used for staging loads and temporary storage, where 
vehicles and trailers are regularly maintained and stored. 

P. Waste Management and Recycling. A facility used for collecting waste and recyclables, sorting, and 
transferring materials. 

Q. Wholesaling and Distribution. An establishment engaged in selling merchandise in bulk quantities to 
retailers; to contractors, industrial, commercial, agricultural, institutional, or professional business 
users; to other wholesalers; or acting as agents or brokers in buying merchandise for or selling 
merchandise to such persons or companies. 

Section 25.70 Offices and Services 
A. Animal and Pet Services. Any lot or premises on which six or more dogs or cats or other household 

pets, six months old or over, are kept temporarily or permanently for sale, boarding, breeding, training, 
shelter, competition, showing, or day care. 

B. Animal Clinic. An establishment used by a veterinarian where animals are treated. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 232

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 25. Land Use Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 25-7 

C. Child Day Care Center. A facility operated by a person, partnership, association, society, agency, 
corporation, institution, or group that receives pay for the care of seven (7) or more children, under 18 
years of age, where children remain less than 24 hours per day. 

D. Contractor Facility. An office and storage or warehouse facility accommodating a construction,  skilled 
trade, landscaping, extermination, tree care, industrial service contracting business, or other similar 
trades. 

E. Funeral Home or Mortuary. A building used for the preparation of the deceased for burial or 
cremation, for the display of the deceased and/or for ceremonies or related services, including the 
storage of caskets, funeral urns, funeral vehicles, and other funeral supplies. For the purposes of this 
ordinance, this use does not include a crematorium. 

F. General Offices and Services. Establishments that offer financial, business, business support, medical, 
personal, professional, and administrative services. 

1. Financial Services. Financial institutions, including, but not limited to: banks, credit agencies, 
investment companies, security, and commodity exchanges. 

2. Business Services. Establishments providing direct services to consumers, including, but not limited 
to: employment agencies, insurance agent offices, real estate offices, and travel agencies. 

3. Business Support Services. Establishments providing services to other businesses, including, but 
not limited to: computer rental and repair, copying, quick printing, mailing and mailbox services. 

4. Medical. A facility other than a hospital where medical, dental, mental health, surgical, and/or 
other personal health care services are provided on an outpatient basis (for example, chiropractors, 
medical doctors, psychiatrists, etc., other than nursing staff. 

5. Personal Services. Establishments providing non-medical services to individuals, including, but not 
limited to: barber and beauty shops, tattoo parlors, dry cleaners pick-up and drop-off, small 
appliance repair, laundromats, massage therapists, shoe repair shops, and tanning salons. These 
uses may include incidental retail sales related to the services they provide. 

6. Professional and Administrative Services. Office-type facilities occupied by businesses or agencies 
that provide professional or government services or are engaged in the production of intellectual 
property. 

G. General Offices and Services with Drive Through Service. Facilities where services may be obtained by 
motorists without leaving their vehicles. Examples of drive-through services include bank teller 
windows and drive-up ATMs, dry cleaners pick-up and drop-off, etc. 

H. Hospital. An institution licensed by the State, where people, including inpatients, receive medical, 
surgical or psychiatric treatment and nursing care. 

I. Temporary Office. 

1. Temporary Construction Office. An office, typically mobile, established at a permitted construction 
site to accommodate personnel. A location for outdoor storage of materials and equipment is 
commonly associated with the use. 

2. Temporary Sales Office. An office, either mobile or located in a model home, used to 
accommodate real estate agents and associated administrative staff for the purposes of selling or 
renting real property in subdivisions or other housing developments. 

J. Truck Stop or Truck Fuel Sales. An establishment that is engaged primarily in the fueling, servicing, 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 233

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 25. Land Use Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 25-8 

repair, or parking of semi-trucks and trailers or similar heavy commercial vehicles, and which may 
include the sale of accessories and equipment for such vehicles, food sales, and other services for truck 
drivers. 

K. Vehicle Repair, Major. The servicing, repairing, refinishing, equipping, or adjusting of vehicles, or their 
components, for compensation, including but not limited to powertrain and suspension repair or 
rebuilding, body work, frame alignment, and other vehicle repair work creating noise, glare, fumes, or 
smoke; but not including vehicle wrecking, junking or salvaging or fuel sales. 

L. Vehicle Repair, Minor. A business providing general maintenance on motor vehicles such as oil changes 
and lubrication; servicing and repair of spark plugs, batteries, pumps, belts, hoses, air filters, windshield 
wipers, and distributors; replacement of mufflers and exhaust systems, brakes and shock absorbers; 
radiator cleaning and flushing; sale and installation of automobile accessories such as tires, radios, and 
air conditioners; wheel alignment and balancing; but, excluding tire recapping or grooving or any major 
mechanical repairs, collision work or painting. 

M. Vehicle Service Station. An establishment where motor vehicle fuel is dispensed for retail sale. This use 
may also collectively include minor vehicle repair services (see vehicle repair, minor); retail sales of 
convenience items (see retail), restaurant (see restaurant and restaurant with drive-through) and a 
single bay vehicle wash (see vehicle wash), but not overnight vehicle storage. This use does not include 
truck stops or truck fuel sales.  

N. Vehicle Wash, Cars. A building or portion of a building with machine or hand-operated facilities used 
principally for the cleaning, washing, polishing or waxing of cars and light trucks and vans. This use may 
also include accessory outdoor vacuums. 

O. Vehicle Wash, Trucks. A building or portion of a building with machine or hand-operated facilities used 
principally for the cleaning, washing, polishing, or waxing of commercial trucks and vans, and semi-
trucks and trailers. This use may also include accessory outdoor vacuums. 

Section 25.80 Residential Group Living 
A. Personal Care Home. Any dwelling, whether operated for profit or not, which undertakes through its 

ownership or management to provide or arrange for the provision of housing, food service, and one (1) 
or more personal services for two (2) or more adults who are not related to the owner or administrator 
by blood or marriage. The owner or manager shall reside on the premises. 

B. Nursing Home. A home for the aged, chronically ill, or incurable persons in which three (3) or more 
persons, not of the immediate family, are received, kept, or provided with food and shelter or care for 
compensation; but not including hospitals, clinics, or similar institutions devoted primarily to the 
diagnosis and treatment of the sick or injured. 

Section 25.90 Residential Household Living 
A. Dwelling (note- ascending density, not alphabetical).  

1. Single-Family Dwelling. A freestanding dwelling unit designed and intended for one family that is 
physically separate from any other dwelling. 

2. Two-Family Dwelling. A building containing two (2) dwelling units on a single lot designed for or 
used by two (2) families living independently of one another and may also be referred to as a 
duplex. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 234

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 Article 25. Land Use Definitions  

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 25-9 

3. Townhome. A Building containing three (3) or more dwelling units arranged side by side, separated 
from each other by a common walls and having separate direct means of egress and ingress to each 
unit from the outside 

4. Multiple-Family Dwelling. A building containing three (3) or more dwelling units designed for 
occupancy by three (3) or more families living independently of one another. 

B. Manufactured Home Community. A property that has been planned, designed, improved, and 
maintained for the placement of two (2) or more manufactured homes and permitted accessory uses 
where home sites are leased to individuals who retain customary leasehold rights. 

C. Mixed-Use Residential. A dwelling or dwellings on upper floors over a commercial business. 

Section 25.100 Retail and Other Sales and Rental 
A. Bakery, Small Scale. An establishment less than 5,000 square feet primarily engaged in the retail sale of 

baked products for consumption off-site. The products may be prepared either on or off-site, and the 
use may include accessory food service. 

B. Construction and Landscape Supply, Outdoor. A commercial establishment that sells supplies for 
building construction and/or landscaping projects, where such supplies are placed outdoors. 

C. Greenhouse and Nursery. A retail or wholesale business whose principal activity is the display and sales 
of plants grown on the site within an enclosed building (greenhouse) or outdoors (nursery). 

D. Retail Sales. Stores and shops that sell goods and merchandise to the general public. 

E. Vehicle and Equipment Sales and Rental, Major. An operation selling or renting commercial trucks and 
vans, boats, recreational vehicles, heavy equipment, manufactured homes, landscaping machinery, 
trailers, farm equipment, and similar items. It may also include accessory repair shops and the sales of 
parts and accessories incidental to dealerships.  

F. Vehicle and Equipment Sales and Rental, Minor. An operation selling or renting cars, trucks, vans, and 
small equipment. It may also include accessory repair shops and the sales of parts and accessories 
incidental to dealerships.  

Section 25.110 Other Uses 
A. Adult Establishment. Any adult bookstore, adult entertainment establishment, adult motion picture 

theater, or adult motion picture arcade. 

1. Adult Bookstore. A commercial establishment or facility in the city that maintains 25 percent or 
more of its floor area for the display, sale, and/or rental of the following items (aisles and walkways 
used to access these items shall be included in "floor area" maintained for the display, sale, and/or 
rental of the items): 

a. Books, magazines, periodicals, or other printed matter, or photographs, films, motion pictures, 
videocassettes, CDs, DVDs or other video reproductions, or slides or other visual 
representations which are characterized by their emphasis upon the display of specified sexual 
activities or specified anatomical areas, as defined herein; or 

b. Instruments, devices, novelties, toys or other paraphernalia that are designed for use in 
connection with specified sexual activities as defined herein or otherwise emulate, simulate, or 
represent "specified anatomical areas" as defined herein. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 235

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 25. Land Use Definitions 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance  Page 25-10 

2. Adult entertainment Establishment. Any establishment or facility in the City of Port Wentworth 
where adult entertainment is regularly sponsored, allowed, presented, sold, or offered to the 
public. 

3. Adult motion picture arcade. A commercial establishment to which the public is permitted or 
invited wherein coin or slug-operated or electronically, electrically or mechanically controlled still 
or motion picture machines, projectors or other image producing devices are regularly maintained 
to show images to five or fewer persons per machine at any one time and where the images so 
displayed are distinguished or characterized by an emphasis upon matter displaying specified 
sexual activities or specified anatomical areas. 

4. Adult motion picture theater. A commercial establishment where films, motion pictures, 
videocassettes, slides, or similar photographic reproductions which are characterized by their 
emphasis upon the display of specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas are regularly 
shown to more than five persons for any form of consideration. 

B. Similar Land Use. A land use determined to be similar in nature, character, function, and operation as a 
land use listed Tables 3.30 or 4.30. 

C. Temporary Land Use. Outdoor sales approved for temporary durations and in temporary locations, 
including parking lot sales, mobile food units, garage sales, and yard sales. 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 236

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 26-1 

Article 26. Planting Specifications 
 

Section 26.10 Prohibited Species    
The trees listed in Table 26.10 shall not be used in any planting area required by this ordinance. 

Table 26.10: Prohibited Species 
Name  Reason for Prohibition 
Box Elder Aggressive shallow roots; weak wood 
Bradford Pear Genetic flaw; splits apart, susceptible to breakage 
Catalpa Weal wooded 
Chinese Tallow tree Aggressive shallow roots; susceptible to breakage; weedy tree 
Female Ginkgo Foul smelling fruit 
Green Ash Aggressive shallow roots; anthracnose 
Hackberry Large diameter surface roots; susceptible to breakage 
Mimosa Prone to disease; weedy tree; susceptible to breakage 
Pecan Large diameter surface roots, disease prone; susceptible to breakage 
Princess tree Aggressive shallow roots; weedy tree, messy, weak wooded 
Russian olive Poor form, disease 
Silver Maple Aggressive shallow roots; weak wood 
Sweetgum Aggressive surface roots; fruit a litter nuisance 
Tree-of-heaven Aggressive shallow roots; weedy tree; seeds; weak wood 
Water Oak Large diameter surface roots; susceptible to breakage. 

Section 26.20 Planting Details   
A. All trees are to be nursery grown and locally 

adapted, ball and burlap (B&B) preferred. 
Minimum trees size is two (2) inch caliper.  

B. Remove all treated or plastic-coated burlap, 
strapping, wire or twine from root ball. 

C. For container grown trees, carefully remove 
the plant from the container and cut any 
matted or circling roots.  

D. Water tree after planting. For mulch, use pine 
needles or seasoned mulch and use no more 
than three (3) to four (4) inches deep.  

E. Tree wrap is optional. 

F. Staking is optional. Rubber hose and rope or 
wire for staking is not recommended. 3/4" 
nylon strap or tree trace strap is preferred. 
Staking should be removed after one growing 
season. 

  

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 237

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Article 26. Planting Specifications 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Page 26-2 

Section 26.30 Tree Protection Details 
A. See plans for location of all tree protection fences. 

B. All tree protection devises must be installed prior to land disturbance, including the cutting of any 
trees.  

C. No grading is to occur in the tree conservation areas or tree critical root zones. 

D. Remove all barriers upon completion of project. 

E. Tree protection details: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14.A.b

Packet Pg. 238

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 C
o

m
p

le
te

 B
in

d
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



 

Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Zoning Map 

 
 
 
 
The Zoning Map  
of the City of Port Wentworth, Georgia 
  

14.A.c

Packet Pg. 239

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 Z
o

n
in

g
 M

ap
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



Zoning Map 

 Port Wentworth Zoning Ordinance Zoning Map 

This page is intentionally blank 

14.A.c

Packet Pg. 240

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 Z
o

n
in

g
 M

ap
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)



So
ur

ce
s:

 E
sr

i, 
H

ER
E,

 G
ar

m
in

, I
nt

er
m

ap
, i

nc
re

m
en

t P
 C

or
p.

, G
EB

C
O

, U
S

G
S,

 F
AO

, N
PS

, N
R

C
A

N
, G

eo
B

as
e,

 IG
N

, K
ad

as
te

r N
L,

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
Su

rv
ey

, E
sr

i J
ap

an
, M

ET
I, 

E
sr

i C
hi

na
 (H

on
g 

Ko
ng

), 
(c

) O
pe

nS
tre

et
M

ap
 c

on
tri

bu
to

rs
, a

nd
 th

e 
G

IS
 U

se
r

C
om

m
un

ity

So
ur

ce
s:

 E
sr

i, 
H

ER
E,

 G
ar

m
in

, I
nt

er
m

ap
, i

nc
re

m
en

t P
 C

or
p.

, G
EB

C
O

, U
S

G
S,

 F
AO

, N
PS

, N
R

C
A

N
,

G
eo

Ba
se

, I
G

N
, K

ad
as

te
r N

L,
 O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
, E

sr
i J

ap
an

, M
ET

I, 
Es

ri 
C

hi
na

 (H
on

g 
Ko

ng
), 

(c
)

O
pe

nS
tre

et
M

ap
 c

on
tri

bu
to

rs
, a

nd
 th

e 
G

IS
 U

se
r C

om
m

un
ity

CI
TY

 O
F P

OR
T W

EN
TW

OR
TH

PR
OP

OS
ED

 ZO
NI

NG
 M

AP

Zo
nin

g C
las

sif
ica

tio
n

Si
ng

le
-F

am
ily

 R
es

id
en

tia
l (

R
-1

)

Su
bu

rb
an

 S
in

gl
e-

Fa
m

ily
 R

es
id

en
tia

l (
R

-2
)

O
ld

 T
ow

n 
R

es
id

en
tia

l (
R

-3
)

M
ix

ed
 R

es
id

en
tia

l (
R

-4
)

M
ul

ti-
Fa

m
ily

 R
es

id
en

tia
l (

R
-5

)

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
C

om
m

er
ic

al
 (C

-1
)

G
en

er
al

 C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (C
-2

)

In
te

rc
ha

ng
e 

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 (C
-3

)

In
du

st
ria

l (
I-1

)

Pl
an

ne
d 

U
ni

te
d 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t (
P

U
D

)

Pa
rc

el
s

µ
14.A.c

Packet Pg. 241

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 Z

O
 -

 Z
o

n
in

g
 M

ap
 v

2 
 (

28
44

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
-2

n
d

 R
ea

d
in

g
)


	Agenda Packet
	1. Call Meeting To Order
	2. Prayer and Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call - Clerk of Council
	Roll Call

	4. Approval of Agenda
	5. Recognition of Special Guests
	6. Public Comments - Registered Speakers
	7. Elections & Appointments
	8. Adoption of Minutes
	A. Regular Council Meeting - May 25, 2023

	9. Communications & Petitions
	10. Committee Reports
	11. Consent Agenda
	12. Unfinished Business
	13. New Business
	A. 2845 : Coastal Empire Habitat for Humanity Partnership and Real Estate Sale
	Policy Paper: 2845 : Coastal Empire Habitat for Humanity Partnership and Real Estate Sale
	a. LOI Port Wentworth 70014 06001[2305843009235210409]

	B. 2843 : Port Wentworth Development Authority
	Policy Paper: 2843 : Port Wentworth Development Authority
	a. 23.06.22 - DA Activating Resolution - Port Wentworth[12]

	C. 2834 : Site Plan Review Application (General) Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 June 2023
	Policy Paper: 2834 : Site Plan Review Application (General) Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 June 2023
	a. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-App
	b. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Adj Prop
	c. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Timeline
	d. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Overview

	D. 2835 : Site Plan Review Application (Specific) Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 June 2023
	Policy Paper: 2835 : Site Plan Review Application (Specific) Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 June 2023
	a. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Application
	b. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-PIN Email.
	c. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Adj Prop Owners
	d. Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Timeline
	e. 25412.0036 - Flonnel Ave Logistics - 5th Review by T&H (FINAL) 05.09.23


	14. Resolutions/Ordinances/Proclamations
	A. 2844 : Zoning Ordinance-2nd Reading
	Policy Paper: 2844 : Zoning Ordinance-2nd Reading
	a. 23.03.23 - Zoning Ord
	b. PW ZO - Complete Bind v2
	c. PW ZO - Zoning Map v2


	15. Executive Session
	16. Adjournment

	Appendix
	13.A · 2845 : Coastal Empire Habitat for Humanity Partnership and Real Estate Sale
	13.A.a · LOI Port Wentworth 70014 06001[2305843009235210409]

	13.B · 2843 : Port Wentworth Development Authority
	13.B.a · 23.06.22 - DA Activating Resolution - Port Wentworth[12]

	13.C · 2834 : Site Plan Review Application (General) Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 June 2023
	13.C.a · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-App
	13.C.b · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Adj Prop
	13.C.c · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Timeline
	13.C.d · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 G-Site Plan 2023-Overview

	13.D · 2835 : Site Plan Review Application (Specific) Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 June 2023
	13.D.a · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Application
	13.D.b · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-PIN Email.
	13.D.c · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Adj Prop Owners
	13.D.d · Flonnel Ave Logistics Yard 7-0003-01-001 S-Site Plan 2023-Timeline
	13.D.e · 25412.0036 - Flonnel Ave Logistics - 5th Review by T&H (FINAL) 05.09.23

	14.A · 2844 : Zoning Ordinance-2nd Reading
	14.A.a · 23.03.23 - Zoning Ord
	14.A.b · PW ZO - Complete Bind v2
	14.A.c · PW ZO - Zoning Map v2



